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PREFACE.

The contents of this volume scarcely require the commendation that as a general rule
‘inakes up the literary prelude of all works, be they pamphlets bound in paper or encased
in more expensive covers. Whatever merit the book possesses is in the abundance of
information sought to be supplied. As a literary effort the articles will probably average
fairly well with the ordinary run of newspaper work. If the book enables the general
reader to pass a pleasant hour with the memories of long ago, which cluster around
familiar faces and historic places, and is useful as a book of reference, the aim and
object of the publisher will have been tfully accomplished.

¢ The Landmarks of Toronto” is a familiar line to readers of 7he Toronto Evening
Telegram. Under that superscription during the pasv six years that journal has given,

“ag space permitted, glimpses of the hitherto unknown history of a metropolis that by an
*evolution, the result of intelligence and industry, has given to the place in which we dwell
‘an i'mportance in 1894 as the capital of a great province, which it could not claim in 1794
‘when it was the hunting ground of a couple of families ot strolling aborigines.

One hundred years ago Chippewas in their wigwams were the only inhabitants to
welcome the first white man, who with axe in hand hewed from forest trees a primitive
log cabin on a half acre, now covered by palatial marts of business, valued in the millione.

The rise, the progress, the development and material advancement of such a place
should interest all who claim Toronto asa residence, whether as sturdy pioneers from
motherland, or as native-born descendants of those whose strong arms turned the forest
trees into homes, or, like the Egyptians of old, fashicned the clay into the conventional red
brick which to-day stands as a memorial of the early days of the closing century.

The effort of the publisher in this volume is to give a readable and reliable history of
the old houses and historic spots in the former town of York, with a glimpse at many of
the familiar forms and faces of those who have aided in upbuilding Toronto.

The period embraced covers York from 1792 until 1833, and Toronto from 1834, the
year of its incorporation as a city, down to the present year of grace.

These sketches were originally contributed by myself and by members of the staff of
The Toronto Evening Telegram, and have been prepared under my personal direction. No
effort has been spared to make each sketch accurate and trustworthy.

Since their newspaper publication each article has been carefully revised, not only by
myself, but by those persons whose descendauts were directly interested in the subject
matter of each article. With the advantage thus afforded of a perusal of family records
and other documentary material almost absolute accuracy has been secured.

It is true that the sketches are not in what may be termed chronological sequen ce,
nor are they, regarding location, in any way consecutive. This may be explained by the
fact that ¢ The Landmarks ” were written as separate and distinct articles, as each pre-
sented itself to the writer, who had the assignment in hand. To have published the work
in any other form would have necessitated the preparation of each ‘‘ Landmark,” regard-
less of numberless opportunities afforded of collecting information. Moreover, when first
published it was not contemplated that the volume now issued would occupy nearly six
hundred pages of printed matter.

The engravings given have been reproduced from early pencil drawings, Canzdian and
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British lithographs, dagnerreotypes, photographs and pen-and-ink sketches. Every care
has been exercised by the artists employed to faithfully preserve all the details of the
original drawings.

While avery effort has been made to secure authentic information, it is possible that
inaccuracies may have crept in. Should any such catch the eye of the reader, a notifica-
tion sent to the publisher would assist the issue of an errata list during the year, a copy of
which will be sent to every subscriber.

Of this volume one thousand copies have been issued. The edition is limited to this
number.

A second volume of similar size will be issued in the coming autumn, which will also
be limited to one thousand copies.

The volume sells for one dollar and a half in paper and two dollars in cloth. To have
reproduced the work in the regulation book type would have materially increased its cost.
In fact, the entire book and engravings could not have been produced for less than ten
dollars per volume.

J. ROSS ROBERTSON.

ToronTo, May, 1894.
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Sketches of 0/d Houses and Places of Interest from 1792-1890.

CHAPTER 1.
TWO FAMOUS HOUSES.

The Glvins Homestead—Who RBuilt Them
and the Probable Date—interesting His-
torical Reminiscences.

On Queen street west, where the wall of
the Asylum grounds stretches out on either
hiwnd in seemingly interminable lines of
yellow brick, a street, not very long and
not very wide, runs to the northward. An
inscription in white letters, sta ding out
from a little blaek board on the corner
blacksmith shop announces that it is Givens
street. On either side are rows of smart,
modern houses, with the reddest of bricks,
the greenest of window blinds, and the
brightest of stained glass transoms. In the
partially paved roadway chickens and spar-
rows dispute the possession of whatever bird
edibles may be found.

Here stands in this year of grac, 1888, at
the top of the street just named, the oldest
house in the ¢i'y, known as the *Givins
Homestead.” It is interesting both from its
age and the history of its successive occu-
pants.  Coming near one is struck with the
air of tranquillity about the old place. Not
a sign of life is manifested save the ceaseless
twitter of birds; the wind goes moaning
among the shrubs ; the pines, black with
age, bury the dwelling in shadows, and
gaunt acacias, with bare limbs, stand like
lonely motionless sentinels before the door.
The bright newness of the surrounding
modern houses, the well-kept lawns, and
the many colored flower beds seem to
Bout the weather-stained walls and grave
torest trees,

A crescent shaped pathway leads to the
front door, with on either side a giant locust
tree, each planted by Colonel James Givins,
the builder of the house, some time before
its erection, probably between 1793 and the
close of the century. Beds of lilies of the
valley amd myrtle plants, beloved by our
grandmothers, flank the path. Noticeable
is the substantial manner in which the
house was built, The masonry of the foun-
desion is in perfect preservation ; it is said
that the stone for it was bronght from Ham-
ilton. Such has been the care taken w th
the building that it is suill a comfortable
tesidence.

THE EXACT DATE OF ITS BUILDING
is probably lost forever. Robert C. Givins,
of Chicago, grandson of Col. Givins, thinks
that the locust trees in front of the house
were planted about 1790, and he would fis
nearly the same time for the erection of the
building,bat it is extremely doubttul if Col.
Givins visited Toronto at so early a period.
John Charles Dent puts the date at 1797

or 1798. Still, in view of the fact tha
Col. Givins bought the land from
Colonel Joseph Bouchette, a French-

Canadian, devoted to the English cause,
in 1802, as the records 1in the city
registrar’s office show, it would seem un.
likely that the house was built before that
year. There were twenty-eight of these
lots, of which Col. Givins obtained one ;
they were known as the park lots, and con-
sisted of one hundred acres each. The ac-
companying illustration gives a front view
of the houseas it now appears. Entering
the front door the visitor steps into a hall
from which all the rooms open. In the
apartment to the left is Col. Givins’ desk,
and numerous pieces of old furniture. What
formerly was the dining room is now trans-
formed into the drawing room, and itis
here that much of intere t is to be found.
Perhaps a description of the artist’s sketch
will convey the clearcst idea of the apart-
ment, its occupants and decorations. On
the floor is a carpet put down many years
ago, but still in an excellent state of pre-
servation. Beneath it blood stains, plainly
visible in the wood, are the result of lndian
battles and of the war of 1812, when the
wounded came to Mrs. Givins to ask
the exercise of her surgical skill. The
big  fireplace, where big logs for-
merly blazed, has been modernized.
IN AN EASY CHAIR AT THE LEFT
of it with her favorite cat and dog near by,
sits Miss Cecil Givins, a daughter of Col
Givine, a life-long resident of the old howe-
stead, and a lady now in her eighty-seventh
year. Miss Givins was long a great belle
in Government and military circles, both
here and in the older settlements. Now*
although only left by time the memory oi
her social triumphs, her face and manner
still preserve she grace and beauty of youth
to a remarkable degree. Many are the
reminiscences that she loves to linger over.
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Major-General S8ir Isaac Brock and Chief
Joseph Brant have danced her on their
knees when she was not yet in her teens,
RESTING ON AN OTTOMAN

one sees in the illustration the sword of
Colonel Givins, which he wore on April
27¢h, 1813. On that day an American fleet
of fourteen vessels appeared before York,
and effected a landing about two miles west |
from Church street. Colonel Givins placed
himself at the head of a force of sixty Glen-
garry Fencibles and a few Indians, and
made a determined resistance to the land-
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American artillery. Such is the historieal
interest attached to she old sword. Many
other curious articles are scattered about
this apartment, including some fine speci-
mens of ivory carving sent home from the
east by Dr. George, a table over 200 years
old, and & piece of the wood of the Royal
George, the famous man-of-war.

A few words must be said now about the
builder of the house specially. On Novem-
ber 11th, 1791, Lieutenant General Jobn
Graves Simcoe, first Governor of Upper
Canada, arrived at Quebes in the Trifen,

THE LIBRARY.

ing of the American van, under Major | after a blustering voyage.

Forsyth. The Americans succeeded, how-
ever, and very soon reinforced by the
main body under General Pike. Reinforce-
ments immediately afterward came up to
Col. Giving’ aid in the shape of two com-
panies of the 8th Regiment, 200 militia, and
50 regulars of a Newfoundland regiment.
The invading force proved too strong, how-
ever, for the gallant colonel and his small

force, and they were driven eastward by the

For several
years previous to this James Givins, a young
man of average stature, with a pleasant
round face, a military bearing and a fiery
temper, had been engaged in the north-west.
Obtaining a commission of lieutenant in the
army, he is found as Niagara in the dark
green undress of the Queen’s Rangers, acting
as aide-de-camp to Governor Simcoe. Not
liking Niagara, or Newark, as is was thea
called, for his seat of Governments, the Gov-
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ernor, starsing out on a cruise of discovery,
passed the mouth of the Humber on the
morning of May 4th, 1793, and entered the
bay of Toronto,accompanied,among others by
Lieuienant Givins, who had also journeyed
with him a few months before on a #trip
from Niagara te Detreit. In 1802 Colonel
Givins bought a park lot, en which he built
the Givine Homestead. He was a pew-
holder in St. James’ from the firss.

Colonel Givinsg’ name was connected in
1828 with an incident that made a good deal
of stir at the time. A committee of the
House of Assembly, desiring to have his
evidence and that of Colonel Coffin, Adju-
tant-General of Militia, in relation to a
trespass by one Forsyth on Government
property at Niagara Falls, commanded their
presence at a certain day and hour. On
referring to 8ir Peregrine Maitland, Lieut-
ant-Governor at the time, and also com-
mander-in-chief of the forces, permission
to obey the mandate of the House
wes refused. Colonels Givins and Coffin
were arrested by the sergeant-at-arms,
who made foreible entrance into their
houses. They were confined in gaol
untdl the close of the session. They appeal-
ed, but ne redress was to be had. Sir Pere-
grine Maitland was removed the next year,
and Sir George Murray, Colonial Secretary,
severely censured him for his action in the
ease. Colonels Giving and Coffin brought
actions against the Speaker of the House,
but they were not saccessful in their suits.
Colonel Givins kept up an active interest in
Canadian affairs until his death. He is
baried in St. James’ cemetery. Unfor-
tunasely there is no portrait in existence of
this man, who exerted so great an interess
upon the birth and youth of Toronto. The
bouse that he built will soon be torn down,
bu¢ bhis memory will always be cherished
by those who would honor the early pioneer.

Nore—This house was pulled down in
ia 1891. )

Castle Frank which the Founder of Toronte
Buailt for a Summer and Winter Resort
Puring his Residence Here.

Séockton in ome of his clever sketches
humoronsly tells of a man who started
out alone to establish the nucleus of a
city in an uninhabited land. Ludicrously
absurd is the picture drawn of him dig-
ging away on the great lonely plain, and
yet how similar is the circumstance to
which Toronto owes its existence. The new

eror of a  new-created province
goes eruising about in a strange eountry
inbabited only by savages, and coming to

a region of thiekets, marshes and venomous

copperheads, draws his sword and exclaims :
‘“ Here will be built a great city in the
spring ?” And surely enough a log honse
sprang up in the wilderness, and about the
log house a hamles and out of the hamlet
a great and prosperous city. Here, then,
on July 26, 1793, on the schooner Mississaga
came John Graves Simene, Lieut.-General in
the British army, and first Governor of
Upper Canada, accompanied by hiz Execu-
tive Council, his Queen’s Rangers in their
dark green suits, his faithful aides, his
surveyor and his canvas tent, which oncs
belonged to Captain Cook, the famous cir-
cumnavigator. With a royal salute of 21
guns the Governor inaugurated his adminis-
tration with a Council in the tent on Satur-
day, August 3. Meanwhile Surveyor
Augustus Jones, who wes walking about
to look at the new town, remarked
that nothing was to be seen of it ex-
cept the site. Colonel Talbot observed
thas the party bad gome city hunt-
ing and would lay out a magnificent city.
Returning to Niagara on the dissolution of
his Parliament, September 3, the Governor
and his family went back to spend the
winter at the new town of York, named
after the Duke of York, second son of King
George III. Huts were built for the ac-
commodation of the camp, the Governor and
his family passing the season in the canvas
tent.
THE. DWELLING OF THE GOVERNOR

at Niagara was a small, miserable wooden
house. Naturally he wanted a habitation of
some kind at his new capital. During the
spring of 1794 the Governor built Castle
Frank, in the midst of the woods on the
brow of a steep high bank overlooking the
valley of the Don, at a point just a few
yards beyond the fence which now bownds
St. James’ cemetery at the north. A large
portion of the land formerly belonging to
Castle Frank iz now part of the burying
ground. Immediately below the house, on
the south, was a deep glen, down which,
between hog-back formations, ran a stream
named Castle Frank Brook, which flowed
into the Don, just above a small island on
the west side. The inarshes gave way on
the right at this point to good land covered
with elm, butternut and basswood trees.
The site of the building is half an hour’s
easy walk from town, and up to a dozen
years ago its location might have been
clearly recognized by a hollow in $he
sand. The ground on each side of it
descended precipitously on the one hand
to the Don, and on the oler to the
bottom of Castle Frank Brook ravine.
The position was elevated, bnt the view

was hemmed in by the treezs that covered
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alike the level land and the hill sides.
The spot is beautiful by nature. Around
Castle Frank were tall, white pines, and
the hill sides about are still thickly
wooded. To the east and west there were
views—the forests cutting off the lands-
cape in the other directions. To the
east the view was down upon the valley
of the Don, and to the west over the ravine
now in the cemetery.
CASTLE FRANK WAS A CHATEAU,

or cottage or summer house. It was not
occupied permanently by the governor and
his family, but it was doubtless the scene

windows with shutters of heavy double
planks running np and down on one side,
and crosswise on the other, and thickly
studded with the heads of stout nails.
Of a similar construction was the door.
A chimney arose from the middle of the
roof. The walls were built of rather small,
carefully hewn logs, of short lengths,
clap-boarded. They presented a compara-
tively finished appearance on the outside,
but after a time took the weather-
stained colour that wunpainted wood
Inside, the finish was rough, in
the interior was never fully com.

assumes.
fact

CASTLE FRANK,

of nearly all the social life in the little
gettlement ducing Governor Simcoe’s ad-
ministration. The building was oblong,
of the dimensions of thirty by fifty feet—
the former being the frontage, which was
toward the south. The facade was much
like that of a Greek temple. At the
gable end, in the direction of the road-
way leading from the infant capital, was
a door but no windows. The trunks
of four large, well-matched, un-barked
pine trees answered for columns sup
porting the pedimen}y or the projection
of the whole roof. On each side were four

pleted. A slight attempt at a division
into rooms had been made but never fully
carried ont. Entering the front door the
visitor found himself at once in an apars-
ment extending the width of the build-
ing and about half its length. On ome
side was a big fire-place. At the rear of
this was another room of similar dimen-
sions with a fire-place in the opposite wall.
This cleared space in front of the building
was but a few yards across, and from it
to the site of the town ran a narrow car-
riage-way and bridle-path, cut out by the
soldiers and carefully graded, traces of
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which may still be found. In what spiric
of humorous contempt for their surround-
ings was it that these city founders,
accustomed to the conveniences of large
towns, designated their log houses, in the
midst of a wiiderness filled with savages,
beasts and snakes, by such appellations as
Castle Frank, Lambeth Palace, Pine Grove
and Oak Hiil ?
CASTLE FRANK RECEIVED

its title from the five-year old son of Gov-
ernor Simcoe, althongh the Rev. Dr. Henry
Scadding, from whom nearly all the infor-
mation here given in regard to it was ob-
tained, points out that there was a
¢ Castel-franc” near Rochelle, which
figures in the history of the Huguenots.
The Iroquois had given to the governor the
title ¢ De yonyn hokrawen,” signifying
¢ One whose door is always open,” and on
the young masterof thecastle,who appears to
have been a great favourite with them,
as he sometimes was attired in Indian
costume, they conferred the honour of
chieftainship, and named him Deyoken,
which means ‘¢ Between the two objects.”
““ A warrior’s fate befell the young chief-
tain. After the lapse of seventeen years
he was a mangled corpse in that ghastly
pile of English dead which closed up
the breach at Badajoz in 1812.” In spite
of the unavoidable discomforts of life at
Castle Frank and at York, many were the
compensating pleasures, especially for the
soldier pioneers who formed almost the
entire male population. Governor Simcoe’s
mind was absorbed with schemes of govern-
ment and war. Those who had sport-
ing proclivities might gratify them to the
full in the forest where bear, deer and
wolves, and all sorts of small game abound-
ed. Woodcock and snipe made the low-
lands their home. Salmon were speared
by night in the Don, and the bay and lake
were filled with fish of all kinds. Until
Governor Simcoe’s departure, in 1796,
Castle Frank’s rough roof covered many
a gay party, brought up by boat or on
horseback. ~ Among them the governor,
moving about with military mien by the
side of his lovely, charming and accom-
plished wife, whose maiden name lives
in ‘“ Gwilim”-bury, where Benedict Ar-
nold received a grant of 5,000 acres of
land. Her father was one of the aides of
General Wolfe, and was killed at the taking
of Quebec. She lived until 1850. Francis
and his young sister were by thcir pareuts’
side, and in their train Secretary Major
Littlehales, Aides-lieutznant Talbot and
Givins, Surveyor Jones, and what guests,
male and female, the gubernatorial party
might have. Chief Joseph Brant, no doubt,

visited it, andUnlonel Butler, his associate
at Wyoming.

AFTER GOVERNOR SIMCOE’S
retirement Castle Frank was frequently
used by President Peter Russell and his
family for a picnic, excursion party or ball,
when the guests were taken up the
Don in boats. That these trips must have
been full of pleasure we learn from a letter
of Mr. Russell, written in December,

SIR JOHN GRAVES SIMCOE.
1796, in whicb he says: ‘I hope the
ladies may be able to enjoy the charm-
ing carioling (sleighing) whieh you must
have onyour bay and up the Don to Castle
Frank, when an carly dinner must be pic-

turesque and delightful.” Captain John
Denison, an officer in the English militia,
came %o Canada from Hedon, York-
shire, in 1792, and a first settled at
Kingston, but in 1796 he moved to York,
and for a time lived at Castle Frank
by permission of the Hon. Peter Rus-
sell. He bought a park lot which des-
cended to his heir, Colonel George Tay-
lor Denison, from whom Denizon avenue
is named. About 1806 Castle Frank
closed, and tenantless, began to show
sigus of decay, and in 1829, fired by
some salmon fishers of the Don, the
house built Ly the founder of Toronto
went up in smoke, leaving not a vestige
but a quantity of iron from the nails
which thickly studded the doors and win-
dow shutters.
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CHAPTER IL
MACKENZIE’'S YORK ST. HOME.

The House Where William Lyon Mackenzie
Edited ‘‘The Constitution” and from
Which he Fied at the Rebellion.

On the west side of York street, what is
now 184, half way between Queen and
Richmond, separated from the pavement by
a few feet of yard and a low fence, and partly
shadel by a couple of not over-healthy
looking trees, stands a modest two-storey red
brick house. Duying the stormiest period
of a peculiarly stormy career that irre-
pressible patriot Wiltiam Lyon Mackenzie,
made this dwelling his home and workshop.
Here were his papers, pen and ink ; here he
thought out and wrote down those burning
words that set all Canada aflame ; here he
planned that ill-advised and ill-fated rebel-
lion, and here he left his family when he
fled with a price set on his head. Without
entering into a discussion of the question—
which belongs to the domain of the philo-
sophic historian and not the simple topo-
grapher—what results haveevolved from the
influence exerted by the great editor with
the little body and massive head, it may be
remarked that a great part in Canadian
affairs has been payed in this unpretentious
dwelling. Here then early, in 1836,
Mr. Mackenzie came with his
family and effects, renting the house, a com-
paratively new one, having been occupied
previously but a little time by its owner—
from Dr. Hotne, At that time it was the
only building on the square, at each corner
of which stood a poplar tree, and there
were but two or three others on the whole
street. The front, which looks now as then,
is well shown in the artist’s illustration. It
was on the 4th of July, 1836, a significant
date, as Charles Lindsey, Mr. Mackenzie’s
biographer, observes, that the first number
of The Constitution was published. Already
French Canadians had held insurgent meet-
ings.

. SEVERAL THOUSAND MEN
had armed themselves to fight if necessary
against what they claimed to be the coercive
measures of the lmperial Government, and
events seemed hurrying on with resistless
tread. A little rear room behind the dining-
room, entered by steps leading up from the
back yard, had been converted into an office
and sanctum. In this apartment the fear-
less editor prepared those inflammatory
articles, one of which appeared in the issue
of the papsr on July 5, 1837, when he asks,
“Will Canadians declare their independ-
ence and shoulder their muskets ¥’ and sup-
plements the question by an affirmative
appeal. This is followed, in the Constitution

of August 2nd, by the publication of a vir-
tual declaration of independence. Then
meetings of the insurrectionists are held,
200 in all it is said, some attended with con-
flicts of the opposing factions.  The events
of the succeeding months belong to the his-
tory of the rebellion. At length the open
outbreak so long expec.ed occurs. The in-
trepid editor has thus far been a conqueror
with the pen; he is now about to essay his
atyle with the sword. E

There are yet living many in Toronto who
remember that December moraing in 1837 ;
and there are also, though it is nearly half a
century since, not a few still hale and hearty
in our midst, who took up arms to aid in
restoring peace. Of these the Honorable
George W. Allan, of Moss Park, Mayor of
the city so far back as 1855, is one. He, with
pardonable pride, displays in his museum
the cross-belt, cartridge box and bayonet he,
as one of the Bank Guard, was equipped
with on that occasion. 'The la e F. A. Whit-
ney, whose son afterwards commanded the
University Company of Rifles at Ridgeway,
was one of Mr. Allan’s colleagues. Mr.
Allan, at the time a pupil at Upper Canada
College,felt it no small trouble to his youthfui
self-importance that he should have toreturn
to school as soon as the Christmas holidays
were over. T e Venerab'e Alexander Dixon,
rector of Guelph, and archdeacon in the dio-
cese of Niagara, was another of these youthful
warriors. ~ Mr. Clarke Gamble was yet
anotlier, and he narrowly escapéed with his
life at the skirmish which subsequently
took place at Montgomery’s.

Some one has said that the result of every
ba tle hinges on a mistake; there cer-
tainly was a m.scalculation in the plans
of the insurgents. Captain Anderson and
Colonel Moodie are shot on the evening of
Monday, Deccember 3rd, and then in hot
haste chase one another the fighting of
Tuesday night, the panic of Wednesday,
Thursday’s defeat of the insurgents, and the
flight of Mr. Mackenzie with a reward of
£1,000 offered for his capture.

AF¥TER MUCH WANDERING,
many narrow eseapes and considerable hard-
ship, the patriot leader reaches Amer-

ican soil. Meanwhile the distressed
ladies and children of Mr. Macken-
zie’s family experience wretched days
and nights of doubt and misgiving,

first trembling for the fate of husband,
father, son, secondly fearing for the safety
to the important letters and documents per-
taining to the rebellion that were in the
house, thirdly in a state of continual appre-
hension by reason of the oft-repeated visits
of the authorities. As soon as the news of
an actual outbreak reached the Government
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MACKENZIE'S YORK STREET HOME.

officials the York street house was put
under the strictest surveillance. A guard
was stationed at the door and patrols paced
up and down before it. Every ten or fifteen
minutes soldiers walk in and make the most
thorough s.carch from cellar to g.rret,
they look under the beds, thrust
their swords through them, peer and pry in
every nook and cranny of the building ; nor
is this attention intermitted by night. Al-
though the only inmates now are women and
children half a dozen civilians are domiciled
in the dining-room atevening to watch there
until morning. Ostensibly they are sent
for #he protection of the occupants who,
bowever, decline to receive them in that
gunise and denounce them as spies. Protest
is vain unti Mrs. Maekenzie's grandmother,
an old lady of 88 years appeals to their
manly 1nstincts asking if they are not
ashamed to force themselves into the
residence of defenceless women, and
at this they go away. Some of these
men still live in Toronto. Mr. Mac-
kenzie’s papers hung in files from the ceiling
in his bedroom at the south side of the
house and in his office at the rear.  Singu-
larly enough, although the plumes of the of-
ficers at times touched them they were never
noticed, and the only ones seized were a
few found hidden within the curtains of an
old-fashioned bed. Immunity from the
frequent visits of the soldiery was al-
lowed to the inmates for the first time
during church service on the Sunday morn-
ing following the outbreak. Seizing the op-
portunity the ladies kindled fires in four

wood box stoves and burned every letter
and document in the house. Scraps of
charred paper were sailing upwards from
the chimneys as the people came pouring
out from their places of worship ; soldiers
returning to resume search saw them and
rushed in, but they were too late ; every-
thing had been destroyed. It frequently
happened th:t prisoners arrested after the
rebellion was quelled were marched by the
house, bound two by two with stout ropes,
and they invariably liited their hats as they
passed. The family remained in the house
about a fortnight after the events narrated,
Mrs. Mackenzie joining her husband Dec.
29th, at Navy Island.

CHAPTER IIL
HISTORY OF HOLLAND HOUSE.

A Celebrated Toronto Mansion Named after
the Famous Ifouse in Kensington where
Charles James Fox Lived.

This 18 Holland House. Not the Holland
House whose foundations were laid in
Kensington parish, London, in 1607, by Sir
Waiter Cop2, who styled it Cope Castle,
and which passing from him at death to his
daughter and heiress, Isabel, the wife of
Sir Henry Rich, afterward created first
Earl of Holland in 1624, was subsequently
known as Holland House and made famous
throughout the world by the goodly com-
vany of men and women that frequented it
from the times of Charles James Fox, who
lived part of his life there to that
of Mornckton Milnes, including every
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HOLLAND HOUSE-—FRONT VIEVW.

person of note who lived in or visited Eng-
land, among them Byion, Sir Humphrey
Davey, Tallyrand and Madamede Stael.
From 1799 to 1840 there was scarcely in
England a man distinguished in politics,
science and literature, who was not enter-
tained there, and perhaps more sparkling
bon mots and brilliant repsrtees have been
uttered in its dining room than in any apart-
ment of any house in the world.

But it is not of the Holland House of Lon-
don that this article treats, but of its name-
sake, the Holland House of Toronto. A
little west of Bay street, between Welling-
ton street on the north and a lane called
Piper street on the south, m'dway in a yard
filled with trees and shrubbery, there now
stands a turreted castle-like building, On
the south the view of the grounds and the
lower part of the building is shut out by a
tall, indented board fence. At the north
the yard is enclosed partly by a high brick
wall and partly by an iron railing. Gravel-
led walks lead up to the entrances.
In each of the two- storeyed wings
are two large, square, three panelled win-
dows. Near the four corners of the roof are
massive, turret-shaped chimneys. The
whole building is stuccoed and lined in imi-
tation of brown stone. From the north, Hol-
land House is severely plain. Although no%
resembling the Kensington House, there is a
suggestion of it architecturally in the lower
and flankine wings of the Toronto mansion.

Judge PBoulton was an English gentle-
man, a lover of horses, a spirited rider,

and a wit. In 1831 the Hon. Henry John
Boulton, the son and heir of Judge Boulton,
and the second son of Secretary Jarvis,
erected on the location of the paternal resi-
dence the present baronial-like structure.
Henry John Boulton was born in the
famous English house,and he commemorated
the fact by naming his Toronto home Hol-
land House. He was Solicitor-General tor
Upper Canada, and in 1833 was appointed
Chief Justice of Newfoundland. On his de-
parture the mansion was let successively to
Mr, Truscodd, the first private banker in
Toronto, and to the EFmslie and Sherwood
families. It was then purchased from the
Boultons by Alexander Manning, who lived
there for a time with his family. A daugh-
ter dying in the house, the place became dis-
tasteful to Mrs. Manning, and Holland
House was then takep by the Reform Club,
but is nmow vacant Dr. Scadding says:
—‘¢ It was at Holl nd House that the Karl
and Countess of Dufferin kept high festival
during a brief sojourn in the capital of On-
tario in 1872 Suggested by pub-
lic addresses received in infinite va-
riety, within Holland House was written
or thought out that remarkable cycle of
rescripts and replied, exceedingly wide
in its scope, but in which each requisite
topic was touched with consummate skill
and in such a way as to show in each direc-
tion genuine human sympathy and hearti-
ness of feeling, and a sincere desire to cheer
and strengthen the endeavor after the good,
the beautiful and the true.”’
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CHAPTER 1IV.
JOHN McINTOSH’S HOUSE,

The Pwelling on Yonge Street Attacked by
a Mob on William Lyon Mackenzic's Re-
tnra from Exile.

For nearly thirty years William Lyon
Mackenzie had been fighting fcr a principle,
experiencing the bitterest poverty, endur-
ing exile, suffering imprisonment, even
sparring with death ; losing all things but
hope, faith in the right and belief in him-
self. Now after eleven years of outlawry
in the United States complete amnesty
having been  granted to him—the
last one to be pardoned—he returns
to the city of which he was the first mayor
and reaches Toronto in March, 1849. At
this time there were four houses on the east
side of Yonge street, between what is now
Queen but was then Lot,and Shuter streets.
The farthest north was a rough-cast build-
ing and south in order were one frame and
two red brick dwellings. They were owned
by four members of the McIntosh family,
named respectively Charles, James, Robert
and John. These buildings have since been
remodelled into stores, John McIntosh’s
house, which is shown in the illustration,
was of red brick and steod a short distance
from the north-east corner of Queen and
Yonge streets. It is now a dry-goods
store. Good’s fouudry extended in the
rear of it back to Victoria street,
and between it and Mr. MclIntosh’s
property there was a gateway. A portion
of Mr. McIntosh’s house was occupied at
the time by the Rev. Alexander Stewart,
the father of Mr. McIntosk’s first wife. In
the red brick house next north to it Robert
Mackenzie’'s family lived until they left
Canada. An orchard extended back of it to
Victoria street. The houses were probably
built about 1822. The land on which they
stood was the first ground sold north of
Queen street for building lots. Charles
McIntosh, who lived in the northernmost
house, was the captain of the Cobourg,
one of the first steamers on the lake. John
MecIntosh once represented North York in
the Provincial parliament. He was the
father-in-law of William Lyon Mackenzie, and
it was in his house that the exiled patriot
came to visit on his return to Toronto in the
e.rly spring of 1849, and his reception wasa
riot. Rumour had flown around during the
afternoon of Thursday, March 22, that there
would be trouble in the evening. Mackenzie
was in town. With the coming of night
dirty, ragged, intoxicated men and boys be-
gan to assemble until several hundreds
were gathered. They carried torches and

Mackenzie, Attorney-General West
Solicitor-General W est.

and
Suddenly the mob

sent up a shout of “fire” and rushed
to a point on Yonge street not
far from the MeclIntosh house. The alarm

was false, but it served the intended pur-
pose and swelled the ranks of the rioters.
Then the crowd with all the confused babel
of a mob starts down Yonge street. Turning
eastward on King street it march s past the
old market building, wheels to the right,
passes by the doors of the police station, and
directing its course along Front street, stops
at the residences of the Attorney and Soli-
citor Generals Wess, where it burns the
effigies o these officials before their win-

dows. Preserving up to this time
as much restraint as could pos-
sibly be expected from a mob, that
is, no destruction of life, limb or

property, cries of ¢ Death to Mackenzie!”
““T'o McIntosh’s | ” break the charm. With
flaming barrels of tar luridly lighting the
darkness this wild wave of humanity surges
up from the foot of Yonge street. Peace-
ful citizens run to their homes, bolt doors
and bar windows. Pushing, squeezing for
place—there are at least two thousand in
the mad mob ; they choke Yonge street—
splashing and stumbling through mud ankle
deep, with ribald songs, frightful chorus
of curses, the most dreadful shouts and im-
precations, flaring torches, shrill yells,
hideous grimaces, sharp report of fire-
arms and above all strident cries
for Mackenzie’s life they press forward.
Poor Mackenzie | What a welcome to get
after all thcse years in $he city that as
mayor he first governed ; but he must have
become pretty well us'd to almost every-
thing by this time. By midnight the whole

crowd had assembled before John Mec-
Intosh’s house. Yonge street was full.
The tar barrel was set on end in

the middle of the roadway and two more
barrels were placed by it. The discharge
of fire-arms became general : cries of
¢ Colonel Moodie,” were fiercely ejaculat-
ed mingled with demands for Mackeuzie’s
surrender. Then an attack was made on
the house, bricks, stones and sticks were
hurled at it ; every pane of glass in the
windows was broken ; stones weighing six
or seven pounds were sent crashing through,
carrying glass and sash along. Whispers
passed among the leaders that if Mackenzie
could be got at he would quickly be dis-
posed of. The four policemen at hand
were impotent. They arrest a law student
but the rioters knock the constables down
and rescue their comrade. 1n the front
ranks of the crowd were several aldermen.

in their midst were borne aloft effigies of Hervey Price, barrister, son of the Commis



LANDMARKS OF TORONTO. 1

1L 7%%
N———— T Mlhisedsteadud sttty oy
—_— —

‘Jﬁwm-lwmuumw i
e LT THITHTEN

JOHN M INTOSH’S HOUSE.

sioner of Crown ILands, was attacked,
severely cut about the head, and but for the
interference of one of the policemen would
have been killed. The fury of the mob in-
creasing the constables stationed themseives
at the door and prevented it from breaking
in. While the utmost lawlessness pre-
vailed at the front of the house
some of the rioters made  their
way to the rear through the gate and
made a similar attack in that quarter with
every kind of missiles at hand. Great stones
were hurled through the windows of Mr.
Montgomery’s house nearly opposite. At 4
o’clock in the morning the mob left the Mec-
Intosh house and went to the residence of
Mr, Brown of the Globe, where windows and
blinds were smashed. Friday night another
crowd gathered at Mr. Mackenzie’s stopping
place, but two hundred special constables
were on hand re-inforced by many private
citizens in an attitude of defence and 60
soldiers who had been brought down from the
barracks. Nothing wasdone heyond noisy
demonstrations. Saturday night another
rabble gathered, but learning that the Mec-
Intosh house would be protected bya strong
force, no attempt was made to molest the
inmates, the crowd contenting itself with
breaking gas-lamps and windows on Bayland
Bond streets and in sections of the city
where there were no constables, After this
nofurtherdisplay of violence wasmadeagainst
Mr. Mackengie, and in 1850 he brought his
family from New York to Toronto and took
up his residence here, where he continuad to
live until his death, Aug. 28, 1861.

CHAPTER V.
HISTORY OF BEVERLEY HOUSE.

The Residence of Chietl Justice John Bever-
1y Robinson aand Temporary Home ot
Poulett Thomson, Lord Sydenham.

The accompanying illustration shows a
house at the north-east corner of John and
Richmond streets which nearly all
Torontonians of the present time will
readily recognize, though so altered
from its original condition that it is
very doubtful if a resident of the early
part of the century could identify it.

The oldest part of Beverley Housef was
built sometime about the war of 1812, by
D’Arcy Boulton, eldest son of Judge Boul-
ton, brother of Henry John Boulton and
father of William Henry Bonlton. At first
it was a small brick cottage, and up to 1820
was the only building on the square bound-
ed by John, Simcos, Richmond and Queen
streets, and stood near the south-west
corner of this enclosure. D’Arcy Boulton
lived here until 1815, when he moved to a
large frame dwelling on the west side
of Frederick street, just south of
King street, and opposite the old post-office.
This building is still standing, though
greatly altered and changed in appearance.
This Frederick street residence is a very old
building, and an interesting incident is con-
nected with its history. In 1813 when York
fell into the hands of the United States
forces, Prideaux Selby, Receiver-General of
the Province, was living there, and at the
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time of the invasion he was on his death-bed.
The provincial moneys were in his keep-
ing, and to save them irom falling into
the hands of General Dearborn and Com-
modore Chauncey, Mrs. Selby and Mrs.
William Allan hit npon a most ingenious
plan. The confidential clerk of the Receiver-
General was William Roe,familiarly known
as Billy Roe. An order was procured from
General Sheaffe and the Executive Council ;
Mrs. Selby and Mrs. Allan dressed Bily up
as an old woman, an old horse and waggon
were procured, three bags of gold and a
large sum in army bills were pitched
into  the waggon, and in  his
guise of old woman  Mr. Roe
safely drove out to the farm of Chief Justice
Robinson on the Kingston road, east of the

Attorney-General, afterward Chief Justice
John Beverley Robinson, toock it. He first
added a wing to the westward, then raised
the whole building, put on a verandah,
built stables to the north-west, and these al-
terations and additions changed it from the
modest little brick cottage into the dwell-
ing house as it now appears. Chief Justice
Robinson, who was made a baronet, and
whose eldest son is now Sir Lukin Robin-
son, lived here until his death. Sir J. B,
Robinson was one of the pew-holders in St.
James’ church from its commencement,
During the war of 1812 he was a lieutenant
of volunteers, and it was the death of A¢-
torney-General Macdonell, who was killed
at Queenston Heights while acting as

General Brock’s aide-de-camp, that made

BEVERLEY HOUSE.

Don bridge, where he buried the treasure.
Afterwards the army bills were given up to
the invaders, but th- gold was not found,
and after the departure of the Americans
Mr. Roe returned it to the authorities in the
parlour of the Rev. Dr. John Strachan. At
the same time Mr. Roe took the Receiver
General’s iron treasure chest and hid it in
the house of Donald McLean, clerk of the
House of Assembly. Mr. McLean was killed
while opposing the lauding of the Americans;
his house wasplundered ; thechest was found
and broken open and about a thousand
dollars in silver were taken. From the
Frederick street honse Mr. Boulton moved
to the Grange. On his giving up the cottage
at the corner of John and Richmond streets,

the vacaney which Mr. Robinson at an
unusual 'y early age wasappointedto fill. Sir
John Robinson gave the site of Osgoode
Hall, six acres, tothe Luw Society and the
name which the building bears was his sug-
gestion. Beverley House was temporari'y
the residence of Poulett Thomson, after-
wards Lord Sydenham, while Governor-
General of the Canadas in 1839-40. It is
ssid that he built the kitchen range conunec.
ted with the house and that this was the
indirect cause of getting the Union measure
through the Upper Canada Parliament.
Poulett Thomson gives an insight into his
manner of life in a letter written to a friend
in 1840, from Montreal, but which may be

applied to his life in Beverley House as
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well.
o'clock, a ride with my aide-de-camp till 5,
work again till dinner, at dinner till 9, and
work again until early next morning. This
is my daily routine.” After establishing
the union of Upper and Lower Canada,
Poulett Thomson was raised to the peerage,
with the title of Baron Sydenham ot Syden-
ham in Kent. and Toronto in Canada. He
died in 1841 in Kingston through a fall from
his horse as _he was preparing to return to
England. His age was 42 years, After Sir
J. B. Robinson’s death his widow, Lady
Robinson, made Beverley House her home
until she died, when it was taken by her
son, Christopher Robinson, Q. C., who still
lives there,

CHAPTER VL
JORDAN’S YORK HOTEL.

A sketch of one of the best public houses in
York and several objects of interest adja-
cent to 1t.

Dr. Samuel Johnson has said that there
is nothing which has yet been contrived by
man by which so much happiness is produc-
ed as by a good tavernor inn. If this be so
then on the south side of King street be-
tween Princes street to the west and Berke-
ley to the east—but Widmers lane now

runs between—stood a  storey and
a half frame building, with dormer
windows  along  its  roof, which

must have afforded infinite pleasure to the
early inhabitants of York. Thiz was the
celebrated ¢ York Hotel,” kept by John
Jordan. At a very early period this was
the first-¢lass hotel not only of the town
but of all Upper Canada. It was one of the
oldest houses in York and as early as 1820,
it presented a dilapidated appearance. Its
foundations had given away, allowing this
building to sag and appear as if about to
topple over into the street. In the bali-
room of this house before the completion of
the Legislative Buildings which were to
take the place of those burned by the
Americans in 1813 the Parliament of Upper
Canada satfor one session. Dr. Scadding says
that members of parliamentand other visitors
considered themselves in luxurious quarters
when housed there. Probably in no instance
have the public dinners or fashionable as-
semblies of a later era gone off with more
eclat or given more satisfaction to the per-
sons concerned in them than did those
which from time to time in every season
took place in what would now be considered
the very diminutive ball room and dining
hall of Jordan’s. When looking in later
times at the doorways and windows of the
older buildings intended for public and do-

He says :—** Work in my room till 3 |

mestic purposes, as also at the dimensions
of rooms and the proximity of the ceilings to
the floors we might be led for a moment to
imagine that the generation of settlers
passed away, must have been of smaller
bulk and:stature than their descendants.
But points especiaily studied in the con-
struction of early Canadian houses in both
provinces were warmth and comfort in the
long winters. Sanitary principles were not
much thought of and happily did not require
to be much chought of when most persons
passed more of their time in the pure outer
air than thcy do now.  Mr. Clarke Gamble
says that in 1820 Jordan’s, although
still considered first-class, looked antique
when compared with the Mansion Hounze
which stood a little to the west of it on the
porth side of King street, and that it was
rapidly losing its patronage to the newer
hotel, a long, white two-storey woaden
building. The landlord of it was Mr. De
Forest, an American who had lost both his
ears, but who concealed the defect by the ar-
rangement of his hair A large and hand-
some model of a full rigged ship was
perched for many years on the roof tree of
the Mansion House. In 1819 A. N. Bzthune,
D.D., D.C.L., the successor of Bishop
Strachan in the See, came from Montreal
as a young man to study divinity under Dr.
Strachan. Of his arrival in York he says:
We crossed the Don over a strong wooden
bridge, and after half a mile’s drive alight-
ed at Mr. D:Forest’s inn, the best in the
place, though Jordan’s, nearly opposite,
notwithstanding its low, shabby exterior,
was the more popular one. I then made
my way to the boarding house, where I was
to reside on the north side of King street, a
little east of Nelson street, {originally New
street), and although a mean looking habi-
tation, it was pretty comfortable, and the
company, law clerks and clerks in Govern-
ment offices, was intelligent and agreeable.

At the mnorth-west corner of King and
Princes streets the second public pump in
the town was placed in 1824, cost-
ing £36 17s 6d, the first well hav-
ing been dug the same year at the Market
Square and provided with a pump, the
whole costing £28 1s 3d. One of the firss
buildings on King street stood just across
on the north-east corner of King and Prin-
ces street. It was erected by a Mr.
Smith, who was the first man to take
up a building lot after the laying
out of the town. Before Jordan’s Hotel
was erected, Paul Marian, a Frenchman,
had built at the rear of the lota large
dome-shaped structure of brick fora bakery,

and in 1804 he advertises to sell bread to
the people of the town delivered at their
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dwellings for cash at the rate of nine loaves
for a dollar. At the same time Francois
Belcour, another Frenchman, is plying the
game trade. He adversises to make his
bread in two, three and four pound loaves,
a3 may suit the convenience of families ; he
offers to return one pound of bread for
every pound of flour sent to him, and also
offers to bake beef for all who may wish it
baked. When Jordan’s hotel was built
Marian’s oven fell into disuse, but after the
abandonment of the hotel it was repaired
and enlarged and init was baked much of
the bread supplied to the soldiers in 1838-9.
About the first stone pavements laill in
York were on the sidewalks about Jordan’s.
They were flat stones from the lake beach,
of irregular shapes and surfaces and mode
a véry uneven foot path. Mr. Jordan was
one of the pew-holders in St#h James’ church
from 1ts commencement, and was one of the
signers to a congratulatory address pre-
sented to Lieutenant-Governor Francis Gore
on his return from England in 1815,

CHAPTER VIIL
FIRST BANK IN UPPER CANADA.

The Brick Building at the South.east Cor-
ner of King and Frederick Streets—Its
Bullders, @ccupaunts and History.

The four corners of King and Frederick
streets form one of the most distinguished
localities in the city, distinguished almost
from the very first settlement of York, and
distinguished yet. But the complexion of
its fame has changed, and it must be noted
now chi-fly for showing the mutations of half
a century. Before the second decade of the
century had slipped by these four corners had
become the chief business places of the
nascent capital. Here were the four general
stores or shops of the town. At the north-
east corner fohn Baldwin’s, now occupied
by {the Canada Company; at the north-
west, Alexander Wood’s, which, though re-
modelled and altered and recently narrowly
escaping total destruction by fire, has again
been patched up for occupancy. And in
this connection it may be remarked asa
somewhat singular fact that very few of the
old buildings have been destroyed by fire.
On the south-west corner was D’Arcy
Boulton’s. On the south-east corner, about
the year 1818, William Allan, father of the
Hon. George Allan,erected a strong,substan-
tral, thick-walled brick, building, the
present appearance of which the illustra-
tion can best show. The King street
front has been somewhat altered since its
eonstruction.  Originally there was ane
large arched doorway in the centre, with
two windows at each side corresponding to

those at present on the upper floor. The
central window of the five in the second-
storey was arched to match the doorway
below it. A short distance south on the
same side of Frederick street, where stands
the present Newsboys’ Home, were the first
post office and custom house on the premises
of Mr. Allan, who was postmaster and col-
lector. The building was partly log and
partly frame. Mr. Allan was also inspec-
tor of flour, pot and p-arl ash, and irspec-
tor of shop, still and tavern duties. His
dwelling was down on the same square
near the bay shore. Mr. Allan occupied
a very prominent position in York circles of
every kind. In 1812 Major Allan is com-
manding a detachment of volunteers, and
Colonel Allan’s name is appended to the
articles of capitulaton April 27, 1813, sur-
rendering York to the commander of the
United States troops. He was one of the
two treasurers of the fund raised for the
erection of the first St. James’ church in
1803. 1In 1801 he was returning officer at a
public election. Later he is Associ-
ate Justice W. Allan, Esq. In this
building then at the south-east corner of
King and Frederick streets, Mr. Allan
opened a general store, the stock consisting
of such & mixture of merchandise as hard-
ware, spirits, silks, butter, cheese, in fact
everything saleable in the community. At
the legislative session of 1821 was an-
nounced the royal assent to the act passed
in 1819 for the institution of a bank which
wag to be situated at York, the seat of gov-
ernment of the province, and was to be
known as the Bank of Upper Canada. The
stock was not to exceed £200,000. It was to
be opened when the deposits amounted
to £20,000. The Government was allowed
to subscribe for 2,000 shares, and it was de-
clared that the institution might expire by
limitation in 1848. The bank did not begin
operations before 1822, then for nearly half
a century it did a good business, but at
length became embarrassed, burdened with
unsaleable lands taken as security and failed
in 1866. Its incorporators were William
Allan, Robert C. Horne, John Scarlett,
Francis Jackson, William Warren Baldwin,
Alexander Legge, Thomas Ridout, Samuel
Ridout, D’Arcy Boulton, jr., William B.
Robinson, James Macaulay, Duncan Came-
ron, Guy C. Wood, Robert Anderson and
Jobn 8. Baldwin. When the bank began
business, and Mr., Allan b-came its pre-
sident, somewhere about 1822, the building
of which this article treats was divided, the
bank taking the cormer part, the entrance
to it being on Frederick street, where the

large window now is, shown in the illnstra-
tion. The vault of the bank, not much like
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vaults nowadays, may still be seen at the
western end of the cellar. The wall is of
brick, about a toot thick at the front, but
much thicker at the sides and resr. The
interior dimensions are about three feet
square. The door is of iron, half an inch in
thickness. Two locks like ordinary door
locks, only stronger, were relied on to defend
the treasure. At the point where the vault
is located the outside foundation wall
of the building is over three feet
through and of stone. The bank
occupied these premises quite a num-
ber of years. John W. Gamble,
who had been Mr. Allan’s partner, succeeded
him in thebusiness and was in turnsucceeded
by William Gamble who opened in this
building the first wholesale establishment in
York. Afterwards a brewer by the name
of Townsend occupied it partly as a resi-
dence and partly, as a brewery’; the other

art of the brewery at the rear has since
Eeen taken down. Early in the fifties John
Mason moved there using it as a residence
and boot and shoe store. During Mr.
Mason’s occupancy William Hamilton, of
the St. Lawrence foundry, had part of the
building and it was there that he established
the business. Mr. Mason remained about
twenty years and at his departure Joseph
Clegg opened a fruit store and the same
business is now carried on by J. Stinson, the
present occupant.

CHAPTER VIIL
COTTAGE OF LIEUT. MUDGE.

The House in Which One of Sir John
Colborne’s Aldes~de-Camp Shot Himseit—
His Tombstone.

Rapidly tumbling to decay, with clap-
boards falling off, broken roof overrun with
Virginia creepers, and general appearance
of dilapidation, there stands near the foot
of Emily street on the west side of the way,
a narrow building of wood surmounted by
a brick chimney, mnow made to
serve as a barn, but which was
once a cottage. It is of considerable age, for
in 1825 it was considered quite an old house.
The entrance to it formerly led through
quite & yard from Wellington street. ~ This
old building has a tragic interest. Here
lived Lieutenant Zachary Mudge, an officer
of artillery and one of the aides-de-camp of
Sir John Colborne. He bore a name famous
in the scientific annals of Devonshire. The
sight of Lieut. Mudge and Sir John Colborne,
both tall, stately, handsome men walking in
company to service at St. James’ church on
a Sunday morning was a one which many
turned to look at and admire. In the long
pew on the west side of the Governor’s seat
in church sat the military officers, and here
beside Lieutenant Mudge at times might be
seen Major Browne, a brother of Mrs. He-
mans, the poetess; a young ensign,
one of Sir Peregrine Maitland’s aides-
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LIEUTENANT MUDGE'S COTTAGE.

de-camp, who was a direct des-
cendant of the Hon. Robert Boyle,
the scientist ; also Major Powell, Captain
Grubbi, Major Hillier, Captain Blois and
Captain Phillpots,brother of Bishop Phillpots
and an officer in the Royal Engineers who
once attended Sir John Colborne on a trip to
Niagara Falls on horseback. But to retucn
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to Lieutenant Mudge. He was a bachelor.
For some reason which was never learned he
one day in this little house on Emily street
placed a musket tohis heart and pulled
the trigger, killing himself instantly. His
death was deeply regretted. His remains
were interred in the old military burial
ground. His tombstone at the north-

western corner of St. John’s Square, bears
the following inscription : ““Sacred to the
memory of Zachariah Mudge, Esq., Lieut,
in the Royal Regiment of Artillery and pri-
vate secretary to His Excellency Maj.-Gen.
Sir J. Colborne, K.C.B., Lieut.-Governor of
this province, who departed this life 10th
June, 1831, aged 31 years.” The Government
now owns the building in which Lieutenant
Mudge sought and found death, and has
joined to it cloister-like looking additions to
serve the purpose of coal and wood bins and
storage rooms.

CHAPTER IX.
THE FIRST BRICK BUILDING.

The House at the North-east Corner ot King
and Frederick streets. Erected in 1807,
now Occupied by the Canada Compauy.
At the north-east corncr of King and
Frederick streets stands a square brick
house, with a tinned roof and a porch orna-
menting the facade. A substantial,well-sized
building, with an air of respectability even
now, it must have been'a grand mansicn
in the days when built, for it
was the first brick structure erected
in Toronto, all the others being frame. Dur-
ing the progress of the French Revolution a
French Royalist officer and Chevalizr of the
Order of St. Louis by the name of Lawrencs
Quetton emigrated to Canada. It was on
St. George’s day that he first trod on Eng-
lish territory, and to commemorate the fact
he assumed the surname of St. George. He
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acquired a large tract of land north of York
known as the Oak Ridges.  He established
numerous stations for trading with the In-
dians, one of which was at Orillia in 1802.
For partner he had Gen. Amkrose de Farcy,
who kept a store on the road between Nia-
gara and Queenston, in the houss of the
Comte de Puisaye, a French officer who
published a volume of memoirs and
of whom Carlyle, Thiers and Lamartine
speak in their works. In 1805 Quetton
St. George established himself in business
at York, getting all his wares direct from
New York. He prospered so well that in
1807 he built the house now known to all
residents of Toronto as the Canada Com-
pany’s building.  For its construction he
brought the first bricks ever seen in York
from Oswego or Rochester. The street
fleor and part of the cellar were used by Mr.
St. George for carrying on his general mer-
cantile business. The reet of his house was
occupied as a residence.
THERE STILL MAY BE SEEN

evidence of its life as a store at the north-
west corner of the building. Mr. St.
George continued to conduct his business
here wuntil 1817, when having formed
an acquaintance with the Baldwins
he transferred his King street property
to James Spread Baldwin, father of Canon
Baldwin and uncle of William A. Baldwin
the Reformer. Mr. Baldwin’s brothers
were W. W. Baldwin and Admiral Baldwin.
He econtinued to carry on the business
established by Mr. St. George for some
time and then retired from active life and
went to Montreal to live. Some time after
this the Canada Company took the house
which it still occupies renting it now from
a son of Canon Baldwin. At the olose of
the Revolution in France Mr. St. George
returned to his native country where he
passed the balance of his life. The power-
tul organization known as the Canada Land
Company has played a great part in the
colonization of Canada. Managed in Lon-
don, it was established at York in
1826, its first office being a room in the
Steamboat Hotel in the market block on
Front street. From the beginning land
owners and others regarded it with disfavor
to overcome which and please the pcople of
the town Commissioner Galt of the com-
pany gave the famous fancy dress ball at
Frank’s hotel, at which Lady Mary Willis,
personating Mary Queen of Scots, did the
honours ot the occasion for the commissioner
in the absence of his wife. Perhaps no
building in the city is better known, and
its removal will take away a landmark
from what was once the most important
part of the town.

CHAPTIER X.
THE GARDENERS’ ARMS.

An Old Yonge Street Hostelyy with Which
was Connected Yauxhall Gardens, Once a
Popular Resort.

At an early date Yonge street, within a
distance of a couple of miles, boasted threa
roadside inns, which were well patronized
by travellers to and from York, not only as
a halting and watering place for tired horses,
for the passage of the Blue Hill ravine, a
little distance further north, wasa tremen-
dous struggle with aload, as indeed
were many places on Yonge street,
but also as a place of refreshment for drivers
and passengers. Drinking was much more
universal, and men drank more heavily in
those days than now. The old brewers tell
how they regularly furnished the elergymen
of that time with barrels of their best beer.
Far north on Yonge street was originally
the Green Bush Tavern, & pine tree painted
on its sign, Landlord Abrahams conducted
it and afterwards moved it down near Queen
street. The next tavern going mnorth, just
above the Sandhill, where once was a solitary
Indian grave, but which is now built up, waa
the Gardeners’ Arms. Its sign exhibited
a heraldic arrangement of horticultural
implements. It was a two-storey frame
building with a one-storey narrow extension
in front and a small wing at the north end.
Before it were troughs and a pump for
watering horses and cattle. It was a house
of good repute. Thirty years ago it was
kept by Matthew Ward. TFifty years ago
its landlord was Thomas Naylor. The land
on which the Gardeners’ Armswas built origi-
nally belonged to the Emslie estate. In
1829 it was sold by Mary Emslie to Richard
Brewer who, in 1854, sold it to William
Allan. In 1871 it was sold to John Iamb
who two years later transferred it to
Mr. Joseph Jackes, the present owner.
For some years the (Gardeners’ Arms has
not been a place of public entertainment.
The building has been utilized for varicus
trades and occupations. It is still stand-
ing, the second building below Charles
street, on the east side ot Yonge, but wear-
ing an air of dilapidation in the weather
stained frame work, the broken windows
and the rickety roof, Waggons of all kinds
by the dozen, old and broken, litter up the
yard. At one end is a coboler’s little shop.
In the wing is a rag shop with piles of rags
heaped about which women and children
are assorting.

Just north of the Gardeners’ Arms was the
Vauxhall Gardens, a resort condueted in
connection with the tavern and deriving ite

name from the celebrated London gardens,
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where readers of Thackeray’s ‘¢ Vanity Fair” \‘
will remember Jos. Sedley drank too much |
arrack punch. The garden, with orchard
in its rear, was surrounded by an ordinary
fence. The entrance was on Yonge street,
through an archway on which was painted
¢ Vauxhall Gardens.” Nothing remains of
orchard or garden but a reminiscence, as
it is flagshed into momentary existence
by the magic wand of memory.

CHAPTER XI.
A QUEEN STREET BLOCK.

The Row of Butldings DBetween Teraulay
and James street—A House two Occupants
of Which came to a Violent Death.

Along the north side of Queen street, be-
tween James-and Teraulay streets, stretches
a row of buildirgs, all with the exception
of the two easternmost ones having an ap-
pearance of age. They are now, in this

year of grace 1888, given over to
boot and shoe men, barbers, and
all the motley array of occupa-
tions which  hnildings that have
seen their best days usually present. This

is one side of the square on which the new
court house will stand. With the exception
of some on the}James strest side the other
buildings en the block bave been pulled
down to make way for the new edifice. Be-
ginning at the corner of Teraulay street the
first-building is a little low structure now
occupied as a buteher shop. This building
was pat up about 1825 and at first formed
two small cottages which some time aftel-
wards were converted into shops. Behind
the butcher shop are two small houses and
sheds which were built by Joseph Bird,

about forty years ago. Next to the
butcher shop 1is the frame build-
ing now xnown as Lennox’s hotel

It was built in 1827, by John Bird,
and was occupied by him at first as a gen-
eral store and residence. The house has
been somewhat altered from its original ap-
pearance. When it was built the floor was
considerably higher than the street and
was reached by an ascent of four steps run-
ning up the side of a railed platform. The
front projection was subsequently added by
James Spence. 1In the rear is a brick addi-
tion put on by James Lennox, the present
occupant, which a listle red lamp, suspended
over the Queen street enwance, declares to
be Dufferin Hall. John Bird bought the
land on which the house stands from James
Mucaulay in 1820. At that time there was
a little cottage, painted green, standing on
the s'te. Mr. Bird met a mysterious death
in 1830, and it is supposed that he was mur-
dered. Dying intestate, by the law of entail

then in force, the property descended te Jos-
cph Bird, his son. Joseph acted honourably,
however, and of his own accord diwided up
the property among his sisters, keeping for
himself the Queen stceet house, in which he
opened a tavern. Upon Joseph Bird’s deash
in 1859 his will was found to direct that the
place should either he mortgaged or sold.
Consequently the executors mortgaged if,

but the rent was not sufficient to
pay the interest, taxes and the ex-
pense of keeping it in repair. Then

they wished to sell it, but could no¢
on account of the word ““or” in the clause
““mortgaged or sold.” Smbsequently the
building society which had advanced £1,600
on the propersy sold it at auction. It was
bought by ¢ California” Metcalf, a man
who, having failed here went to California
at the time of the gold excitement, was suc-
cessful, made money, came back to Toronto,
paid his debts and lnvested in real estate.
Some time afterwards the property was held
for a brief space by a man named Robert-
son. It then came into the possession of
Wiiliam Charlton, who continued it as a
tavern tor many years up to about 1860,
Chartton was the first assistant engineer of
the fire brigade. A few years later, about
the time of the Fenian raid, he was kiiled at
a fire on Shuter street by a balcony falling
on him. After his death Mrs. Charlton, his
widow, managed the business two years,
when she married John Elliott. She then
transferred the property to James Spence,
who in turn conveyed it to James Lennox,
the present occupant. In a shed at the
rear of the house, now torn down, a man by
the name of Dawes onee kept a rag shop.
Next to the Lennox house on the
east runs a passage, on the other
side of which is a low, wooden building of
considerable age, occupied from the first and
still occupied as a black-smith’s shop. Long
ago an American by the name of Treat car-
ried on business there. He was succeeded
by Rowell, Fitzgerald and the present occu-

ant. The house to the east of the shop
was built by Rowell, and used by him as a
residence, John Boxall hought Rowell’s
house, and also built the one next to it. _Be--

“Hind these two houses used to be a little

cottage, some time ago pulled down. The
brick building, with the letters, “,Globe
Foundry,” stretching agress its frout, is
next. The land on which $his stands was
first owned by George Hutchison. His
daughter, Mrs. Bennett, inhcrited the prop-
erty which she sold to Edward Beckest.
Originally there was a little cottags on the
site with a porch which a Mrs. Manus rent-
ed, and where she kept a small hardware
shop for many years. On Mr. Beckett's
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coming into possession, he built a foundry
at the rear of the lot, and on the street the
brick building where he sold the pots and
kettles he made. Mrs. Beckett, who after-
ward became Mrs. McNeil, owned and
lived in the house next to the foundry. The
property at the corner of James street,
originally belonged to a man named Blevins.
The two corner buildings are of quite mod-
ern consgtruction. There is a cottage on
James streec in the rear of the Queen
street corner where a man by the name of
Perkis lived. He was a sailor and boat
builder, and onc: he built quite a large ves-
sel in his back yard which was dragged
down to the bay on rollers by oxen. Not
far from this standing back from the street
in a square rough-cast house where Miss
Hussy once taught school. Years ago the
rest of the square was a pasture field and
there was an orchard in which the children
delighted to get.

In the time of Joseph Bird, some of the
adjoining property was owned as follows :
Istimael Iredale, at the south-west corner,
and Dr. Traizor at the south-east corner of
Queen and Bay streets. James Patten
owned the north-eastern cormer of Queen
and James, Isaac White the south-west of
James and what is now Albert but was then
Jeremy street. Mr. Patten owned the
south-east corner of Albert and Teraulay,
and south of his property was the plot
sixty feet wide given by Joseph
Bird to one of his sisters, while directly op-
posite on the other side of Teraulay was a
similar plot given by him to the other sister.
The south-west corner of Teraulay and
Albert was in the possession of Mr. Abbott.
and the north-west coruer of Teraulay and
Queen in the possession of Mr. Emery. The
material for the new court house isnow
under consideration and it will be but a
short time before a magnificent pile of stone
will be reared upon the site of the primi
tive houses of York.

CHAPTER XIL
THE TECUMSEH WIGWAM,

An O0ld Bloor Sireet Log Cabin, Once a
Favourite Resort tor the Young Men of
the Town.

The illustration shows a little, low, one-
storey log cabin, with a verandah, or, more
properly, what an old Dutch burgher would
call a ““stoep,” or stoop. It stood at the
north-west corner of Bloor street and Ave-
nue road, on the site now occupied by
Albert Nordheimer’s residence. It was
known as Tecumseh Wigwam, and was for
a long time a favourite resort for young
men of social tastes and equally social

habits, especially on Sunday. It was built
about 1820. Tt continued to be a drinking-
place up to about 20 years ago, when it was
destroyed. 1In the fifties it was kept by an
old man by the name of King. His son,
George King, was a member of a notorious
band of robbers known as the Townsend
gang, who were the terror of the country.
George was convicted of the marder of a
stage driver, and abou$ thirty years ago was
hanged at Cayuga.

THE TECUMSEH WIGWAM,
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CHAPTER XIIL
A ONCE GREAT MERCANTILE ROW

The Block on the South Side of King Street,
Between George and Frederiek Streets—
As it Formerly was, and is Now.

The block on the south side of King
street, between George and Frederick, is
one of the most interesting sections of the
city. Here were laid the foundations of
Toronto’s mercantile prosperity, and here
also were the first beginnings of education
in York. Starting at the corner of George
street, it may be of interest te trace the
history of the block. At the south-
east corner then of King and George streets,
where now is a brick hotel, formerly stood a
wooden dwelling, At its east side wasa
small low stone addition. Dr.G. Okill
Stuart lived in the dwelling and June 1,
1807, opened in the little stone structure
the Home District Schooi, the first school of
a public character in York. Its first pupils
were John Ridout, William A, Hamilton,
Thomas G. Hamilton, George H. Detlor,
George S. Boulton, Robert Stanton, William

Stanton, Angus McDonell, Alexander
Hamilton, Wilson Hamilton, Robert
Ross, Allan McNab and among

subsequentscholars were John Moore,Charles
Rugeles, Edward Hartney, Charles Boulton,
Alexander Chewett, Donald McDonell,
James Edward Small, Charles Small, John
Hayes, George Jarvis, William Jarvis, Wil-
liam Bowkett, Peter McDonell, Philamon
Squires, James McInuvosh, Bernard Glennon,
Richard Brooke, Marshall Glennon, Daniel
Brooke, Henry Glennon, Charles Reade,
William Robinson, Gilbert Hamilton, Henry
Ernst, John Gray, Robert Gray, William
Cawthra, William Smith, Harvey Wood-
ruff, Robert Anderson, Benjamin An-
derson, James Giving, Thomas Playter
and William Pilkington. Girls were
also admitted to the school and on the roll
are the names of those who were the bellesof
Upper Canada more than half a century ago.
The master, who afterwards became Arch-
deacon of Kingston, is described as a very
tall, benevolentand fine featured ecclesias-
tic. His pulpit delivery was curious, mark-
ed as it was by unexpected elevations, and
depressions of the voice and long closings of
the eyes. Afterwards Dr. Stuart’s house
was bought by George L , subsequently Col-
onel Duggan, who occupied it as
a shop and residence. Mr. Duggan and
Dr. Stnart did not agree very well,
and it was the custom of the former to get
up and walk out of the church whenever the
Doctor preached at St. James. It is also
related of him that he once kept a jury out
all night, he bzing the only obstinate mem-

ber. Mr. Duggan was living in the house
at the corner of King and George streets in
1820, and in the street guide published in
1833-4 his name is found as the proprietor
of a general store. Dr. Thomas Dnggan
at the same time occnpied part of the
building. In those days the numbers
on King street ran toward Yonge street,
instead of from it as now. In 1833 the
number of this corner was 61; now it is 189,
In the street guide or directory of that year
the intormation is given that this building
marked the corner of the Home District,
For a great many years there was a wide
vacant lot to tvhe eastward of Mr. Duggan’s
property, and in the Gazette of March 18,
1822, this Is offered for sale as a building
lot and deseribed in the advertisement

as eighty-six feet in front and one
hundred and seventeen in depth, and
as  being *‘one of the most eli-
gible lots in the Iown of York, and

situated on King street, in the centre of the
town.” The first building erected on this
lot was a frame structure put up by Arm-
strong & Beaty and occupied by them as a
boot and shoe store. In the directory of
1833-4 Armstrong & Beaty, boot and shoe
makers, are its occupants. It was then
numbered 55 and 57. Its number now is
193, and is used as a tinware establishment,
and is much the same in appearance as 1t
was then. The first building to go up east
of the Duggan House was a small trame
house built by William and Thomas Foster.
These brothers subsequently went into busi-
ness in Toronto, and being both shrewd
and persevering, were most 'successtul.
They are remembered as being upright and
straightforward in all their dealings. In
the directory above mentioned the name of
W. Foster alone appears as occupying
No. 59 King street. The Foster honse was
put up before 1828. Where it stood is now
a brick building numbered 191 and used as
a jewellery store. In 1833 George Donning-
ton occnpied part of the Foster building
as a provision store. Next to this
was the Armstrong & Beaty building
mentioned above. Then came a yeilow
frame building erected before 1828 and oc-
cupied as a saddle shop by a man named
Suliivan. Subsequently it was taken by
John Sproule, a wholesale and retail grocer
and wine merchant and Government con-
tractor, who had possession of it in 1833.
Its number then was 53. It is now 195.
The building is now standing and used
as a restaurant. It is shown in the
illustration. Next to this was a frame
building shown in the accompanying sketch
as a saloon, numbered 199. It has been
torn down to make way for a brick
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building now in process of erection. | kept by one Bloxom, a coloured man. Pro-
Its original number was 51, and it | bably it was about 1833 when the plan of
was used in 1833 by Robert McKay | numbering houses superseded the method of

as a grocery and liquor store. Next is a
little modern structure, and beyond this the
store of George Monro for a long time the A.
T. Stewart of York, and afterward Mayor
of Toronto in 1840, and member of Parlia-
ment for the South Riding in York in 1844-
5. Associated with him in business was his
brother John. It seems difficult to realizs
that the little two-storey frame building
shown in the cut should ouce have been one
of the grandest mercantile establi-hments in

town, but such is the fact. In 1833,
John Gallagher, a tin and
iron worker, snd Robert Tranior,

a boot and shoe maker occupied it. Its num-
ber then was 49. It is now 203. In Mr.
Monro’s time it was residence as well as
store. On the west side of it, where the
lictle two-storey square frame building,
shown in the illustration,’now stands, wasa
tasteful flower garden and a trellised
verandah, with cages of canary birds. Next
to Mr. Monro's premises was a small brick
tenement. In the year 1832 Mr.  Clarke
Gamble was called to the bar, and W.
D’Arcy Boulton built for him in the vacant
space between his house and this brick
building a law office. Mr. Gamble’s office
was a little east of where ‘he
hieroglyphics of Yoot Loy are now
to be seen. In 1833 Mr. Gamble
had hung out his sign, and the directory of
that year gives his unumber as 47. The
building was afterward enlarged and re-
modelled, and now forms part of the brick
house next to the corner. Studying law in
Mr. Gamble’s office were : Wm. H. Boul-
ton, ID’Arcy Boulton, Allan Cameron, John
McLean, Archibald G. McLean, Sir James
Luk'n Robinson, Jobn Strachan, son of the
late Bishop Strachan, Matthew Crooks
Cameron, afterwards Sir Matthew Crooks
Cameron, Hon. G. W, Allan, William W.
Harvey and Judge Scott.

We are now at the south-west corner of
King and Frederick streets. Here
originally stood the store of TD’Arecy
Boulton, a large frame building, painted
white. Mr. Boulton was barrister and
fmerchant, and practiced law as well as
kept shop. The firm afterwards became
Boulton and Proudfoot. Sometime b:fore
1830 the brick building seen at the corner
in the illustration, and numbered now 211-
213 was built by the firm and'used as a
general store, The partnership was
dissolved, and in 1833 William Proudfoot
alone dealt there, the number then being
45, in wiaes, liguors, dry-goods, etc. In
the forties No. 211 was an eating house,

distinguishing them by signs which told
their own story, such as a crowned boot,
tea chest, axe, saw, fowling piece, p ough,
golden fleece, anvil, sledge-hammer or
horseshoe. On the north-west corner of
King and Frederick streets was the shop
of Alexander Wood. in front of which the

rst sidewalk in Toronto was laid down.
Mr. Wood’s brother had been engaged in
business in York both alone and in purtner-
ship with Mr. Allan, and at his death
Alexander came here $o settle up the estate
and until after the war of 1812 he continued
the business. He was a bachelor and lived
abovehisstore. Hereturned toScotland where
he died intestate and it was some time be-
fore the lawful heir to his property was
established. Wood and Alexander streets
run shrough land that once belonged to him
and they are nam=d after him. On the cor-
uer diagonally across from Mr. Boulton’s
building,at an early date stood the building
now occupied by tne Canada Company, ana
since we are in the mercantile district of
infant York it may be interesting to show
the varied assortment of goods advertised
in 1805 as havirg just arrived from New
Yerk. They are as given in Dr. Scadding’s
Toronto of Old :—Ribbons, cotton goods,
silk tassels, gowntrimmings, cotton binding
wire trimmings, silk belting, fans, beaded
buttons, block tin, gloves, ties, cotton bed,
line, bed lace, rollo bands, ostrich feathers,
silk lace, black veil lace, thread do., laces
and edging, fine black veils, white do., fine
silk mitts, love handkerchiefs, Barcelona do.,
silk do., black crape, black mode, black
Belong, blue, white and yellow do., stripzd
silk for gowns, chambray muslins, printed
dimity, split straw bonnets, Leghorn do., im-
perial chip do., best London ladies’ beaver
bonnets, cotton wire, Rutland gauz: band-
boxes, cambrics, Irish linens, callimancoes,
plain muslins, laced muslins, blue, black and -
yellow nankeens, jeans, fustians, long silk
gloves,velvet ribbons, Russia sheetings,
India satins, silk and cotton umbrellas,
pairasols, white cottons, bombazetts, black
and white silk stockings, damask table-
cloths, napkins, cotten, striped nankeens,
bandanna handkerchiefs,catgut, Tickenburg,
brown holland, creas a la Morlaix, Italian
lute strings, beaver caps for chiidren, Hyson
tea, Hyson chanlon in small chests, young
Hyson, green Souchong and Bohea, loaf
East {ndia and Muscovado sugars, mustard,
essence of mustard, pills of mustard, capers,
lemon juice, soap, Windsor do., indigo,
mace, nuimegs, cinnamon, cassia, cloves,
pimento, pepper, best box raisins, prunes,
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coffee, Spanish and American segars, Cay-
enn: pepper in bottles, p-as, barley, cactor
oil, British oi!, pickled oysters, chinaware
in small boxes and sets, suwatrow,
‘boots, bootees, men’s, women’s and chil-
dren’s shoes, japauned quart mugs, do.
tumblers, tipped flutes, violin bows, brass
wire, sickles, iron candlesticks, shoemakers’
hammers, knives, pincers, pegging awls and
tacks, awl blades, shoe brushes, copper tea
kettles, snaffle bits, leather shot belts, horn
powder flasks, ivory, hornand crooked'combs,
mathematical instruments,knives and forks,
suspenders, fish haooks, sleeve links, sports-
men’s knives, lockets, ear-rings, gold topaz,
do. gold watch chains, gold seals, gold
brooches, cut gold rings, plain do., tearl
do., silver thimbles, do. teaspoons, shell
sleeve buttons, silver watches, heads, paste-
board, foolscap paper, second do., letter
paper, black and red ink, powder, wafers
and a miscellaneous supply of Jiterature.

Just here a York Pioneer’s Recolleetions
of Little York in 1828, cannot fail to be of
interest. He says :— When I first came
to York in July, 1828, I was a lad of twelve
years of aze. The town contained about
three thousand inhabitants, mostly English,
Irish and Scotch, and a few Americans and
native Canadians. The impression first
formed by me omn being here a few days was
that of it being a scattered village, the
houses being built, with a few exceptions, of
frame, with gable ends to the street, the
chief street, as now, being King street.
The roads on all thoroughfares of the town
were like most village roads indry weather,
fairly good. No material, however, was
used to improve them, in consequence
of which in the fall and in rainy weather
they were almost impassable for vehicles.
The winters set in generally early, and the
frost made the roads better, and as sleighing
could be looked for almost to a certainty
through the winter months up to the end of
March, there was not much to complain of,
So far as] locomotion was concerned, the
sidewalks, except in dry weather, were in
no hetter state than the streets. This state
of affairs, however, did not last long, as
shortly after 1830 improvements on the
street and sidewalks commenced, and on the
latter some ‘flagging and plank walks were
laid down.

Quite a number of our wealthiest men,
merchants, professional men and govern-
ment officers, kept their carriages. The
most in use by the merchants was a kind
of four-whe:led light waggon or waggon-
ette, made for ome or two seals,
and strongly made for rough roads.
The society of ths town was excellent,
and among the Government officers and

leading merchants and professiona} men
much refinement and education existéd, and
York being a garrison town there were one
or miore regiments of Imperial troops sta-
tioned here, the officers of whieh were con-
sidered an acquisition to society, and many
of the fair daughsers of York formed marri-
ages with these gallant fellows.

The chief busihess part of the town at that
time, 1828, was King and Front streets, the
western limit being Yonge:street, and the
eastern limit the Don hiidge, There were,
however, many excellent private regidences

west of York on Yonge, Front and Dundas
streets, as far whst as the garrison.
Dundas screet, now Queen, was the

northern limit generally of the town,
although there were some first-class private
dwellings north of Dundas and Lot streets,
but there were no streets laid out except
Yonge street, and that street wag an old
military road, cut out before 1800 on the
first settlement of the old Province of Upper
Canada. It was cut omt by the English
Government, by Governor Simecoe and his
troops, the Rangers, leading to upper lakes,
and was, and is now, over forty miles long,
bearing the name of Yonge street. The
country improved rapidiy after the war of
1812, and in 1828 there were many fine
farms under cultivation on the Kingston
road, Yonge street, Lot street and Dundas
street west, with comfortable farm houses,
and the farmers generally were well to do,
and there were pretty fair taverns
for the {ime on  these roads.
Stages were established on all lead-
ing roads, to the town in 1828. Hamilton
and London were very small villages. The
town of Kingston was the chief and Iargest
town in the province, and from the fact of
it being a paval and military station it was
only second in importance to Quebec. There
was a tribe of Indians on the Indian reserve
of Port Credit, 16 miles west of York, and
they frequently had their eamping ground
on the green near the old jail. The men
lived by fishing, and the squaws made
baskets and bead work, and the Indian boys
were very expert with bows and arrows, and
the sons of the towns people soon were
equally so ; striking a copper or half-penny
off a willow twig at some yards distance
was no uncommon feat.

In 1829 among the many steamers plying
upon the lake were the Canada to Niagara ;
the Dalhousie and Toronto, between King-
ston and Prescott ; the Niagara, Queenston
and Alciope, between Kingston, York and
Niagara; and the United Kingdom be.
tween the two former ports. From 1830
to 1833 were added, among others,
the Cobourg, William the Fourth, and
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the Great Britain-—and as years advanced
the steamboat accommodation advanced,
and, in 1842 the Canadians could boast of as
fine a line of steamers and sailimg vessels as

on any of the inland waters, a
daily line of steamers being formed
between Toronto (old York) and

Montreal to connect with a daily line to
Quebec. At this date, 1888, the tongage on
otr lakes has reached as follows : Number
of vessels, 1,275 ;-number of steamers, 610;
gross tonnage, 81,724 ; total net tonpace,

129,548, The great qgmpetition of our car-

rying trade by railway has given a check to-.
the increase in our tonnage of late years, but

it is steadily increasing, and, in fact, it is

not alone our merchant marine and our city

which has made such rapid sirides (the city

now numhbering nearly 150,000 people),butour
unrivalled railway service and general im-
provement of the country at large, all of
which should excite ad;%ira.tion.

It.is something for a York pioneer to say
at'this date that after a lapse of sixty years
in this locality he h#s a lively recollection of
Muddy Little York with its three thousand
inhabitants, surrounded as it was a few
years previous to 1328 by a wilderness, and
thayv the first white perspn born here in 1800
in & log cabin on Duke street, (the late
much respected Andrew Heron), only a
short time ago passed atvay fromour midst.

CHAPTER XIV.
COLLEGE AVENUE LODGE,

An 0dd Little Structure at the Foot of the
Broad Mall leading up to the University
of Taoronto,

On the western side of the grounds sur-
rounding Osgoode Hall spring out from
Queen street two parallel streets forming
one noble avenue fringed with four rows of
chestnut trees, leading up to Queen’s
Park and to the University. Regarded
a8 two separate streets, the one
further to the west is College avenue.
It belongs to the corporation and was laid
out in a very primitive way about 1825. In
the original planting of the avenue numer-
ous trees and shrubs were mingled together
much as in a wild wood. Just before the
building of the first University edifice in
1842 another street to the eastward of Col-
lege avenue and adjoining it, was laid out
and designated Park lane, after the London
thoroughfare leading from OxYord street to
Piccadilly and skirting the eastside of Hyde
Park. Afterward the name was changed to
University street, which it still bears, a
confusing nomenclature, however, in view of
the parallel College avenue. The horse chest-
nuts plunted at the same time were

brought here from the United States.
for although now very numerous about To-
ronto these trees were then a rarity in the
neighhourhood. In the year 1832 Mr.
J. G. Howard, the well-known archi-
tect and civil engineer, built four lodges of
the design in the engraving. One of these
lodges was at the western side of the main
gats of College avenue. Another was at the
eastern side, so that the entrance was
flanked with two buildings, that looked
amid all the surrouuding foliage rather
picturesque. About a dozen years ago the
eastern lodge was torn down, but the west-
ern one remains as it was forty years ago.

The cther two lodges were on College street
the entrance running west to the park from
Yongs street. One stood at the north-
waest corner of College and Yonge streets
and the other further west on College street
on the same side a short distance east of
Beverley street. Both these have been torn

down. The easternmost one was oc-
cupied by Robert Carleton, the fore-
man of the corporation and the other

further west by Thomas Hornibrook, the
College avenue constable. At all these
entrances were wooden gates, which were
kept closed and only opened cn applieation
to the caretakers. No heavy waggons were
allowed to pass. At a comparatively recent
period University street and College avenue
were separated by a fence. The cottage
shown in the engraving at the north-west
corner of College avenue and Queen street,
is now occupied by Mrs. Fitzpatrick,
the widow of Mark Fitzpatrick, whe
was a .caretaker and lived there
for many years previous to his death. He
was injured in one of his feet and the Uni-
versity now pays a pension to Mrs. Fitz-
patrick. The trees along the avenue were
planted by Mr. Fitzpatrick. The lcdge at
the north-east corner ot University street and
Queen street which was torn down about a
dozen years ago, was occupied for eighteen
years up to its demolition by Geo.Hunt, now
constable at the market. Previous to its
occupancy by Mr. Hunt, George Stacey
was caretaker and lived there. Mr. Hunt
put up an addition of two rooms to the
lodge in which he lived for which he was
reimbursed by the corporation at the time
of the destruction of the building.

The lodge is 80 small and so oddly cut of
keeping with its surroundings that one
can not pass by and not have his attention
attracted to it. Around it runs a row
of wooden pillars supporting a low portico ;
horse chestuuts overshadow it, and in the
early summer from their great bunches of
white flowers drift down upon its roof fra-
grant storms of falling blossons. It is not
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COLLEGE AVENUE LODGE.

much bigger than the little yellow box that
a cripple wheels every morning to its station
across the roadway with his small stock of
fruits, nuts, candies and daily newspapers.
Something, too, of an ecclesiasticai air is
there about the gray, rough-cast little cot-
tage, with its single chimney, conspicuously
large for the size of the building,
one door like that of a chapel and
its Gothic.arched windows shaded by white
curtains like surplices in their purity.
George Wells made the lodge his bachelor
quarters for a time. He was the son of
Colonel Wells, once of the 43rd regiment,
and inherited natural artistic gifts and a
handsome form. Colonel Wells was decor-
ated with the gold medal of Badajos, and
after retiring from the army built and occu-
pied the pretty home called Davenport,
which was afterwards used as a re.
sidence by his son, Colonel Wells,
who distinguished himself in the Cri-
mean war, and on his return to
Toronto was publicly presented with a
sword of honour. Two-thirds of the way
up College avenue to College street the in-
tersecting road leading to the Park from
Yonge street was the once famous Bowling
Green, a level sward with a circular bank
around and on the bank fine trees, where
the old residents of Toronto used to go
every pleasant afternoon to play bowls.
The green was named Caer-Howell, after
the original owner of the land,
who called all the property he possessed
here Castle Howell, in honour of the mythi-

cal Hoel, from whom all Ap-Hoels trace
their descent. Here was a racket court alse
in high favour with the officers ot the Gar-
rison, and the groands were often brighten-
ed with the gay dresses and fair facts of
lady visitors, Shortly after the park was
laid ont the popularity of the green began
and it continued up to about ¥5 ydars ago.
Henty Layton, the proprietor, kept a little
hotel near by where playérs and spectators
might get refreshments, and perhaps no
spot is more dearly cherished in the memory
of old residents of Toronto than the Caer
Howell Bowling Green.

CHAPTER XV.
BISHOP STRACHAN’S MANSION,

The House in which the First Bishop of To-
ronto Lived and Died—A Brief Sketch of
the Bishop.

By a not unnatural correlation of ideas
the house which the Rev. Dr, John Strachan
buiit for a private residence came to
be known as the Bishop’s Palace and now
converted into a private hotel is known as
the Palace Boarding House. It is not
strange that it should have received this
high sounding appellation. In the first
place it was a palace compared with
the other buildings of York at the
time of its erection, and then Dr. Strachan
came to be bishop, although twenty years
later. But the building never was a palace ;
never was anything more than a private re-
sidence. In 1818 Dr. John Strachan, recter
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of St. James’ chusch and master of the Dis-
trict Grammar sehool, built in & large yard
at what is now Ne. 130 Front street, a resi-
dence of capacious dimensions, with extexn-
sive and complete appurtenances. It ia a
two-storey buiiding with a gable, facing the
south, and is not unlike the Graage in gen-
eral design, but differs with that structure
in that no additions to it have besn made.
It remains now as when built. The bricks
used in the construction of the house were
manufactured om the spot, and it has the
distinction of being the first building
erectedin York from bricks made here.
The hounse, with gardens and grounds oc-
cupied the entire square, bounded on tha!
west by Simcoe street (old Graves streei,; |
Wellington street,(old Market street,) York
street and Front street, In 1833, the west
or York street front was sold, and Mr. J.
@G. Howard erected a brick villa for Mr.
Thomas Mercer Jones, one of the Cem-
missioners of the Canada Company. This
villa was occupied for years by Caspt.
Strachan, then by Mrs. Skae, aud was
recently purchased by Mr. David Walker. It
istobe torn down during the next few months.
Several brick houses had previously been

e

put up but the material was brought from
Kingston or Montreal. The year after the
building of the house and just as the family
was nicely settled in it Jxmes Strachan, 2
book-seller, of Aberdeen, and a brother of
the docter, paid him » visit. James had not
seen his brother since one day twenty years
before, when he set out with a slender purse
from Scotland to become a schoolmaster
in Canada. One can easily conceive the
worthy Scotchman’s astonichment as pass-
ing along the rough streets, past the
scattered tittle frame buildings of the town,
with the memory of his brother’s former
poverty in his mind, he suddenly comes upoxn
the imposing facade of the new mansion,
carrounded by its large and handsome
greunds, No wonder he pauses and, gravely
addressing his brother, says, ‘‘ I hope it's &’
come by honestly, John !” On his return
James Strachan published ¢ A Visit to the
Province of Upper Canada in 1819,7 & book
pow very rare, and mneh sought after By
collectors. {n this book, speaking of the
society of York at the time, he soys :—
««The society, both as it respects the ladies
and gentlemen, is very superior, and such
as few towns in England can furnish. The
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judges, the Crown officers, the heads of the
different departments, several professional
gentlemen, merchants and officers on haif-
pay all living with their families ia the
greatest harmony, cannot fail of rendering
York exceedingly agreeable and to strangers
interesting.” Dr. Bethune, who came to
York the same year, gives a similar ac-
connt of the society of the town.
He says: ““There were a few scaitered
houses on King street as far up as the resi-
denge of the Lieut.-Governor, and on Frent
street, at long intervals, they reacked
nearly to the old garrison. There were
also a few on Duke, Yonge and Queen

streets, There were but three brick
edifiges in the town, and, exclusive
of the military, the population was
about 1,200. Though inferior in size

and condition to mamy of our present vil-
lages York tock a high rank as to seciz! po-
sition. From its being the seat of Govern-
ment the society was excellent, having not
less than twenty families of the highest re-
spectability, persong of refinement and
many of high inteliectual calture, To these
were added a spall sprinkling of military.
For the size of the place there was a large
amonnt of hospitality exercised, and on a
handsome and bountiful scale.” The three
briek houses of which Dr. Bethune speaks
as being the only ones of the kind in
town were Dr. Strachan’s house, the
building erected by Quetton St. George
at the north-east corner of King and
Frederick streets, now occupied by the
Canada Company, and the building directly
opposite on the south-east corner of the
same streets, afterward the first Bank of
Upper Canada. Among the hosts of that
d3y none was mere lavish in his hospitality
than Dr. Strachan. Not without interest
will be found a sketch of the life of this ex-
traordinary divice, who lived in the finest
house in the town, gave entertainments that
outshone those of the Lieutenant-Governor
himself, rode ahout in a grand coach with a
hemispherical top, and was at once priest,
soldier and diplomatist. In stature he was
slightly under the medium height, with a
Miiton-like head. John Strachan was born
at Aberdeen, Scotland, April 12, 1778. At
the age of nineteen he began his career as a
teacher ab Kettle. With the execution of
Governor Simcoe’s scheme to have a gram-
mar school in every district of the Province,
and a unjversity at the seat of Government,
young Strachan was selected as a teacher.
He accepted the offer and sailed from
Greenock in August, 1799, He first went
to Kingston, where he studied divinity,
under the Rev. Dr. Stuart, the rector of the
town, and in the spring of 1803 was admit-

ted deacon. In the early summer of the
next year he was consecrated prieat,
and appointed to the mission ag
Cornwall where he built up a famous
school. He married Mrs. McGill, nee Misy
Wood, one of the prettiest girle in Corn-
wall, in 1807. 1In 1812, through the efforts
of General Brock, he was transterred to York
to succeed Dr. Stuart. He arrived in August
of that year, and preached his first sermon
at the parish church before the legislature
on the war. Ir 1813 by his remonstrances
with General Dearborn and his threats he
saved York from being burned. At York
he established the famous District Grammar
School. In 1818 he was appointed member
of the Executive and Legislative councils,
remainirg in the former until 1836, and in
the latter wuntil 1841. To his ex-
ertions are due the establishment of the
University of Toronto and of Upper Canada
College. He laid the cerner stone of Trinity
College. When the dioceze of Quebec was
divided it 1839, the Honourable d
Right Reverend John Strachan, D.D,,
LL.D., was made first bishop of the See
of Toronto and was conseciated by the
Archbishop of Canterbury. He died at his
Front street house, November 1, 1867. The
pall bearers at his funeral were all ald
pupils of his York achool. They were
Ven. Archdeacon Fuller, Rev. Dr. W. Mac-
Murray, Vice-Chancellor Spragge, F. H.
Heward, William Gamble and John Ridout,
He lies buried in the chancel of St. James’
Cathedral, a great monument to a great man,

CHAPTER XVL
THE CHILDREN'S FRIEND.

The Life ard Public Deneficences of Jesse
Ketchum whe did much for scheels and
churcaes in Torento and Buffale.

Among the early settlers of York was a
quiet, shrewd man ofaveragestature,h omely
in appearance and in manners who came to
the infant capital from Buffalo somewhere
abeut the beginning of the century to attend
to the affairs of an older brother who
had previously settled here and buily

a tannery. The name of the mew
comer was Jesse Ketchum, and
for nearly balf a century he was

one of the most prominent citizens of the
place. The Gazette of June Ilth, 1803,
speaks of the death of his father, Joseph
Ketchum,asoceurriog ou Wednesday, June 8,
at the advanced age of 83 years, and men-
tions the fact that thwe barial of the remaing
took place the followiug day. On his ar.
rival here Jesse assumed ihe management of
the tannery which was located at the south.

west corner of Newgate (now Adelaide) and
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Yonge streets. It stretched along the south
aide of the former street nearly over to Bay
street, and along the wezt side of Yonge
street almest down to King were ranged
high stacks ofhemlock bark, He owned the
property up to Queen street, beyond which
stretched the woods. Acrossfrom his tannery,
which stood on the 8. w, corner of Newgate
and Yonge, he built a residence, a mansion
in those days of York. It was a large frame
building, painted white, and stood at the
north-west corner of Yonge and Adelaide
streets. The illustration, represents it
very accurately. Dr. Scadding describes it
as a dwelling in the American style, with a
square turret bearing a railing rising out of
the ridge of the root. Perhaps Jesse Ket-
chum may be credited as being the first one

taining to secular education and religious
instruction, and to his generosity is due the
fact that the quadrilateral bounded b

Queen, Adelaide, Yonge and Bay strests ﬂ
filled to a remarkable degree with churches
and religious and educationaj institutions,

Hospital street, now Richmond street
passed through his land and he opened and
named Temperance street. e Bible ard

Tract Society obtained its house on Yonge
stréet frem him on condition that it shomnid
disiribute books to the amount of thee ground
rent in the Public schools every year, an
agreement which is still faithfully carried
out by the society, which also secured

the ground rent of an  adjoin-
ing building under the proviso that
books should be given to Sunday

JESSE. KETCHUM’S HOUSE.

to introduce sidewalks into the embryo city.
The streets were in a deplorable condition
»6 certain seasons of the year on account of
the mud ; Yonge stteet was particularly bad,
and it was with the greatest difficulty that
loads could be drawn along it. The sidewalks
which Me. Ketchum laid out were of tan
bark, clean and dry. The exact date of the
building of his house is not known, but it
was probably in 1813 or 1814. 1t was de-
stroyed about 1838 or 1839 and the land cut
up into building lots. The house did not
come down to the corner, but stood a little
distance back from both streets; about it

was a cluster of outhouses. In the
early days of York Jesse Ketchum
was one of the most liberal of its

citizens, especially in all matters per-

schools in a similar manner. He gave a
site for a temperance hall, also several
acres for a children’s park at Yorkville, and
this Public sehicol on the Davenport road, a
listle way from Yongs street, now bears the
name of *The Jesse Ketchum School.”
The ground is named the Jesse Ketchum
Park. In 1820 among the contributions to
a common school was Mr. Ketchum’s sub-
seription, unusaally large for that time, aof
$100. Other subscriptions were : Jordan
Post, £17 63 3d ; Philip Klinger, £2 10s,
and Lardner Bostwick, £2 10s. From
thegse names it would appear that not alj
the York pioneers were of English or Scotch
extraction. In April 1822 Mr. Ketchum’s
name is down for a subscription to

build a bridge over the Don to cost
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£325. At the annual town meeting
of 1806 he was appointed one of the over-
seors of high § and fence viewers. in
1800 Yonge street did not extend down to
the bay, but stopped at Queen street, the
land south of this to the water’s edge being
slmply vacant lots. When Yonge street
was cut through, a street further to the
eastward was olosed and the owners of the
land received proportionate pieees of it for
the ground taken to lay out Yonge street,
and in 1818 the names of Jesse Ketehum,

William Bowkett, James Miles and
William Richardson, appeared as be-
ing entitled to such diwvisions of

the closed thoroughfare. On the east Mr.
Ketchum’s property was bounded by what
was formerly called Upper George street.
Mr. Ketchum was a pew - holder
in St. James’ church. He was a house-
holder, and continued to reside here until
he returned to Buffalo in 1845. One of his
daughters married Colonel E. W. Thomson.
She died in 1833, leaving one son called Jusse.
In Buffalo, as 1n Toronto, Mr. Ketchum
was known for his great and practi-
cal interest in schools and for his generous
gifts, which won him there the affectionate
title of ¢“ Father Ketchum.” His brothers
Seneca and Oliver were also charitably dis-
posed. Jesse Ketchum came of Welsh origin,
three brothers coming to Americain the 18th
eentury and settling in New York State.
The eldest brother was Seneca, who came to
Toronto in the early part of this century
and established a tannery on Yonge street.
Jesse, the second son, after whom the
second son of each family has been named,
on the death of his father was placed on a
farm in New York State. The family was
a large one, and at the death of Jesse Ket-
. chum, senior, it was scattered. Young
Jesse remained on the farm until he was
quite a lad. Then on account of the harsh
treatment of his employers, particularly his
mistress, he ran away and joined his elder
brother Seneca at York, who then
conducted the tannery, the manage-
ment of which Jesse assumed after a
time on account of his brother’s religious
aberration of mind. Jesse’s family was a
very large one and members of it are now
intermarried with theWarrens,of Rochester,
and the Adams, of Massachusetts, the lag-
ter of which families has given two presidents
to the United States. In 1843 Miss Sher-
bourne, only child of Mr Ketchrm'’s sister-
in-law, married the Baron De Fleur
In Knox church, to which Mr. Jesse Ketchum
gave the land, and in large part built, there
is a tablet with an inscription reading to
the effect that it was erecced in loving
acknowledgment of the Christian lite and

F
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beneficence of Jesse Ketchum. Painted on
the wall of his tannery used to be a
sign that there was plenty to eat for men
and beast, but nething to waste. In Buffale
Jesse gave a large donation in land and
money for schools. The magmificence of his
gilt may be inferred from she fact that there
are now in Buifalo twelwe Jesse Ketchum
public schools and that a sum of money 1s
set apart for the annval distribution of gold
medalsin these schools forever. The medals
are of coin geold, valued at twenty
dollars each. On one side they bear the
name of the prize winner and for
what awarded and on the other a medallion
of Jesse Ketchum. In the possession
of the family is a picture showing all these
schools with a portrait of Mr. Ketchum in
the ceutre. It seemed as though the more
Mr. Ketchum acquired the more he gave
away. What he did give |away in
Toronto, Buffalo and other towns, if esti-
mated at its value to-day, would reach an
enormous sum. Near Orangeville he gave
away a large plot, intending it for a saiior’s
home. When he gave up business
he established all his old employes in profit-
able pursuits, and during his management
of the tannery, whenever a man married he
almost invariably gave hin a plot
of groand on which to build a house and
somctimes furnished him with money %o
erect the building. Mr. Ketchum was a
great churchman and alse a great temper-
ance man. His elder brother Seneca was
also. The latter used to go about the
country distributing Bibles and giving away
plots of ground for chapels and churches.
Seneca acquired a large plot of ground near
Orangeville, which at his death fell into the
possession of Jesse, who turned it over to
his son Jesse, known in Toronto as Jesse
the yourger. A part of it turned out to be
very valuable. The best part of Orange-
ville is built on it now. Jesse had two sons,
Jesse, known as *‘ Jesse the younger” and
William who was elected to the Dominion
parliament, and who was celebrated in his
time for being the handsomest man in To-
ronto. William died in middle age. Jesse
jr., married and lived for guite a long time
on his property at Orangeville, leaving a
large family, nearly all of whom survive.
Among other possessions of the Senior Jesse
was a large tract of land where the town of
Port Credit now stands. In Buffalo bhe had
a fine residence, in which he lived up to his
death, and which is now occupi-
el by members of the family on
North street, probably the most fashionable
street in that city. A great many descend-
ants of the brothers of Jesse now live in the
United States. TheRev. Dr, W. H. Withrow
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bas written a very interrsting memorial of
Jesse Ketchum, from which some excerpts
are tuken, also quoting Dr. John Carroll in
the same connection, the latter of whom
says that the firsc dollar he ever earned was
p:id to him by Mr. Ketchum for planting
potatoes where Knox church now stands.
Dr. Withrow says: ‘“One of my earliest
recollections is of a silvery-haired
old geuntleman who wused to visit the
Sunday schools of Toronto. We all knew
what 1o expect when he appeared. In the
first place we received some kind and
fatherly words of counsel and encourage-
ment, the burden of which was : Be good,
be true, be honest, be brave! Then from
the capacious pockets of his overcoat he
would produce a number of instructive and
interesting books which he loved to dis-
tribute with his own hands to the eager-
eyed boys und girls. The Christmas holi-
days of hundreds of boys and girls in both
countries are gladdened by the gift of
Christmas books, for the distribution of
which forever provision was made in the
last will and testament of this man. His
own <childhood was poor and neglected,
full of toil and sorrow, and be knew how to
sympathize with the sorrows of childhood,
and he loved to add to their innocent joys.”
There is distributed a large amount, some-
times a thousand dollars, in reward books
among the Sunday School scholars of this
city, the result of Jesse Ketchum’s bounty.

It is hard to conccive of Yonge street,
with its bustling crowds of people, as it once
was, a narrow road running through a pine
clearing in which stood blackened stumps.
Yet this was its a:pect when Jesse Ketchum,
a poor homeless boy, landed irom a
little schooner on the pebbly beach,
and trudged on foot through the mud to
seek a home with hiselder brother on Yonge
street, and in course of time the penniless
boy became the owner of the whole block
bounded by Adelaide, Queen, Yonge and
Bay streets. At the south-east corner of
this block stood his house, a large, square
wooden building, a very grand one in its
day. In the rear was the old rambling tan-
nery, with its rows of deep tan vats filled
with a dark-brown liquid, looking like tre-
mendously stroug tea, and its mounds of
red brown leather tan bark, which was such
capital stuff for the boys to jump and play
upon, and the stacks of hemlock bark and

the quaimt mill where the patient
mill horse went round and round
the livelong  day,  grinding the

bark and the not very savoury piles of hides
and rows of currier’s blocks. In that block
there were four years ago six churches and

a temperance hall in which jesse Ketchum
gave largely in land 'and money.*

Mr. Ketchum was born at Spencetows,
New York State, in 1782, His mother died
early. The fatherlived to a great age. Jesse’s
boyhood was a particularly hard ome. He
was put out to live with a couple from whom
he suffered much from the capricious temper
of his mistress. Mr. Ketchum used to cell
how once, boy-like,he had forgotten his new
coat in the field; his mistress fourd
it and tore it all to shreds and then
threw it on a bush.  Afterward she picked
1t up and showed it to him, alleging that
through his carelessness the hogs had torn
it to pieces. Jesse was sixteen years old when
he ran away in a state of complete destitu-
tion to seek a refuge with his elder brother,
Seneca, in York. Seneca at that time was
managing & farm and small tannery on
Yongelstreet, a little south of HoggsHollow.
His education was defective, but he did
what he could for his own improvement,
and long after he was the father of a family
he gave a schoolmaster free quarters ta
veach him grammar, arithmetic and hand-
writing. At eighteen years of age he was
married. About the time of the war between
the United States and Great Britain an
American by the name of Van Zandt sold
kis property at the corner of Yonge street
and Adelaide—then Newgate street—and
Jesse Ketchum and his wife scized the op-
portunity to establish themselves in the
tannery business there. Of his religious life
Dr. Carroll says that he was always 2
church-going man, and had always
family prayer in his house twice a
day. Acv first his family held a
pew in the English church, but when
the Methodists opened a meeting house in
1818 the itincrant preachers were frequent
guests at Mr. Ketchum’s house. Mrs.
Ketchum, however, was a Presbvterian, and
her hushand came to have prociivities that
way himself. About 1820 the late Rev.
James Harris, then a young Presbyterian
minister from the north of Ireland, came
here and Mr. Ketchum gave him fres
quarters for many years, till at length
Mr. Harris married Mr. Ketchum’s second
daughter, when he was given a house
as well as a bousekeeper. When the
firss Sunday school in York was organ-
ized by the Rev. Mr. Osgoode
in November, 1818, in the newly-built
Methodist chapel, Mr. Ketchum was one
of the teachers, along with Messrs. Patrick
Morrison and Carfrae and he was its nost
liberal patron. The first Bible Dr. With-
row ever owned was inscribed with his
name and when the school children went to
Mr. Ketchum’s kitchen for their first exami-
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nation the ladies of the house gave them
tea, without doubt the first Sunday school
party ever held in York. In 1845 he re-
turned to Buffalo, where he gave a plot of
ground worth $20,000 for a normal school
and secured an annual donation of $300
worth of books to the children of the city.
This public benefactor died at Buffalo Sep-
tember 7, 1867, in the 85th year of his age,
mourned by thousands of children.

CHAPTER XVIIL
UNIVERSITIES OLD AND NEW.

The Ristory ot the Great Canadian Seat ot
Learning—Projected in the Eariy Days of
York.

Buildivgs have their vicissitudes as well
as men, but was ever design of builders
more completely thwarted than that an
edifice intended for the home of the muses
should become an asylum for tne insane,
and instead of the smooth flowing
measures of Homer and Virgil should
1esound with the cries and wailings
of mad women. As early as 1791
and  before Governor Simcoe had
left England to take charge of his newly
created Canadian province he suggested to
Sir Joseph Banks, president of the Royal
Society, the desirability of ““a college of a
higher class ” in the colony. Of course at
that time scarcely any students could have
been found to attend the college if it had
been established, but something of provision
was made for its existence at a future day
by the grant for such a purpose of a large
portion of public land. In 1819 Gourlay
‘hought the province still unprepired for a
college, but suggested that batches of
twenty-five students should be annually
sent from Upper Canada to the English
Universities, and supported there at the
public expense. An elaborate model of a
great educational institution was prepared,
bnt when the time came to establish the
University of Toronto it was rejected, and
the work of drawing up a new plan was
given to Mr. Young, a local architect who
followed the style of architecture of which
Girard College, Philadelphia, is a type.
On April 23, 1842, the corner-stone was laid
with all ceremony. The greatest procession
which had ever been witnessed in Upper
Canada marched up the avenue to the site
of the new University building in Queen’s
Park, occupyi'g part of the ground on
which the ncw Parliament buildings are now
being erected. The soldiers of the 43rd
Regiment bearing arms lined the route
of the procesgion. The Chancellor, Sir
Charles Bagot, the Governor-General of
the time and brother of the then Bishop of

Oxford, accompanied by the officers of the
University and his suite, took their places
in a pavilion erected for the puipose, close
to the north-east corner where the stone
was to be laid. Fronting this was an
amphitheatre of seats filled with ladies
and between the pavilion and the amphi-
theatre the crowd stood. In Curiae Cona-
denses i3 the following description of the
scene :—*‘ The vast procession opened its
ranks and his Excellency the Chancellor
with the President, the Lord Bishop of To-
ronto on his right and the senior visitor, the
Chief Justice on his left, proceeded on foot
through theCollege avenue to the University
grounds. The ccuntless array moved for-
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ward to the sound of military music. The
sun shone ont with cloudless meridian splen-
dour, one blazs of banners flush-
ed upon the admiring eye. The
Governor’s rich Lord-Lieutenant’s dress,
the Bishop’s sacerdotal  robes, the
judicial ermine of the Chief Justice, the
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splendid convocation robes of Dr. McCaul,
the gorgeous uniforms of the suite, the ac-
coutrements of the numerous firemen, the
national badges worn by the office-bearers
of the differen# societies, and what, on such
a day—8t. George’s—must not be omitted,
the red crosses on the breasts of England’s

congregated sons, the grave habiliments of '

the elergy and lawyers and the glancing
lances and waving plumes of the First In-

corporated Dragoons, all formed one moving ;

picture cf civic pomp, one glorious spectacle
which can never be remembered but with
satisfaction by those who had the ¢ood for-
tune to witness it.” Ounly a part ot one of
the buildings of the plan was ever erected.
It is shown in the illustration, and isonly a
wing, the intention having been to extend
the lgauilding several hundred feet to the west-
ward. The wing had a frontage of from
sixty to seventy-five feet. It was
built of beautiful white cut stone, It
is being torn down as the new
Parliament buildingg go up and the
material is used in their construction,
Thnis building was not long uselas an
educational establishment; indeed about
1856, and for some few years afterwards, it
was converted into a branch of the Provin.
cial Lunatic Asylum.,

Buiit in 1857, the present University,
situated on an elevation to the west of the
ravine in Queen’s Park, is the crowning
architectural glory of Toronto, rivalled only
in Canada by the Parliament Buildings at
Ottawa, and probably equalling in magni.
ficence of effect any educational institution
on the continent.
the Norman style of aichitecture, and were
designed by Cumberland & Storm, Toronto,
architects. There is a general reseinblance
in style to the English colleges of the middle
ages 'The stone is for the greater part in
the rough, and although finished only thirty
years ago, the buildings already wear a
venerable aspect. Site and structure com-

bine most harmoniously to impress the :

beholder at the same time with a sense of
solidity and grace. Upon the complesion
of the work, presiden, professors and
students migrated in a body from the Parlia-
ment buildings, on Front street, which they
had temporarily occupied for several years

‘T'he principil front of the new University |

faces the south, and is 100 yards in length.
The general outline is nearly in the form
of a square with an internal quadrangle

about two hundred feet wide facing the !

north and open to the park. In the centre
is « massive tower one hundred and twenty
feet high, which. adds much to the com-
manding appearance of the pile and from
the top of which iz disclosed a prospect of

They are of free stone in |

great beauty and variety. The east frons
1s two hundred and sixty feet long. Im
it is a separate entrance suimounted by
‘& smaller pointed tower. “he west end
is two hundred feet long. The entrance
hall and grand staircase are of beautiful
proportions and finished with great ela: ora-
tion of detail. There is much fine carving
! throughout.

| On the evening of February 14th, 1890,
i occurred the disastrous fire by which the
! whole of the University, w.th the exception
' of the Physical Science Department, was
destroyed. When morning broke on Feb-
ruary 15th, the priceless library of nearly
35,000 volumes, containing not only many
, rare editions of general works, but also
i many documents in connection with Cana-
. dian history, was a thing of the past. The
| cause of the fire was never fully explained.
' Owing to the scarcity ot water little could
i be done to arrest the flames.

CHAPTER XVIIL
THE OLD GLOBE OFFICE.

The Brick Building Recently Torn Down
at the Souith-west Cormer of King and
Jordan Sircets,

I Where the Canadian Bank of Commerce

has now erected its splendid structure of

brown stone on the south-west corner of

' King and Jordan streets, formerly stood the

. first church of the Wesleyan Methodists in

Toronto. It was the first building erected

on the spot, and originally was a low wooden

chapel forty feet square facing north and

i atanding a little way back f.om the street.

| It was built by Mr. Petch.  On each side of

! the building at the gable end facing King

street was a door. 'Lhrough one the men

i
1
i
'

entered and  through  the otner
the women. The same division
of sexes was observed within. the

i
|
! pews on cne side being set apart for men and
. on the other for women, preciselv as is the
custom now in Hebrew synagouues. [The
Methodist body soon grew too large for the
church and it was enlarged to 60 feetin
length, the frontage rem ining the same.
' In 1833 the Methodists gave it up for reli-
g ous purposes and as so irequently befalls
an abandoned church it was converted into
. & place of amusement under the high sound-
ing title of the Theatre Royal. Theatrical
representations were given here for several
years, and then about 1837, Angus Dallas
' bought the property and erected on it the
three-storey brick building shown in the ac-
companying cut, which was recently torn
down to make way tfor the building recently
completed.
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THE OLD ‘‘ GLOBE " OFFICE REMODELLED.

Here Mr. Dallas carried on a wooden ware
business. For quite a number of years part
of the building was occupied by the agency
of the Commercial Bank, of which the late
Mr. Charle: 8. Ross was manager. Mr. Dallas
transferred the propercy in 1850 to George
Brownu, of the Globe, and a portion of it was
occupied by that journal as its first office.

A flight of steps led up through three heavy !

stone arched entrances into a lobby about
eight feet broad, from which the stores and
offices opened. About twenty years ag.
the front of the building was remodelled and
given the appearance shown in the second
picture. The Globe occupied the westerly
side of the building as a business office, its
press room being in a brick addition at
the rear of the building. At one time a
%xrt of the building was occupied by the
armers’ & Merchants’ Bank, which sub
sequently closed its doors. The staff
of the Globe then included many men who

“world.

have since made their name famous in the
Erastus Wiman, Wm. Edwards,
and Charles J. Harcourt were reporters.

.C. W. 1 unting was an employe in the com-

posing room, and at a later date foreman.
Provincial Librarian Houston was another
reporter and Gordon and George Brown were
just beginning their journalistic eareers.
‘'ie composing room was on the second floor
and on the third floor were the editorial
rooms. In the Crimean war, before
the era of the Atlantic cable, the
paper had a great sale on the days when
tke Europ-an mail arrived. Mr. Houston
was a reporter on the paper at the time
of the comp'etion of the cable. There was
a general clection in England, and he by a
shrewd scheme was the first to get the
results from the wires, and thereby enabled
to get outa special edition. When the
Qlobe moved into its present office on King
street the lower part of she building was
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divided into shops and occupied by Wm.
Wharin, the jeweller, David Wilson, the
bcot maker, and the centre office in 1866
wos the business office of the old Daily
Telegraph inRobertsen & Cook’s time. Since
that time up to its demolition the building
was used for shops. At one time there was

@ cigar store in the western part
of the building. It was a great lounging
place for the officers of the regular

troops stationed here and one of them was
arrested one day for having jocularly ridden
ks horse into the shop. That was when
the 13th Hussars were in Toronto and the
gon of the officer is now oneof the best
‘known men around town. At one time in
its eariy history a part of the building was
eecnpied by thelate Dr. Barclay as a private
residence, The illustrations show the
bullding as it was orizinally and after it
was re-modelled.

CHAPTER XIX.
A SKETCH OF THE GRANGE.

The Finest Specimen of the Honse Architecs
ture of York now 1he Residence ot Pros
tessor Goldwin Smith.

At the head of John street, looking down
to Queen street, surrounded by spacious
grounds, stands one of those low, roomy
houses which afford the best type of a gen-
tleman’s residence. 1t is a solid, substantial
two-storey structure of brick, wi h wings at
the west and a conservatory extension at
the east. A columned porch and a gable
with- an ceil de beeuf window at the
south relieve the main part of the house
from the severe simplicity which the facade
would otherwise present. The general as-
pect is that of an English mansion, which

¢ evidently furnished the model. This is *“ The

Grange,” one of the finest places and one of

the best known houses in the city. The

main building was erected about 1820 Ly

D’Arcy Boulton, eldest son of Justice Boul-

ton. Justice Boulton lived in the house, and

his three-cornered hat, made by ** Rogers,

York,” still hangs in the hall A

wing and the conservatory are later ad.

ditions. The Grange gate, now crowded
back to the head of John street, was
originally on Quecn street and the house
was reached by a sweeping drive through
the grounds beginning at the east side ot

McCanl street. Justice Boulton was a great

lover of horses. He drove a pretentious

phaeton, and his team, Bonaparte and Jeffer-
son, were the crack pairof the day in York. Ot
these two horses a very curjous story is told.

Bears were common about the town in its

early days, and itis said that Bay street

was originally ramed Bear streetf om the

fact that a bear was once chased down it to
the water. In 1809 Lieutenant Fawcett of
the 100th Regziment came upon a large bear
in Yonge street and cut the animal’s head
open with his sword. 1tis related thata
large bear once straved upon the Grange
pasture a littie to the west of the house,

Ronaparte and Jefferson  saw  the
monster  and at  once attacked
bruin by plunging at him  with

their fore feet. The Grange is probably the
finest specimen of the heginning of the brick
era at York, and as such is particularly in-
teresting, although rendered additionally so
from its associations, From its erection up
to the present time it has always played an
important part in the social life ot York and
Toronto, and many are the tales its walls
could tell of balls and routs and dinner
parties, of fair women and notable men.
Lord Elgin, when Governor-General of
Canada, was the guest there o° William
Henry Boulton, who was Mayor of Toronto
at the time. Mr. Clarke Gamble, who
breakiasted with Lord E ¢in on this occa-
sion, was greatly impressed by the Earl, and
he describes him as a man out of ten thou-
sand. Thisisa historical association with th.e
‘building, memorable from the great public
services of Lord Elgin afierward in China
aud India. [he Boultons were very hos-
pitable people and entertained largely.
D’Arcy Boulton was a gentleman of polished
manners, and his father, the Justice, was a
type of the old school English gentleman.
D’Arcy was one of th - first men called to
the Bar in Upper Canada, but be abandoned
the law for commercial pursuits, and at
length retired, leaving his business in the
hands of Wm. Proudfoot. As was almost
invariably the custom in those days, the
Grange was built in the centre of a hundred-
acre park lot. Mr. Boulton named it the
Grange on its completion after a fam-
ily estate in England, and it has
since borne the name. Mr. Boulton lived
at the Grange until his death in 1844, after
which his widow continued her resid-nce
there with her eldest son, William Henry
Boulton. The w:dow of the latter married
Professor Goldwin Smith, who lives there
now. The artist’s sketch gives a good view
of the front of the house from the south.
Cressing the threshold one enters a square
hall, at the right of which are the two draw-
ing-rooms and at the left the dining-room.
All these rooms are finished 1n black walnut,
as were most of the gentlemen’s residences of
the day. At the west of the liouse proper is
alarge library, recently built in the place
of Mr. Boulton’s grapery, where now is
stored the library of Professor Smith.
During Mr. Bonlton’s time the Grange
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war one of the chiet centres of the

Family Compact, It is rclated that an
indian  once entered the bedroom
of Mrs. D’Arcy Boulton, and with the

exclamation * My pretty squaw,” patted
her on the cheek and walked out. An Eog-
lish officer once lost his way in the thick
woods about the house, and at-
tracted by the smoke from the chim-
ney, sought shelter and was hospitably
entertained. In the rear of the house
there used to be a race track reach-
ing up to College avenue. Part of the stand
for spectators is stiil standing. , The big
elm trees in front of the house were planted
by the Hon. William Cayley. Near by is a
young tree which was pilanted by Lord
Lansdowne. The hall, with its polished
oak floor and antique furniture, is one of
the most interesting features of the
house. Here are some fine wood carv-
ings over two centuries old.  This hall
was designed by the Hon. Wm. Cayley.
Everything about the house is kept as nearly
as possible as it originally was. In the
windows are the small panes of glass put
in when the house was built. All the
wood-work except the floors of the ground
floor is of the most substantial black wai-
nut In the dining room are fine cabinets
and sideboards filled with old china and cut
glass. Here iz one of the wine glassesof Gov-
ernor Simcoe, first Governor of Upper Canada.

As its base is a little round
knob so that it cannot be set down,
and precludes all possibility of heel
taps. At his recent visit to Toronto

Lord Lansdowne drank the Queen’s hea th
from it. Before his departure Lord Lans-
downe presented Protessor Smith with a
portrait of Lord Shelbourne, which hangs
on the wall. The dining-room is small and
does not comfortably seat more than four-
teen persons, 8o that much that has bzen
said about the convivialities of the Family
Compact gatherings there are probably
exaggerations. Ranged on the walls
are 13 portrrits of celebrities in English
history painted by G. E. Sintzenick from
the originals. The pictures and the
possessors of the originals are the Earl of
Hssex, owned by the Duke of Sutherland.

Lord Fairfax, Lieut.-Col. Fuirfax, Sir
John Eliot, Earl of St Germains,
John Hampden, Earl of St. Germuins,
Sic Henry Vane, British Museum,

General Fleetwood, the Misses Ficetwood,
Aundrew Marvel, British Museum, Admiral
Blake, Wadham College, Oxford, R. Baxter,
Dr. Williams, John Bunyan, Mrs. Oive,
Milton and Pym. There is a picture of
Cromwell, th: original of which is
in the Pitti palace, having been sent

as a present by Cromwell himsclf to the
Grand Duke of Tuscany. The late Mr,
Fairfx told the copyist that the painting of
his ancestor, Lord Fairfax, is the only ope
in existence taken from life. Lord Fairfax in
Yorkshire, was familtarly known as ‘“ Black
Tom.” The wound which he received on
the chin at the battle of Edgehill is shown in
the painting. The picture of Sir John Eliot
differs very much with the one for which he
sat during his last imprisonment in the
town of London, which is too painful
to be copted. The portrait of Sir
John Eliot’s friend Hampden is mentioned
in Lord Nugent’s memorial of Hampden,
as presented to the family, in whose posses:
sion it now is, by the son of Sir John Tiiet.
Macaulay remarks of it that it is probahiy
the only reliable portrait in existence of
Hampden. Baxter’s picture is the best of
the two known of him. ltistheone {n
most editions of vhe ‘‘Saints’ Rest.”
Bunyan has only one original picture
from which all portraits of him
are taken. On the south wall of the dining
room hangs a large portrait of a Spanis{;
officer, painted by Sebastian Moro. At the
head of the hall is a somewhat rude bust
of Sir Charles Bagot, Governor-General of
Upper Canada, which is supposed to be the
first bust modelled in Canada. About tha
house are pictures of scenes around the resi-
dence of Professor Smith’s father in Berks’
county, Eng., views of Etonand Oxford, where
Professor Smith was educated and a por-
trait of alady member of the fami.y who
danced at the famous ball at Brussels on the
night before the battle of Waterloo.  After
Professor Smith’s donation of his fine lib-
rary to Cornell University he set to work to
make another collection of books which is
now the finest private  collection
in the city. The most valuable
book 1n it is Tableanx Historiques in four
large volumes. They contain illustrations
of scenes in the French Revolution, with
descriptive articles accompanying them, and
the value of the work is that the volumes
were published contemporaneously with the
Rovolution.
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RIDOUT’S MANSION IN 1820,

) CHAPTER XX.
GEORGE RIDOUT'S MANSION.

A palatial residence which sank by de-
grees into a hotel and then izto a wretche
ed tenement house.

Up to the latter part of last year there
atood on the west side of Dorset street, a
building which was once a palatial mansion
but which at the rime of its demolition had
become a dilapidated rookery with an un-
savoury reputation. The building, which
was frame, afterward stuccced, was two
stories in height. Its walls were reared
from a solid foundation planted on a slight
prominence in the centre of a large block
of beautifully wooded land covering
the entire space bounded by the
westerly Hne of the Government
House grounds, Wellington, John and
Kiug streets. The house was built by the
late George Ridout about 1820, and at that
time it was considered a stately mansion fit
for a king, with spacious rooms and exten-
sive outbnildings, the front deor guarded by
a portico that lent an air of nobility to the
house cven in its decay. After a residence
in the house of about ten years Mr. Ridout
disposed of the property to a trust and loan

company. Its next occup:nt was Bishop
Charles James Stewart, second bishop of
Quebec, a man of saintly presence and
character, long a missionary in the southern
townships of Lower Canada before his ap-
pointment to the episcopate. Bishop
Stewart bore a strikimg resemblance in
shape of head ard facial expression to King
George the Third. The bishop’s duties called
him to all parts of €anada, and he found it
desirable to have a western diocesan
in York on his periodical visits to Upper
Canada. This, as an old dircctory oi 1834
says, was ‘‘ his residence when in town.”
In 1834 Capt. Phillpotts, R.E., aide-de-
camp to his Excellency, Sir John Colborne,
occupied the dwelling. The next tenant was
Judge Jones. During his oceupancy the house
was the scene of many festivities and gay
parties extensively patronized by the then
leaders of society. Dr. Boys, burs.r of King’s
College, afterward occupied ir. This brings
its history down to about thirty-five years of
the present time and marks the era when the
vicissitudes that finally bronght the former
beautiful place into lacal disrepute first be-
gan to appear.  Subsequent to the year
1850—perbaps a year after that date — it
was pressed into the service of the city
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THE HOUSE IN 1887.

registrar, and while Samuel Sherwood occu-
pied that position the building was his
residence. The officers of a regiment of
regulars stationed at Toronto had their
quarters in the former palace of the bishop
und the locality soon afterward acquired an

unenviable notortety as the resort of
dissolute  characters. On the regi-

ment being ordered home the building
wag converted info a hotel bearing the
mame of the London House, a title which
ciung to it up to the time of its demolition.
As a hotel it was a decided failure and soon
closed its doors to the travelling public for
Jack of patronage. In the meantime its
ownership had changed hands, and it was
afterwards transferred to Mrs. Crawford,
the widow of Lieut.-Governor Crawford,
About 1871 the late Mr. Bugg acquired a
twenty-one years’ lease of the premises.
The leage was up to about a year ago held
by the trustees of the deccased gentleman’s

estate, Mr. Charles Bugg being the agent,
when it became the property of James
Robertson & Co., manufacturers, under whose
instructions the work of demolition was
carried out. In recent years the Lon-
don Honse gained an ussavouryreputation
on account of the bad character of some of
its inmates. Its location and commodious
rooms rendered it pecuiiarly suitable for
tenement purposes, and the apartments be-
came the homes of thrittless tenants, who
lived in such dense squalor as frequently to
call forth outbursts of indignation from the
city authorities. In a communication ad-
dressed to Mayor Howland a prominent
physician who had been calied in to exam-
ine a cbild which had died in the wretched

place under suspicious circumstances,
characterized the house as a ‘‘hotbed of
disease.”” The illustrations represent the
building as it was in 1820 and in 1887,
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CHAPTER XXI.
JONATHAN SCOTT'S HOUSE.,

The home of a York butcher with a sketch
of Captaln John McGill—Where the scouls
were posted in the Mackenzic vebellion.
The iilustration shows a house built about

the year 1825 by Jonathan Scott, a butcher

in the market on the east side of Yonge
street, a little above the Green Bush tavern
at what was later the corner of Yonge and

McGill or Magill streets, on the site where

the Y. M. C. A. building now stands,

The Yonge street house shown in

the  sketch for a time was

the only house of any size between the

Green Bush tavern and the Red Lion hotel

at Yorkville. Mr. Scott used frequently to

cross the fields back of the Green Bush inn
for a near cut home. The bricks of which
the house was built were made from the

clay of the foundation. Mr. Scott was a

thorough Englishman, honest and straight-

forward, and a man very much respected.

It was in front of this house that one of the

pickets was killed at the outbreak of the

Mackenzie rebellion. Here on the day of

the march of the patriots in tuwn Sheriff

Jarvis was posted with a detachment of

riflemen. At this point some of the Jarvis

scouts flanked Mackenzie’s forces and com-
menced to fire at the pikemen., The first
volley killed a pikeman by the name of

Henderson, from Sharon. 1Two men were

wounded, one in the arm and the other in

the foot. Mr. Charles Durand says that on
the following morning, coming down into
town from Bloor street, he came upon the
dead body of Henderson still lying in the
roadway. Mr. Thomas Anderson has given
the following interesting account of ‘the
occurrences of that December day, He
says: “I was working in a building
at the north-east corner of Yonge and

Richmound streets, where I conducted

a watch store. The rebels were to meet

over my store on the Monday before the

fight at Montgomery’s, but there was a girl
hanged in front of the jail on Foronto street
that day, and there was such a crowd in
town that the arrangements fell through.

I knew that the rebels were out at Mont-

gomery’s, for I think my brother John, who

kept a dry-goods store on Yonge street,
went out to join them on Monday night.

But bright and early Tuesday morning I

started. 1 left my wife at our p'ace and

took my double barrelled gun and walked
along up Yonge street. Up near Jonathan

Scott’s corner, McGill street,"I met. Sheriff

Jarvis coming down. ‘Good morning, Ander-

son,” said the Sheriff, locking -closely

at the gun I war carrying. ‘Good morning,

|

Sheriff,’ I answered, it's a nice day.’ I
passed on, He did not try to arrest me,
although he knew where I was going. I had
agun. He had no arms and 1 wonld have
fought 1 think before 1 could have been
kept from going out to join the rebels.
When I got out to Montgomery’s two or
three hundred rebels were there. This was
on Tuesday and all that day the Reformers
from the township were coming in. Some
rode in, some marched and a good many of
the farmers were driven in by iheir young
sons, who took the waggons back again.
That night as you know we marched down
as far as Mc@ill street and then fell hack
when we could have chased Sheriff Jarvis’
men right back into the city. Things would
have been different if we had had a
leader. Poor Mackenzie meant well and
was brave enough but he was no soldier. If
old Col. Van Egmond had been there that
night all the loyalists in Toronto, and there
were not many just then, could not have
kept the city from us. But he wasn’c there
and we missed our chance.” Thomas Shep-
pard, who was in the front rank of the in-
vaders, tells the story thus:—¢ That
Tuesday night we made a start. Mackenzie
ordered us to march down Yorge street and
away we went. He led us. I was in the
front rank along with Thomas Anderson
and his brother John. We stepped quietly
along until we were coming out of tlie woods
at Jonathan Scott’s corners. All at once
some Torieswho were in the brick house there
with Sheriff Jarvis fired on us. I don’t
know but they fired another volley before
they ran. They took the back track quick
enough, and if our fellows had only been
steady we would have taken the city that
night. 1 don’t know what started our men
running, but most of them made off up
Yonge street as fast as the other fellows did
down to the town. For a while some of us
at the front stood our ground, and I was
firing away among the last of them. But
after three or four minutes of this work I
said to myself, here, a handful of uscan’t
go down and capture Toronto, so we took
after the rebeis, who were making for
Montgomery’s again.” When Jonathan
Scott’s house was torn down several years
ago to make way for the Young Men’s Chris-
tian Association a sum of money was found
in the old building. Mr. Scott bought the
land from Capt. John McGill, a soldier witu
an interesting history whose name is per-
petuated in McGill street, Capt. McGill
was an officer in the Queen’s Rangers, the
corpr commanded by Lieut -Col. S mcoe,
afterward first Governor of Upper Canada,
and with that corps he fought in the war of
the American Revolution. During tle
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New Jersey campaign in 1779 he and Col.
Simcoe were both taken prisoners and con-
fined in the county jail at Burlington. A
plan was devised for the Colonel’s egcape,
Captain  McGill  volunteering to get
inte his commanding officer’s bed and im-
personate him while he made his way
out. The attempt was frustrated by the
breaking of a tals: key in the lock of
a door. For this act of devotion Col. Simcoe
afterward offered the captain an annuity or
the office of quartermaster of cavalry, "the
latter of which he accepted. In 1793 he
was Commissioner of Stores for Upper Can-
ada, and in one of the first issues of the
Oracle he offers ten guineas reward for the
discovery of the thieves who had stolen a
grindstone from the King’s wharf at Nia-
gara, The next year he and Allan McNab
were at Niagara advertising for carpenters
for the public buildings to be erected at
York., In 1801 he is at York, and his name
is down for $16 among the list of subserib-
ers fcr the improvement of Yonge street.
In the old records he is dubbed ¢‘the Hon-
ourable Captain MecGill,” and under this
title his name is found as one of the
committee appointed in 1803 with full
power and authority to apply the money
received from subscriptions toward the
crection of the first church in York. This
was St. James, Naturallyheiwas one of the
ew-holders in the church from its estab-
ishment and he was a regular attendant.
In the same'yecar he advertises in the Oracte
as *‘agent for purchases™ for pork and beef
to be suppiied to the troops at York, King-
ston, Fort George, Fort Chippewa, Fort
Erie and Amherstburg. In 1805 he is In-
spector-General of Provincial Parliament
accounts. 1In 1818 he is Recciver..-General
and Auditor-General of land patents. Cap-
tain McGill at an early date became the
owner of the park lot, just east of Yonge
street. On it near the southern edge of
the forest which stretched away to
the northward, he built a house which was
standing in McGill square in 1870.For a long
time it was occupied by Mr. McCutcheon,
who in accordance with his uncle’s will as-
sumed the name of McGill and became well
known as the Hon. Peter McGill. The
Metropolitan church and St. Michael’s
Cathedral now stand on the park lot of
Captain McGill, the former on what was
McGill square. Further north, running
cast from Yonge street, is McGill street.

CHAPTER XXIIL
HARPER'S QUEEN ST. HOUSE.

A Dwelling Occupied by Several Well.
Known Clergymen, and Subsequently
Converied into a Store—John Harper.

In the year 1818 Richard Harper came to
Toronto with his son John, and upon his
arrival bought the acre of land forming the
south-east corner of Queen, then Lot street,
and Simcoe, then Graves street, and ex-
tending to Richmond, then Hospita!l street,

on the south. Richard Harper (first
built ~a house for the occupancy
of his family on the north side of

Queen street, just west of Simcoe and
a litile distance back from the street. It
was pulled down recently and a new build-
ing erected on the site by Mr. Thos. Walmsley.
Subsequently Mr. Harper put up the frame
dwelling shown in the illustration at the
south-east corner of Queen and Simcoe
streets. Here the Rev. Joseph Hudson,
military chaplain to the forces, lived abeut
1830. Mr. Hudson was a clergyman highly
esteemed by the people as a pulpit orator
and greatly beloved as a man. Occasionaliy
he officiated at Sv. James’ church. He
was the first minister who ever wore the
academical hood over the ordinary vestment
in Torento. Mr. Hudson endeavoured
to have a chureh erected east of Bathurst
street near the military burial ground for
the accommodation of the soldiery, and he
wen' so far as to lay out with a plow the
ground plan of the church. At the same time,
this was prior to 1830, he complained to the
commander of the forces of the great incon-
venience to which the troops were subjected
in having to march two miles from the bar-
racks to St. James’ church, especially
at those seasons when the weather
and roads were unfavourable. He re-
marks that even in June the roads
were in such a cendition that the soldiers
were prevented from attending service four
Sundays in succession, and suggests as the
best method of obviating the difficulty the
erection of a chapel on the Government re-
serve for the accommodation of the forces,
Tne Horse Guards did not favour Mr. Hud-
son’s plan, and instead gave one thousand
pounds to St. James’ church, on condition
that accommodation for the troops sheuld
be permanently provided. Subsequently
the Rev. John Wenham, assistant minister
of St. James’, occupied the Harper house.
About 1849-51 it was occupied as a
residence by Mr. Owen, of the firm of
Owen, Miller & Mills, manufacturers of car-
riages, whose establishment was on King
street, now numbered 153, west of the
Revere block. Later on, about 1853-55
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the house was converted into a store and
occupied by one named Johnson. It is
now a flour and feed store. For some
time Burleigh Hudson kept a flour store in
the building. John Harper,who came here in
1818 with his father, died recently at the
age of 83 years. He was a contractor and
built St. Michael’s Cathedral, the Cawthra
Mansion, now Molson’s Bank; the general
hospital, the new tort, part of the asylum
and other well known city edifices. He was
one of the arbitrators of the University
buildings at Toronto and of the Parliamert
buildings at Toronto. ~ Mr. Harper was a
Baldwin Reformer and a great friend of Sir
Francis Hincks.  He was one of the oldest
members of the York Pionecers, and by his
deabh the city lost the last surviving alder-
man of the first corporation of Toronto.

CHAPTER XXIIL
RICHMOND'S BLACKSMITH SHOP.

The Old Building en the North-east Corner
of Queen and Simcoe Streetis—The Brown-
Cameron Election Riot of 1857,

Another old landmark that has passed
away with the march of civilization, one
that will be remembered by the college
boys of 1845-50, and up to 1860, is the old
blacksmith and wheel-wright shop which
stood at the north-east corner of Queen and
William, now Simcoe, indicated in the
engraving. It was occupied by Messrs.
Richmond—one William Richmond,a wheel-
wright, and Robert Richmond, a black-
smith. In their respective lines they were
about as zood workmen as could be found
in Toronto. The little plot of ground in
front of the shop was, in the summer time,
a great place for the boys ot Upper Canada
College to play marbles. Old man Rich
mond and his two or three sons were well
liked by all the boys and as well by every-
one in the neighbourhood. The family lived
in the house to the north of the shop.
Within a few yards of this shop in
1857, the celebrated Brown-Cameron elec-
tion Tiot took place. Clinkunbroomer’s
brick houseon the north-west corner was be
ing built. A lot of bricks to be used in build-
ing were piled at the road side, and it is
needless to say were put to the very best
possible use by the rioters. The friends
of John Hillyard Cameron had come down
from the neichbourhood of St. Patrick’s Mar-
ket, whilethe George Brownfactionassembled
round the corner of this street, making
Richmond’s b'acksmith shop their coign
of vantage. Bob. Moody and five hundred
from 3t. John’s Ward came down to help
the Reformers, and the pile of bricks
that stood about twenty feet square was

levelled almost to the ground before the
rioters gov through exercising themselves
with these missiles. The hot part of the
riot occurred on Queen street, a little west
of Sheppard’s Marble Works, although on
Queen street, from Sc. Patrick’s Market to
Simcoe, many houses had not a complete
paue of glass. In the old times when the
college boys wanted their sleighs fixed they
always brought them to Richmond, and if
the boys had besen out cutting shinnies
near the White bridge, or in the neigh-
bourhood of Rosedale, or Ridout’s bush,
now Sherbourne street, they always had
the shinnies trimmed by one of the
Richmond boys, who were not very heavy in
their charges,infact weresogood-natured that
unfortunately their good nature was fre-
quently imposed upon. The old shop dis-
appeared when Joues’ hotel was put up
scme years ago. The sons are now liviag
in the neighbou hood of Sarnia. They are
well-to-do, and have the respect and good-
will of a large number of the old people
who livedjin the vicinity of Qneen and Simcoe
streets.

CHAPTER XXIV.
ANDREW MERCER’S COTTAGE.

An Early York Printinz Office, at the Cor-
ner of Bay and Wellington streets —The
Story ofa Ferged WIIl.

When Chief Justice Scott came to York
he brought with him Andrew Mercer for
whom he secured preferment. Mr. Mercer
grew wealthy and early in the century
bought a plot of ground at the south-
east corner of Bay and Wellington
streets, upon which he built a cottage, stand-
ing uuntil recently upon the site of Wyld,
Grasett & Darling’s warehouse. In 1801
John Bennett succeeded Messrs. Waters &
Simmoans, and became the printer and pub-
lisher of the York Gazeite and Oracle, a
journal established a few years before
at Newark, now Niagara-on-the-Lake, and
recently transferred to York on the change
of the seat of government. At this time
the publishers of papers did not style them-
selves editors. but simply printers or pub-
lishers, In the same year the printing
office of the Gazette and Oracle is estab-
lished in the house of Mr., A. Cameron
on King street, and a notice is issued
stating that subscriptions to the paper
will be received there and at the Toronto,
Coffee House, York. For six months of
this year the paper appears printed on blue
shects. The stock of white paper bad be-
come exhausted and no more could be re-
ceived until the opening of navigation. I[n
1804 John Bennett began the publication at
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York of the Upper Canada Almanac, which
he still conducted in 1813, at the time of the
war with the United States. There were lieu-
tenants of counties in 1804 as follows : John
Macdonell, Glengarry; William Fortune,
Prescott; Archibald Macdonell, Stormont;
Hon. Richard Duncan, Dundas; Peter
Drummond, Grenville; James Breaken-
ridge, Leeds ; Hon. Richard Cartwright,
Frontenac ; Hazelton Spencer, Lennox ;
William  John:ton, Addington ; John
Ferguson, Hastings ; Archiba d Macdonell,
Marysburgh ; Alexander Chisholm, North-
umberland ; Robert Baldwin, Durham;
Hon. David W. Smith, York ; Hon. Robert
Hamiiton, Lincoln ; Samuel Ryerse, Nor-
folk ; William Claus, Oxford ; Hon. Alex-
ander Grant, Essex; Hon. James
Baby, Kent; Middlesex 1is vacant.

In the Crown Lands Office of QOatario at
this time another old English term is in use.
This is ‘¢ Domesday Book.” The record
of grants from the beginning of the organi-
zation of Upper Canada is entitled ¢ Domes-
day Book,” and it now consists of many
folio volumes. During the war of 1812
Bennett at first fought on the Buritish
side, but afterward deserted to the United
States forces, and was killed at the
siege of Fort Erie. As early as 1802 his
name appears as a subscriber to the amount
of §6 to the improvement of Yonge street
between the town of York and Lot No. 1.
Mr. Cameron, in whose house his printing
pusiness was conducted at the same time,
was one of the committee to supervise the im-
provement of the street. During the war
of 1812 the printing ofiice was removed to
the honse of Andrew Mercer at the corner of
Bay and Wellington streets. During the
occupancy of York by the American forces
the office was entered by the soldiers, the

press brokem in  pieces and  the
type scattered. For a time Mr. Mercer
had charge of the publication of

the York Gazette, and before his death he
used to exhibit to his friends parts of the
press made uséless on that occasion In
1822 Andrew Mercer’'s name is found as a
subscriber to the building of two bridges
leading over the Don to the south. In the
antumn of 1815 Lientenant-Governor Gore
returned to his duties in the province,
from which he had been absent duringf
the war. On his arrival he was met by »
delegation of citizens and preésented with a
congratulatory address signed by a number
of men, among whom is Andrew Mercer.
On Mr. Mercer’s death & scandal
arose over his  estate. A will
was found, but the courts declared it a
forgery. Mr. Clarke Gamble went to Eng-
land to look up the heirs but he failed to

L

find any and the property, valued at a large
sum, was escheated to the crown. The
Government, however, gave Mr. Mercer’s
son, in whose favour the will was drawn,
a tract of land and a sum of money.

CHAPTER XXV.
THE GREENLAND FISHERY.

A York NMote! to which & Sailor Gave a
Name—Its Landlordone of the First Alders
men of Toronto.,

On the north-west cormer of Front and
John streets stands a plain two-storey frame
building which, unlike many of the earlier
buildings, has never been diverted from the
purpose for which it was originally erected.
It now bears in modest letters over the
entrance the sign ‘‘Beauchamp House.”
Abont 1825 Edward Wright built this kouse
as a hotel and conducted it as such
for many years. A travelling sailor,
who had been on a whaling voyage
and possessed quite a good deal of artistic
ability, coming along and being in need of
money, Mr. Wright engaged him to paint a
signboard for his inn. Accordingly on one
side of the sign he painted an Arctic or
Greenland scene, and on the other vessels
and boats engaged in the capture of a whale.
The work was well cxecuted and the piec-
tures spirited. They attracted much atten-
tion, and proved to be the source of an in-
creased revenue to the landlord. Beside
the pictures the sign bore the name of the
proprietor and the words ‘‘Greenland
Fishery.” It was from this design of the
sailor that the house derives its name.
When York was changed to Toronto and
from a town transformed into a city
Mr. Wright became oue of the aldermen
of the first corporation. Subsequently Mr.
Wright gave up the hotel business and
for  some time lived in the little
frame dwelling adjoining to the north on
John street. At this period there were a
number of small drinking houses adjoining
the ¢ Greenland Fishery” which were
much frequented by soldiers from the
garrison. In the artiet’s illustration the
hotel as it is now, is shown and also the
little dwellings at the side, in which Mr.
Wright lived. Mr. Wright had a son living
in the States, who had been very successful
in business. It was while on a visit to him
that he died. Since its construction the
hotel building has been renovated through-
out, partly rebuilt and somewhat enlarged,
and is now in a very good state of repair.
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CHAPTER XXVL
ROBERT BEARD’'S HOTEL.

A Once Famous Hosteiry at the Corner of
Church and Colborne Streets—Early Ma-
sonic Halls—A Mysterious Murder.

At the north-east corner of Church street
and Colborne street, which latter was

formerly called Market Lane, once stood a

frame hotel kept by a colourel
nian whose  name was  strangely
at variance with his colour, for it was

Snow. The old settlers who can remember
him say he kept a good hostelry, and indeed
landlords of colour seem to have been much
more successful here in the first half of the
century than now towards its close. From
abon’ 1841 to 1845 one of the most popular and
well patronized inns in Toronto, especially
well favoured by country folk, occupied the
ground at the head of Toronto street, which
is now taken up by the postoffice. It was
a frame building, and connccted with it
were stables quite extensive for that day.
Its proprietor was a coloured man by the
name of James Mink, who retired from the
business with a fortune. On the Tonawanda
reservation of Indians in New York State is
a chieftain who is the possessor of wealth
and a pretty and accomplished daughter.
Unwilling to marry her to one of his red
brethren he has caused th: statement to be
cireulated that a fertile farm of generous
acreage is to be the Indian maiden’s dowry
whenever a pale-face of standing and char-
acter may win her hand. Somewhat simi-
lar was the desire of Mr. Mink, who offered to
give $10,000 to any respectable white man
who would wed his daughter. Miss Mink
did, 1t was said, find a white man who mar-
ried her. and they made their wedding trip
to the Southern States, and, with a villainy
that we are pleased to say characterizes few
white men, sold his bride into siavery and
abandoned her.  Through the efforts of
Mink’s friends in Canada, and the paymeut
of a large sum of money, Miss Mink was
freed and brought back to Toronto, and
lived for years with ler father in
the old home on the hill, on the east side
of the Don and Danforth road.
Returning to the site of Snow’s inn, at
the corner of Church and Colborne streets,
we find that somewhere about 1848 the
frame building was torn down, and in its
place the late Joshua Beard put up the
brick strueture shown in the illustration,
and only shightly altered on the
ground floor from its original design.
Snow occupied the new hael for four or five
years. He had with him 1n partnership a man
named Wright, but for some reason or other
they did not agree, and concluded to give up

the hotel, Snow renting the Epieurean Re-
cess, which stood on the site of the Ountario
Chambers, the first door south of the
alley-way, next to McWilliam & Everest’s,
No. 25, on the east side of Church street.

After Snow’s departure Robert Beard
kept the hotel for five years, ana
then Azro Russell, brother of the

Russells of the St. Louis Hotel, Quebec,
leased it for seven years. In the days of
the old Parliament of Canada, Beard’s, or
Russell’s was the popular hotel of Toronto,
and the resort of leading merchants, mem-
bers of parliament and politicians. The
late Samuel Zimmerman, of Niagara Falls,
the railway magnate, was a constant guest
here, and the last time he said good-bye in
Toronto was when he jauntily walked out of
the hotel with his grip in hand, and entered
the ommibus for the Great Western Railway
station. \Vithin sixty minutes he was laid
low in death, a vict m of the terrible rail-
way disaster on the Western, at the Desjar-
dins railway bridge, near Hamilton. The
dinners at Russell’s were noted for their
excellence. Gus Thomas, who Bas so
steadily worked himself into wealth and
position, was at one time a bell-boy in
Russell’s, and Smith, his old partner in the
firm of Smith & Thomes, was the book-
keeper. Tom Mulholland and Ned Gray
were bartenders, and dispensed unique
drinks for the patrons of the house. PBoth
were considered adepts in mixing. After
Russell gave up the lease of the house
John Montgomery, famous in rebellion
times by the burning of his Yorge strees
hostelry, kept Russell’s for three or four
years. This finished the career of the build-
ing as a hotel. During the tenancy of the
Beards and Russelis the upper floors of the
building were occupied by the Knights
Templar, who had a hall, handsomely fur-
nished, and considered one of the -best

Masonic meeting places in Canada. The
rooms on the sonth side of the upper floor
were leased by Royal Black Preceptory No.
96, of the Orange Order. After Montgomery
retired the building was vacant for a short
time, and then converted into stores. The
upper floors of the hotel were built specially
for St. Andrew’s Lodge of Freemasons, the
north room was fitted as a blue or craft
room and the south room was used as a
supper room and rec ption apartment,
After St. Andrew’s Lodge moved to the
upper floor of the east wing of St. Lawrence
Hall buildings, the Russell Hotel lodge
rooms were leased by the Ruight Templar
Encampment of Geoffrey de St. Aldemar.
The room was very handsomely fitted up.
After the Templars left their room to

go to the Toronto street Temple, Messrs.
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Torrance and Geo. Ewart had the north and
south stores respectively. Then James E.
Smith & Co. leased the corner, while Robert
Sprats had the north store. John Holmes
& Co. succeeded Smith& Co.,and Spratt,and
finally Messrs. Milburn, Bently & Pearson
leased the building. Across from this house,
at the south-east corner of Chureh, stood the
Edinburgh Castle tavern, an old and cele-
brated hostelry. Snow’s Royal Exchange
in later years became the Young Canadian
billiard saloon. In the alley-way referred
to above, now known as Mark lane, and
directly north of the entrance to the saloon,
once occurred a mysterions tragedy. At
early merning a man was found standing
against the wall of the building, dead, with
a hole in his heart. The mystery of his
death was never solved.

CHAPTER XXVIIL
DOEL'S HOUSE AND BREWERY.

The Buildings where the Rebelliou of 1837
was Nourished—The Scene of the Quarrel
Between Dr. Morvison aud Mackenzie.

In the year 1818 John Doel, a native of
Somersetshire, England, left the United
States and settled in York. His journey
from Philadelphia to York occupied a

month, and from the former place o Nis-
gara a week, the boat being obliged by
bad weather %o put in at Sodus Bay. At
Niagara he waited for three days for a
passage to York. In the year 1827 Mr.
Doel built a frame two-storey dwelling-
house at the north-west corner of Bay and
Adelside streets, which is still standing,
but somewhat altered from its former con-
dition, as the corner has been cntoutforbusi-
ness purposes. The original house is shown
in the illustration drawn from a picture
in the pos:ession of his som, Mr. William
H. Doel, of Eglinton. At the rear of the
house on Bay street Mr. Doel built a frame
brewery in the shape of an L, running
back about one hundred teet. This was
one of the early breweries of York, and
here beer of good repute in the town and
aeighbourhood was manufactured down to
the year 1847, when the building was
accidentally burned. Mr. Doel’s name is
linked with the early postal service of
York. For many years he undertook and
faithfully accomplished the delivery with
his own hands of all the correspondence
of the place that was thus distribnted.
Mr. Doel and his wife survived to a good
old age, he dying in 1871, aged eighty-one
years. For many years the family lived in
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the honse in a state of continual apprehen.
sion in regard to the stability of the lofty
spire of a church close to their residence.
In 1862 the spire actually fell, doing con-
siderable damage, but it bappened to
the eastward instead of the westward, thus
escaping the house. In the local troubles
of 1837 Mr. Doel took a prominent part,
and his name has become associated with
the leaders ot the party of reform. In
1827 Robert Randal, M. P., was sent as
a delegate to London in behalf of the so-
called aliens or nnnaturalized British sub-
jects of United States origin. A series of
burlesque nominations, supposed to be made
by Randal to the Colonial Secretary, ap-
peared at the time, issued by the friends
of the officials of the day, in which Mr.
Doel’s name is set down for the postmaster-

generalship. The document is as follows :
¢ Nominations to be dictated by the con-
stitutional meeting on Saturday next in
the petition for the redress of grievances
to be forwarded to London by Ambassador
Randal ; Barnabas Bidwell, President of
Upper Canada, with an extra annual allow-
ance for a jaunt for the benefit of his health
to his native State of Massachusetts ; W.
W. Baldwin, Chief Justice and Surveyor-
General to the militia forces, with 1,000,000
acres of land for past services, he and his
family having been most shamefully treated
in having grants of land withheld from
them heretofore ; John Rolph, Attorney-
General and Paymaster-General to the
militia, with 500,000 acres of land for his
former accounts as District-Paymaster faith-
fully rendered ; Marshall S, Bidwell,
Solicitor-General, with an annual allowance
of as much as he may b: pleased to ask for,

rendering no account, for the purpose of

encouraging emigration from the United
States, and a contingent account if he
shall ~ find convenient to accompany
the President to Massachusetts ; the Puisne
Judges to be chosen by ballot in the market

JOHN

DOEL.

square on the 4th of July in each and
every year, subject to the approval of W.
W. B., the Chief Justice ; their salaries to
be settled when going out of office. Jesse
Ketchum, Joe. Sheppard, Dr. Stoyell and
A. Burnside, executive and legislative
councillors. Joint secretaries, William
Lyon Mackensgie and Francis Collins, with
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all the printing ; John Carey, assistant
secretacy, with as mueh of the printing as
the joint secretaries may be pleased to
allow him ; Moses Fish, inspector of public
buildings and fortifications ; J. S. Baldwin,
contractor-general to the province, with
a monopoly of the trade ; T. D. Morrison,
surveyor-general and inspeetor of hospitals ;
Little Doel, postmaster-general ; Peter
Perry, chancellor of the exchequer and re-
ceiver-general. The above persons being
thus amply provided for, their friends,
alias their stepping stones, may shift for
themselves ; an opportunity, however, will

ance with the events of that time, and the
principal actors in them, will have a proper
appreciation of this burlesque. During
the exciting times immediately preceding
the Mackenzie rebellion Mr. Doel’s house
and brewery were the principal rendezvous
of the patriot agitators, and here was
held meeting after meetin%; The largely
attended meetings of the Retormers were
held in the brewery. The principal leaders
of the movement met for private con-
sultation in the house. On August 2,
1837, William Lyon Mackenzie published
in his paper, *he Constitution, *‘a declara-
tion of the Reformers of Toronto to
their fellow-Reformers in Upper Canada,”

be offered them for doing a little
bnsiness by disposing of all other public
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THE DOEL

oﬂices to the lowest bidder, from whom
neither talent nor security will be required
for the performance of their duties.
Tenders received at Russell Square, Front
street, York., The magistracy, being of
no consequence, is to be left for after con-
sideration, The militia, at the particular
request of Paul Peterson, M. P. for Prince
Edward, is to be done away altogether
and the roads to take care of them-
selves.  The Welland Canal to be stopped
immediately, and Colonel By to be recalled
fron} the Rideau Canal. N. B. Any sug-
gestions for further improvements will be
thankfully received at Russell Square as
above.”” Only those who have an acquaint-

BREWERY.

which was virtually a declaration of inde
pendence. It entered into a long recital
of grievances, declaring that the time
had come for their redress, and resolving
to call a convention of delegates at Toronto,
with authority to appoint commissioners
to confer with similar commissioners else-
where, the whole to have the power of a
congress in finding a remedy for grievances.
This document, drawn up by Mr.
O'Grady and Dr. Rolph, was taken to a
private meeting at Elliott’s tavern, at
the corner of Queen and Yonge streets,
where it was read and discussed, after
which it was submitted to & meeting of

Reformers at Doel’s brewery, there adopted,
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a permanent vigilance committee appoint-
ed, and a plan of procedure estab-
lished similar to that in operation in
Lower Canada, which was the holding of
mase meetings throughout the country.
Mr. Mackenzie was selected to attend
these in the role plaved by Mr. Papineau
in the lower province. At another meet-
ing held at the brewery, not far from this
in point of time, a plan proposed by Mr.
Mackenzie for uniting, organizing and regis-
tering the Reformers of Upper Canada into
a political union, was adopted. Thus mat-
ters ran along, public meetings being
held every where throughout the country
to the number of several hundred, until
early in November, when a mob attacking
Papineau’s house he sent an appeal to
Mackenzie to support the Lower Canadian
Reformers in a resort to arms. Mackenzie
was convinced that the crisis had come,
and he invited the following persons to
meet him that night at Mr. Doel’s house
to consider the situation :—Dr. T. D.
Mowrison, a physician ; John MeclIntosh,
a retired vessel owner ; Robert Mackay,
a grocer ; John Armstrong, an axe-
maker ; Timothy Parsons, a dry-goods
merchant ; John Mills, a hatter ; Thomas
Armstrong, a carpenter ; John Elliott,
an attorney ; William Leslie, a bookseller,
and John Doel, the brewer, at whose
house the meeting was to be held. All
invited came. Dr. Morrison took the
chair. Mr. Mackenzie took the floor and
explained his views. He said that the
wrongs of Canada were the same as thuse
of the thirteen co'onies. Redress from
Great Britain was hopeless. The House
of Assembly was pa ked ; the endowment
of a hierarchy was begun ; provincial funds
were squandered ; the government was
converted into a detested tyranny. Then
he went on to say that Governor Head
had placed four thousand stand of arms
in the City Hall and had sent all the
troops to the Jower province. Mac-
kenzie’s plan was to take Dutcher’s foundry-
men and Armstrorg’s uxe-makers, who
were reliable, seize Lieutenant-Governor
Sir Francis Head, who was at (fovern-
ment House, guarded only by a single
sentinel, carry him to the City Hall as
a prisoner, seize the arms and ammu-
nition there and the artillery in the
old garrison, arouse friends in town and
country and proclaim a provisional govern-
ment. Mr. Doel objected to the plan,
Dr. Morrison manifested the greatest
astonishment, declaring that the scheme
was hich treason, and that he wouid
not be entrapped into any such course.
It is said Dr. Morrison was not opposed

to the plan, but that he mistrusted ome
of the persons present and would not
commit himself. At any rate, there was a
violent altercation between Mackenzie,
Morrison and Doel. The meeting was
broken up, and Mackenzie left the house
in a passion and never returned to it.
Mr. Doel refused to take any further part
in the operations of the Reformers.
On November 18 a meeting was held at-
tended by a dozen leaders, at wh:ch another
p'an of operation was agreed on. The
organized bands all over the country were
to collect at Montgomery’s hotel, under
the supervision of Mackenzie and Dr.
Rolph, and march down Yonge street on
Toronto, Thursday, December 7. The
fiasco which followed is we.l known, and
has nothing to do with Mr. Doel’s house
or brewery or himself.

CHAPTER XXVIIL
JUSTICE POWELL’'S HOUSE.

The Life and Publie Services of one of the
Ablest Chief Justices of Upper Canada—
His Judicial and Diplomatic Career,
But » few weeks ago a building was

torn down near the north-east corner of

York and Front streets which was once the

residence of one of the earliest and best

judges of Upper Canada, the Hon. William

Dummer Powell. The house shown in

the illustration represents the building as it

was during Judge Powell’s occupancy.

Originally the rear of it was a small log

house, which was subsequently clapboarded.

When the boards were torn off at the time

of its demolition the logs were found to be

“in a state of perfect preservation. In front

of this and connected with it was a frame

structure two stories high, presenting its
facade to York srreet, and but a little way
back of it, ornamented with a porch or sort
of verandah. The house was painted white.

A curved driveway and path led up to the

front door. About a dozen years agoa

brick addition was put at the front of the
building, projecting out to the York street
sidewalk, which was divided into stores.

The Hon. William Dummer Powell came of

a very old Welsh family. The family estate

in Wales was Caer-Howell. The name is

Ap Howell, of which Caer-Howell, ¢ How-

el’s Place,” the title given by the Chief

Justice to his park lot at York, is a relic.
The grandfather of the Chief Justice came

from England to America as secretary to

Lieutenant-Governor Dummer. His grand-

mother was sister of Licutenant-Governor

Dummer. His father was John Powell, of

Boston, Mass. The Chief Justice was born

in Boston in 1755. At th- age of nine years
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he was sent to England to be educated.
From England he went to Holland to ac-
quire a knowledge of French and Dutch, and
in 1772 he returned to Boston. He was
called to the bar in 1779. Previously to
1791 he had resided tor a time in Lower
Canada aud had rendered valuable aid to
the United Empire Loyalists in obtaining
the Act of 1791. In May, 1789, he left
Montreal for Detroit, which was in posses-
sion of the British. His sister has described
in a journal the voyage, which was made
principally in boats. It took the party ten
days toreach Kingston. It took four days
to traverse the lake from Kingston to Nia-
gara, where they were met by Chief Jo-
seph B auv. An Indian council was being
held at Fort Erie, which they visited, and
Miss Powell gives the following graphic de-
scription of it :—*‘ Each tribe formed a eir-
cle under the shade of a tree. They never
changed places but sat or lay on the grass as
they liked, The speaker of each tribe stoud
with his back against a tree. The old wo-
men walked one by one and seated them-
selves behind the men. The squaws pre
served a modest silence, but nothing is done
without their consent and approbation. The
chiefs are remarkably tall aud finely made,
and walk with a degree of grace and dignity
you have no idea of. I declare our beanx
looked quite insignificant beside them.” Two
nundred chiefs were at this council, dele-
gates of the Six Nations. One of these was
Red Jacket, gorgeously dressed in a scarlet
coat and waistcoat richly embroidered. On
the ninth of June the party reached Detroit.,
In drawing the boundary line betwecn the
British and American possessions Detroit
was left in the hands of the Am-<ricans and
a ncw town was built on the other side of
the river, where court was established and
the Hon. William Dummer Powell was the
first judge who presided over this court.
He was appointed a Commissioner of the
Peace of the Province of Quebecin 1789. In
1791 he was appointed Commissioner of
Oyer and Terminer and Jail Delivery for
Quebec, and in 1792 to the same office in
Upper Canada. Ou the third of September,
1792, Judge Powell presided at the Court
of Oyer and Terminer for the District of
Hesse in Upper Canada, and the next year
at the same court in the parish of Assump-
tion. At this eourt James Baby and Alex-
ander Grant were his associates on the bench.
A prisoner who was convicted was sentenc-
ed to be burned in the hand, and the sen-
tence was carried out in the presence of the
court. Judge Powell presided in the Court
of Oyer and Terminer and Jail Delivery
yearly, and at timnes twice a year, in the
s veral disiricts into which the Province

had been divided from 1793 down to his re-
tirement from the bench in 1825. Chief Jus
tice Powell bore an important part on the
British side in the war of 1812 He was at
York at this time and was the. confidential
agent of the Governor, who was in England
at that time, A letter written by Siv [saae
Brock to Sir George Prevost states that the
Chi:f Justice and his third son, Mr. Grant
Powell, Under-Secretary of State at Ottawa,
had the confidence of the civil and military
authorities of that day. The Chief Justice
held important communications with the
Am - ricans after the investment of York in
1813. In 1818, at the Richmond street court
house, before Chief Justice Powell, Justice
Campbell, Justice Boulton and Assaciate
Justice W. Allan, occurred the trial of the
prisoners who had been confined in Fort
William for two years for the insurrec-
tion in the Red River country. The ac-
cused were Paul Brown and T. T. Boucher,
for the murder of Robert Semple on June
18, 1816, John Siveright, Alexander Mec-
Kenzie, Hugh McGillis, John McDonald,
John McLaughlin and Simon Fraser as ac-
cessories to the same crime, and two men
named Cooper and Bennerman for taking,
April 3, 1815, eight pieces of cannon and
one howitzer from the house of Thomas,
Earl of Selkirk, and putting ip fear of their
lives the people in the house. The cannons
were described as being two brass field
pieces, two brass swivels and four iron
swivels. The counsel for the Crown were
Atiorney-General Robinson and Solicitor-
General Boulton. The counsel for the pris-
oners were Samuel Sherwood, Livius P.
Sherwood and W. W. Baldwin. _The jmy
in the three trials were George Bond. Jo-
seph Harrison, William Harrison, Joseph
Shepperd, Peter Lawrence, Joshua Leach,
John McDougall, jr., William Moore, Alex-
ander Montgomery, Peter Whitney, Jona-
than Hale, Michael Whitmore, Harbour
Stimpson. John Wilson, John Hough and
Richard Herring. Excitement waxed hot,
but Chief Justice Powell exhibited a re-
markable degree of professional ability and
impartiality. The prisoners in each case
were acqui ted. A brief sketch of this
famous trial will not be out of place, for out
of the issues involved arose what is now the
Province of Manitoba. The fifth Earl of
Selkirk, a man of great vigour of mind and
body, of considerable cultivation and the
author of several literary works much
esteemed in their time, one of them being
an exhaustive treatise on emigration, secur-
ed a tract of land for emigration purposes
and established a settlement at the con-
fluence of the Assinibrine and Red Rivers.
This becam> known as the Selkirk Settle.



LANDMARKS OF TORONTO,

57

ment. The land was a part of the territory
held by the Hudson Bay Company. Miles
Macdonnell, formerly a captain in Gover-
nor Simcoe’s troop, the Queen’s Rangers,
appointed by the Hudson Bay Company
first Governor of the District of Assiniboia,
was made Superintendent of Affairs at Kil-
donan by the Barl of Selkirk, the name of
the young settlement being derived from
Kildonan, a parishin th: County of Suth-
erland, from which the greater part of the
settlers had emigrated. In 1813 the popu-
lation of the settlement wag about one hun-
dred persous. At this time the North-west
Company of fur traders of Montreal was a
rival of the Hudson Bay Compiny, the
former trading in the area drained by the
streams flowing into Lake Superior and the
latter in the region watered by the rivers
running into Bundson’s Bay. The North-
west Company did not look with a friendly
eye upon the Kildonan settlement, consider-
ing an agricultural colony in such close
proximity to their hunting grounds a dan-
gerous innovation. It was resolved to break
it up, and in pursuance of this purpose the
indians were told that they would be made
poor by the new comers who would drive
away the buffalo. At the same time the
colonists  were told of the better
prospects open to them in other settle.
ments and were offered pecuniary as-
sistance if they would move. Then attacks
were made on the houses of the colonists,
and acts of pillage committed. In 1815
Goveinor Miles Macdonnell was taken pri-
soner by Duncan Cameron, the agent of the
North-west Company, who was stationed at
a post called Fort Gibraltar and sent to
Montreal. The result was that the same
year the inhabitants of Kildonan dispersed,
some making their way to the established
Canadian settlements, and others proceed-
ing northwards to find a means of returning
home from Port Nelson by way of the Hud-
son’s Straits route. The latter, however,
only reached the northern end of Winnipeg
Lake, establishing themselves at Jack River
House, when they were p2rsuaded by Colin
Robertson, agent of the Hudson Bay Com-
pany, to return, he assuring them that a
number of Highlanders were coming by way
of Hudson’s Buy to take up land at Kildo-
nan, The next year the Highlanders
arrived, and the re-established settlement
ciaimed a population of two hundred per-
sons. Duncan Cameron made an attack on
the revived colony, and in retaliation Colin
Robertson with his High'anders seized Fort
Gibraltar, Cameron’s stronghold, and recov-
ered two ficld pieces and thirty stand-of-
arms taken from Kildonan. A strong feel-
ing was excited among the Indians who were

in the interest of the North-west Company.
In 1816, Mr. Semple, Governor of the Hud-
son Bay Compauny, arrived in person on the
scene to adjust the difficulty if possible. On
the eighteenth of June an angry conference
was held, which resuited in a riot.
The Montreal Company’s lndians, o the
number of seventy, headed by the half-
breeds Cuthbert, Grant, Lacerte, Fraser,
Hoole and McKay attacked Mr. Semple
and his party. In the fight that ensued, Mr.
Semple was killed with five of his officers
and sixteen of his men. Out of this affair
sprang the memorable trials that took place
before Justice Powell in the old York Court
House. In 1815 the Earl of Selkirk being
interested in the progress of his Red River
colony, left England to pay it a visit. On
his arrival in New York he heard of the
destruction of property at Kildonan and the
dispersion of his emigrants. Then the news
reached him of the partial re-establishment
of the colony. He atonce sent a trusty
messenger by the name of Lagimoniere with
the assurance that he would soon arrive in
person bringing proper protection. Lagi-
moniere however was way-laid and mur-
dered before reaching his destination. Peace
having just been established between Great
Britain and the United States, a great many
regiments were disbanding. Lord Selkirk
persuaded eighty-four men of the De
Meuron, twenty of the Watteviile, and &
few of the Glengarry Fencible Regiments,
to accompany him to the Red Ruiver settle-
ment. On reaching the Sault news came of
the second dispersion of the colony and the
killing of Governor Semple and his men.
The party at once pushed on to Fort Wil-
liam, where agent McGillivray, of the
North-west Company, was established with
about two hundred French Canadians aund
sixty or seventy Indians. In their hands
were the prisoners taken at Kildonan,
Armed with the authority of =&
justice of the peace, Lord Selkirk is-
sued a "warrant for the arrest of McGilli-
vray. He surrendered himself and two of
his friends who came with him to offer bail
were also arrested. Without a leader the
force at Fort William released their Kildo-
man prisoners, but on Lord Selkirk’s at-
tenpt to arrest the men concerned in the
slaughter of Governor Semple, the gates of
the fort were closed and resistance was
offered. Lord Selkirk’s men came off vic-
torious in the struggle and the men were
arrested, and after two years’ confinement
at Fort William, were brought to York for
trial, charges being preferred against them
by Lord Selkirk, of high treason, murder,
robbery and conspiracy. Lord Selkirk was
not present at the trial. Two years later
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before Justice Powell, a suit was brought

against the Earl by members of the North-
west Company for conspiracy to ruin its
trade. Duniel McKenzie obtained £1,500
and William Smith £500 damages tor false
imprisonment. Two years later in 1820
Lord Selkirk died at Pau, in the south of
France. When on the bench, Justice
Powell had a humorous way, so Dr. Scad-
ding relates, of indicating by a kind of quiet
by-play, by a gentle shake of +the head, a
series of little nods or movements of the eye
or eyebrow his estimate of an outre hypo-
thesis or ad captandum argument. He was
one of the pewholders in St. James’ church
from its commencement, and his pew was a
long narrow enclosure in the gallery oppo-
site the Lieutenant-Governor’s pew, provided
with a high screen at the back to keep off
the draughts from the duor in the gallery
just behind. The inside of the pew and
the screen were lined with dark - green
baize. The justice’s particular place
was in the centre of the pew, where he
usually sat surrouunded by the members of
his family. The Justice was a man of rather
less than the ordinary stature, with fea-
tures round in outline and a florid face, a
partially bald head and milk white hair.
His por.rait painted by Gilbert is in the
possession of one of the lady members of
his family, but there is no picture of him in
Osgoode Hall. He was a very religious
man, and some years before his death he
built a brick burial vault at the head of
Simcoe street, which remained in existence
until ten or fifteen years ago, when it was
torn down. It issaid that he used to go
there to pray. He wrote a pamphlet on the
ecclesiastical land question, in which he re-
commends the 1einvestment of the property
in the Crown, which he says will apply the
progeeds equally for the support of Christian-
ity without other distinction, and con-
cludes by saying that if the wise provision
of Mr. Pitt to preserve the law ot the union
between England and Scotland, by preserv-
ing the Church of England predominant in
the colony, and touching upon her right to
tithes only for her own advantage, and by
the same course as the church desiderates in
England—the exchange of tithes for the
fee simple—must be abandoned o the
sudden thought of a youthful speculator,
Mr. Wilmos, secretary for the colonies,
who had just introduced a bil into the Im-
perial Pa..iament for the sales of the lands
to the Canada Company—let the provision
of his bill cease, and the tithes to which the
Church of Eneland was at that time law-
ful'y entitled, be restored. She will enjoy
these exclusively of the Kirk of Scotland ;
but if all veneration for the wisdom of our

ancestors has ceased and the time is come
to prostrate the Church of England, bind her
not up in the same withe with her bitterest
enemy, force her not to an exclusive associa-
tion with any one of her rivals, leave the
tithes abolished, abolish ail the legal ex-
change for them and restore the reserves to
the Crown. Justice Pow-:1I’s predecessor
on the bench was Chief Justice Scott.
His successor was Sir Wi'lian Campbell.
A severe blow was dealt to Jus-
tice Powell in 1822 by the loss of his
daughter, who was drowned by the wreck
of the packet ship Albion off the Head of
Kinza'e, April 22. Her fate was the more
distressing to her relatives and friends,
as she was in New York at the time of the
sailing of the previous packet on which a
number of York people made the voyage,
but for some reason she did not accompany
them. The Cork Southern Reporter gave
the following account of the wreek : **The
Albion, whose loss at Garrettstown bay was
first mentioned in our paper of Tuesday,
was nne of the finest class of ships between
Liverpool and New York, and was five
hundred tons burden. We have since
learned some further particulars by which
it appears that hev loss was attended with
circumstances of a peculiarly afflicting
nature. She had lived out the tremendous
gale of the entire day on Sunday, and
Captain Williams cousoled the passengers
at eight o’clock in the evening with the
hope of being able to reach Liverpool on
the day but one after, which checering ex-
pectation induced almost all of the passen-
gers, particularly the females, to retire
torest. In some short time, however, a
violent squall came on which in a moment
carried away the masts, and there being
no po:sibility of disengaging them from
the rigging, encumbered the hull so
that she became unmanageable and drifted
at the mercy of the waves till the
light-house of the cld Head was discovered,
the wreck still nearing in, when the captain
told the sad news to the passengers
that there was no longer any hope, and
soon afterward she struck. From thence-
forward all was distress and confusion.
The vessel soon afterward went to pieces,
and of the crew and passengers only six
of the former and nine of the latter were
saved. The names of the passengers were :
Mr. Benyon, a London gentleman; Mr.
N. Ross, of Troy, N. Y.; Mr. Conyers and
his brother-in-law Major Gough, of the
68th Regiment ; Mr. and Mrs. Clarke,
Americans ; Madame Gardiuier and her
eight year old son ; Colonel Provost; Mr.
Dwight, of Bosten ; Mrs. Mary Pye, of
New York ; Miss Powell, daughter of the
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Honourable Wiliiam Dummer Powell, Chief
Justice of Upper Canada ; Rev. Mr. Hill,
Jamaica ; Professor Fisher, New Haven,
Connecticut ; Mr. Gurner, New York ;
Mr. Proctor, New York ; Mr. Dupont and
five other Frenchmen ; Mrs. Mary Brews-
ter, Mr. Hirst, Mr. Morrison, and
Stephen Chase.” By one of the Acts
passed during the administration of Gov-
ernor Gore, the foundation was laid of a
parliamentary library to replace the one
destroyed or dispersed during the occupa-
tion of York by the Americans in 1813.
In the session of 1816 the sum of £800 was
voted for the purchse of books for the use
of the Legislative Council and House of
Assembly. At the same session the sum of
£3,000 was recommend=d to be granted to
Governor Gore for the purchase of pla‘e,
the joint address of the houses to the
Prince Reg=nt on this subject being as fol-
iows : “To his Royal Highness, George
Prince of Wales, Prince Regent of the
United Kingdom of Great Brizain and Ire-
land. May it please your Royal High-
ness : We, his Majesty’s most dutiful and
loyal subjects, the Legislative Council and
House of Assemb'y of the Province of
Upper Canada in Provincial Parliament
assembled, impressed with a lively sense
of the firm, upright and iiberal administra-
tion of Francis Gore, Esq., Lieutenant-
Governor of Upper Canada, as well as of
his increasing attention to the individual
and general interests of the colony, during
his absence have unanimously pass=d a bil:
to appropriate the sum of three thousand
pounds to enable him to purchase a service
of plate commemorative of our grati
tude. Apprized that this spontaneous
gift cannot receive the sanction of our be-
loved Sovereign, in the ordinary mode, by
the acceptan-e of the Lieutenant-Gover-
nor in his nam:> and behalf, we, the Legi--
lative Council and Assembly of the Province
of Upper Canada humbly beg leave to ap-
proach your Royal Highuess with an earnest
prayer that you will approve this demon-
stration of our gratitude, and graciousiy
be pleased to sanction in his Majesty's name
the grant of the Legislature in beha'f of the
inhabitants of Upper Canada. Wil'iamn
Dummer Powell, Speak r Legislative Council
chambers, March 26, 1816 ; Allan Maciean,
Speaker Commons House of Ass mbly,
March 25, 1816.” This was the famour Spoon
bill, and the house that passed the measure
was a few weeks later abruptly dismissed.
Mr. G. S. Jarvis, of Cornwall, stat«s that
the carriage of Chief Justice Powell wa a
rough sort of omnibus which would
compare with the jail van used now.
The mentory of Chief Justice Powell is

preserved in Wiliiam street, formerly called
Dummer. Simcoe street north of Queen
was formecly called William, but since the
first street west has been changed from
Dummer to Wiliiam, the ori:ina! William
street north of Queen has been called
Simeoe.  Judge Powell projected and gave
the Jand ltor Dummer street which
has been changed to William street. Mr.
D. B. Read, who has written a sketch of
Justice Powell, say: that up to the
war of 1812 Judge Powell had been a
puisne judge. In 1815 he was promoted
to the Chisf Justiceship. The last time
he presided in court was in Trinity term,
1825. At the Michaelmas term the Re-
porier notes that Justice Campbell took
his seat upon the bench in place of Chief
Justice Powell, who retired. The Chief
Justice survived his retirement from the
bench nine years. Three years of this
time he spent in Ergland, accompanied
by his wifie and daughter. The rest
of his life was spent in quiet retire-
ment in Toronto, where he died in his
seventy-ninth year. His wife survived
him, and died in 1849, in her ninety-first
year. Dr. Gwynne afterwards lived
in the house. Then it fell to a eheap
lodging-house and was finally purchased by
Ma. Ald. Verral, who pulled it down to
make room for the stables of the Verral
Transfer Company. Mr. Verral has kindly
given Mr. J. Ross Robertson a half-a-dozen
of the logs from the original buildiug and
out ot these a couple of chairs and a table
are being made by The Rogers Company.

CHAPTER XXIX.
THE PUBLIC MARKETS.

The First Public Market in Toronto and th.
' structures Subsequently Erecied on the
same Sitc—The Piliory and the Stocks.

1n the year 1799 Peter Hunter, who had
acted as President of the Province of Upper
Canada since the retivement of Governor
Simcoe, was appointed Lieutenant-Governor,
and in August of the same year he arrived
at York in the spring and was met on land-
ing by the Queen’s Rangers, who escorted
him home, when later in the day he received
congratulations on his safe arrival and ap-
pointment. The Governor travelled about
considerably until the spring of the next
year when he took up his residence at the
Garrison and called a meeting of parlia-
ment. During the next three years of the
Governor’s administration, public business
of various kinds was transacted. In the

Gazette and Oracle of July 13th, 1799, we
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read the following advertisement :— 0.
Pierce & Co, have for sale : Best spirits by
the puncheon, barrel, or ten gallons, 20;
per gal.; do. by the single gallon, 22s;
rum by the puncheon, barrel, or ten gallons,
18s per gal. ; brandy by the barrel, 20s per
gallon ; port wine by the barrel, 18s per
gal. ; do. by single gallon, 20s per gal; giu
by the barrel, 18s per gal ; teas, Hyson, 193
per 1b ; Souchong, 14s do. ; Bohea, 8s do. ;
sugar, best loaf, 3s 9d per 1b ; lump, 3s 6d ;
raisins, 3s: figs, 3s; salt, six dollars per
barrel, or 12s per bushel. Also a few dry-
goods, shoes, leather, hats, tobacco, snuff,
ete., ete. York, July 6th, 1799.” These
prices appear to be in Halifax currency. In
1803 the population of York had increased to
such an extent that there was an impera-
tive demand for a public market. Accord"
ingly the Governor appointed weekly market
day and a place where the market should be
held, saying in his proclamation which
appeared in the Gazette of 3rd Novem-
ber, 1803, ¢ Peter Hunter, Esquire,
Lieutenant-Governor, &c.” “ Whereas
great prejudice hath arisen to the inhabi-
tants of the town and township of York and
of other adjoining townships from no place
or day having been set apart for exposing
publicly for sule, cattle, sheep, poultry and
other provisions, goods and merchandise
brought by merchants, farmers and others
for the necessiry supply of the town
of York and whereas great benefit and ad-
vantage might be derived to the inhabitants
and others by establishing a weekly market
at a place and on a day certaia for
the purpose aforesaid ;

“Know all men that I, Peter Hunter,Esq.,
Licutenant-Governor of the said Province,
taking the prem.ses into consideration, and
willing to promote the interest, and advant-
age, and accommodation of the inhabitants
of the Town and Township aforcsaid, and
of others, His Majesty’s subjects, within
the said Province, by and with the advice
of the Executive Council thereof, have or-
dained, erected, established and appointed,
and do hereby ordain, erect, establish and
appoint, a public open market, to be held
on Saturday in each and every week during
the year, within the said town of York :—
(The first market to be held therein on
Saturday), on a certain piece or plot of land
within that town, consisting of five acres and
a half, commencing at the south-east angle
of the said plot, at the corner of Market
street and New street, then north sixteen
degrees, west five chains sevente n links,
more or less, to King street ; then along
King street south seventy-four degrees,
west nine chains fifty-one links, more or
iess, to Church street ; then south sixtcen

degrees east six chains thirty-four Nnks
more or less to Market street ; then along
Market street north seventy-four degrees
east two chains ; then mnorth sixty-four
degrees, east along Market street seven
chains sixty links more or less, to the
place of beginning, for the purpose of ex-
posing for sale catile, sheep, poultry, and
other provisions, goods and merchandize,
as aforesaid. Given under my hand and
seal at arms, at York, this twenty-sixth
day of October, in the year of our Lord
one thousand eight hundred and three, and
in the forty-fourth year of His Majesty's
reign. P. Hunter, KEsquire, Lieutenant-
Governor. By His Excel ency’s command,
Wm. Jarvis, Secretary.” The present St.
Lawrence Hall occupies a part of this allot-
ment, Governor Hunter had establishedfa
Market Square,but as yet,there was no Mar-
ket building. In the Legislative session]of
1814, an act supplementary to Governor
Hunter’s was passed, empowering the Com.
missioners of the Peace for the home dis-
trict to fix upon certain days and hours,
and to make rules and regulations for the
conduct of the market, which are to be
posted on the doors of the Church and
Court house. 1n 1820 appeared an adver-
tisement in the Gazette asking for tenders
for a market. house. This first market
was simply wooden shambles forty-five feet
long and thirty feet wide running
north and south aud situated in the middle
of the square. Four years later the Market
Square was enclosed on the east, west and
south sides ‘“with a picketing and oak
ribbon, the pickets at ten feet distance from
each other with three openings or foot
paths on each side.” These wooden
shambles constituted the public market up
to three years before the town of York was
trai.sformed into the eity of Toronto. The
digging of a public well here, near King
was an event of considerable interest in
the wown. Dr. Scadding says : ‘° Groups
of school boys every day scanned narrowly
the progress of the undertaking ; a cap of
one or other of them, mischievously pre-
cipitated to the depths where the labourers’
mattocks were to be heard picking at
the shale below, may have impressed the ex-
ecution of this public work all the more
indelibly on he recollection of some of
them,” The Upper Canada Gazette states
that this was in 1823. An official adver-
tisement in the Gazette of June the 9th,
1823, calls for proposals to be sent in to
the « fice of the Cierk of the Peace, ¢ for
the sinking a well, stoning and sinking a
pump therein, in the wmost approved
manner, at the Market Square of the said
town (of York). ior the convenience of the
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publie.” ¥t is added that persons desirous
of contracting for same must give in
their proposals on or before Tuesday, the
first day of July next ensuing ; and the
signature ‘“ by order of the court” is that
of “8. Heward, Clerk of the Peace, H.
D., (Home Distriet.)

The tender of John Hutchison and George
Hetherington was accepted. They offered
to do the work *‘for the sum of £25
currency on coming to the rock, with the
addition of seven shillings and sixpence per
foot for boring into the rock until a
sufficient supply of water can be got, should
it be required.” The work was done,
aud the account paid July 30th, 1823.
The charge for boring eight feet two
inches thromgh the rock was £3 Is. 3d.
The whole well and pump thus cost the
county the modest sum of only £28 Is. 3d.
The charge for flagging around the pump,
for ¢ logs, stone, and workmanship,” was
£5 2s. 43d., paid to Mr. Hugh Carfrae,

pathmaster. A  well was sunk in the
marke: square and provided with a
pump for the convenience of the
public. This well now exists some-

where under the present market. Auc-
tions were held in the square, Patrick
Handy and Patrick Mc¢Gann being two of
the most humorous and best known men in
this line. The pillory and stocks were set
up here, and continued in usc until the year
Toronto assumed the municipal dig-
nity. In 1804 Klizabeth Ellis for being a
nuisance was sentenced to six months’ im-
prisonment and to stand in the pillory on
two market days for two hours at a time.
The same year a man by the name of Camp-
bell was given the same punishment for
using ‘‘seditious langnage.” The stocks,
the pillory, the lash and the brand were in

practicc at  York  probably  from
its settlement. In 1798  Joseph
McCarthy was burned in the hand

pursuant to his sentence. Public floggings
were frequent. D:. Scadding relates that
he once saw at themarket place *¢the horrid
exhibition of a publie whipping. A dis-
charged regimental drummer, a native
African, administered the lash. The sheriff
stood by keeping count of the stripes.

The senior of the two unfortunates
bore his punishment with stoicism, en-
couraging the negro to strike with

more force. The other, a young man, en-
deavoured to imitate his companion in this
respect but soon was obliged to evince by
fearful cries the torture endured.”

During the war with the United States
the magistrates in 1814 fixed ascaleof prices
for the military authorities to pay at the
market for provisions. It was as follows :

LANDMARKS OF TORONTO.

Fiour per barrel, £3 10s ; wheatper bushel,
10s ; peas per bushel, 7s6d ; barley and
rye, 7s 6d; oats per bushel, 5s ; hay
per ton, £5 ; straw per ton, £3; beef on
foot,per ewt £2 5s ; beef, slaughtered, per Ib.,
73d.; salt pork, per barrel, £7 10s ; pork, per
carcase,per pound, 74d ; mutton, per 1b.,9d ;
veal, per 1b,, 8d ; butter, perlo, 1s3d 3
bread, per loaf, of four pounds, 1s 6d. How
much prices had fallen by the restoration
of peace may beseen from the table of
prices current at the York market as given
by James Strachan in 1819. It is as fol-
lows :(—

Beef, per 1b., 55.7; muttoun, per lb., 6s 7d;
veal, per 1b., 6s 7id; pork, per 1b., 7s
104 ; fowls, per pair, 35 to 4s; cheese, 6d
to74d; butter, per lb., 1s 3d; eggs,
per doz., 1s 3d ; peas, per bush., 5s 61 ;
potatoes, per bushel, 2s to 2s 6d ; oats, per
bushel, 3s to 3s9d ; turnips, per bushel, 1s
to 1s 3d ; cabbages, per head, 2d ; flour, per
cwt., 155 to 16s 3d; flour, per barrel, £1
7s 6d to £1 10s ; tallow, per lb., 73d to 8d :
hay, per ton, £2; straw, per bundle, 3d g
wood, per cord, 10s to 12s 6d.

In April, 1822, peace then reigning, York
prices were :—Beef, per lb, 2d to 4d ; maut-
ton, 4d to 51; veal, 41 to 5d ; pork, 2d to
2%d ; fowls, per pair, 1s 3d ; turkeys, each,

1 3s 9d; geese, 25 6d; ducks, per pair,

1s 10d ; cheese, per b, 5d; butter, 74d;
eggs, per doz., 5d; wheat, per bushel,
2s 6d ; barley, 28 lbs., 2s; oats, 1s; pease,
1s 13d ; potatoes, per bushel, 1s 3d; tur-
nips, ls; cabbages, per head, 2d; flour,
per cwt., 6s 3d; flour, per barrel. 12s 6d ;
tallow, per 1b, 5d ; lard, per lb, 5d ; hay,
per ton, £2 10s; pork, per barrel, £2 10s;
wood, per cord, 10s.

In 1831 the wooden market building was
torn down and in its place was erected
a quadrangular brick building with arched
gateway entrances at the sides. Around it
were set posts with iron chains dependent.
This building filled the whole square with
the exception of roadways on the cast and
west sides. Around the four sides of this
new market above the butchers’ stalls ran
a wooden gallery. Here in 1834 occurred
a frighttul accident. A political meeting
was being held and the gallery was over-
crowded. While one of the sp akers was
haranguing the assemblage part of the bal-
cony gave way precipitating the people to
the floor below. In the descent many were
caught upon the sharp upcurved iron hooks
of the butch rs’ stalls. The kil ed and
wounded on this occasion were :—Son ofCol.
Fitzgibbon, injured severely ; Mr. Mountjoy,
thigh broken; Mr. Cochraue, injured severe-
ly ; Mr. Charles Daly, thigh broken ; Mr.
George Gurnett, wound in the head ; Mr.
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Keating, injured internally ; Mr. Fenton,
injured ; Master Gooderham, thigh broken ;
Dr. Lithgow, contused severely ; Mr.
Morrison, contused severely ; Mr. Alder-
man Denison, cut on the head ; Mr.
Thornhill, thigh broken ; Mr. Street, arm
broken ; Mr. Deese, thigh broken ; another
Mr. Deese, leg and arm broken ; Mr.,
Sheppard, injured internally ; Mr. Clieve,
Mr. Mingle, Mr. Preston, Mr. Armstrong,
Mr. Leslie, (of the Garrison), Master
Billings;” Mr. Duggan, Mr. Thomas Ridout,
Mr, Brock, Mr. Turner, Mr. Hood, (since
dead), severely injured, &c.
THE SECOND MARKET.

The city directory of 1833-4 says :—

*“ The centre ot the market, for farmers’
waggons, &c, Over the butchers’ shops are
a range of warehouses, part occupied by
Gillespie, Jamieson, & Co., who also occupy
the north-west corner of this large build-
ing, fronting King street, over part of which
is the Commercial News Room. The north-
east corner, fronting King street, is H. M.
Mosley's Auction and General Commission
Warehouses, who have part of the ware-
house over the butchers’ shops. The large
room over the entrance is for general meet-
ings, &c., connected with the town.”

Names of the butchers and residences.
. James Todd, 5 Richmond street.

John Graham, Caroline street.

Robert Atkinson, 26 Lot street.

. William King, Caroline street,

. Thomas Balderson, 12 Front street,

. William Glendinning, Caroline street.

. T. Nightingale, Yonge street road.

. J. Baker, Black Bull, Lot street.

10. W. Lenton, Duchess street.

11. T. Wilson, Market Lane.

12. W. B. Walker, York street.

13. Jonathan Scott, Yonge street road.

14. John Linfoot, Elizabeth street, Macau-
lay Town.

15. John Sleigh, March street west.

© 00 NI UL L6 1O =

17. P. Armstrong, Yonge street road.

18. Thomas Allen, Front street.

19. S. Watson, Henrietta street.

20. James Oakes.

21. J. Mason.

22 Jas. Parker, Lot street west,

23. Jonathan Dunn, Lot street west, near
the Common.

24. John Bishop, 6 Market Lane,

25. Robert Barnes, Duchess street,

26. Jumes Petch, Lot street west.

27. Thomas Bright, Princess street.

28. L Thompson, Lot street west.

29. Benson Wheeler, 80 Yonge street.

30. Brice John, Yonge street.

31. Spears and Davia

32. John Betteridge, King street.
33. Francis Langdrill.

34.

35.

Over the shops, at the south end of
the market, is the Genersl Printing Office
of G. P. Ball

Market Master, Curry Colson, 3 Market
Lane.

Assistant do., Patrick Connell, 7 King
street.

The market weighing machine is outside
the market on the bay shore,”

The damage done to the northern end of
the quadrangle during the great fire of 1849
led to the demolition of the whole building,
and the erection of the St Lawrence Hall
and Market, Over windows on the second
storey at the south-east cornmer of the red
brick structure now removed, there ap-
peared, for several years, two signs, united
at the angle of the building, each indicat-
ing by its inscription the piace of ¢ The
Huron and Ontario Railway ' office.

THE ST. LAWRENCE MARKET.
This occupied the block bounded by King
and, Front streets, and east and west Mar-
ket Squares, East Market Square being a
continuation of Jarvis street. The building
is in the form of a capital letter, I, It
was erected in 1850 to meet the pressing
exigencies of the citizens, The hall is ap-
propriated for meetings and public exkibi-
tions, and is capable of accommodating one
thousand persons. The principal object of
the designer of this edifice, Wm. Thomas,
wag to ensure its complete usefulness as
well as ornamentality, for, while the hall is
used for public purposes, in its rear runs
the St. Lawrence Market, a range of arcade
200 feet in length by 29 feet in breadth, with
neat stores on each side, at the end of
which is another frontage south, consisting
of general stores. The King street front-
age of the St. kiawrence Hall is 140 feet in
extent. The entrance to St. Lawrence
Market in the rear is in the centre of the
frontage by an archway, forming a line of
shops on each side and a transverse piazza
100 feet in depth, over which are, on the
first floor, pubiic rooms. On the upper
story is the hall, 100 feet in length by 38
feet 6 inches wide, and 34 feet high ; the
entrance to the hall from the public stair-
case is under the gallery at the north end,
with a saloon, etc. The finishing of the
interior is in ¢ood style, with dado and rich
cornice, the ceiling is boldly covered with
rich pannelled centre and emblematical en-
richments. The front is wholly of cut stone
of the Roman Corinthian order, from the
example of Jupiter Stator, the centre being
tetrastyle po.tico of three-quarter columus,
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with sculptured tympanum of the pediment,
surmounted with a rich attic, the carved
work throughout the enrichments is of a
rich and varied character. The cupola
forms a circular open temple of the Corin.
thian order, which contains a fine-toned
large alarm bell, weighing 2,130 pounds.
The aggregate cost of these buildings was

£7,000. The first floor is wused by
the Health Department into offioes
and rooms for various societies,

while the third floor is the public hall, at
one time the finest and most aristocratic
place of amusement in town. Here all the

coneerts, lectures and entertainments
were given up to a  compara-
tively recent period. It was here

that Jenny Lind gave her two concerts
before Toronto audiences, Otto Goldschmidt
afterward her husband, being the conductor
of the orchestra on those occasiona. The
hall is but little used for entertainments of
this character now. The remainder of the
building is but two stories high and is de-
voted to market purposes, the lower part of
the structure connecting the King and Front
street transverse buildings, being known as
the Arcade, At the sides sheltered by
sheds, are stalls for vendors of every kind
usually found in a market. The stores on
the east and weat sides of the King strect
Arcade are private property, built on the
land leased from the Corporation. The
stores in the west wing were for years the
places of business of Lyman, Farr & Co.,
then Liyman, Eiliott & Co., druggists, and
to this day one of the shops is occupied as a
druog establishment. The stores on the east
side were at one time tenanted by George
Ewart, the grocer, Mabley & Co. and Gra-
ham & Co., the Temple of Fashion. Mabley
& Co. left Toronto twenty-five yeara ago
and started business as tailora in Detroit and
subsequently in Cincinnati. These estab-
nshments in these cities are the largest of
the kind on the continent. The fasher of
the Mableys died a few years ago.

CHAPTER XXX,
THE MILITARY CEMETERIES.

flmudreds of Obliterated and Forgotten

Graves In the Soldiers’ Burial Ground—

TiueTombstones that Still Remain,

The soldier finds a nameless grave in time
of war, and in this respect he is not much
better off in time of peace, for of the graves
in the military burying grounds of Toronte
by far the greater part are forgotten and
obliterated. On the establishment of the
seat of governgwnt at York and the station-

ing of troops here a ciearing was laid out
in the thick brushwood at what is now St.
John’s Square, at the western end of Wel-
lington place, and devoted to the barial of
the dead. It is an ancient cemetery, for in
it was buried & child of the first Governor
of Upper Canada—SirJohn Graves Simcoe—
a fact commemorated on the exterior of
the mortuary chapel over his own grave
in Devonshire by a tablet with the inscrip-
tion : ¢ Katharine, born in Upper Canada,
16th Jan., 1793, died and was buried at
York Town in that province in 1794.”
The cemetery as laid out was of an oblong
shape ; its four picketed sides direct d ex-
actly toward the four cardinal points of
the compass. The staking out of streets
here was a comparatively late event and
occurred at the second extemsion of York
westward. In this old burying ground
once occurred a scene which might have taken
place in some warlike tribe of savages at
the obsequies of their chief. Captain Bat-
tersby, a British soldier, sent out co take
command of a provincial corps during the
war of 1812, was the owner of several mag-
nificent horses to which he was greatly
attached. On the conclusion of peace at
the close of the war, when the capltain was
ordered home, many of his brother officers
and residents of York offered to purchase
his horses, but he steadily refused to sell
them up to the day before his departure
for home, when it became known what his
purpose was in regard to his favourites.
He ordered a squad of soldiers to lead the
animals to the burying ground, where they
were all shot dead. He preferred this fate
for them to the uncertaintiea of their condi-
tion in the hands of another owner. The
carcasses were buried on the apot where
the shooting took place. In this burying
ground wereinterred the remains of Benjamin
Hallowell, a near connection of Chief Jus-
tice Elmsley, and father of Admiral Sir
Benjamin Hallowell, K. C. B. He died on
Thursday, Mareh 28th, 1799, in the seventy-
fifth year of his age, and the funeral was
held from the house ot Chief Justice Elms-
ley on the following Tuesday at one o’clock,
the interment being at the Garrison Bury-
ing Ground. Mr. Hallowell was one of
the first owners of a park lot on the old
road leading down from Fort Rouille.
With the extension of the city west-
ward the old burial ground was aban-
doned and the ground levelled off into a
square. The only existing indication that
it ever aerved as a cemetery is a row of
tombstones ranged along the fence at the
western boundary of the square. Some
are of marble, some sand-stone and others
wood. At the northern ext:emitv of the
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line is the headstone of Lieutenant Zacha-
riah Mudge, private secretary of Governor
Colborne, who shot himself June 10, 183i.
Only two graves removed is a small stone
bearing the simple inscription: ¢ John
Saumariez Colborne, born May 1, 1826,
died July 30, 1829.” He was the son of
Sivr John Colborne, one of the Governors
of Upper Canada. Near by are several
broken stones with undecipherable inscrip-
tions, on one of which only the words :
¢ Archibald Currie, of Glasgow, Scotland,”
can be made out. Here as in the newer
cemetery are several soldiers who came
to their deaths by accident. Privates
William Jewell and Michael Jewell,
drowned, and Patrick Raftery killed on the
railroad. The next stone is to the memory
of Barbara Mary, daughter of the Rev. J.
Hudson, who died July 17, 1831. He diea
in the Harper House, corner Queen and Sim-
coe. Themostnoticeablething about this row
of grave-stones is the number of women

i

|

Matthew Moorhead, Robert Morris, Frede-
rick Rudman, Michael Farron, James
Forsyth and John Forsyth, soldiers. At
the extreme south of the line is the most
pretentious memorial. It is a recumbent
stone to the memory of Mackay John
Scobie, who died August 26, 1834, aged
eighteen years, and Kenneth Scobie, who
died September 10 of the same year, aged
twenty-five years. They were sons of the
late Captain James Scobie, of the 93rd
Highlanders, and of the 4th Royal Veteran
Battalion. The stone was placed over the
remains by Hugh Scobie, of Toronto, a
brother of the deceased brothers. These
memorials above mentioned are all that
remain to mark the names of those who
were consigned to mother earth there during
the period.of sixty years that this plot was
a burial ground. The next military burial
ground was at Dufferin street, where the
Great Western Railway now rums, just
back of the exhibition main building. Only

e

OLD CEMETERY TOMBSTONES.

aad children it memorialises Charlotte,
wife of John Armitage, of the Ordnance
Department, who died April & 1819 ; Mar-
garet Ryan, wife of William Ryan, of the
Canadian Rifles, who died in 1835, and
Julia Courtney are buried here. The
children are the infant daughter of W.
and Emma Harrington; infant son of
Matthew Moorhead ; infant children of
Joseph and Jane Raymond ; infant daughter
of George and Catharine McEwan ; infant
son of John and Bridget Prickett; infant
son of James R. and Mary Ana Mec-
Gowan ; infant daughter of Major Charles
Levinge ; infant son of George and Mar-
garet Long ; infant son of J. E. and M.
Sharp ; infant daughter of David and
Mary Weitch. The oldest stone here
is that to Mrs. Armitage, bearing the
date April 8, 1819. The latest is that to
Private William Jewell, 1862. The other
stones are to the memory of John Blaber,

five or six interments were made there
when, on account of the unsuitable quality
of the soil, burials were discontinued and
th= remains removed to the cemetery west
of the old fort. The first military ho:pital
was close by the Grand Trunk railway
under the hill, near where the cattle sheds
now are, at the foot of Tecumseth street.
It was a small brick building. It was after-
ward turned into an emigrant hospital.
The cemetery west of the old fort is now
rankly overgrown with grass and thistles,
and no effort is made to keep it in condi-
tion. There are abouv two hundred graves
distinguishable by the mounds ot earth.
In the whole cemetery there are only twenty-
eight stones or wooden slabs standing
to tell who lies beneath. A few
broken stones have fallen ; most of them
are undecipherable and the rest are name-
less. All the headstones are of the simplest
and plainest character. There is not a monu-
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ment or shaft in the yard. On a few
graves are simple wooden crosses without
any inscription. Here and there is a square
picketed enclosure about a grave, the
fence in a very dilapidated condition and
overgrown with grass, thistles and ivy.
But one grave bears token that its
occupant is still cherished in memory.
The grave is that of Sergeant-Major F.
W. Gathercole, of C School of Infantry,
who died at the new fort, Toronto, February

13, 1883, aged forty-two years. A neat
marble slab, simple but quite as pre-
tentious as any in the cemetery, bears

the inscription that it was erected by his
comrades in affectionate remembrance.
About the grave the grass and thistles
have been cleared away, and four pots
of geraniums in bloom had been placed

it 48

ey

graves is one of Walter Toronto Lewis,
the one year old son of Mr, and Mra
Frederick Lewis, who died in 1868. The
13th Hussars has the greatest number of
ourials. At two graves are tiny marble
slabs, not over five inches wide and a
faot high, bearing simply the inscriptions =
“G. M. and G. F. 8.” They are evidently
remembered, for loving hands had recently
propped up the broken and fallen me-
morials with pieces of wood. Most of the
stones bear inscriptions to the effect that
they were erected by comrades. But little
attempt at decoration has been made oa
the slabs. Here and there is a flag, a

pair of crossed swords, a wreath, a cross,
a crown, and other usual emblems of this
character

Among the

all very simply executed.

dead who lie here are:

=

CEMETERY WEST OF THE GARRISON.

on it. The stone marking the resting place
of Assistant Commissary-General, John
Moira McLean Sutherland, is broken and
down. Everything about the grounds bears
evidence that they are seldom visited.
The proportion of soldiers drowned among
the twenty-eight whose names are deciph-
erable is large. They are John Manley
Rattle, Deputy Assistant Commissary-Gen-
eral, J. Ramscy Akers, Ensign in the 16th
Regiment, James Walsh, Private in the
80th Regiment, and Corporal John Smeeton,
of the 13th Hussars. Several graves are
those of the wives and children of
soldiers. The head-stones range in date,
from 1860 down to that of Private E. A.
Heath, of C School of Infantry, who died in
1885, being the most recent. Among the

Trumpeter James McMahon, 13th Hussars;
Rachel, wife of Sergeant-Major William
Ross, of the 4th Artillery ; fsabella Thom-
son, Private George Miller, 13th Hussars,
and Colour-Sergeant John Hanney, 47th
Regiment. Over how many a now for-
gotten and even obliterated grave have
the customary volleys here been fired—
those final honours to the soldier always
so touching, In the mould of this old
cemetery what a mingling from distant
uarters | Hearts finally at rest here
uttered in their last beats, far away
at times, to old familiar scenes beloved
in vain long ago; to villages, hedge-
rows, lanes, fields in green England and
Ireland—in rugged Scoutland and Wales.
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CHAPIER XXXI.
FORTS, FRENCH AND ENGLISH.

A Sketch of Fort Rouille, Commonly
EKnown as Fort Toronto—The Old Fort at
Garrison Creek as it Was and Is.

In 1679 the neutrality which existed be-
tween the English and French in regard to
the domain of the Five Nations on the south
side of Lake Ontarioc was broken, and in
that year La Salle, with the permission of
the Aborigines built a small stockade
at the mouth of the Niagara
river for the purposes of a trading post.
The advantage derived from this by the
French was so great that in 1722 Governor
Burnett, of the Province of New York,
erected a trading post on the west side of
the Oswego river at its mouth. Then re-
spectively in 1725 and 1728 these simple
trading stations of the French and English
were transformed into stone fortresses.
As an offset to the English rival
Fort Oswego, the Count de la Galis-
soniere, the then Governor - General
in 1749, gave direction for the estab-
lishment near the mouth of the Toronto
river—for so the Humber was then called—
of a stockaded trading post, and asked the
Government of Louis the Fifteenth to send
an officer, fifteen soldiers and some work-
men to construct the post and occupy it.
The men were sent, commanded by Officer
Portneuf. The pass between Lakes On-
tario and Huron by way of the Humber was
known as the Toronto pass, and as early
as 1686 Governor-General de Denonville
had recommended the erection of a fort at
the Lake Huron end of the pass to prevent
the English from passing through, but the
suggestion was never acted on. At the
Ontario end of the pass however a fort was
built, and what manner of fort it was may
beknown from the description of Captain
Pouchot, the last French commandant at
Fort Niagara in 1760. He says : The fort,
of Toronto was at the end of the bay, on
the side which is quite elevated and covered
by flat rock,so that vessels cannot approach
within cannon shot  This fort or post was
a square of about 180 feet on a side externally
with flanks of fifteen feet. The curtains
formed the buildings of the fort. It was
very well built, piece upon piece, but was
cnly useful for trade. * A league west of the
fort is the mouth of the Toronto river, which
is of considerable size. This river commu-
nicates with Lake Huron by a poriage of
15 leagues, and is frequented by the Indi ns,
who come from the north.” Captain Gother
Mann shows in his “Plan of the Proposed

Toronto Harbour,” dated December 6, 1788,
that there were five buildings within the
stockade which he marks out as well as the
bounds of the quadrangle enclosed by the
palisades, the linc of which was visible, and
some- of the cedar posts still standing at the
time of his visit. The ditches where the posts
had been set,and the hollows where the build-
ings stood were visible down to ten years
ago, when the ground was levelled and all
traces of the fort destroyed. Since the
erection of the fort, nearly a century and a
half ago, a great portion of the southern
side has been washed away. Dr. Scadding
remembers seeing a number of flat stones
from the beach laid down on the ground in
juxtaposition, and this he conjectures was
an oven. Although the fort was commonly
known and mentioned as Fort Toronto, yet
the official name conferred uuon it was Fort
Rouille, in compliment to Antoine Louis
Rouille, Count de Jouy, Colonial Minister of
France trom 1749 to 1754. From the outset *
the trade carried on at Fort Toronto was for
the benefit of the Ring’s exchequer, and that
this royal trading post was a source of profit
appears from despatches which state that
losses sustained at other trading stationa
will be made good by the Fort Toronto
trade. In 1754 the only occupants of Fort
Toronto were one officer, two sergeants, a
storekeeper and five soldiers. The number
of canoes sent up was five, each canoe con-
taining goods worth about seven thousand
French livres. The price given for good
beaver skins was from three livres ten sous,
to five livres a pound. It is evident from
the complaints made and from the testimony
of the French that Fort Toronto directly
after its establishment was injuring the
t-ade of Fort Niagara, as surely as Fort
Oswego was ruining that o Fort Frontenac
across the lake. Francois P.quet, a member
of the fraternity of St. Sulpice, made a trip
of exploration along the shores of Lake
Ountario in 1752, in a royal boat supplied for
the purpose. At Fort Frontenac he found
trade ruined by the English fort at Oswego,
or Choueguen, as the Indian name is. Here he
fared badly. He complained of the pork
and bacon and lamented that there was not
enoush brandy on hand to wash a wound.
But when he reached Fort Toronto he found
a striking contrast. He says:—*‘ The wine
here is of the best; nothing is wanting in
the fort; everything is abundant, fine and
good.,” Here the Mississaga Iudians
flocked around him in great numbers
picturing the happiness their young men,
women and children would feel if the
King of France would only be so good to
them as to the Iroquois and send them mis-
sionaries. ‘‘But,” they sadly exclaim, ‘ in
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place of a church he has only given usa
canteen.” The priest told them that they
had been treated according to their own
desires. Still he was much inclined to in-
vite them to his mission at the mouth of the
river Oswegatchie, opposite Prescott, but as
he was under orders from the Governor
to confine his proselyting efforts to the Iro-
quois he went on bis way to Fort Niagara.

He finds that the trade there had
been diminishing since the erection
of Fort Toronto and he strongly

recommends the discontinuance of the latter
Fort. At the same time he deprecates the
policy of greed as displayed in the em-
deavour to pass alloyed silver among the
Indians and in the demand of ten beavers
for an equivalent for which the English
only asked two. ¢ True it is,” he says,
‘‘ that French brandy is preferred to Eng-
lish rum,but thatidoesn’t prevent the Indians
from going to Oswego.” But it was to be
only a short time before the Fort of
Toronto was to be mnot merely
discontinued, but absolutely destroyed
and the question as to what were
the best trading places taken out of the
hands of the French forever. The jealousy
between the English and French in the
northern part of this continent was rapidly
growing. KEach was doing its utmost
to aftach the Indians to itself as allies.
The English were steadily encroaching on
the domains of the French Crown. The
relations between England and France were
becoming strained. In the same year that
the French priest drank the good wine
at Fort Toronto, Governor de Longueuil
wrote to the Minister at Versailles that the
Euglish were inducing the Indians to de-
stroy the French and that they would give
a good deal to get the savages to destroy
Fort Toronto.  Later he writes :—““Every
letter brings news of murder ; we are men-
aced with a general outbresk, and even To-
ronto is in danger.”  Four years later, in
1756, war was declared between England
and France on the question of North Amer-
ivan boundaries and the seven years’ con-
flict began, which ended in the cession 1o
fingland of almost all the French domain
on the North American continent. To-
ronto was the sceme of a plot in 1757
which was all but successful. Nirety
Mississaga Indians were on their way to
Montreal to assist the French. Wheu they
reached Fort Toronto,where chey encamped,
finding that the only occupants of the fort
were M. Varren, the storekeeper, and M.
de Noyelle with ten men under him, it oc-
curred vo them that the opportunity of
pillaging the fort and getting possession of
the brandy stored in it was too good to be

lost, notwithstanding the fort was occupied
by their friends. A French "servans girl
learned of the plot and informed M. de
Noyelle, who lost no time in sending
to Fort Niagara for help. At four
o'clock on the afternoon of the next
day, two batteaux with sixty-one soldiers
under command of Captain de la Feste and
M. de Puisun, ran into the bay. Each boat
had a swivel gun at the bow. When they
neared the shore they sent a volley of can-
non and musket balls over the tops of the
Indian wigwams,and summoned the savages
at once to a council. The Indians confessed
the plot, but endeavoured to palliate their
treachery by saying they had heard the
English had driven out the French.
But Captain Pouchot says that all they
wanted was the brandy. But a year of
existence was now left to Fort Toronto. In
1756 Montcalm captured Fort Oswego.
Three years later Colonel Bradstreet cap-
tured Fort Frontenac, and at the same time
Colonel Haldimand re-captured Oswego.
Governor De Vaudreuil, the second of the
name, in 1758 ordered all the available
troops to be sent down from the west for
the protection of Fort Niagara. At the
same time he gives orders to the command-
ant at Fort Toronto to collect all the Indians
possible and forward them to the same
place, directing that if the English should
make their appearance at Fort Toronto it be
burned at once, and the garrison fall back on
Niagara. The lndian hunter had drank his
last glass of French brandy in Fort Toronto,
for only a short time afterward Vaudreuil’s
orders were carried into effect. The next
year after a siege of three weeks Niagara
surrendered. When Sir William Johnson,
who succeeded General Prideaux, killed in
the trenches at Niagara, had captured that
fort, he sent Lieutenant Francis with 30
men %o reconnoitre Fort Toronto, purposing
on his return to despatch a force to destroy
it. All Lieutenant Francis found were five
piles of burned timber and three rows
of charred and broken cedar posts.
Tequakareigh, a chief of the Chippewas,
returned with Lieut. Francis, and was
granted an audience by Sir William, the
result of which was the chief promised
Sir William to abandon the French cause
and live in friendship with the English.
Then Sir William sent him back to his tribe
to keep his engagement, having clothed
him, given him gifts, and suspended an
English medal about his neck
in place of the French one he wore.
Fort Torouto was never rebuilt. In 1760
Major Robert Rogers, an officer who had
distinguished himself in the war, visited the
site of it on his way to take possession of
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the western forts vacated by the French.
He <ays: “ There wasa tract of about three
hundred acres cf cleared land vound the
plac: where formerly the French had a fort
called Fort Toronto. The soil is principally
clay. The deer are extremely plentiful in
this country. Some Indians were hunting
at the mouth of the river who ran into the
woods on our approach very much fright-
ened. They came in, however, in
the morning, and testified their joy av
the news of our success against the
French. They told us we could easiy
accomplish our journey from thence to De-
troit in eight days ; that when the French
traded at that place, the Indians used to
come with their peltry from Michilimackinac
down the River Toronto. 1 think T'oronto a
most convenient place for a factory,” the
Majoradds, meaning by factory, trading post.
Captain Gother Mann, an officer of the
Royal Engineers, was instructed in 1788 to
examine Toronto harbour, take soundings
and look over the whole locality with a view
to the establishment of a settlement
here. He drew a ground plan of the old
French fort, showing the lines of the stock-
ade and the five little parallelograms, inside
being the storehouse, a little in advance of
the others, and the quarters for the keepers,
officers, soldiers and men employed. Cap-
tain Mann entitled his map, *“Plan of the
Proposed Toronto Harbour, with the Pro-
posed Town and Port by the Settlement.”

He expresses his opinion that the
best position for a fort to protect
the proposed settlement is the ex-
act spot to-day occupied by the

stone barracks. From this point slantingly
across the entrance into the harbour he
takes soundings and finds the water to vary
from one to four fathomsin depth. Captain
Mann also lays out a town on paper, making
the town plot exactly square, consisting of
eleven equal-sized blocks each way, a broad
strip of reserved ground in front, a large
patch of commons in the rear and the sur-
rounding country cut up into farms and
roads. In the time of Augustus Jones, the
land surveyor brought over by Governor
Simcoe, the Toronto river had come to have
another name—S8t. John’s river.  Augus-

tus Jones makes a survey of the
broken front concession of York, and
from this it 1is evident that the

old French fort stood two chains or 132 feet
from the present Dufferin strect. Mr. Jones
observes the remains of an old forge, and
notes that the timber is birch, b ack oak,
beech and hemlock, the soil clay. 1In
Auchinleck s history of the war of 1812 he
shows that the old French fort stood nearly
half way between the landing place of the

Americans in 1813 and the old fort, and a
little west of the stone barracks. Dr. Scad-
ding, from whose history of Fecrt Rouille
this description is condensed, severely criti-
cizes the historians Benson J. Lossing and
S. G. Goodrich, and points out many
errors iuto which they have fallen, as
to history, topography and orthography.
At the time of the capture of York by the
United States forces, the site of Fort To-
ronto had been previously selected as the
point of debarkation, but on account of the
heavy winds the boats were carried far to
the westward, where the landing took place.
When in 1878 the Government secured a
large portion of the Garrison Common for the
Industrial Exhibition, the site of the French
Fort was included in the survey. Previous to
that time a dilapidated wooden*fence had en-
closed the area of the fort. This fence did
not form a perfect square, as the original lines
of the palisades did not run at right angles
either to Dufferin street or the shore of the
bay. When the ground was prepared for
the park, it became nccessary to remove this
fence and level the mounds and fill up the
depressions which were the sole remains of
the first settlement at Toronto. That the
historic spot might not be lost, a cairn of
unhewn stone was mounted upon a huge
granite boulder brought up ont of the en-
trance to the bay by dredge, bearing this

inscription—*‘ This  cairn marks the
exact site of Fort Rouille, commonly
known as Fort Toronto, an Indian
Trading Post and Stockade, Established

A.D. 1749, by order of the Government of
Louis XV., in accordance with the recom-
mendations of the Count de la Galissoniere,
Administrator of New France 1717-1749.
Erected by the Corporation of the City of
Toronto, A.D. 1878.” For six years the
cairn served 1ts purpose. It then hegan to
settle, and it was felt that a more suitable
memorial should take its place. A% the
semi-centennial in 1884, of the incorpora-
tion of Toronto as a city, and the
restoration of the name which had
been lost for mnearly half a century,
the  foundation of a monument
was laid by the then Lieutenant-Governor
ot Ontario, the Hon. John Beverley Robin-
son, Three years later on the occasion of
the 50th anniversary of the reign of Queen
Victoria by means of grants from the city,
donations from the Industrial Exhibition
Association and the Associated Pioneers of
the City of Toronto and Ancient County of
York, and subscriptions fiom individuals

sufficient funds were raised to
complete the monument, which was
unveiled by the Marquis of Lans-
downe, Governor-General of Canada
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on the opening day of the Exhibition, Sept.
6th, 1887. The monument consists of a
substructure of rough stone five feet in
depth and twelve and a half feet square at
its lowest part, diminishing by steps to
about twelve feet square at the surface.
For four feet are three courses of cut Credit
Valley stone to a block forming the main
body of the pedestal, five feet square and
five and a half feet in height.  Over this is
a course projecting eight inches and there is
a block forming a transition trom the square
to the round form upon which rests

the colume, a shaft in eight di-
visions, tapering from five feet at
the base to two feet at  the

summit which terminates in a conical apex.
The height from the surface is about 30 feet.
The cost was $2,500. On the north side of
the pedestal is the inscription, ‘Fort To-
ronto, an Indian Trading Post, for Some
Time Known as Fort Rouille,was Establish-
ed Here A.D. MDCCXLIX, by order of
Louis XV.” This monument commemorates
much. It is commemorative of Indian,

French and  English supremacy. It
links  the  civilized  present with
the savage past. It celebrates  the

beginning,by the primitive system of barter,
of that great commerce which has made
Toronto the actual metropolis of Canada.
It is the joining of old Toronto with new
Toronto. It is not improbable that but for
the establishment of this French trading
post some other site might have bsen chosen
for the capital of the new province. Here
nearly & century and a half ago were

piled on the grass for exchange
the products of KEuropean mills and
factories on one side and the pelts

of wild animals and articles of native
workmanship on the other. Here met the
vivacious Frenchman and the taciturn In-
dian, and between them founded Toronto.
After the destruction and abandonment of
Fort Toronto by the French the site re-
mained deserted, nor was any attempt made
to re-establish a settlement of any kind in
this vicinity until more than thirty years
afterward, when Governor Simcoe in 1793
laid the foundations of York, four miles to
the eastward of the French stockade.
During Governor Simcoe’s administration a
new fort was built and a stockade
erected  around it, on the west
side of Garrison creek, east of the site
of the old fort. In this creek, before
the woods were cut down, salmon
used to be caught for quite a distance up
the valley. The Government common at
the water’s edge on the centre of which the
fort was built on elevated ground was ori-
ginally a portion of a great circle radiating

—

a thousand yards from its centre, the fort.
The eastern entrance to the fort was
reached by an ascent from the ravine ol
Garrison Creek. The arched gateway was
protected by strong iron stuaded portals.
Within a sentry and the guard house on the
left, beyond the loop-holed block house on
one side and the quarters of the men, officers
and commandant on the other. Up to
1849 the buildings on the east side of the
enclosure were pretty much the same asin
the year 1800. Some of the log houses had
been clapboarded and given a semi-respect-
able appearance. The row of log houses on
the left hand side of the entrance were
standing in 1859, and were the same build-
ings erected in 1796 by the Queen’s Rangers,
the first military regiment quartered at
York Garrison. The Rangers came from
Niagara in the spring of 1794, and in an old
Masonic record, discovered by Mr. J. Ross
Robertson, we find that the Queen’s Rangers
Lodge, or ‘“ Lodge No. 3 of Ancient York
Masons,” met in York Garrison in 1799-
1800. The building in which they held
their meetings was the south house in the
row of log houses above mentioned. [fhe
fire of 1812 did not in any way affect this
row of buildings. There were four houses
in the row, each with about twenty feet
front and twenty-five feet deep. A veran-
dah or shed ran the entire length of the
front, and in wet weather the sentry on
guard, instead of standing in the sentry
box, which stood on the north of the veran-
dah, would kill time by walking to and fro
under this protecting shed. The house,
adjacent to the gateway or entrance, was
the guard room, the second and third
houses were mess rooms, and the fourth or
south was used by the engineers attached to
the Queen’s Rangers for drawing plans, and
they kept the shelves filled with various
publications, maps, etc., and an array of
general literature. An ingenious brother
had employed his spare time in decorating
the npper part of the entrance with squares
and compasses in brass-headed tacks. Had
the aunthorities at the War Office known
that her Majesty’s property was put to
such use, a remonstrance from the Govern-
ment might have been the result. On
Lodge nights a primitive altar, made by the
carpenter of the Rangers, was used to sup-
port the volume of the sacred law, and
tallow candles in sconces gave light to the
Lodge while at work, while the bright log
fire in the old-fashioned fire place made the
atmosphere of the room pleasant and agree-
able. Miss Cecil Givins, sister of Colonel
Givins, who was superintendent of the
Indian affairs in 1797, an old lady now
nearly ninety years of age, has a perfect re-
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collection of this building in 1807. It was
only a mile from Pinegrove the house Miss
Givins resided in, near the corner of Dunel
street and the Brockton road to York Gar-
rison. In a former sketch a picture of this
old landmark was given. Miss Givins
resides at Pinegrove to-day, Passing
through the fort grounds and out beyond
by the western gate one comes upon the
Garrison reserve, a large open space in the
eastern part of which a military cemetery
was laid out in modern times, and a con-
siderable distance wes: of it the white stone
barracks, farther on wes$, the location of
the present rifle butts, still farther the site

of the old French fort, and be-
yond Gibraltar Point, the extreme
western  limit of the peninsula.

On the other side eastward of Bathurst si.
is the old military burying ground. In the
early days of the fort there was a battery at
the southwestern part of the enclosure.
The main half-moon battery, including a
small semi-circular bastion for the flag-
staff extended along the brow of the pali-
saded bank, south of the parade, which was
in the centre of the enclosure. From this
the royal salutes used to be fired on the ar-
rival and departure of the Lieutenant-Gov-
ernor and at the opening and closing of the
legislature. Overlooking the ravine of
Garrison Creek was the south-eastern bas-
tion with a single twelve-pounder which
formerly was fired every day at noon,
The knoll on the east side of the creek was
covered with a number of buildings for the
accommodasion of the troops in addition to
the barracks within the Fort. Here also,
not far from the edge of the bank, stood a
block house loop-holed as frontier forts
were for Indian warfare. It was sur-
rounded by a stockade of pickets. East-
ward, on the brow of the bay, were the
surgeon’s quarters, and further eastward
still the commandant’s quarters, commonly
known as Lambeth palace, though why the
name of the official residence of the primate
of all England should be given to a military
building is not quite clear. In Liumbeth
Palace lived Major General Zneas Shaw, for
a time, previous to his ownership and occu-
pancy of O.k Hill. Garrison common and the
old fort are the battle field of Toronto. Here
fell General Pike, leader of the victorious

Americans, just as General Wolfe,
leader of the victorions English, fell
on the Plaing of Abrabam  and

General Brock on Queenston Heights.
Of the invasion by the American forces
John Lewis Thomson in ‘‘ Historical Sketches
of the Late War,” writes: ‘“ Agreeably to a
previous arrangement with the Commodore,
General Dearborn and his suite with a

force of 1,700 men embarked at Sackett’s
Harbour, on the 22nd and 23rd of April,
1813, but the prevalence of a violent storm
prevented the sailing until the 25th. On
that day it moved into Lake Ontario and
having a favourable wind arrived safely be-
fore York at 7 o’clock on the morning df the
27th, about one mile to the westward of the
ruinsof Fort L'oronto and two and a half from
the town of York. The execution of that
part of the plan which app'ied immediately
to other attacks upon York was confided to
Colonel Pike, of the 15th Regiment, who
had been promoted to the rank of Brigadier

General, and the position which had been
fixed upon for landing the troops was the
site of the old fort. The approach of the
fleet being discovered from the enemy’s
garrison, General Sheaffe, the British com-
mandant, hastily collected his whole force,
consisting of 750regulars and militia,and 100
Indians and disposed them in the best man-
nerjtojresist the landing of the Americans.

Bodies of Indians were observed in groups
in different directions in and about the
woods below the site of the fort, and num-
bers of horsemen stationed in the clear
ground surrounding it. At eight o’clock
the debarkation commenced ; at ten it was
completed. Major Forsyth and his rifilemen
in several large batteaux were inthe advance.
They pulled vigorously for the designated
ground at the site, but were forced by a
strong wind a considerable distance above.”
The exact spot where the Americans landed
is the point where Queen street if extended
in a straight line would strike the water. It
is called Wolfe’s cove, and is just within
the curve of the Humber bay. Circum-
stantially the same is the account given by
Dr. Scadding, who writes :—*‘ The debark-
ation was opposed by a handful of Indians
under Major Givins, The Glengarry
Fencibles had been dispatched to aid in this
service, but in attempting to approach the
spot by a back road they lost their way. A
tradition exists that the name of Grenadier’s
Pond, a lagoon a little to the west, one
of the ancient outlets of the waters
of the Humber, is connected with the
disastrous b. wild srment of a party of the re-
gular troops at this critical period. It is at
the same time asserted that the name Grena-
dier’s Pond was familiar previously. At
length companies of the E ghth Regiment,
of the Royal Newfoundland Regiment and
of Incorporated Militia, made their appear-
ance and disputed the progress inland of the
enemy. After suffering severely they re-
tired towards the fort. Then occurred the
fatal explosion of that day. Just inside
the western gate of the fort was the western
battery with the magazine at the right of
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the entrance. As the Anericans pressed for-
ward through the gate th: magazine explod-
ed, killing about 200 Americans, among them
General Pike and some of the defending
foree. The Government House of the day,
a large rambling cluster of one storey build-
ings, was shattered to pieces by the concus-
sion, and on the restoration of peace, Chief
Justice Elmsley’s house, on King street,
was bought and  converted into
Government House, but for a Ilong
time aiterward it still went by the name of
Rimsiey House. At the time of the invasion
of Canada, the fort at York was manned by
the 3rd Regiment of York Militia. In the
regimental order book o' July 29th, 1812,
oeeurs this note : ““In consequence of an

Sergeants Knott, Humberstone, Bond and
Bridgeford. Continuing, the note says:
‘““Major General Brock has desired me,
Captain Stephen Heward to acquaint the
detachment under my command of
Lis high approbation of their orderly
conduct and good discipline while under
arms ; that their exercise and marching far
exceeded any that he had seen in the pro-
vince. And in particular he directed me
to acquaint the officers how much be is
pleased with their appearance in uniform
and their perfect knowledge of their duty.”
On the 13th of October General Brock was
a corpse on Queenston Heights, and in the
following April York was in the hands of
the invaders. ‘‘Toronto” was the counter-

BLOCK HOUSE, OLD FORT, 1888,

erder from Major General Brock, command-
ing the forces for a detachment of volun-
teers under the command of Major Allan to
hold themselves in readiness to proceed in
batteaux from the head of the lake to-mor-
row at 2 o'clock, the following officers,
non-commissioned officers and privates, will
hold themselves in readiness to
proceed at 2 o’clock for
the purpose of being fitted with caps,
blankets and haversacks as well as to draw
provisiona. On the r arrival at the head of
the lake regimental coats and canteens will
be ready to be issned to them.” The names
mm are  Capt. Heward, Lieut.
bardson, Lieut. Jarvis, Lieut. Robinson,

sign of the York garrison, Jnly 23rd, 1812.
Among the British killed at the battle ot
York was Captain McNeil, who fell at the
head of his company of Grenadicrs of the
8th Regiment. His hody was buried by the
Americans on the spot where he died. In
after years the waters of the | . ke washing
away the bank close up to the grave, Major
Winnett, commanding the 68th Regiment
at the fort, on May 9th, 1829, had the re-
mains removed to the Garrison burial
ground. A firing party and the band at-
tended, and the remains were followed to
the place of interment by the officers
of the garrison and a procession cf
the inhabitants of the town and vi-
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cinity. As portions of the clay bank
along the bay have fallen away numerous
skeletons have been exposed and military
ornaments and pieces of firearms and other
weapons found. Mis. Murney wrote a
manuscript narrative of the events of those
days during which the Americans held York,
taken down from the lips oi her mother,
Mrs. Breakenridge, whe took refuge at
Baron de Hoen’s house, four miles up

Yonge street. Mrs. Murney writes
in regard to Captain McNeil :— My
mother saw the poor 8th Grenadiers

come into town on the Saturday and
in church on Sunday with the handsome
Captain McNeil at their head, and the next
day they were cut to pieces to a man.” On
the beach, protected by some earthworks,at

from the carrying places or narrow part of
the Island. Mr. Lossing, the historian who
visited Toronto in 1860, says that this block
house was situated on the high east bank of

the Dom, just beyond the King
streev bridge. It is possible
that Mr. Lossing may have fallen

into this error by seeing the log house now
on the Exhibition gronnds, which stood at
that time in the place indicated by Mr.
Lossing on the property of Mr. John Smith.
The old Fort, as it is to-day, though fast
falling into decay and wholly useless now
for defensive purposes, gives a fair idea of
what it was in the war of 1812. Entering
the enclosure from the east the first build-
ing the visitor approaches is a long, narrow,
one-storey shed, about 25x100 feev in di-

WESTERN ENTRANCE, OLD FORT, 1888

the mouth of the Garrison creek, on the site
of the present Queen’s wharf were to be seen
for many years a row of cannon,dismounted,
spiked and rendered wholly useless
by the regular troops before their re-
treat to Kingston. Loose canister shot

were also frequently washed up by
the waves at this point. These
memorials of the capture of York

were afterward sold to a Toronto foundry
and melted up. The earthworks remained
for many years. In connection with the
fort it may be stated that at an early date a
block house stood on the bank of the artifi-
cial channel known as the ‘¢ Little Don,”
not far from the site of the first Parliament
Buildings, and the stope jail recently torn
down. It commanded the road which led

mensions. It is of comparatively recent date,
and is now used as a gun shed by the To-
yonto FieldBattery. Here all the guns of the
Dattery are kept and here weekly drills are
held Wednesday evenings. South-west of
this is the old block house with loop holes
for muskets. Itis the older one of two
buildings on the ground, the other also
being a block house similar to it, This
block house is two stories high, the upper
storey projecting over the lower, a style of
military architecture sometimes seen in
pictures of old forts buils with an
especial view to Indian warfare. It is
now used ag an armoury by Colonel
Fred. Denison’s troop of the Governor-Gen-
eral’s Body Guard, the senior corps in the
Canadian service. The troop was first
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organized by Col. G. T. Denison, sr., and it
has always been commanded by a Denison.
West of it is a small frame house used for
washing purposes. At the north-west cor-
ner of the first long shed is a brick two-
storey building with a log fence around it.
It was formerly used as a magaziae, and is
placed between the two block-houses #o that
nccess to it might be had from either. It is
now used as a storage house. West from this
is the second block-house, similar to the first
in sige and architectural design. These
were the two first buildings in the fort en-
elosure. Back of this is a shed recently

t up for she guns of the artillery. On
ge opposite or north side of the road run-
ning through the grounds between the two
block-houses is a wooden building, the

east end of which—the first building onc

with an enormous chimney. This was the
cook house and bake shop. The great cop-

er kettles are still to be scen and the huge
ovens perhaps bigger than those in any city
bakery of to-day. South west from the
cook housebut still on the north side of the
road is a one storey brick building used for
the superior officers’ quarters and mess
room. The eastern gable overgrown with
ivy presents a picturesque appearance. The
ivy was planted by a soldier fourteen years
ago. At the north-west extremity of the
fort enclosure is a large two storey frame
building with a frontage of about two hun-
dred feet that was used for the soldiers’ bar-
racks, It is now thearmory of B troopofthe
Governor-General’s Body Guard, Major

Dunn commanding. The band alsc uses part
of it for practice rooms,

At the west side
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EASTERN ENTRANCE, OLD FORT, 1888.

entering the fortapproaches on the north side | of this building is a pear tree that still

of the roadway—was the old guard house.
At the east end of this was a sentry box and
atradition existsthat an old soldier once shot
himself in it. The other end of this building
was used as a fire engine house in later
years. The next two portions of this
same building were staff sergeants’
quarters. The next structure forms a
double, one-storey house, in which were the
officers’ quarters and the orderlies’ rooms.
This is on the north side of the road. The
next house on the same side of the road, a
little to the woest, is one-storey, frame,
roughcast. It was put up twenty-five years
ago tor a canteen. The old canteen, which
was in a hollow to the westward, was burned
down, necessitating the erection of a new one.

Farther west is a one-storey block house

yields fruit, which was planted thirty-five
years ago by Lieutenant Landon, who
brought it wich him from Connecticut. At
the extreme west of the yard, just back of
the soldiers’ barracks, is a listle brick

building, = which  was the armour-
er's shop. In the west centre of the
enclosure are two long, narrow one

storey, whitewashed baildings, each divided
into three cottages. These have always
bseen reserved for married soldiers and their
families, East of these is a stone magazine
with an iron roof, surrounded by a high
stockade. Loose powder for making cart
ridges tor all the field batteries in Ontario
is now stored init. Infront of it is a flag.-
pole with a ball at the top. This waserected
in honour of the Princess Louise, when she
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visited the fort. The Royal Standard was
raised on that occasion, and perhaps it never
will be again on that pole. Along the em-
bankment on the bay side are seven seven
inch thirty-two pounders bearing the dates
1843 and 1844. The guns are partly dis-
mounted, rusted inside, and wholly useless
for warfare now. The embrasures are filling
in and goiug to decay. Near the south em-
bankment stood the dead house, which has
been pulled down. All around the en-
closure of the fort is an embankment with
an inclined stockade or row of pickets
somethin like a chevaux de
Jrise and beyond this a ditch, A well
with a filter attached is at the north-west
corner of the fort; it used to supply all the
soldiers with water but it is now dry.
Under the building once occupied as quar-
ters by the superior officers is a great vault
of solid masonry with two heavy iron doors.
This was the treasury. All the buildings,
especially the soldiers’ barracks, where is

is kept a large store of sabres,
lances, drums, saddles, and all the
equipments for cavalry are boarded
uwp and heavily barred with iron. This

measure was found necessary to shut out
tramps, boys and thieves who once infested
the grounds at night. Among the troops
stationed at the Toromto forts have been
these : —1st, 8th, 13th (Hussars), 15th, 17th,
30th, 32nd, 40th, 41st, 42ad, 47th, 68th,
79th, and the Royal Canadian Rifles, an
Imperial Colonial Corps of some sixteen or
more companies, including Newfoundland
rifle companies, disbanded about 1870,
about the time of the Red River Expedi-
tion, a regiment that had more medals of
different kinds than any one of her British
Majesty’s regiments, being drafts from all
other corps, stationed in the New and Old
Forts, sometimes to the number of eight
and ten companies. The 100th Royal Cana-
dians recruited around Toronto, stationed
in the Old Fortin 1860, when the depot was
in charge of Capt. Clark. Dr. Widmer’s son-
in-law, and a Lieut. Fletcher. This com-
pany acted as a gnard of honour to H.R.H.
the Prince of Wales, with a company of
Royal Canadian Rifles, at the amphi-
theatre on John street or the Govern-
ment House. At the time of the
Riel rebellion the Rifles, Colonel Fielden
commanding, were quartered in the soldiers’
barracks, and it was from there tht they
started for the first Red River expedition.
No Imperial troops have been quartered at
the Fort since, and the only occupants of the
buildings now are the emp!oyes of: the mili-
tary department and their families. All
the milirary stores for this district, such as
rifles, tents, blankets, and knapsacks are

kept in the frame buildings west of the old
Fo:t, at the eastern end of which Colonel
Alger has his office. A great grass grown
mound rises from a level field also west of
the fort. Here are stored hoxes on boxes of
rifle ammunition, millions of rounds. Over
seven acres are in the fort enclosure, which i
bounded on the south by the Canadian Pacifio
railroad tracks running between the trenches
and the bay, on the forth by the Western
division of the Grand Trunk railway, en
the west by the Garrison Common and on
the east by the road leading to the Queen’s
wharf, or Bathurst street. Over to the
west on the higher ground, overlooking the
bay and commanding the entrance to the
barbour, arc the white cut stone barraeks
erected during vhe administration of Lieu-
tenant-Governor Sir John Colborne.

CHAPIER XXXII
JUSTICE CAMPBELL'S MANSION.

A Soldier who Became Chief Justice of
Upper Canada—Sir Wililam Campbell's
Last Xllness, Death and Burlal.

On a gentle elevation at the head of Fred-
erick street, commanding a view of the
bay and situated a little back from
Duke street, is a large brick honse in
the style of architecture which prevailed in
the early brick period of York from IS07
to about 1825. It is much like the Grange,
Dr. Strachan’s house, and other buildings
of that class. Half a dozen steps lead up
to a large porch or stoop in front oi the
big hall door, on either side of which are
two windows. On the floor above are five
windows at the front. A sort of half gable
springs from the straight line of the roof

in which is an oval window. This is
the mansion which Chief Justice Sie
William Campbell erected in 1822. Sir

William Campbell was born in Scotland in
1758. He entered a Highland regiment as
a soldier, and came to America at the time
of the revolt of the colonies. He was
taken prisoner at Yorktown in 1781 when
Cornwallis surrendered. In 1783 he emigra-
ted to Nova Scotia, where he setiled
down and began the study of law. After
p actising the:e nineteen years he was ap-
pointed Attorney-General for the Island
of Cape Breton, a post which he held
tweive years. In 1811 he was promoted to
a judgesh p in Upper Canada. It was
while in this position that he sat on
the bench in 1818 at the trial of the men
accused of 1iarder, high treason, robbery
and conspiracy in the troubles growing out
of the rivalry in the North-west between the
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Hudsen’s Bay Company and the Montreal |-

North-west Company of fur traders in 1815

and 1816, the other judges being Chie |

Justice Powell, Justice Bonlton, and Asso-
ciate Justice Allan. In 1825 Justice Camp-
bell was appointed Chief Justice to suc-
ezed Chief Justice Powell. Justice Camp-
bell died in 1834 at the advanced age
of seventy-six years. Dr. Henry, author
of ¢ Trifles from my Portiolio,” who
attended hize i® his last ilness, thus des-
erib=r L eminent patient’s ease :—*‘ My
worthy patient besame very weak towards
the end of the year; his nights were
restless ; his appetite began to fail, and
he coudd only relish tid bits.” Here the
doctor remarks that medicines proving
Queless he preseribed snipes. Continuing,
ae says :—‘‘ Av the point of the sandy
peninsula opposite the barracks are a pum-
ber of little pools and marshes frequented
by these delectable liitle birds, and here
T nsed to cross over in my skiff and pick
up the Chief Justice’s panaces. On this
delicate food the poor old gentleman was
supported for a couple of months, but the
frost set in, the snipes flew away, and Sir
William died.” Justice Campbell’s venerable
Iread covered with its snmow-whice hair, had
for many years been a familiar spectacle to
tire worshippers at St. Jam:s’, and his fune-
ril at that church was worthy of the
dignity ke had ever maintained on the

bepch. It was a double funeral. At

the same hour and within the same walls
the final obsequies took p'ace of Mr. Ros-
wéll Mount, » member of the Lower House,
represenfing Middlesex, who had died at
York. The Legislature was im session at
the time, and attended in a body witn the
members of the bar and the judges. The
funera! oration on this two-fold occasion
was promounced by Archdeacon John
Strachan. The York Courier of the day
ia its description of the funeral remarks
that twenty residents of York were present
whose combined ages exceeded 1,450 years.
After the death of ®ir William Camp-
bell the Hon. James Gordon, formerly
of Ambherstburgh, made his mansion his
nome for mapy years, Mr. Gordon was
a very gemerous member of 8t. James’,
giving largely toward supplying its needs,
and his daughter, Miss Gordon, followinyg
her father's example, gave $1,000 in
1872 toward the completion of the edifiec,
in accordance with the plans of F. W.
Cumberland. Subscquently Terence O'Neill.
an auctioneer, lived 1n 1t for thirty years. It
was then purchased by John Strathy,
who lived there until his death, and the
place was afterwards sold to the presens
owner, Mr. John Fensom.

CHAPTER XXXIIL
THE CHECKEREO STORE.

l A Sketch of the History of the North-west

Corner of Toronte and King Streets—The

Occupants of the Various Buiidings,

In the spring of 1886 a building was’ torn
down at the north-west corner of King and
Toronto streets to make room for the new
Quebec Bank buildings which now adorn
the street intersecting. Though mnot a
historic corner in itself this present central
business portion of the city is near the
localities famed as the scenes which marked
the history of the settlement of York.
Opposite it to the eastward stood the jail
where Lount and Matthews sutfered on the
scaffold. The north-west corner was not

THE CHECKERED STORE.

always graced with the structures
which bave stood on it in recent
years, The first owner ot the lot was

Thos. Robt. Johnston, a carpenter, who held
the property from the Toronto street lane to
King street. In 1831 a man named R A.
Parker erected the checkered store, a two
storey frame building, selling notions, or as
an old pioneer put it, everything from a
peedle to an anchor. In 1834 Parker moved
to the south-east corner of King and Yonge
streets, to the site of John Kay’s old store,
now the n-w building owned by Alex Man-
ning and occupied by J. E. Eilis & Co. He
was succeeded by Robert McClure, a tall,
thin Scotchman, who carried on the aue-
tioneering business and did a thriving trade.
Mr. Robert Shanklin, over fifty years ago,
worked in this building for Mr. McClure,
the auctioneer. After the death of Robers
Johnston and also of his wife Margar:t
Lawrence, Ezekiel Francis Whittemore was
macried to their daughter Margaret, and
had a marriage portion as devised to her by
the will of her fathe-, which was a portion
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of the property on Toronto street. She
never had any claim on the checkered store
and lot on the corner of King and Toroneo
streets. By this will of Robert Johnston,
his eldest son, Richard Lawrence Johnston,
who is yet living, became, after his mother’s
death, the owner of the lot and checkered
store. This Richard L. Johnston sold to
E. F. Whittemore some time after Whitte-
more’s marriage to his sister Margaret.
When McClure gave up the store in 1846
Whittemore tore down the old checkered
store and erected in its place the structure
demolished two years ago. On its completion
Thos. Rigney & Co. occupied it for about
three years. Then Rigney went to New
York and the firm became E. F. Whitte
more & Co. (Thos. Rigney, Waittemore and
Rutherford). Then the firm was dissolved,
Thos. Rigney retiring, and it became Whit-
temore, Rutherford & Co. In 1855 the
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40 YEARS AGO.
partnership was dissoived, Whittemore
kceping possession of the building and start.
ing a general banking and  brok-
ing busin-es taking in with him two former
employes, Ewoud Chaffey and Edmund

Morris. This business was conducted until
1859 when Mr. Whittemore died. Mr.
Rutherford died about three years ago. At
the death of Mr. Whittemore, Chaffey &
Co. sprang into life to give way to R, J.
Kimball & Co., H. J. Morse & Co, and
finally Gzowski & Bucham, which latter firm
occupied the front part of the building on
King street np to the time of ite
destruction. The property had remained
in Mr. Whittemore’s hands until two years
before his death, when he sold it to the
Hon. L. H. Holton, of Montreal, from whom
it pagsed to Sir David L. Macpherson. The
value of the corner where the checkered
store stood was estimated at $25 a foot.
About 1860 the rear portion of the buding
was divided into a couple of shops and an
entrance on Toronto street led to the offices
into which the upper part of the building
was divided. The shop north of the.To-
ronto street entrance was that of C. A.
Backas, the bookseller and newsdealer, for
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QUEBEC BANK.
years the postage stamp depot of the city.
It was also the resort of newspaper mem,
and in a little nook a2t the south end of the
counter, many a time and oft the late
William Lyon Mackenzie used to regale any
friend he met with rewiniscences of the re-
bellion or accounts of the book trade sales
in New York, which he was in the habit of
attending. The first and second floors were
lawyers offices and the front roem on the
upper floor was the location in 1864 of the
‘“book and job printing office” of J. Ross
Robertson. The Grumbdier, a well-known
humorous weekly, was issued here. Subse-
quently the entire upper floor was leased te
Mr. Bates, the pioneer in the commercial

college: lire, the title of the institution being
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““Phe British American Commercia College.”

The Quebec Bank subsequently became the

possessor of it for the sum of $48,000. After

the building beeame a banking estabiish-

ment the upper flats were utilized as law-

yere’ offices, and many are the now foremost

lawyers of Toronto who struggled theough

their first brief in this place. Latterly
bucket shop operators conducted a business
there. The building when torn down showed
proof of the good work of other days. Ex-
Mayor Sheard was the architect and George
Brown the builder. Both are dead, but the
solid brick walls and substantial workman-
ehip bore testimony to the honesty of the
men of the old time,

CHAPTER XXXIV,
THE JAILS OF THE COUNTY.

The Scenes of Many sn Execution—The
* Hanging of Lount and Matthews—The
Prison of the Captured Fenians.

The first jail of York was situated on the
south side of King street, between Yonge
and Toronto streets. As Dr. Scadding
describes it :—‘This was a squat, un-
painted wooden building with hipped roof
concealed from persous passing in the street
by a tall cedar stockade, such as those
which we see surrounding a Hudson’s Bay
post or a military wood yard. At the
outer entrance hung a billet of wood sug-
peuded by a chain communicating with a
bell within. The English criminal code, as
it was at the beginniug of the century, hav-
ing been introduced with all its enormities,
public hangings were {requent at an early
period in the new province. A shocking
scene is described as taking place at an
execution in front of the old jail at York.
The condemned refuses to mount the scaf.
fold. On this the moral suasion efforts of
the sheriff amount to the ridiculous were
not the occasion so seriously tragic. In
aid ot the sheriff the officiating chaplain
steps more than once up the plank set trom
the cart to the scaffold to show the facility
of the act and to induce the man to mount
in like manner; the condemned demurs,
and openly remarks on the obvious difference
m the two cases. At last the noose is
adjusted to the neck of the wretched culprit
where ke stands, The cart is withdrawn
and a deliberate strangling ensues. In
April, 1811, the sheriff, Beikie, reports to
the magistrates at Quarter Sessions that the
sills of the east cells of the jail of the Home
Districs are completely rotten ; that the

ceilings in the different rooms are insuf-
ficient, and that he cannot think himself
safe should necessity oblige him to confize
any persons in said cells or debtors’ rooms.
An order is given in May to make the
necessary repairs.” The spike nails wanted
are not to be had in York ; the Lientenant
Governor is applied to with the result thas
carpenter Leach gets them in the month of
July following. In December of the same
year the sheriff again complains to the
magistrates that ¢ the prisouers in the cells
of the jail of the Home District suffer much
from cold and damp, there being no method
of communicating heat from the chimneys
nor any bedsteads to raise the straw
from the floors which He nearly, if not
altogether, on the ground. A small stove
in the lobby of each range of cells, together
with some ruge or blankets will add much
to the comfort of the unhappy persons con-
fined,” he adds. Later than this posts of
turned wood with round tops, the lower
part painted a pale blue, the upper part
white, were set up about the town to mark

the jail limits. #The yard about the
jail was enclosed with a high picket
fence. The second jail in York was

erected in 1824. It was a good, sub-
stantial, plain-looking two-storied red brick
building. At that time, on the north side
of King street, stretching between Torenta
and Church streets, was a vacant lot. At
the west side of this field, with gable front-
ing south, about thirty feet from To-
ronto street, and a little distance back
from King street, enclosed on three sides
by a picket fence fifteen feet high, stood the
new prison at what would now be nearly
the corner of Toronto and Court streeta
Directly across the vacant lot to the east-
ward, and relatively in the tame positior
with regard to King and Church streets, s
court-house was built at the same time pre-
cisely like the jail in external architecture.
At the top of each was a pediment like thas
of a Greek temple. Pilasters of cut-stone
ran up the front and outer sides of each
building. At the sides were lesser gables,
& portion of the wall rising in front of them
finished equare and sustaining chimneya
The entrances were on the south and were
reached by flights of steps. It was origin-
ally intended that lanterns should have sur-
mounted both buildings, but on account
of the cost these were discarded to enable
John Hayden, the contractor, to make the
pilasters of stone instead of Roman cement.
The cost of the two buildings was £3,800.
The planswere by Dr. Baldwinand Mr. Swait.
The corner stones of the edifices were laid
on Saturday, April 24, 1824, by the Liew-
tenant-Governor attended by his staff amd
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THE,FIRST JAIL IN YORK, 1800-24.
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aceompanied by the members of the Exeeu-
tive Council, judges, lawyers, magis-
trates and priocipal inhabitants of
York. A sovereign and a  half
sovereign, several silver and copper
coins and some newspapers were deposited
in the stone. The jail and court house
were never torn down, but were remodeled
and form part of the buildings now stand-
ing on their sites. York Chambers, at the
eorner of Poronto and Court streets, com-
prises the old jail. In 1836 J. Young pub-
lished, among other pictures of old Toron-
to, lithographic views of the jail and cours-
house which may now and then be found in
the possession of old residents. Near the
front entrance of the jail stood the parish
stocks. The open space in front of the jail
and court house became the public place
of the town after the erection of these edi-

the Sheriff's room, aftey receiving the final
anneuncement that there could be no fare
ther delay, the white collars on each sile
of his face were wet through and through
with the tears that were gushing from hia
eyes and pouring down his eheeks, Ho was
just realizing the fact that nothing {urtlrer
could be dome, and in a few moments after-
wards the execution actually took plage.”
The jail yard was enclosed oam three sides
with a picket fence about fifteen teet high
In this yard Lount and Matshews were ex-
eeuted for participation in the Mackenzie
rebellion. The governor of the jail waz
Mr. John Kidd.

Mr. €bartes Durand, who was corfived in
this jail with Lount and Matthews, gives
the following account of their execution :—

““ The hours of April 12, 1838, were the

saddest we ever spent. None of us could

—
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THE JAIL, N. E. CORNER KING AND TORONTO STREETS—1824-1840.

fices, and was called Court Honse Sguare.
Here on one oceasion William Lyon Mac-
kenzie was borne aloft in triumph by the
crowd, wearing around his neck and en
his breast a massive gold chain and medsl,
and here, also, on another cecasion, he was
pelted by a mob with missiies of every kind.
A touching incident conpected with Wil-
liam Tyon Mackensie is thus related by
Dr. Scadding as occurring on the steps off]
the court house: ““Sentence of death had
been pronounced on a young man ome: em-
ployed in bis printing office. He had been
vigorously exertiog nimself tv obtain from
the exccutive a mitigation of the extreme
penalty. The day aud even the hour for
the execution had arrived and no message
of reprieve had been transmisted from the

It was &
Looking through the
window of our room we saw the scaffold. It
was built by the late Mr. Storm. His fore-
man was Matthew Bheard, then a fine young
Yorkshireman, afferward mayor of the city.
He was expected to share in the work of

sieep and we were all early astir.
fine spring morning.

building the seaffold.
to it,’ said he; ° at and Matihews bave
done nothing that #ght not have done
rogsell, and I'll newer help to build a gal-
lows toshang them.’” So, without the fore-
man’s assistance, the gallows was erected
b near the spot where the police court baild-
ing wow stands. Apcund the gallows the
Orange-militia stoed in large nmmbers with
their muskets. The aothorities dreaded »
rescue. While we were watching and talk-

¢T’1l not put a hend

Lieutenant-Governor. Az he came out of

ing we heard steps on the stairs, and then
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the clank of cheins, It was poor Lount
coming up, guarded by his jailers, to say
good-bye to us. He stopped at the door.
We could not see him, but there were sad
hearts in that room as we heard Samuei
Lount’s voice, without a quiver in it, give
us his last greeting : ‘Be of good courage,
boys. I am not ashamed of anything T've
done. [ trust in God, and I'm going to die
like a man.” We answered him as well as
we could, and sorvowiully listened until the
sound of his sturdy tramp and clanking
chains died away. Idon’t know why Peter
Maithews did not come up with Lount, but
i saw him as they were led through the jail
yard to the scaffold where two nooses were
swinging. They never faltered. I saw
them walk up the steps to the floor of the
scaffold as firmly as if they were on the
pavement. Again 1 saw them kneeling
while Bishop Richardson, who attended
Lount, and another clergyman who attend-
ed Matthews, prayed. Deputy Sheriff
Robert Beard cfficiated. Lount and Mat-
thews shook hands with the clergvmen, and
when we looked again their bodies were
dangling in the air. Matthews struggled
bard but Lount died instantly. When the
Dodies had been exposed for a shorc time
they were cut down and quietly buried in
she Potter’s Field, near where the Yorkville
svenue fire hall now stands. Thomas An-

derson, who lives on Yonge streer, and Mr.
Gibson, a builder, assisted in 1843 in the re-
moval of the bodies from the Potter’s Field
30 the Necropolis, where they now lie near
she western fence, with a plain marble slab
over their remains, bearing the simple in-
seription, ‘Samuel Lount, Peter Matthews,

1838.°® The third jail of Toronto,
was butlt overlooking the harbour on a
green near the bay side, not far from the
present cormer of Front and Berkeley
ssreets. 'The latter street at that time was

continued down te the water in o narrow
road. I& was ncarly on the site of this jail
that the first frame buildings were erected
before the end of the eighteenth century for
the use of the Houses of Parliament and the
Courts of Justice. They consisted of two
halls, offices and a pablie library. When
the Americans captured York 4n 1813 these
buildings were burned and all the books,
doeuments and records in them were de-
stroyed. A plain cubical brick block was
put up on the same site for the use of the
Legistature in 1818. It was aecidentally
burned in 1824, and for some years after-
wards the ruins were still to be seen. Then
in 1840 was erected the large -stracture of
Kingston grey cut limestone, part of which
is shown in the illustration. It was from

plans by Mr J. . Howard,
and built by Mr. John Harper. It
cost  £80,000. Wings radiated from

the central portion, where a turret was
placed. The bare walis were pierced high
up in each storey with a row of arched win-
dows, and the whole building plainly said :
This is & prison. A stome wall a dozen
feet high epeircled the whde struetare.
On the top of this wall a secaffelding was
erected, and old residents remember a pub-
lic double execution which took p’ace there
years ago. Long before daylight farmers’
waggons came rattling into town, and early
in the morning a great crowd encircled the
jail. As the drop fell and two lives with
all their possibilities passed out from the

| misshapen bundles of clethes that hung

dangling between earth and sky all the re-
pressed excitement of the assemblage burst
forth in a moan of horror. The entrance
to the jail was on the north from Front
street. On the roof was a small brass can-
non used for firing salntes on the Que-n’s
Birthday and other occasions. The green
by the jail, running down to the water,
was a favourite play ground for the boys of
Toronto. Opposite was an old tavern, The
Fenian prisoners taken in the raid of 1866
were jailed in this prison and the
grand juryvisited themto inquireif they had
all the comforts compatible with prison life.
Among these prisoners was a Catholie priest.
On the building of the new jail across the
Don the Front street structure was no longer
used for prison purposes. For a time it
was occupled by a safe manufacturing firm.
Last year the ground was purchased by the
Gas Company, and the building was torn
down to make room for new buildings.

The fourth and present jail, on the east
side of the Don, is too weil known to need
much description. It was buiit twenty-four
years ago. The material is white brick.
The facade is toward the south. It is a
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simple and massive looking structure. The
central portion is something like a Greek
temple in its architecture. On each side are
plain looking wings, and it is in these that
the prisoners are confined. The east wing
is devoted to the males and the west wing
to the females. The capacity of the jail is
184 prisoners.  The accompanying illustra-
tion gives an excellent view of the building.

CHAPTER XXXV.
THE OLD RED LION HOTEL-

The Most Famous Hostelry in the Annals of
York—Associations Which Cimster About
it—William Lyon Mackenzie's Triumph.

Above B oor street a few doors, on the
east side of Yonge street, a huge sign with

» lion rampafit painted on it,swinging above

the central entrance stands a large white

stuccoed building a little out of plumb now,
barren of stucce in places and wearing
altogether an abandoned look, but worthy
of attention from the promineut part it
played i sociasl and political affairs
for over a quarter of a century.
It is the famoms old Red Lion
hotel, the first place for the accommodation
of travellers in the district, subsequently
known as Yorkville, and a hostelry which
for nearly eighty years kept its doors and
gates open for the accommodation of man
and Beast. Deprived of its license two
years ago the old building now stands silen:
and mournful thronged with the ghosts of
bearded, bronzed farmers, patriotic reform-
ers, intriguing politicians, bright eyed girls,
and spruce young men—all classes that made
up the society of York and it emvirons.
Its walls echo with strains of music and the
merry flick-flack of dancing feet, with fierce:
political harangues, noisy disputes and wine-
provoked laughter. The facade of the
building, as sHown i the illustration,
stretches along Yonge street over ome hun-
dred feet. At first it consisted of the cen-
tral or mamm bufldings; afterward wings
and extensions were added. Originally this
famous old tavern was clap-boarded and
painted white, bat, asis so frequent with
old Toronto buiiding, its walls were stuc-
eoed. In the windows are the antique little
square panes of glass as they were put in
the black sashes at the beginning of the cen-
tury before anyone now living can remem-
ber. Only asmall portion of the ground
floor is now utilized, a little part as a fruit
store, and the mnorthern part, which
once was the bar-room with its beavy
eak beams, as a flour and feed store. Per-
haps to-day the most interesting featare
of the old inn is the bail-room in the sccond

storey. Thisis an apartment about 40 x 20
feet in dimensions and 18 feet high with
a ceiling arching from the sides. At each

end i8 a large old-fashioned chim-
ney and fire-place. The walls are
covered with panels of wall paper

with narrow blue borders. At the basis of
the arch isa painted flaming red border.
From the centre of the areh depend hooks
for sconces, for the old hosteiry was in its
prime before the days of oil ; when candles
were in universal use. This ball-room at-
tracted the devotecs of the dance who drove
out or wa'ked in pairs from York to attend
the entertainments given there. How many
times through those antique windows
have floated out the soundsof revelry.
How many a couple, whose voices
are now hushed in the tombs, have
whispered soft words in this room. Per
haps here many a maiden has breathed that
wonderful ¢“ Yes.” Many an officer from
the @arrison or half-pay officers settled in
the neighbourhood frequented these social
gatherings and lent to them something like
an air of aristocracy. But to retyrn to the
origin of the Red Lion. When Yeork conld
claim to be nothing more than a little ham-
let and when all the region back of King
street now so thickly populated was peopled
only with oak and pine trees, Mr. Playter.
received from the Crown a grant of
two hendred acres of land, upon one eorner
of which the Red Lion was subsequnently
built. This property afterwards passed into
the hands of Mr. MeDougall, who early
the present century so'd it to Daniel Tiers,
who was an early settler, for in 1801 ard
1802 his name appears as subscribine to the
fund for improving Yonge street. Upon his
newly - acquired property. Mr. Tiers
buiit the Red Lion hotel on the
central portion of i, in what year
is not absolutely known, probably be-
tween 1808 and 1810. Local historians

generally give the date as 1807
or 1808, buv it could scarcely have
been built before the Istter Qate

at least, for in the Gazette of Janvary
12, 1808, Mr. Tiers advertises that he has
opened a public house in the town of York.
This #s the advertisement :—¢* Beefsteak
and beer house. The subseriber informs his
iriends and the public that he has openea a
house of entertainment next door to Mr.
Hunt’s, where his friends will be served
with victaaling in good order on the short-
est notice and at a cheap rate, He will
furnish the best strong beer at 8d, New
York currency. per gailon, if drank in his
house, and 2s 6d, New York currency, taken
out. As he intends to keepaconstant sapply
of racked beer, with a view not to iasjure
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the health of his customers, and for which
he will have to pay cash, the very amall
profits at which he offers to sell will put it
eut of his power to give credit, and he
hopes none will be asked. N. B.—He will
immediately heve entertainment for wan
and horse. Daniel Tiers, York, 12th Jan.,
1808.” Like little stations on railroads
sometimes prove to be the nucleus
aronnd which great cities grow. so
Tierss Red Lion Hotel may be
regarded as the germ of what was afterward
the flourishing imeorporation of Yorkville,
and is now part of Toronte, and even now
no longer out of town will in the near future
be the heart of the city. The eatablishment
of the Red Lion was hailed with joy by the
farmers who wanted refreshments for them-

' N

better, and even {n well st
where the soil 1 ‘clay
carting heavy aa in the blne
region of New York some Uni%d
States roads are not much betfer to-day, Ia
Sir John Vanbrugh’s eomedy of the ¢ Pro-
voked Husband,” John Moody, describi
the journey of Lady Townley from ﬁ;ﬁ
York to London, thus complains : * Some
impish trick or other plagued us all the day
long. Crack goes one thing; boumce goéds
another ; woa, says Rogers then sowse, we
are all fast set in a slough ; wham, eries
Miss ; seream go the maids, and bawl jugh
as thoi they were stuck, and so, mercy
on us, this was the trade from merning to
night !”

McTaggart in his*Threec yearsinCanada,”
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THE BALL AND PUBLIC ROOM —RED LION—1808-88.

selves and their horses after the hard strug-
gle involved in crossing the Blue Hill or
Rosedale ravine, the perils and labours of
which were locally famous. It was called the
Blue Hill because strata of blue clay cropp-
ed out in plaees on both sides of the gorge.
The waggon track passed down and up by
two losg difficult siopes cut in the steep
sides of the lofty banks. After
the anvumn raine, and during the spring
thaws the condition of the road wag inde-
scribubly bad, and at this time the samc
thing might be said of every rod of Yonge
street throngh its thirty miles of length.
Dr. Scaddirg extenuates the horrible condi-
tion of Yonge street by pointing out that

gives the following description of the meth-
od of extricating a vehicle from a mud hole,
the time being as late as 1829. He says:
“There are few roads and these are general-
ly excessively bad aund fall of mud-holes, in
whieh if a carriage fall there is great trouble
to get it out again. The mail coaches or
waggons are often in this predicament when
the passengers instantly jump off and hav-
ing stripped rails off the fence they lift it up

by sheer force. Coming wup brows
they sometimes get in; the horses
are then taken ouc and yoked to the

stera instead of the front, and it is drawn
out backwards.” In unpleasant proximity
to the Red Lion was the Potter’s Ficld, the

English roads a century ago were not much | general or strangers’ burying grouud, which
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was located on the west side of Yonge
street, above Bloor. When it was laid out
for the purpose of a cemetery in 1825 this
wag considered an out-of-the-way place, but
in 1845 the city had grown to such an extent
as to demand its removal to the pre-
sent Necropolis. The builder who hired
the timber and put together the frame
of the Red Lion was a man by the name
of Sanders, who had come over with Gover-
nor Simcoe and had aiterwards settled ia
the neighbourhood of Bloor street. He was
killed at the blowing up of the old magazine
in the war of 1812. The value of land im
those days and in this vicinity was extremely
small. Mr. Tiers once offered to sell the hotel
and the two hundred acres adjoining it to
William S8mith, the grandfather of the pre-
sent John Smith, for $400 and this offer was
declined, the price being thought excessive.
For many a year a big pump and a trough
stood in front of the hotel for the refreshment
of wearied horses. The stage eoaches made
this a regular halting place. The farmers
‘rom Holland’s Landing.and other outlying
districts who were compelied to team their
produce to York sometimes taking two or
three days in the journey, made a practice
of stopping here during the might and at
early moruing proceeding to she market
By staying a¢ the R>d Tion instead of going
at once to town the farmers evaded double
toll at the Bloor street gate as they could
go to market and return the same day.
Thus it bappened as the heme distriet
grew in population the patronage of the
Red Lion inereased and nightly it was
crowded with farmers, who over their
glasses discussed the future prospects of the
couatry, the political questions of the day
and the personnel of the officiels of the
time, while frequently mo doubt “news
mach older than their ale weat round ”
These pightly assemblages made the Red
Lion the most important political centie in
the district when party feeling ran high. The
Red Lion was one of the polling places for
the clection of representatives for the
home district and in thowe days
the balloting heing prolonged for a
week at a time the wayside inn was an ani-
mated and excited place. There are some
old residents who remember Tiers, and
speak of him as a typical landlord, pleasant
snd affable and much ineclined to give orac-
ular opinions on every qhestion that wight
arise. A writer in the March number of
Sibbald’s Canadian Magazine for 1833 gos-
sips thus abowt the first landlord of the
Red Lion -

““An old acquaintance of mine, the land-
lord of the ‘Red Lion,” who was a jolly
fellow, although his name was Tiers—what

his wife’s name was before marriage is now
forgotten for Tiers dropped upon the word
and blotted it out forever—puzzled a gentle-
man sorely in my presence by telling him
thav he was tired of public life and must
retire from the bar. I, myself, was once
canvassing for a seat in parliament and ‘ap-
plied to an Irish friend to let me have some
wild land, that being considered the
only qualification necessary in a member.
I began by telling my friend Tiers in the ele-
vated and patriotic style which the election
time produces that [ was desirous of having
astake in the eountry. ¢ Thin,’ says he,
¢ you’d better goto Old Irelandfor that same,
for the never a steak you'll get in thiscountry
fit to ait forlove or money.’” In the troubled
times between 1830 and 1837 the Red TWion
came prominently into view as a politieal fac-
tor. Here the Reformers met, denounced the
oligarchy which ruled Canada, and tormu-
lated resolutions which they ooly then ad-
opted, but which have since been ratified by
the people and now form part of the Con-
stitution. One of the most notable scenes
that the Red Lion ever witnessed occurred
in the ballroom. To understand it fully i
i3 necessary to retrograde a little. In
the winter of 1831 William Lyon
Mackenzie was a member of the Legislature.
On the 12th of December of that year he
was found guilty of a high breach of the
privileges of the House for publishing in
his paper, the Colonial Advoeate, articles
whieh were pronounced to be grossly false,
scandalous and defamatory. By a vote of
24 to 15 he was expelled from the House
the same day. On the afternoch of Mr.
Mackenzie’s expulsion his friends to the
number of a thousand gathered together
and proceeding to his house om Rich-
mond street seized the man rejected
by the Assembly as a libeller, and carried
him through the streets in triumph
amid loud acclamations. They stopped at
the Parliamentary buildings and seat ap
cheers of victory and defiance. Lioud cheers
were given for the R'v. Egerton Ryerson,
the editor of the Guardian, who had
espoused Mackenzie’s cause. Mackensie
after this demounstration addressed the
crowd from the window of the Sun Hotel
and at the con lision of his speech round
after round of applause was given for
the Sailor King, King Willlam the
Fourth, Earl Grey and the Reform
Ministry. When Mackenzie had retired
the meeting was re-organized, and resolu-
tlons were passed snstaining hig course as a
politician and journalist, and pledging the
meeting to present him with a gold medal,
accompanied by an appropriate inscription
and address. At the same sitting at which

PR——
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Mr. Mackenzie’s expulsion was decreed the
House ordered a new election of a member
in his place. The election was held
at the Red Lion, January 2, 1832. Although
the election was held on the same day that
town meetings were in progress throughout
the country, over two thousand persons were
present. The morning was clear and plea-
sant, the weather mild and agreeable, and the
sleighing excellent. By 10 o’clock the
farmers had assembled in great numbers
around the hustings, and soon afterward
“ the Yonge street tiiumphal car carrying
the ensign of the United Kingdom, and
several Highland pipers passed down toward
the town followed by farmers in sleighs.
Forty sleighs came down into York and
escorted their champion to the polls. It

was generally believed that Colonel Wash-
burn would stand up against Mackenzie, but
name

he withdrew his and gave his

been kept open for a week. The assemblage
was the largest ever witnessed up to
that time in the Home District on any
occasion. Upon the closing of the poll
the committee appointed to present the
medal and address followed by as many
as could get in proceeded to the ball room.
A great shont went up for Mackenzie. At
this there envered at the eastern end of the
ball-room a slight built man of scarcely
medium height, five feet six inches, with a
massive head, quite bald, high and broad in
the frontal region, well rounded, a long
broad chin, lips firmly compressed, deep
dimpled cheeks set in a framework of

whiskers, massive brow, over arching
deep set, keen, restless, piercing, blue
eyes that seemed to read ome’s very

thoughts and ceasclessly and expressively
active fingers that kept opening and closing
nervously. This was William Lyon Mae-
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FAC-SIMILE MEDAL PRESENTED TO WILLIAM LYON MACKENZIE, 1832,

support to Mr. Street, who was introduced
to tne electors by Col. E. Yv. Thomson. Mnr,
Mackenzie was proposed for his third candi-
dature by Joseph Shepard, of York, second-.
ed by Jogart of Whitchurch. Mackenzie
made a speech, and the names of the candi-
dates were submitted. A forest ot hands
went up when Mackenzie’s name was pro-
posed. But onehand was raised when Mr.
Street’s name was presented. Mr. Street
demanded a ballot. At 1:20 o’clock the
polls opened. At 3 o’clock Mackenzie
had polled one hundred and nineteen votes
and his oppounent one. The latter then
withdrew from the unequal contest. Over
one thousand voters stood around the polls,
and for twenty-four hours after the election
closed they continued to pour in. It was
estimated that five thousand votes would
have been cast for Mackenzie had the polls

kenzie. After the tumult had subsided
Charles MclIntosh, in behalf of the com-
mittee presented Mr. Mackenzie with a
gold medal and chain and read an address
to which Mr. Mackenzie made a brief reply.
The heavy cable chain attached to the medal
contained forty links each about one inch in
léngth. The medal was: of fine workman-
ship and cost $250. On one side were
the rose, thistle and shamrock with the
words, ‘His Majesty King William IV.,
the People s Friend.” On the other side was
the inscription, *Presented to William
Lyon Mackenzie, Esquire, by his Constitu-
ents of the County of York, Upper Canada,
as a token of the approbation of his Political
Career, January 2nd, 1834 A procession
was then formed in front of the Red Lion,
which wended its way to town. It was led
by a large sleigh belonging to Mr. Mont-
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gomery, drawn by four horses and filled with
a score of men and the Highland pipers play-
ing vigorously. Followingitcameone hundred
and thirty-four sleighs; carrying from five
to fifteen persons. It was estimated that
two thousand men wers in the line. The
march was past the Government House,
Parliament House, Mr. Cawthra’s and Mr.
Mackenzie’s houses, at each of which cheers
were given. A little printing press
kept warm by a furnace beneath 1it, stood
on one of the sleighs. As the procession
moved through the streets boys struck
off New Year’s addresses and threw
them to the people. Over the press floated
a crimson flag with the motto :—¢ Lhe Li-
berty of the Press.” Other flags carried
aloft bore such legends as ‘King William
IV. and Reform,’. ¢ Bidwell and the Glori-
ous Minority,” ‘1832, a Good Beginning,’
‘A rree Press the Terror of Sycophants,’
Much spirit was manifested in the proceed-
ings, but general order and sobriety were
maintained. There was no treating of any
kind either at the polls or afterwards. Many
soldiers and non-commissioned officers of
the 79th Highland Regiment, then stationed
here, took a great interest in the election.
Quite a number went to the polls and join-
ed the triumphal procession on its entry in-
to the town, cheering while the bag pipes
played, and the farmers rejoiced in their
victory. But they paid dear for their en-
thusiasm. Governor Colborne ordered the
articles of war to be read at the head of the
regiment for several days, and directed that
the soldiers should be confined in the fort

during the great public meeting of
January 19t¢h, and also during the
whole week of the February
election. Upon the cessation of the public

demonstrations in the streets of the town
Mr. Mackenzie was carried into his house on
theshouldersof hisexnltant admirers.” With
this episode the political history of the Red
Lion virtually ends. Public meetings and
elections were afterward held there, but
Mackenzie’s triumph on this occasion was
the culminating point in its existence. Suc-
ceeding Daniel Tiers in the management of
this old hostelry were Messrs. Thos. Young,
who had the house in1846-47, Wm. Trueman,
who had it in 1850, and Messrs. Price, Free-
man and Naylor, Thomas Elgie, George
Davis, Stephen Stroud, William Kirk and
Thomas Holmes. The hotel is now the
property of the Hon. Justice Falconbridge,
and is in the hands of R. J. Griffith & Co,
for sale. Most of the characters who fig-
ured in the Red Lion’s history have gome
over to the great majority, and soon the
old inn will follow the course of all mun-
dane things,

CHAPTER XXXVI],
BERKELEY HOUSE.

The Homestead of the Small Family at the
Coruner of King and Berkeley Streeis—
Major Small and His Descendants.
Among those who accompanied Governor
Simcoe from England to Niagara and thence
to York was Major John Small, a member
of an old family in Gloucesterghire, where
he had been a major of militia and mili-
tary instructor in 1778. Major Small
came over to Canada in the capacity of
clerk of the Executive Council and clerk of
the Crown. He arrived at Niagara Mon-
day, April 13th, 1793. Of this event the
Gazette and Oracle, in its first number, pub-
lished April 18th, 1793, says : ** We have
had a remarkably warm winter ; the ther-
mometer in the severest time has not been

lower than nine degrees above zero
by Fahrenheit’s scale, Lake FErie has
not been frozen over and there has
been very littleice on Lake Ontario. On

Monday evening, April 13th, there arrived
in the river at Niagara his Majesty’s
armed schooner, the Onondago, in company
with the Lady Dorchester, merchantman
after an agreeable passage from Kingston
of thirty-six hours. Among the passengers
werethe following gentlemen :—J. Small,
E«q., Clerk of the Executive Council
Lieut. McCarnof the 60th regiment, Cap-
tain Thomas Fraser, Mr. J. Denison, Mr.
Joseph Forsyth, merchant, Mr. L. Craw-
ford, Captain Archibald Macdonald and
Mr, Hathaway.” On Thursday, May 3rd,
Governor Simcoe, who had reached Niagara
previous to Major Small’s arrival, set out
tor Toronto around the head of Lake Onu-
tario in boats, accompanied by several mili-
tary gentlemen, one of whom was probably
Major Small. The same evening his Ma-
jesty’s vessels the Caldwelland Buffalo sailed
for the same place. This was the first visit
paid by Governor S8imcoe to the site of York.
Their journey of exploration ended May 13,
when they returned to Navy Hall, Niagara,
by boat around the lake. The Governor
lost but liftle time in making arrangements
to sectle at the place he had selected as the
site of hix new Capital.  During the latter
part of July of the same year he sent for-
ward in batteaux around the lake the
first division of the Queen’s Rangers
from Queenston to Toronto, which had al-
ready been christened York and shortly
afterward he rent another division in the
Onondago and Caldweil, following them
himself July 29 with his suite and the re-
mainder of th: Rangers in the war schooner
Mississaga, Major Littlehales being left a$
Navy Hall for a few days to
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arrange household matters for the Governor
The following spring Major Small built a
house at the south-west corner of an acre
plot of ground, extending from King street
to Front. Of this building Dr. Scadding
says :—‘* Mr. Small’s originally was one of
the usual low looking domiciles of the
country with central poriion and two gable
wings, somewhat after the fashion of many
an old country manor house in England.
The material of Mr. Small’s dwell-
ing was hewn timber. It was
one of the earliest domestic erections in
York. When re-constructed at a subse-
quent period Mr. Charles Small preserved
in the enlarged and elevated building now
known as Berkeley House, the shape and
even a portion of the inner substance of the
original structure. We have before ns a
curious plan, undated but old, of the piece
of ground originally occupied and en-
closed by Mr. Small as a yard and
garden round his primitive homestead,
occupied and enclosed as it would seem
before any building lots were set
off by authority on the Government reserve
or common here. The plan referred to
is entitled * A sketch showing the land
occupied by John Small, Esq., upon the re-
serve appropriated for the Government
House,at York,by His Excellency Lieut.-Gov.
Simcoe.” Anirregular oblong,coloured red, is
bounded on the north side by King street
and is lettered within * Mr. Small’s Im-
provements.” Round the irregular piece
thus shown lines are drawn,.enclosing addi-
tional space and bringing the whole ingo the
shape of a parallelogram ; the parts outside
the irregularly shaped red portion are
coloured yellow, and on the yellow this
memorandum appears :—* This added would
make an acre.’ The block thus brought
into shapely form 1is about one-half
of the piece of ground that at present
appertains to Berkeley House. The
plan before us also incidentally shows where
the town of York was supposed to termi-
nate ; an inscription—front line of the town
—runs along the following route :—Up
what is now the lane through Dr. Widmer’s
prop rty, and then at a right angle east-
ward along what is now the north boundary
of King street, opposite the block which

it was necessary to get into shape
roand Mr.  Small's  first  improve-
ments, King street proper in this

plan terminates at Ontario street ; from the
eastern limit of Ontario street the continua-
tion of the hichway is marked ‘Road - to
Quebec,” with an arrow showing the direc-
tion in which the traveller must keep his
horse’s head if he would reach that ancient
city. The arrow at the end of the inscrip-
{

tion just given points slightly upwards, indi-
cating the fact that the said road to Quebec
tends slightly to the north after leaving Mr.
Small’s clearing.” Major Small was one
of that small zroun of prominent men whose
rames continually occur in the old docu-
ments relating to the early history of York.
His name is found as one of the largest sub-
scribers to the Yonge street improvements
of 1801 and 1802. He was a pewholder in
St. James’ Church from its commencement
in 1803, and was a reguiar attendant at the
services. Later. in 1822, he with his sons
Charles and James E., subscribed to the
fund for the construction of two bridges
over the Don. He was an active member of
the Loyal and Patriotic Society of Upper
Canada, and was one of the com-
mittee of the society that voted Andrew
Borland £60 for his bravery in the war of
1812 at Detroit, Queenston and York, he
having been shot six times at the latter
place. In 1801 Mr. Small was a candidate
for member of the House of Assembly to re-
presentconjointly the County of Durham,
the east riding of the County of York and
the County of Simcoe,but he was defeated by
Mr. A. Macdonell by a vote of 112 to 32
On the arrival at York of Lieut.-Governor
Peter Hunter a deputation of Quakers from
the settlement up on Yonge street came to
him to complain of the delay the Quakers
experienced in getting putents for their
lands, they being sent from one office to

another. The Governor requested the
members of the delegation to meet
him the next day at noon, and in the

meantime he issued orders to D. W. Smith,
the Surveyor-General; John Small, clerk
of the Executive Council; Mr. Burns.
clerk of the Crown, and te Mr. Jarvis, Seo-
retary and Registrar of the province, to
explain why rthe patents had not heen
issued. So vigorous were the measures the
Governor took to confirm the rights of the
Quakers that they returned to the settlement
with a highopirionof the newadministration
and also with their patents. On the morn-
ing of January 3rd, 1800, Mr. Small fought
a duel with Attorney-General John White
in the grounds back of the Governmens
buildings. Mr. White was shot in the
hip and soon after died. Mr. Small
was indicted, tried for murder and acquit-
ted. Among the carly residents of York
‘was & man whoused to go about making
silnouectes for any one who would buy them.
Several of these are now cherished by the
oid families of the town. One hanging in
the dining room of Berkeley House repre-
gsents Major Small in the costume
of the period seated on his favourite
horse, ‘“0:d Bob.” It is called an excellent
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Jikeness. On either side of it hang portraits
in oil of the Major and Mrs. Small. The
former is represented as a fine-looking,
smoothly-shaven, gray haired man of the
English type of countenance. Before the
erection of the Government buildings the
meetings of the Executive Council
were frequently held in Berkeley House
and Governor Simcoe as well as all the
other notables of the day were frequent
visitors, for it was a well known fact that
Major Small kept open house. He would
stand in the doorway and call out to any
acquaintances who might pass by, ‘‘come in,
1 have got a good dinner for you to-day.”
Major Small died here in 1829. His wife
also died in the same building. About 45
years ago, Charles Small, the son of Major
Small, rebuilt and enlarged Berkeley
Hous:, giving it the appearance it now has,
as shown in the accompanying sketch. It
is'a big rambling building, covering a larg

extent of ground, and from its peculiar-
ities of architecture it seldom fails to arrest
the attention of the passer-by. There are
thirteen rooms in the building, all of which
are large, and several, such as the drawing
and dining rooms, at the west side of the
house, 18x45 feet in dimensions.  Charles
Small was clerk of the Crown and Pleas
Court of King’s bench, occupying the posi-
tion held by his father before him. During
the life of Charles, Berkeley House was one
of the great social centres and few indeed
are the members of the old aristocracy
who have not danced or dined beneath its
roof. A dancing card for a ball
given at Berkeley House, February 18, 1857,
is lettered in gold on glazed white paper.
On the outside is the small coat of arms and
crest, and the order of the twenty dances
comprising the quadrille, polka, waltz,
galop, lancers, schottische, cotillion, and
polika redowa, is much the same as at a ball
of the present day. Charles Small and his
brother James E., were pupils of Dr. Stuart
at the Home District School. The latter

was one of the seconds of Samuel
Jarvis in the duel with John
Ridout, in 1817, in which Ridout

was killed. A remarkable coincidence is
that Charles Small,who was an invalid dur-
ing the last years of his life, died in 1864
within a few feet of the spot swhere he was
born in 1806. Mrs. Charles Small possessed
considerable artistic ability and her pic-
tures are now shown with pride by her
sons. She also died in the old home-
stead. Twenty years ago when the present
Mr. John Small was making some
alterations in the house the workman came
upon the logs used in the construction of
the original building.  In recent years the

old house has been converted into three
houses, numbered 299, 301 and 303 East
King street. The central one of these con-
tains the remains of the log house erected
by Major John Small, and it was here that
he lived and died. Like most homesteads
Berkeley House has its share of heirlooms,
not the least interesting of which is the
great dining table, at whose polished sides
fifty persons have frequently sat down. On
one side of the dining-room is a large rose-
wood sideboard, and beneath it a cellaret, a
curiosity in tnese days, being a big lead-
lined rosewood chest, brought from England
for the keeping of wines and liquors. The
ancient windows are tongued and grooved,
go' that when closed the sashes fit
snugly into the frame. All the woodwork
is hand made. Here aud there are relics of
olden times—a rosewood desk, with count-
less pigeon-holes ; shoe-buckles, worn in the
days when silk hose, knee-breeches and
powdered hair were in vogue ; steel and
ivo1y hooks for pulling on Wellington boots,
and old prints of rural English scenes, mel-
low with age. At the birth of each of his
sons, John, James and Charles, Major
Small planted a pear tree a% the rear
of the house. A few years ago two of the
trees being somewhat decayed, were cut
down, but the third one is still standing,
with a great bole two feet in diameter, and
what is more, it bears fruit of good quality
every year, and each spring is loaded with
blossoms. As it cannot be less than 90 years
old, it is undoubtedly the most venerable
pear treein the city. Stretching out behind
the house is a fine lawn, which though stiil
of good proportions is much eurtailed, for
the lot originally ran down to Front street,
and here where now arises the noise and
smoke of tlie modern factory the present
Mr. Jobn Small used to steal out with his
oun in the morning and shoot quai in the
thick asparagus beds at the rear of the
paternal estate.

The 61d Order Changeth,

There are among the many changes in the
city during the last forty years few more
startling than the metamorphoses that have
been wrought in the western and north-
western districts.

Young people of 15 or 16 can hardly be-
lieve what changes have occurred, they have
been so sirange, varied and numerous.

Take, for instance, the angle to the north-
west of the city formed by Shaw and Arthur
streets, Here now (1893) are houses, stores,
and vacant Jand. There is a good deal of
the latter certainly, but none under cultiva-
tion, yet in 1855 it yielded as fine agricul-
tural produce as could be desired.
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CHAPTER XXXVIL
F. C. CAPREOL’S RESI_ENCES.

The Homes and Enterprises of the Founder
of the First Rallroad in Canada—Remark-
able Capture of Two Murderers.

Several centuries ago there Hved fn Italy
a noble family by the name of Capriok.
One branch of the family afterwards went
to France where descendants of it are now
living. Another branch went to England
and taking up residence there Angii-
cizel the name by dropping the final
letter, making it Capreol. Mr. Mor-
gan in his history of celebrated
Canadians erroneously gives the family a
French origin under the name De Capriole,
but this spelling has never been adopted by
the branch which settled in France, nor has
the prefix ever been assumed. In June,
1803, was born to Thomas Capreol and his
wife at Bishop’s Stortford, Hertfordshire,
England, a sscond son, who was named
Frederick Chase Capreol, Chase being the
tamily name on the side of the mother, who
was the niece of the late Sir Richard
Chase and a relative of the Marquis
of Salisbury. In 1828, when twenty-five
years old young Capreol was sent to Canada
to assistin setthing up the affairs of the
North-west Fur Company. Dauring his two
years’ residence he made his home in Mon-
treal where vhe offices of rhe company were
located. Returning in 1830 he spent three
years in his native country and then eame
back to America. Soon after his arrival on
the western continent he married Miss Sky-
ring, a young lady who bad b en a passenger
on the same ship across the Atlantie.  The
same year he esme to Toronto, or York as it
centinued to be for about twelve months,
and with his bride lived for a short time at
the British Coffce House, which stood where
now is the Rossin House, the landlord at
that time being Mr. Keating. Shortly after.
ward Mr. Capreol bought a large tract of

land at the Cr dit, and for a time lved
there. Coming back again to Toronto, he

took up his wesidence for about a year on
the west side of Bay street, a litdle south of
King street, where the club house now
stands Leaving this houss, he moved into
the building at the north-west corner of
Yonge and Melinda streets. Here on the
ground floor he condmeted an anction room,
the upper floor being used for living
apartments for his family. This was a large,
long, roomy building standing directly on
the corner. It was two stories, but rather
low, orviginally it was olapboarded and

painted white, but afterward it was rough-
cast. The front was on Yonge street. The
centre of the front of the building was top-
ped with a flat roof, bnt at either end of the
facade, the building was projected several
feet, these projections being surmounted
with gables. At the rear on the
upper floor was a piazza running
the width of the house. The entrance to
the auction room was through a large door
with big windows each side on Yonge
street. On the edge of the roof was a long
board sign, with a white ground and in
black letters the words ¢ Commercial Sales
Rooms.” Over the main doorway leading
into the auction room was a large Britisk
crown, carved in wood and surmourted by
a Maltese cross ; these emblems in recogni-
tion of the loyalty of the owner, not only to
the Crown, but to the Order of Knighte
Templar, of which he was a frater. Mr.
Capreol was a meomber of Geoffrey de St
Aldemar Preceptory of Knights Templar of
Toronto, and a member of King Solomon’s
Lodge, A.F. & A M., No. 22 G.R.C. Mr.
Robert Townsend, when he was working for
Mr. Samue Rogers, well remembers the
minute instructions Mr. Capreol gave him
when he had to re-paint this ornament.
The entravce to the domestic rooms
was through adoor at the end of the house,
on the Melinda street side, and up a narrow
interior flight of stairs. At the rear of the
house, enclosed by a fence, was a capacious
yard, in the back part of which was a
building originally used as the Board
room of the Northern Railway Company.
This building was built by the Baldwin
familty, and was afterwards occupied by
some of them from 1825 to 1832. At that
time ¥ was taken by Francis Hincks, after-
wards the Hon. Francis Hincks, as a whole-
sale dry-goods house. On Mr. Hincks’ re-
tirement Mr. Capreol opened a commereial
salesroom about 1840, which he continued
until about 1850. During the earlier stage
of the promotion of the Northern Railway
he had an office around the corner, entrance
from Melinda street. Prior te this there
was a door in the south part of the building
on Yonge street, where an office for Punck
in Canada was kept. Punch in Canada was
a comic paper, pubiished by Mr. DeWalden.
The cartoons and illustrations were made by
the Shanleys. After Mr. Capreol vacated
the building it was occupied by several
people, and when the Government came
here about 1850 Lovell & Gibson had a
printing office in it. This continned for
many years, and finally Mrs. Cleland's
office was moved here, and business was
carried on by Mr. Graham as
printer. After  this  the building
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was torn down. Mr. Hincks subsequent to
this was connected with the Farmers’ Bank,
and finally kept a store on King street,
near Mr. Joseph Reogers establishment,
opposite the Cathedral. Mr.Wi'liam Gentle,
son-in-law  of the late Mr. Dennis,
managed the  business for  him.
Somewhere about the year 1846 Mr. Capreo!
gave up this house, bought the property on
the south side of Wellington street, west of
Yonge, where the warehouse of Hunter,
Rose & Co. now stands, and moved his
family into ths capacious residence which
had previously been erected on the lot by
Henry John Boulton. It was in the draw-
ing-room of this house that Sir Allan McNab
wag married, and here also were born most
of Mr. Capreol’s children. The house when
Mr. Cuapreol bought it was frame, painted
brown, but during his occupancy it was
stuccoed. It was two storeys high,
with a flat roof, ornamented in the
centre with a small gable, a style of
architecture much in vogue at that time and
which may still be seen in such houses as
The Grange, Justice Campbell’s house, and
the Palace Boarding House, The building
stood a few feet back from the street and
the little yard in front was protected by a
low railing. Sheltering the front door was
a large porch. At the rear was a broad
verandah overlooking a spacious and prettily
laid out garden. A wing projected from

the rear. Here the family lived umtil
twelve years ago, when the hounse was
moved to No. 24 Clarence square

where it now stands, its front, bricked up,
bow windows thrown out and otherwise im
proved, but in the main the same building.
On the door of the Clarence square resi-
dence may be seen the well worn brass plate
inacribed ‘‘Mr. Capreol,” which did duty in
England more than a century ago. In the
dining-room hangs the portrait of

Mr. Capreol’s grandfather painted by
Sir  Joshua Reynolds. While liv-
ing in the Wellington strest house

Mr. Capreol conceived the idea of carrying
through a railroad from Toronto to Lake
Huron, a project which had been much dis-
cussed, but for which no active measures
had ever heen taken. His first scheme was
to raise the neeessary funds by means of a
lottery, the proceeds of the tickets to be
used in the purchase of 100,000 acres of land
along the projected line of the road, the idea
being that the profit from the land would
pay for the whole construction of the road

The p'an was viewed with distrust by some,
and condemned as immoral by others, and as
as a consequence it fell through. Defeated
in his first attemps Mr. Capreol did not give
up iu despair, but simply changed his course

and set to work to organise a company. A
bill granting a charter for the road was
drawn up and passed by the legislature, but
the Governor-General reserved it for the
Queen’s assent. When this new difficalty
was throwrn in his way, people began to call
the organizer of the road ¢ Mad Capreol,”
but nothing daunted he set out for England,
laid the bil! at the foot ot the thron~ and in
the short space o° seven weeks was back
with the royal assent. The energ -tic found-
er of the Canadian system of railroads of to
day lost no time in maki:g arrangemente
with C. Story & Co., New York, contrac-
tors, for the construetion of the road. Om
August 29th, 1849, the royal assent to the
bill authorizing the construction of the road
wasg received and Mr. Capreol ordered a
handsome silver spade and an orna
mental oak wheelbarrow for the occa-
sion, Lady Elgin having coasented
to break the first ground. On his return
from Eogland Mr. Capreol had been ap-
pointed manager of the road and styled
**father of the undertaking,” but in the
face of the benefit he had thus conferred
upon Canada, and especially upon Toronto,
the honour of presenting the spade to Lady
Elgin was taken away from him, for the
directors, animated by jealousy, dismissed
him from his office of manager but a few
days before the first sod was turned. A¢
this time the whole board which dismissed
him so cavalierly had only £37 10s. at stake
in the enterprise while Mr.Capreol had spent
out of his private means £12,350. To re-
corpense him for this outlay he was voted
by the directors bonds to the amount of
£11,000, and beside this sum he never re-
ceived a doliar from the eompany tili about
teu years ago, when an annuity of $1,200
per year was granted him, which lapsed
at the time of his death. A good
deal of sympathy was elicited on Mr. Ca-
preol’s behalf in consequence of this unhand-
some treatment by the directors; the jour-
nals of the day censured them severely ; the
prominent men of Toronto, the Board of
Trade and individuals sent p-titions, numer-
ously signed, for his re-instatement, but all
to no purpose. In the long memorial of
the people calling for his re-appointment as
manager, they say, among other eompli-
mentary things : ““In the course ‘of Mr.
Capreol’s almost herculean labours during
the past four years, and at his own heavy
expense and great risk he has accomplished
results which the most hopeful looked upon
as nearly impossible, and has conqu red
obstacles which to men less sangunive and
energetic than he has proved himself
would have been found insurmountable.™
The weather on the 15th of QOctob-r, 1851,
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was beautiful. On that day in the presence
of a great assemblage on the Esplanade, just
west of Simcoe street, opposite ¢he parlia-
ment buildings, Lady Elgin pressed her
dainty foot upon the richly ornamented
spade, threw up a little dirt into the hand-
somely oarved oak wheelbarrow which
Mayor Bowes,who assisted in the ceremony,
wheeled a short distance and then emptied.
On this occasion Mayor Bowes was resplen-
dent in a cocked hat, sword, knee breeches,
silk stockings and shoes, with silver
buckles. The road, later known as the
Northern Railway, was then entitled the
Ontario, Simcoe & Huron Railroad Com-
pany. Many flags floated in the air about
the scene of the first breaking of the sod,
conspicuous among them being banners with
the inscriptions ‘‘Never Despair’ and
‘¢ Perseverance Conquers.” The first loco-
motive for the new road was built at Port-
land, Maine. It was named Lady Elgin,
and a photograph of it now hangs
in the offices of the Northern Company.
The Lady Elgin weighed about twenty-
tfour tons. She had five-foot driving wheels
and a 14x20 cylinder. She was what is
technieally known as an inside connected
engine, her works a!l lying nnder the boiler
and out of sight. She was of too light
calibre for anything but construction work
and at that she was pnt after her arrival.
Of all the men who had charge of the Lady
Elgin during her existence the whereabouts
of only one was known last year. That was
Philip Warren, of Collingwood, then run-
ping a freight engine between that place
and Toroato, and he had charge of the en-
gine only a eomparat.vely short time before
she was finally side-wacked. Other engi-
neers were William Huckett, Silas Huckett,
Carlos McCaul, Chris Hildebrandt, John
Legge, Josh. Metzker, Dan. Sheehan and
Dan Bracken. They are ali dead now.
Before the railroad was opened the stages
did all the business, and as steam travel
took away the means of liv-lihood from
owners and drivers, the company gave them
positions on the road. The first accident
occurred on th: road on the afternoon of
Sunday, July 16, 1853. A short distance
south of Weston the engine struck a cow,
throwing off the rails the coach, which
rolled down a steep embankment, totally
wrecking the car and severely injuring an
Irish passenger and two brakemen, who
were its only occupants. The baggage car
was provided with chairs to do duty as a
passenger coach for the rest ot the trip and
thre train proceeded on its way ouly to
strike a truck and go off the track again
near Newmarkev. The Lady Elgin was
used for shuunting until 1880, when the

gauge of the road was changed. A portion
of the sod turned over by Lady Elgin on
the occasion of breaking ground ior the
road was preserved by Mr. Sandford Flem-
ing, a civil engineer, and by him presented
to the company, in whose offices at the foot
of Brock street it now lies encased in
an ornam ntal box The second engine
was the Toronto, built at James Good’s
foundry on the north side of Queen street,
between Yonge and Victoria streets. At
8 o’clock in the morning of May 16th, 1853,
the first passenger train ever run in Canada,
pulled out in the presence of a large crowd
from the little wooden shed opposite the
Queen’s Hotel, which had been dignified by
the name of station. The train was made
up of the engine Lady Elgin, a box car and

CAPREOL.

a passenger car. There was no ticket office,
Alderman John Harvie, the conductor of
the train, selling vhe tickets on board. The
first ticket bought was by a shoemaker
named Maher, living on east Queen street,
who objected to paying a dollar to ride 30

F. C.

miles, A dispute exisis as to who was the
engineer. It was either Carls McCaul,
of Parkdale, or M. Huckett. The destina-
tion of the train was Aurora. All along the
ronte people turned out in great crowds to
see the novel sight. Two hours after leav-
ing the train whistled ‘“Down Brakes” at
Aurora. Mad Capreol’s scheme was a
great success. The first railroad ex-
cursion in Canada was on the Queen’s Birth-
day of the same year. The spade with
which Lady Elgin threw up the sod on that
eventful October day is a beautiful imple-
meut, now in the possession of Mr. Capreol's



104 LANDMARKS OF TORONTO.

==

THE CAPREOL RESIDENCE, CLARENCE SQUARE.i



LANDMARKS OF TORONTO.

105

family. The wood, silver and gold
are all natural products of Can-
ada, and of Toronto workmanship. The
handle is bird’s eye maple, but
almost completely covered with silver.
On the blade, which is solid silver, is a
large maple leaf in relief and engraved ke-
tow it the British coat of arms with the
legends ‘ Never Despair” and ¢ Persever-
ance Conquers.” Where the handle joins
the blade is a riehly chased band of silver
with a gold rose, shamrock and thistle in
alvo relievo. On the silver plate half way up
the handle is the inscription ¢ This spade was
used at the formal commencement of the
Lake Huron and Ontario Ship Camnal by

Frederic C. Capreol, Esq., President of the -

Company, Toronto, 17t h Sept. 1866.” this
having been substituted for the original
inscription on the spade in regard to the
railroad. Above this higher up on the
handle is the erest of the Capreol family
with the motto : * Prends moi tel que je
suis.” On the cross-bar of the handle s the
coat of arms of the city of Toronto and at
either end heads of the British lion and the
American eagle. After Mr. Capreol’s dis-
rmssal from the management of the
enterprise which he bronght into existence
he spent some time abroad in travel. While
on this trip he wae presented in London
with a handsome service of plate,
consisting of seventeen pieces, a tribute by
the citizens of Toronto as a mark of their
confidence, esteem and gratitnde for the
services which he had rendered to the city.
On Lis return to Toronto Mr. Capreol again
took up his residence here. In 1861 he
succeeded in gevting a bill through the
legislature authorizing him to sell his lands
at the Credit by lottery, and with the

money to  erect a large cotton
factory. This  bill received the
Queen’s assent, but Mr. Capreol’s

attention having been drawn into another
channel in the meantime the project was
dropped. His new scheme was the eonstruc-
tion ot a canal to make direct communica-
tion between Lakes Huron and Ontario—the
idea being to shorten the distance by water
between the territories of the great west
and the seaboard about five hundred miles
and thus opening communication with Lakes
Michigan and Superior to facilitate the
passage ol emigrants to the Hudson Bay
territories, the Red River and Saskatche-
wan districts, and eventually to form an im-
portant link in a chain of communication
between Europe, the East Indies and China
through British North America. The Lon-
don papers devoted considerable attention
to the plan of the proposed ganal which was
named the ‘* Lake Huron and Ontario Ship

Canal.” Ground for it was broken Sept.
17, 1866, and offices of the company were
established in a building on the north side
of Wellington street, near Scot: street. The
project was never carried through to com-
pletion howewver. Of all Mr. Capreol’s varied
aetivities none is more remarkable or more
interesting than his capture, single-handed
and nnarmed, of two murderers. As a piece
of detective work and execative ability it
‘has never been roached by & civilian,
and it is doubtfal whether it has ever been
equalled in sagaetty, directness, triumph
over obstacles and expeditious execution by
any professional detective or officer. The
foliowing account of this most remarxable
and daring capture is the narrative as re-
lated by Mr. Capreol himself to his friend,
Mr. Herbert 6. Paull, who has kindly told
it for this artiele. On Sunday evening
of July 31, 1848, the people of Toronto were
thrown into excitement over the startling
ruemour that a horrible double murder had
been committed in a lonely house on the
Yonge street road, many miles north of the
city. The report which reached town was
that Thomas Kivnear and his housekeeper,
Ann Montgomery, had been agsassinated at
Mr. Kinnear'’s residenee, a solitary dweiling
lying back near the woods, a little beyond
Richmond Hill, on the west side of the
Yonge street road. The woman’s throat
had been cut from ear to ear. She was
found in a wash-tub, and Mr. Kinnear had
received a blow on the back of the head
from some heavy instrument, fracturing
his skull. There was evidence to show that
the work had been done by at least two
persons. It was believed that a large sum
of money was in the house recently taken
there by Mr. Kinnear and that robbery was
the motive for the murder., As the people
came from their respective places of worship
that Sunday evening, they met excited
groups at the street corners discussing the
affair, for the murdered man was well
known in Toronto. The news spread quick-
ly through the city, and many were the
eager questions asked : ‘“ Who were the
murderers ?° ‘“ How many were there?”
‘“Was a woman connected with the
work !’ “ Where had they fled ?” Such
were some of the inquiries, but none could
answer them.  Among the last to hear of
the murder was Mr. Frederick C. Capreol,
one of the most prominent civizens of the
day and an intimate friend of Mr. Kinnear.
His children brought the news home on
their return from church, and detailed all
the particulars they had heard about the
crime, Hurriedly pusting on his hat, with-
out a word to any of the famly, he rushed
frora the house on Wellington sireet, and
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hastened to King street in the hop:
of finding some one who could give
him more news of the tragedy.

But the streets were almost deserted and he
met no one who could impart additional in-
formation. He then went to the police
station, where he found an cflicer and a de-
tective on duty.

¢ Are you doing anything about this mur-
der ?” Mr. Capreol asked excitedly.

‘“ No,” replied the officer, sharply. ‘“ What
is your name, sir ?”

“You know very well who I am,” cried
Mr. Capreol, angrily. ‘‘This murdered
man was a particular friend of mine and
that is why 1 am so anxious about the mat-
ter.”

*“ We have nothing to do with the case,”
said the officer curtly, proceeding to make
an entry on the slate, as if to say ¢ The in-
terview is at an end.”

But Mr. Capreol was not thus to be
bluffed, and he asked ¢ Do you intend to do
anything about it ?”

““ Couldn’t say ; could tell you better in
the morning,” was the answer.

‘¢ But the morning will be too late to start
about it. The rasca's could be in the States
by that time.”

‘“ We shall do our duty, whatever that
may be. We have no authority im the
matter,” was the officer’s response.

Seeing he could obtain no satisfaction
from the police, Mr. Capreol left the
station. At this time the founder of the
Northern Railway of Canada was strong
and agile and beld as a lion, and must have
been a man of undaunted courage to con-
ceive the plan he undertook that night. On
leaving the stationhe walked rapidly to Yonge
street, questioning every person he met in
regard to the murder, and gaining the addi-
tional information that on the day before a
suspicious looking man and woman had been
seen in a much-bespattered waggon driving
at a furious pace along the Vaughan road.
For a few moments Mr. Capreol stood un-
decided at the corner of Colborne and Yonge
streets. Then the determination seized him
to pursue and capture the murderers alone
if possible. At this moment Mr. Stevenson,
a mutual friend of the murdered man and
Mr. Capreo! came along.

¢ Hello ! Capreol, What are you doing
here? Did you hear about Kinnear?” he
exclaimed.

‘“ Yes, and you are the very man I want
to se2; I propose to follow the murderers
and catch them and I want you to go with
me.”

¢« Me?” cried Mr. Stevenson in surprise.

““Yes, why not! You have plenty of
time. You are strong as a giant. I have

You were a

just made up my mind to go.
S0 come

personal friend of Kinnear.
along.”

“ Of course I will not. Ket the authori.
ties take the matter in Land.”

““The authoritics? What do they care?
I have just come from the station and ne-
body there knows anything about the affair
or will take any action until to-morrow.”

¢ Well, Capreol, perhaps the whole affair
is a hoax, and we may see Kinnear to.
morrow morning laughing ever his own
resurrection.”

Tt is not likely.”

‘“ Well, there’s plenty of thme.”

¢ Plenty of time? Why, my dear man,
they will ve far away then. 1If once they
get into the States they will be safe
enough.”

““Oh, I guess they will not get as far as
that. Good night,” and laughing pleasantly
Mr. Stevenson hurried home.

Astonished but not in tire least turned
from his purpose Mr. Capreol rapidly walk-
ed to the house of the Hon. Henry
Sherwood, then mayor of the city.
On arriviag he found it in darkness, the
iamily and servants having retired for the
night. He rang the bell and after a time a
man servant came to the door.

‘I want to see Mr. Sherwood at once,’’
said the caller.

“You cannot see him; he has gone to
bed.”

I must see him immediately.”

*“ But he has gone to bed.”

“Then call him.”

“ But, I tell you he has gone to bed.”

At this moment the window over the front
door was raised and the nightcapped head
of the Hon. Henry Sherwood was thrust
forth.

‘“ Who’s there? What’s all the distur.
bance about? Why, is that you my dear
Capreol ?”

““Yes, I want to speak to you. Will you
give me credentials to pursue the murderers
of Mr. Kinuear and his housekeeper ?”

““Credentials ! Credentials! I don’t

understand, Capreol, credentials did you
say?”
“Yes. If you will give authority to
pursue the murderers I feel contident I ean
bring them back within two days. AllI
ask is your authority. Iwill bear all the
«xpense my-:elf.”

‘“ Wait until the morning, I have gone to
Yed.” At this the man in the hall chuckled.

““Yes, so your servant has told me half a
doz=n times, but if I don’t get authority un-
til morning the murderers will escape.

“Oh, no. I''see about it then and the
detectives shall be placed on their track.”
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MR. CAPREOL CLIMBING INTO MR. OGILVIE'S WINDOW.

‘“ But why not place me on the track now? |

‘¢ Because if you are, I want you to get

In two ,}}ours I will be on the lake in *“The up steam immediately,” cried Mr. Capreol.
Transit a.nd' in six hours I will intercept , But Captain Richardson, for it was he, did
them at Lewiston, for they have probably ; not move or appear in the least excited.

gone that way.”

“I ean’s do it now, Capreol, I am going
to bed. Good night,” and the window was
closed. At the same time the hall door
was s_hu't, but not before a voice was heard
exclaiming exultingly : “ Didn’t I tell you
he had gone to bed 1”

Disappointed, but more determined than
ever, Mr. Capreol turned away from the
Mayor s house and hurried to the Chureh
street wharf where ‘“The Transit” was
lying. Here he found & man sitting on the
rail enjoying a pipe.

He grected him with the inquiry : ¢ Are '

you Captain Richardson ?”’
. “ Way ?° was the monosyllabic question
sn returm.

Striking a match he deliberately re-lighted
his pipe, which had gone out. Then he
calmly asked :

‘“ Have you got
about you ?”

*“ Yes,” answered Mr. Capreol, *“I will
give you a cheque right away for the amount
if you must be paid in advance, although I
tbink the charge extortionate merely to go
across the lake.”

¢+ Is # a bogus ch que ?” asked th~ doubt-
ful captain, without moving his position.

* No ; it is a good honourable cheque. I
am Mr. Capreol and I want to get over to
Lewiston before 3 o’clock to-morrow morn-

one hundred dollars

‘1ng. You have heard about the murder on

Yonoge street, I presume ? Well, I am pur
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suing the murderers, and I hope to inter-
cept them at Lewiston. Come, move like a
good fellow and get up steam.”

‘“ What did you say your name was ?”’
queried the captain.

‘¢ Capreol.”

*¢ Capreoi ! Capreol ! I don’t know that
name. How do I know you are not the
murderer yourself, trying to cut the coun-
try 7’

At this Mr. Capreol grew indignant, but
restraining his anger he said: ““ Do you
suppose, captain, I would take this course
if I were the murderer ?”

““I don’t know ; it is very likely ; it is
not a bad idea ; but I guess it is all right,
only I want cash, not a cheque. How do I
know the cheque is good ¥

““T assure yon the cheque is good.”

‘“ Well, I am not going to risk anything ;
I want cash.”|

Checked again, Mr. Capreol thoughs a
moment, then taking trom his pocket his
pocket-book all the money he had with him
—abont $13—he gave it to the captain, say-
ing : ‘“ Get up steam and be ready for me in
one hour from now. In the meantime I will
go and get the balance.”

¢ ANl right,” returned the captain, ‘‘but
if you don’t come back in an hour with the
money [ don’t move, and you don’t get this
back either.”

But where to get the balance at this time
of the night was the next problem that con-
fronted Mr. Capreol. Leaving the wharf
at the corner of Front and Yonge streets,
he nearly ran against Mr. Carruthers, a
wealthy friend, to whom he appealed for
help.

I am sorry, Capreol,” said that gentle-
man, ‘“‘but I don’t exactly care to advaunce
money on such a hare-brained scheme as
yours. Iam thinking more on your own
account. 1 would not goif I were you.
The whole city will be talking about yon.
Your family do not know anything about it,
you say. Come along with me, and leave
the matter to the authorities.”

‘“ A curse on the authorities. Good night
to you, and thank you for nothing,” cried
Mr. Capreol in a rage as he dashed up the
street, leaving Mr. Carruthers standing
amazed at the correr.

At Melinda and Yonge streets he paused,
feeling almost baffled. ~ But suddenly an
idea occurred to him. ‘““I’ll try Mr. Ogil-
vie,” he exclaimed to himself. Mr. Ogilvie
then lived over his store on the south side
of King street, a few doors west of Yonge,
in the building now occupied by r'ulton &
Michie. In two minutes Mr. Capreol was
rattling away at the front door of his
store. Bat on this night circumstances

seemed to thwart the amateur de-
tective at every turn. It happened
that Mr. Ogilvie’s chamber was upstairs at
the rear of the building,and knock as loudly
as might be he could not be aroused. Find-
ing he could not awaken Mr., Ogilvie, Mr.
Capreol went around to Melinda street with
something like despair in his heart, tor he
knew that solid gates and a high brick
wall barred the entrance to the yard in the
rear, A few moments was spent in exami-
natisn of the formidable-looking barrier,
then, realizing that every moment was
precious, he essuyed the feat of scaling the
wall, a feat which even Jean Valjean
might have despaired of. Time after time
he fell back to the ground. Once he
heard or thought he heard footsteps ap-
proaching from Jordan street. In dismay
he crouched by the wall, not knowing how
to account for his suspicious actions if a
policeman had discovered him in the attempt
to climb over the wall.- But no one ap-
proached, and re-assured he again set to
work at his almost impossible task. The
wall was as smooth as brick and mortar
conld make it. There was not the
slig .test bold for hands or feet. At length
taking out his penknife, by dint of hard
iabour, he managed to dig out mortar
sufficient to give him the scantiest-holed for
his toes and the tips of his fingers. After
several heavy falls, with torn clothes,pleed-
ing hands, bruised and scratched Jimbs,
without a hat he finally, balf an hour before
midnight, had the satisfaction of sitting ex-
hausted astride the top of the wall. On
recovering his breath he prepared to de-
scend, a rather dangerous teat, as the
ground within the wall was several feet
lower than the sidewalk. At l.ngth he
found himself in Mr. Ogilvie’s back yard,
his trials near at an end, as he thought, but
indeed they had only farrly commenced.
At the rear of the store was a door.
Upon this he rapped and pounded and
kicked for nearly ten minutes, but all
to no purpose. Mr. Ogilvie was a sound
sleeper and his windows were closed. Then
he began a seareh for a stone or a piece of.
wood tothrow against the glass, but neither
could be found. The yard had been newiy
planked and swept and was as smooth and
clean as a billiard table. Not unfil now
had he lost heart, his condition was worse
than before, for now he was a prisoner, as
it was impossib e to scale the wal' several feet
higheras 1t wason the insidethan on the street
side. Then it rushed upon him that Mr.
Ogilvie was probably not at home. Sitting
down on the steps he gave himself up to
despair.  Suddenly the recollection of
his murdered friend areose. ‘‘ They must,
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they shall be brought to justice,” he ex-
c.aimed and springing up he began anew an
examination of the premises. All at once
his eyes lighted upon the pipe which carried
waier from the roof. This pipe was fastened
perpendiculardy to the wall about five feet
from Mr. Ogilvie’s chamber which was
absnt twenty 1eet from the ground. It was

a desperate ehance,for how could the window
be reached at that distance from such a
precarious position as one clinging to the
Mr. Capreol did

pipe would be placed in.

tive feet away, he
saw that his feet were wnearly on a
level with the sill. The Venetian blinds
were open and held back against the wall
by strong old-fashioned staples. This
helped him in one way as it gave him a
better hold than the pipe furnished, but the
projection of the blind increased the diffi-
culty ot reaching the winduw sill with his
foot. At length panting, utterly exhausted
and nearly fainting, he obtained a foothold
on the sill. Then with the blade of his

the window
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mot hesitate long,  Clutching the pipe
desperately, hand over hand up he went.
The frail tube shook and trembled and bent
as if about to fall away from its fastenings.
The bands holding it quivered and creaked
as if sirained to their utmost. The perspi-
rationstood outingreatdrops all over the face
of the bold climber. Oncq?ookmsz down he
was seized with verti®s, and would have
fallen but remembering his mission and his
family, his grasp tightened, and with
elenched teeth he econtinued the perilous
ascent. Finally looking westward to

knife, he raised the lower sash of the win-
dow 80 as to get his fingers under’ it. The
next moment he had pushed up the sash
and stepped into the room. There on his
bed lay Mr. Ogilvie in sound sleep.
Sitting down for a few  moments
the bold intruder watched his sleeping
friend while he recovered his own com-
posure. Then advancing to the bedside,
he gently shook the sleeper. The effect was
magical. In an instant Mr. Ogilvie had
sprung to his feet, seized the supposed
burglar by the throat with an iron grasp
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that choked him and rushing him to the
op:n window, was about to hurl him ouv
when he recognized the face of his friend.

Releasing his hold, frightened and
pale, Mr. Ogilvie stood in astonish-
ment looking at his strange visitor
who stood before him  bareheaded,
with bloody hands and torn garments.
Rapidly Mr. Capreol explained the situa-
tion while Mr. Ogilvie dressed.

¢“A hundred dollars? certainly. There
are twenty-one sovereigns,” and the mer-
chant counted the gold in his visitor’s hand.

Borrowing a pair of trousersand a hat, Mr.
UCapreol hastened to make his return to the
boat, which he found waiting ready tor
operation.

The remainder of the story can be better
told by quoting from the British Colonist
of 2nd August, 1843 :—The article used was a
doublewbarrelied gun belonging to Mr. Kin-
near. Mr. Kinnear came to "Loronto on
Friday late in the afternoon, remained all
night, and went home the next day between
two and three o’clock p.m. He had invited
a friend named Capt Boyd to dine with him
the following day. Capt. Boyd called at
the house and finding all the doors open and
the honse apparently deserted, had the
place searchea, and the body of Mr. Kin-
near was found in the cellar covered with
blood. Capt. Boyd dispatched a messenger
at once to Ald. Gurnett. After mature
deliberation a warrant was made out for
Ann Montgomery, the housekeeper, and
James McDermott and Grace Marks, the
servants. The warrant was placed in the
hands of Mr. Kingsmill, the High Bailiff.
It was found that Grace Marks and Mec-
Dermott had been at the City Hotel in the
morning, and had gone on the steamer to
Lewiston with a horse and waggon, the
property of Mr. Kinnear, and lots of luggag-.
Mr. Capreol, a friend of Mr. Kinnear,
chartered the steamer Transit, and atone
o’clock in the morning accompanied Mr.
Kingsmill in pursnit, and the two were
taken into custody in a honse near the quay
at Lewiston at five a.m. Tiey were placed
in separate rooms and brought to Toronto
abont midday. Their contradictory stories
about Nangy led to a search, and the body
was found in a barrel in the root-house,
evidently strangled, a handkerehief being
found around her neck, with marks of such
a deed of vio'ence. The prisoners were pri-
vately examined. James McDermott is
five feet, six inches in height, and has been
in Canaca for six years, during one of which
he was with Capt. McDonell, of the Glen-
garry Light Infantry. He had been dis-
charged in May, and lived with Mr. Kin-
near only a month. He was of slender

build, swarthy, and of a forbidding aspect.
Grace Marks, the female, although wholly
devoid of education, possessed good features,
and in point of personal appearance was
much superior to her paramour. Mr. Kin-
near was a brother of Mr. Kinnear, of Kin-
loch, Cuparfife, Scotland.

The Colonist says that Mr. Capreol went
after midnight te the residence of Mr.
Ogilvie. who when he was ronsed out of
bed, and the circumstances explained to
him, handed Mr, Capreol a cheque for
thirty pounds, to enable him to engage the
steamer and proceed on lus journey. But
for this circumstance the prisoners might
have escaped detection.

As soon as the High Bailiff discovered
where they were stopping at Lewiston, he
cautiously proceeded (w.th on- of the crew
of the steamer that had brought them over,
and who conld identify them) to their bed.
rooms. Going into the room where Me-
Dermott lay Mr. Kingsmill softly approach.
ed the bed to see if he could identify him
according to the description given. His
heart at that time (according to the High
Bailiff’s description) was heaving violently,
his countenance looked almost black, and
he had the appearance of a fiend. There
was another person sleeping at the same
time in toe room, who, after being informed
of the murder, immediately got up and ap-
peared in every way disposed to render as-
sistance. The girl, who asked repeatedly
what was the matter, with affected sur-
prise at being disturbed, was made to dress
first. Having given her in charge to the
person with him, the High Bailiff then
went up to McDermott’s bed, who from the
motion of his eyelids appeared to be only
feigning siecp. The following dialogne
then took place :

High Bailiff (ronsing up prisoner)—** Come
Mac, I want you, get up.”

Prisoner—‘“ What, what do you want me
for ? What's the matter 2

High Bailiff—¢“ How came you not to pay
the dues on the horse and waggon ?”

Prisoner—** Because I had not got the
money.”’

High Bailiff— Well get up and dress
yours-Iif, I want you.”

The prisoner up to this time, as the High
Bailiff, was 1n plain clothes, appears not to
have recognized him, but the young man
who bad been sleeping in the room with
him, pronouncing the name of ““ Kingsmill,”
the truth of his position seemed to flash
across his mind.

Prisoner—¢“ Ah, I see it now. I know
what you want me for. But have you
found Nancy yet 2’

High Bailiff—¢‘ No ; where is she ?”



LANDMARKS OF TORONTO.

111

Prisoner—* Have you offered any reward
for her?”

High Bailiff—¢ No.”

Prisoner—‘ Well, you find Nancy out.
You get hold of Nancy. She’ll tell you all
about it. It was all owing to her. She
was at the bottom of it.”

The High Bailiff then having taken a
varicty of keys, a gold snuff box and other
things out of the prisoner’s pockets, tied
them up ia a handkerchief. As soon as he
was dressed he handcuffed him, and got him
downstairs.  Several then being in the
bar-room he very prudently took the prisoner
into another room. Upon the passage to
Toronto the girl Marks voluntarily made
#he statement previously published. Both
parties, however, denied all knowledge of
Nancy.

Both McDermott and the woman Marks
were convicted of murder on their trial.

The trial of McDermott took place on
Friday, 3 d November, 1843, William Hume
Blake for the Crown, John Duggan for the
friends of Kinnear and Kenneth McKenzie
for James McDermott. McDermott was
{%l;l;d guilty and executed 21st November,

McDermott was hanged in the odd Berke-
ley street jail. Grace Marks was sent to
the penitentiary for life. She was pardoned
a few years azo, and is now living some-
where in the United States. Strange to say
Mr. Capreol was never reimbursed by the
authorities for the expense he incarred in
bringing these two murderers to Jjustice,
This remarkable man died at his residence
No. 24 Clarence Square, Oetober 12, 1886,
aged 83 years. His remains are buried in
St. James® Cemetery. Aithough the Cap-
reols-have lived in Canada for just half «
century his is the only death that has oc-
curred in the family during that period.

Nore—The logomotive *¢ Toronto,” befors
referred to as being built at Goad’s factory,
on Queen street east, was on its completion
taken thence to the railway track, by
Queen and Yonge streets. A few yards of
movable rails were laid, and these, as the
e: gine was moved over them, were taken up
and again re-laid. The progress made was
astonishingly slow, it taking fully a week
to get the great engine from Queen to Front
strest.

!

CHAPJER XXXVIIL
THE BELLEVUE HOMESTEAD.

The 01d Family Residence of the Denisons
Seventy Years Ago—The Execution of
Captain Joshua Huddy.

When Mr. Russell, President of Upper
Canada Executive Council, was about to
leave England in an official capacity in com-
pany with Governor Simene to emigrate
to Canada in 1792 he persuaded his old
friend, Captain John Denison, of Hedon,
Yorkshire, to accompany him. Captain

Denison first settled at Kingston, but
in 1796 he removed to York, and
for & time, by permission of Mr.
Russell, who was then administering

the Government, he occupied Castie Frank.
He then took up his residence with his family
ina cottage on the north side of Front street,
near Bay,which was alco owned by Mr. Rus-
sell. This house was one of the carliest speci-
mens in York of an English rustic cottage
with verandah and sloping lawn. Afterward
1t was occupied for a t'me by Major Hillier
of the 74th Regiment,aide-de-camp and
military secretary to Lieutenant-Governor
Sir P.regrine Maitland. In the Guzette and
Oracle of 1803 Mr. Russell advertis-d this
property for sale describing it as the ¢“ fron

town lot with an excellent dwelling hous:
and kitchen recently built thercon in which
Mr. John Denison now lives in the town of
York, with a very commodious water lot
adjoining.” On the si%e of this cottage was
afterward buwilt Dr. Baldwin’s residence
which subsequently became a military
hospital and then the head office of the To-
ronto & Nipissing railroad. The next year
Mr. Russell insta led his fricnd in the new-
iy erected homestead of Petersficld, on the
north side of Queen street, near the head of
Soho street. Colonel Gecrge Taylor Deni-
son, the son and hcir of Captain Joha Deni-
son, in the year 1815 bought park lot 17
and part of 18, adjoining 1he property of
Mr. Russell, occupied by his fathcr, and
built thereon the same year B:llevue.
The original drive up to the homestead is
now knowun as Denison avenue, The house
shown in the accompanying illustration was
a largs pleasant abode Iying far back from
Queen street but visible from it through a
long vista of trees, Trom this old Believue
have spread branches at Dovercourt,
Rusholme and elsewhere, in most of which
an aptitude for military affairs is marked.
Colonel Denison’s grandson, G. T, Denison,
is the author of a work on ** ModernCavalry,
its Organization, Armament and Employment
in War,” a book highly esteemed in strategi
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cal literature, and *“ A History of Cavalry,’
which obtained the Czar’s prize. Col. F.
C, Denison, M.P., C.M.G., is another
grandson. The farm was one of the hun-
dred acre park lots and half of the rext. Its
boundary on the west was what is now
Bathurst street. The first owner of the pro-
perty was Major Littlehales, aide-de-camp
and first secretary to Governor S mcoe,
whom the Duke de Lioncourf describes as
¢ a well bred, mild and amiable man who
has the charge of the whole correspondence
of Government and acquits himself with
peculiar ability and application.” Major
Littlehales afterwards attained the rank. of
Licutenant-Colonel and in 1802 was
created a baronet. In 1801 he was appoint-

ed Under Secretary for Ireland, a post
On

which he held for nineteen years.

son’s son, erected at his own cost, near the
old Bellevue homestead, the Church of St.
Stephen and took steps to make it in perpetn-
ity an ecclesiastical benefice. Mrs. Denison
the widow of Captain John Denison surviva
ed him many years, and for a long time lived
in a house shaded with willow trees and
surrounded by a flower garden and lawn on
the park lo: originally owned by Dawid
Burns, the first lot westward from that
of Colonel Givins, whose house now stands
at the head of Givins street. This
house was afterwards occupied by
Mrs. Denison’s son-in-law, Mr. John
Fennings Taylor, who was for many
years Chief Clerk and Master in Chaueery,
firet to the legislative council of United Can-
ada and then to the Senate of the Dominion,
It was at Colonel Denison’s house, Bellevue,
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BELLEVUE DENISON HOUSE.

Governor Simcoe’s recall, Major Littlehales
returned to England, and his park lot be-
¢ m: the possession of Peter Russell. In
accordance with an early Canadian practice
Captain John Denison selected a picturesque
spot on the Humber, where he purchased a
tract of over 1,000 acres and set
a few acres apart as a family burial place,
entailing at the same time the sur
rounding estate. In 1853, although entails
had been annulled by act of parliament,
his heir, Colonel G. T. Denison, first con-
nected the land and burial plot with his
family and descendants for all time by con-
verting it into an endowment for an ecclesi-
astical living to be always in the gift of the
legal representative of hisname. Thisisknown
as St. John’s Cemetery on the Humb:c. In
1857 Robert Britton Denison, Colonel Deni-

that Captain Richard Lippincott died, a
soldier whose life was marked by a bold
deed. Captain Lippincott was the father-
in-law of Col. George Taylor Denison whose
e.dest son was named after him Richard
Lippincott Denison. On the 12th of April,
1782, Captain Lippincott who was a native
of New Jersey bus then living in New Y ork,
acting under the orders of the ¢ Board of
Associated Loyalists of New York,”
executed by hanging near Middleton,
Joshua Huddy, an officer in the
American army, Huddy having put
to death in like manner, Philip White, &
relative of Captain Lippincott, who had
been captured within the American lines
while paying his mother a stolen visit on
Christmas day. A paper was fastened on
Huddy’s breast, containing this inscriptzons
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“ We, the refugees, having long with griet
beh-ld the cruel murders of our brethren,
and finding nothing but such measures car-
rying into execution therefore determined
not to suffer without taking vengeance for
the numerous cruelties and thus
begin, having made use of Captain
Huddy as the first object to present to your
view and further determine to hang maun
for man while there is a refugee exist-
ing. Up goes Huddy for Philip White.”
The surrender of Captain Lippincott was
refused by the Loyalist authorities. Wash-
ington then ordered the execution of an
officer of equal rank to be selected by
lot from the prisoners in his hands.
The lot fell on Captain Charles Asgill,
of the Guards, a youth of nineteen,
He was respited until the issue of a court
martial h2id on Captain Lippincott was
made known. The court acquitted Lippin-
cott, but in the meantim: Lady Asgill, the
captain’s mother, had appealed to the King
and Queen of France, and the Count de
Vergennis, Minister of S:ate, was directed
to ask Washington for Captain Asgill’s life
in the joint names of the King and Qneen
of France as a tribute to humanity.
Wasbington granted the request. but it was
not until the next year when the war was
ended that Asgill and Lippincott were
set free. Captain  Asgill succeeded
to his father’s baronetcy. Dr. Scadding
telates that Col. O’Hara, of Toronto, re-
membered dining at a table where Gen. Sir
Charles Asgill was pointed out to him as a
man who had been condemned by Washing-
ton to be hung, and who lived for a year
under sentence of death. Captain Lippin-
cott received a grant of three thousand acres
of land near Richmond Hill, a few miles
south of the tract of five thousand acres
which the Crown granted to Benedict Ar-
nold. Captain Lippincott died in 1826,
aged 81 years, having received half-pay
from the English Government for the period
of 34 years.

CHAPTER XXXIX.
THE S8UN TAVERN.

The Hotel Where the First 8tep in the Road
to Insurrection Was Taken by the Mae-
kenzie Reformers.

Among the early residents of York were
three brotkers whose names are linked with
the history of the lake marine. In 1835
each of the brothers commanded a ves-
sel. John McIntosh was captain of the
Three Brothers, Charles McIntosh com-
manded th: Superior, and Robert sailed
the Eunice. John acquired considerable
real estate in the town, and about 1825
was  built aslarge square white frame

edifice, for hotel purposes, at the north-
west corner of Yonge and Queen streets,
opposite Good’s foundry, on property
owned by him. The hotel, at first namead
the Sun Tavern, was originally occupied
by Charles Thompson, then by landlord
Wilson. About 1830 Thomas Elliott,
brother-in-law of John MecIntosh, as-
sumed the management of the hotel, which
became well known as Elliott’s Sun Tavern.
Mr. Mclntosh being the brother-in-law
of William Lyon Mackenzie, naturally
enough this inn became the headquarters
of the leaders of the Radical party, and
here were held the meetings and here
were passed the resolu‘ions which event-
ually led to the rebellion. Although the
hotel did a very thriving business under
Elliott, it was not ranked with Jordan’s
York Hotel or the Mansion House as one
of the fashionable hostelries, but drew
its custom largely from the rural popula-
tion. The open laud to the north of Elliott’s
was the place generally occupied by the
travelling menageries and circuses when
such exhibitions began to visit the town.
On December 12, 1831, William Lyon
Mackenzie, then a member of the Assem-
bly, was declared guilty of a breach of
the privileges of the House, he b-ing ac-
cused of libel upon the Lieutenant-Governor,
and was expelled by a vote of twenty-four
to fifteen. Those voting for the expulsion
were Attorney-General Berczy and Messrs.
Boulton, Brown, Burwell, Elliott, Fraser,
A. Fraser, R. Incersoll, Jones, Lewis,
McMartin, McNab, Macon, M rris, Mount,
Robinson, Samson, Shade, Vankoughnet,
Warren, Werden and Solicitor-Gene-al
Thomson.  Against the expulsion were
Mesers. Beardsley, Bidwell, Buel!, Camp-
bell, Clark, Cook, Duncomb, Howard,
Ketchum, Lyons, Mc(Call, Perry, Randal,
Roblin and Shaver. Four members, Messrs.
Wilson, Cook, Chisholm and Jarvis were
absent, but it was stated that they wounld,
if present, have voted to expel Mr. Mac-
kenzie. On the day of the expulsion &
delegation of petitioners, to the number
of 930, waited on the Lieutenant-Gover-
nor, praying him to dismiss a house
tainted with judicial partiality. Public
indignation was aroused to a great de-
gree, nor was it soothed when the peti-
tioners having been received in the audience
chamber and the petition presented, they
were dismissed with the curt reply:
““ Gentlemen, I have received the petition
of the inhabitants.” Years were still to
elapse before the Radicals app-aled to
force, but even at this time the precaa-
tions taken betrayed the feats of the

Government. Mr. Mackensie, in his descrip-
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tion of this event, says: ¢ The Govern-
ment House was p o ected with cannen,
loaded, served and ready to be fired on
the people.” The regiment in garrison
was supplied with & double allowance
of ball cartridges, and a t-legraph placed
on the viceregal residence to command
the services of the =oldiers, if necessary.
Mr. Mackenzie restrained his followers who
advised violent measures. Inst.ad of being
his day of humiliation, as his enemies intend-
ed, this was really his day of trinumph.
His expulsion won for him the sympathies
of the people, who, after the return of
the petitioners from Government House,
proceeded to Mr. Mackenzie’'s house in
large numbers and carried him through
the streets with acc’amations, and finally
escorfed him to the Sun hotel, from
one of the windows of which he ad-
dressed the people. afrer which cheers
were given for the Sailor King, FEarl
Grey and the Reform Ministry. Charles
Lindsey, Mr. Mackenzie’s biographer, says
that after the Reforin leader had re-
tired the meeting was re.organized and
resolutions were passed sustaining the
course he had taken as a politician and
journalist, complaining of the reply of
the Lieutenant-Governor to the peti-
tioners as unsatisfactory and insulting,
asserting the propriety of petitioning the
Sovereign to send to the province in
future civil instead of military gover-
nors, and pledging the meeting as a
mark of their approbation of his conduct
to present Mr. Mackenzie with a gold
medal, accompanied by an appropriate
inscription and address. This meeting
was followed by Mr. Mackenzie’s re-
election by an overwhelming majority,
the presentation of the medal by his
admirers at the Red Lion hotel and
ancther popular ovation. It was at the
Suu hotel that the famous ‘¢ Declaration
of the Independence of Upper Canada”
was taken for the approval of a com-
mittee previously appointed, consisting
of Messrs. Jjames Harvey Price, O’Bierne,
John Edward Tims, John Doel, John
MecIntosh, James Armstrong, T. J. O’Neill
and Mr. Mackenzie, This document was
adopted at Doel’'s brewery July 31, 1837.
This declaration was the first step in the
road to insurrec:ion. It commiitted all who
accepted it t share the fortunes of Lower
Canada. The machinery of agitation
and orgwnization was put in motion. Vigi-
lance committees were appointed by the
Refo mers which hecame shortly after-
ward the nuclei of military organizations
Shooting matehes with tarkeys for the
victims were got up ; drilling was prac-

ticed with more or less secrecy ; feu
de joie on Yonge street with.a hundred
rifles in honour of Papinean would ocea-
sionally startle the town, and events
were hastening toward the end. At the
outbreak of the rebellion Elliott was
still in charge of the San. Onhis death
he willed the property which he had
bought from Mr. McIntosh to his heirs,
uuder such provisions, however, that a
spacial act of parliament was made neces-
sary to allow his wife and children to
transfer it, Mrs. Elliott is still living
at a good old age at Highland Talls.
After Mr. Elllott’s death Landlord
Daniels, the father of Judge Daniels, of
1’Orignal, took the inn. The name was
changed to the Falcon, and at a late
date was occupied by a man named
Fulljames, who subsequently managed the
Craven Heifer. It was on the opposite
side of the street that Sheldon Ward
lost his life by a scaffold on a building in
process of erection giving way with him.

CHAPTER XL.
THE OLD BLUE SCHOOL AT YORK.

The Risirict Grammar School and jts Fam-
ous Head—Dr. John Strachan‘sEducational
Methods -Masters and their Pupiis.

As the name of the Rev. Dr. Eliphalett
Nott is indissolubly linked with the eduea-
tion of youth in New York State, so the
name of the Rev. Dr. Jokn Strachan is in-
separable from the eariy history of educa-
tion in Upper Canada. Both men were
alike pastor and master. Di. Strachan
might aptly be called the little
school-master, for from his boyhood he
was successfully engaged iu the profession
of teacher. At the age ot 16 he was in
charge of a school at Carmyllie, Scotland,
having under bim the grown-up sons of the
farmers of the neighbourhood, and it speaks
plainly for his tact and firmness that even
at that early age he was able to keep them
nuder control. While teaching here he still
found time to keep up with his stadies, and
during the winter attended lectures at
King’s College, Aberdeen. Two years after-

ward he went to Denino, where
he had obtained a better appoint-
ment. Hs remained there for two
years, still keeping up his academical

studies. While at Denino he was largely
indebted, as he himself has stated, to tie
instruction of the Rev. Dr. Brown, after-
wards professor at Glasgow, and Thomas
Duncan, afterwards prefessor at St. Aun-
drew’s. Theu for two years more up to
1799, he had charge of the parish scheol at
Kettle. Here he had 82 pupils, ainong them
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being Thomas Campbell, the poet, D. Wilkie,
the artist, and J Barclay, the naval com-
mander. In 1799, a poor young man
in purse, but rich in a well-trained
mind he came to Upper Canada and took a
tutorship in a Kingston family. In 1807,
mainly throngh his exertions, an act was
passed estab'ishing a grammarsehoolin each
district of the province, and very seonthrece
superior schools were started at Cornwall,
Kingston and Niagaray, and later at York
and other districts of Upper Canada. These
schools were for pupils of bo:h sexes. Dr.
Strachan’s Cornwall school is famous and
on its books were the names of very many
celebrated in the annals of Upper Canada.
So successful was his work here, and so
well was he beloved that in 1833, fu.ty-
two of his iormer scholars presented him

with an address in which they say :—

“ Qur young minds received there an im-
pression which has scarcely becom: fainter
from time of the deep and sincere interest
which you took not only in our advance-
ment in learning and science, but in all that
concerned our happiness or could affect our
future prospects in life.” Among the sign-
ers to this address are the names :—Robin-
son Macau'ay, McDonell, McLean, Jones,
Stanton, Bethune, Jarvis, Chewitt, Boulton,
Vankoughnet, Smith and Anderson. Part
of the 1eply of Dr. Strachan to his former
pupils’ address gives an in:ight into his
method of teaching. He says: It has
ever been my conviction that our scholars
should be considered for the time our chil-
dren ; and that as parents we should study
their peculiar dispositions if we really wish
to improve them, for if we feel not some-
thing of the tender relation of parents
toward them, we cannot expect to be suc-
cessful in their education. It was on
this priociple I attempted to proceed.”
‘While Dr. Strachan was in the height of his
success as a teacher at Jthe Cornwall school
—the fame of which had spread not only
through Upper Canada but also through the
lower provinces—Lieutenant-Governor Gore
in 1812 offered him the parish of York. The
clerical income was small and there was no
parsonnge. but the Governor added the
chap'aincy of the troops at £150 a year, and
ag a still further inducement held out the
promise of establishing a school. Dr.
Strachan accepted the offer, and on August

2ad, 1812, the first Sunday after his
artival, he preached a sermon on
the war before the Legislature in

the parish church. It was not long b-fore
& district grammar school was established
at York after the model of the one at Corn-
wall. For a time before the erection of the
new building, an obscure frame building of

the most ordinary kind on the north side of
King street, just east of Yonce street, was
occupied as the school house. Soon afterwara
a largs fisld almost square, containing six
acres, filled with huge pine stumps and small
ponds of water in which cray fish were abun-
dant, was set apart. Through the middle of
this field from north to south iran a shallow
swale where water collected after rains. The
whole field was covered with the natural
herbge that usually grows upon clearings.
This block was designated College square,
the block south of it being termed Church
square and the reservation to the west of
that Court House square. In the minds of
those who laid out these plots the expecta-
tion was that they should remain orna-
mental pieces of grounds or small parks
surrounding the buildings and the in-
stitutions for which they were set apart.
The College Square was bounded on the
south by Adelaide street, on the north by
Richmond street, on the eaat by Jarvis
street, and on the west by Cburch street,
These are the modern names, Church street
being the only one of the four that has re-
tained its original nomenclature ; Adelaide
was formerly Newgate street, because the
jail stood near it. Richmond was Hospital
street and Jarvis was Nelson and then New
street. The new District Grammar School
building stood at the south-west corner of
this lot, 114 feet from its western and 104
feet from its southern boundary. The rest
of the block wasthe playground of the school.
The building was a good sized frame struc-
ture, fifty-five feet long and forty feet wide,
of two stories, each of arespectable altitude.
The gables faced east and west. Ou each
side of the school were two rows of ordinary
sash windows, five on the ground floor and
the same number on the floor above. At
the east end were four windows two
above and two below. At the west
end were five windows and the
entrance door. The whole exterior of
the building was painted of a blueish hue.
Within on the first floor, beyond the lobby,
was a large square apartment. About three
yards from each of its angles a plain timber
post helped to sustain the ceiling. At about
four feet from the floor each of these quasi
pillars began to be chamfered off at its four
angles. Filling up the southeast corner of
the room was a small platform approached
on three sides by a couple of steps.
On this was a desk about eight feet
long, its lower part cased over in front
with thin deal Loards. On the floor
along the whole length of the southern
and northern sides of the chamber were nar-
row desks set close against the wall with
benghes arranged at their outer side. At
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right angles to these running out on each
side into the apartment stood a series of
shorter desks with double slopes and
benches placed on either side. Through the
whole length of the room from east to west

between the rows of cross benches
theie was a wide vacant space. The
walls and ceilings and desks and seats

were all of unpainted pine of a yellowish
hue. During school hours this room pre-
sented the usual aspect of a school interior.
The ruler of this place was Dr. John
Strachan. The Rev. Dr. Bethune, after-
ward Bishop Strachan’s snecessor in the
Episcopate, came to York in 1819 as assist-
ant teacher in the Grammar School. Of his
ficst visit to the school, after describing it
as a capacious wooden building standing on
an open commoun, u little in the rear of St.
James’ churchyard, he says:— ‘“On
entering it for the first time with
the reverend principal on a bright Septemn-
ber morning fresh schoolboy feelings were
wakened up at the sight of forty or fifty
happy young faces, from seventeen down to
five years of age. There was a class of only
two in Greek, who took up Horace and Livy
in Latin, and there were three Latin forms
below them, the most numerous and
sprightly  reading  Cornelius  Nepos.
None were much advanced in mathe-
matics, and, with the  exception
of the semior two had not passed the
tourth becok of Euclid. Everything was
taught on the same plan as at Cornwall, but
at York the pupils were much less advanced
and the head master rarely took any share
in the actual work of instruction. I had
had vhe opportunity of seeing both schools,
and though the glory of the former was
never approached by the latter, still there
" are reminiscences connected with the school
at York more fresh and lively than could be
awakened by the more celebrated one at
Cornwall.” On public days when ex-
aminations were being conducted or de-
bates were going on, the exercises were
neld up-stairs in along room with a par-
tially vaulted ceiling on the south side of
the building. At the east end was a plat-
form. Everybody in town used to attend
on these occasions, from the Lieutenant-
Governor down, especially the parents of
the scholars.  Dr. Scadding, who attended
this school, has preserved many facts in
regard to it from which much of the infor-
mation in this article is derived. At the
examination on Augusst 7, 1816, John Claus
spoke the prologue in which he advises
Governor Gore, then at the head of affairs, to
distingnish himself by attention to the
educational interests of the country. The
other boys who took part in the exercises

were :—John Skeldon, George Skeldon,
Henry Mosley, John Doyle., Charles How-
ard, James Myers, John Ridout, Charles
Ridout, John Fitzgera'd, John Mosley, Salt-
ern Givens, James Sheehan, Henry Heward,
Allar McDonell, Willlam Allan, John Boul-
ton, William Myers, James Bigelow, Wil-
liam Baldwin, St. George Baldwin, M. de
Koven, John Knott, James Givins, Horace
Ridont, William Lancaster, James McGill
Strachan, David McNab, John Harraway,
Bobert Baldwin, H:nry Nelles, Warren
Shaw, David Shaw, Dantel Murray. This
is the order of examination of the Home
District Grammar school for Wednesday,
August 11, 1819: First day—The Latin and
Greek classes, Euclid and trigonometry.
Second day—Prologue by Robert Baldwin.
Reading class—George Strachan, *“The Ex-
cellence of the Bible;” Thomas Ridout,
“The Man of Ross;” James McDonell,
“Liverty and Slavery ;” St. Gzorge Bald-
win, “The Sword;” William McMurray,
*‘Soliloquy on S'eep.”  Arithmetic class—
James Smith, “The Sporting Clergyman ;”

William  Boulton, jr., “The  Poet’s
New  Year Gift;” Richard Oates,
*Ode to Apolln;” Orville Cassall,

‘¢ The Rose.” Bookkeeping Class, William
Myers, ““ My Mother;” Francis Heward,
“ My Father ;” George Dawson, ¢* Lapland.”
First Grammar Class, Second Grammar
Class—*‘ Debate on the Slave Trade.” For
the abolition—Francis Ridout, John Fitz-

gerald, William Allan, George Boulton,
Henry Heward, William Baldwin, John
Ridout, John Doyle, James Strachan.

Against the abolition—Abraham Nelles,
James Baby, James Doyle, Charles Heward,
Allan McDonell, James Myers, Charles
Ridout, William Boulton, Walker Smith.
First Geography Class, Second Geography
Class--James Dawson, ¢‘ The Boy that
Told Lies;” James Bigelow, ¢ The
Vagrant ;”’ Thomas Glassco, *“ The Parish
Workhouse;” Edward Glennon, * The
Apothecary.” Natural History Class—De-
bate by the young boys—* Sir William
Strickland,” Charles Heward ; ** Lord Mor-
peth,” John Owens ; ¢ Lord Harvey,” John
Ridout ; ‘“ Mr. Plomer,” Raymond Baby;
¢ Sir William Yonge,” John Firzgerald;
¢ 3ir William Windham,” John Boulton ;
“MNr, Henry Pelham,” Henry Heward ;
““M.. Bernard,” George Strachan ; ‘Mr.
Noel,” William Bal!dwin ; ** Mr, Shippen,”
James Baby ; ¢ Sir Robert Walpole,” James
Myers; ¢“Mr. Pulteney,” Charles Baby.
Civil History Class—William Boulton,
‘“The Patriot;” Francis Ridout, “Th:
Grave of Sir John Moore ;” Saltern Giv 1 .
*“Great Britain;” John Boalton, “Eulo y
on Mr. Pitt;” Warren Claus, ¢ The Indian
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Wairior ;” Charles Heward, ° The Soldier’s
Dream ;” Wililam  Boulton, * The Heroes
of Waterloo.” Catechism—Debate on the
College of Calcu.ta. Speakers, ‘“ Mr. Can-
ning,” Robert Baldwin; ‘Sir Francis
Baring,” John Doyle; ¢ Mr. Wainwright,”
Mark Burnham ; ‘“Mr. Thornton,” John
Knott ; **S:irW. Scott,” William Boulton ;
~*Lord Eidon,” Warren Claus; ¢ Sir 8.
Lewrence,” Allan Macaulay; “‘Lord
Hawkesbury,” Abraham Nelles; ““Lord Bath-
urst,” James McGill Strachan; *‘Sir Thomas
Metcalf,” Walker Smith; ¢ Lord Teign
mouth,” Horace Ridout. Religious Questions
and Lectures, James McGill Strachan,”
Anniversary of the York and Montreul Col-
leges anticipated for January lst, 1822 ;
Epilogue by Horace Ridout. As to the
names which appear in the above programmes
it is unnecessary to say anything. They are
all familiar names in Toronto to-day. The
reader will see at once that in the above
exercises there is a great deal of recitation
and declamation to a little examination.
In the prologue pronounced by Robert Bald-
win (in versc) the administration of Hast-
ings in India is eulogized, Sir William Jones
is apostrophized in conneciion with his
Asiastic reseaiches, the Marquis of Well: s-
ley and the college founded by him at Cal-
cutta suggests the necessity of a similar in-
stitution in Canada, and Sir Peregrine Mait-
land, who was probably present, is told that
he could immortalize himself by establishing
such an institution. The epilogue is a doz-
gerel on United States innovations
in the English langnage.  For the great-
er part the examinasions were conducted
oraily.  Parliamentary debates were of
frequent occurrence. On ordinary occasions
these took place in the main echool room,
but on public days they were held up stairs,
These debates consisted of th - delivery of
speeches somewhat abridged which had
been made in the House of Commions. The
objecs aimed at in Dr. Strachan’s system of
education was a speedy and real prepara-
tion for actual life. He himself knew from
experience how early a youth may enter
upon the serious work of life, and he sum-
med up his object in the following sentence
spoken to his pupils : ¢ Th: time allowed in
a new country like this is scarcely sufficient
to sow the most necessary seed, very great
progress is not therefore to be « xpected ; if
the principles are properly engrafted we
have don: well.” He was coutuually im-
pressing upon his scholars the fact that the
learning acquired at school was only the
foundation and that they themselves must
lay the superstructure. TI'here was a system
of mutual questioning in classes which
stimulated thought and research. In the

higher classes every boy was required
to furnish a set of questions for
his classmates on the understanding

that he should give the correct reply in
case the answerer failed. Thea there were
rhetorical contests for which one boy chal-
‘enged another. Dr. Strachan was a strict
§ ciplinarian and well he needed to be, for
hus scholars were continually thrown in con-
tact wich Indians, half-breeds and bad sp -ci-
mens of French adventurers. glogging was
rare and only resorted to in cases of obsti-
nacy, wanton cruelty or some word or act of
immorality. For lesser offences the pun sh-
ments were varied and frequently suggested
themselves, for in everything Dr. Strachan

had freed himself from routine and
he wished his scholars to do the
same. He might sentence a boy

to stand against a post with his pockets
turned inside out, or he might make nim
kneel for a few minutes or stand with out-
stretched arm holding a book. An apple or
marble brought out during school hours
wou d likely resuit in the exhibition of the
contents of the pockets. A boy once giving
an audible twang on a jewsharp during work
hours was compelled to stand up on a de:k
and play an air for the entertaininent of the
school. Of sports during play hours there
were not so many as now. Mr. Clarke Gam-
ble savs that cricket was wholly unknown,
and that ball was the most popular game,
both among the boys and girls, the former
playing with a ball as hard as iz was possi-
ble to make it, and the latter with a soft
ball. In the winter of course snowballing
was in high favour. Once a year, before the
midsummer vacation, a feast was allowed in
the school room, to which all contri.
buted. Dr. Scadding humorously remarks
that it was sometimes rather a riotous affair.
The District Grammar School received its
appellation ““The Blue School” from the
fact that it was painted blue. This was not
done until 1818, for in that vear Dr. Strachan
advertised a course of popular lectures on
natural philosophy at two guineas the course,
the procecds to be laid out in painting the
District School. Apropos of this, Gourlay
in his *“Sketches of Upper Canada” 1emarks:
*Schools and colleges, where are they?
Few yet painted, though lectures on natural
philosophy are now abundant.” Mr. Samu-l
Armour, a graduate trom Glasgow U}nver-
sity, was first appointed as assistant
and then succeeded Dr. Strachan as
master of the Grammar School. He
was an ardent sportsman and when
flocks of wild pigeons flew over 'he
town and guns were popping and bang-
ing on every side he could scarcely restrain
himseif sufficiently to attend to his classes.
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Afterward Mr. Armour became a clergy-
man of the Church of England and officiated
for many years in Cavan township. Mr.
Aimour was succeeded by the Rev. Dr.
Thomas Phillips, formeriy of Whitchurch,
Herefordshire, where he had been master of
a school. He was a Cambridge man,
having graduated in 1805. He was
she ideal of the good, venerable English
eountry parson of the old type. He wore
the old-fashioned clerical costume, shovel
hat included, and powdered his hair, except
when in mourning. Dr. Phiilips was a fine
scholar according to the standard of the
time. He iatroduced into the District
Grammar school the text books in use at
Kton at the time, much to the dis-
gust of the boys, and school boys
iz Greek and Latin to-day will ap.
preciate the difficulties that stood in the
way of their grandfatbers when they learn
that the Greek Grammar was in its un-
translated state. All the notes and elucida-
tions to Grazca, Minora and Homer were
ir Latin, and into that language the boys
translated the Greek. Lexicons and voca-
bularies were translated not into English
but into Latin. Dr. Phillips was at the
head of the Grammar School in 1825, and at
that time was one of the last wearers of
powdered hair in York. He was old-
fashioned even for those times in every
sense. In reading the creed he always con-
formed to the old English custom of turning

towards the east. Dr. Philiips died
in 1849, aged 68 ycars, at Wes-
ton, on the Humler, where he

founded and organized the parish of St.
Philip. His body was borne to the tomb
by his old pupils. Dr. Phillips was ap-
pointed vice-principal of Upper Canada
College when 1t was opened in 1830. George
Anthony Barber accompanied Dr. Philiips
vo York in 1825 as his principal assi:tant,
and continued with him in that capacity.
Although cricket was not played in Canada
in 1825, yet nearly ha.t a century later when
the game had become a  social
institution Mr. Barber, who had given
enthusiastic encouragement to it, was
recognized as the greatest local authority on
the subject.  During the time of Dr.
Phillips a so.t of shed or lean-to was put up
over the western end of the school house.
During recess in wet weatner the boys
played here, and they were directed to call
this stheir gymnasiuom. This is the first
time the word was ever applied in York.
With the establishment of Upper Canada
College the Grammar School began to de
cline. [he building was moved from its
original position to the south-east cor-
ner oi Jaivis and Staunley streets, the

latter, formerly March, now Lombard street,
and was degraded into a junk shop. More
than a dozen years ago it was pulled down
to make way for solid brick walls. The
six acres of play-ground are built up and no
trace remains of the old Blue School.

CHAPTER XLIL
A SKETCH OF RUSSELL ABBEY.

The Home of the President of Upper Canada
—The Administration of Peter Russell—
Subsequent Occupants of the Abbey.

Peter Russell was one of the founders of
York, and from the time of the establish-
ment of the Province of Upper Canada was
one of the leading members of the new Gov-
ernment, having come over with Governor
Simcoe from Englaud in an cfficial capacity.
On Governor Simcoe’s adoption of York as
his capital Mr. Russell came over from
Niagara, and built a house near the bay
shore, and the foot of what is now Princess,
but formerly was Princes street, the original
name having been couferred upon it in hon-
ourof thechiidren of Georgethe Third. In1796
Governor Simcoe was ordered to the West
Indies. He met his parliament at Niagara
May 16th, and prorogued it June 3rd. On
his departure in the autumn of that year a
provisional Government was establiched,
with Peter Russell at its head, under the
title of President or Administrator. Early
in Jauuary of the next year President
Russ-1’s York house was destroyed by fire,
and shortiy afterward he built the residence
which became generally known as Russell
Abbey. Like Governor Simcoe, President
Russell spent part of his time at Niagara,
his departures and returns being announced
by salutes of artillery. According to the
York standard of houses at that time, Mr.
Russell's residence was a rather pretentious
edifice. It was trame of one storey, but ex-
hibited consideruble archit:ctural taste anrd
elegance. 1o a central building were at-
tached wings with gables to the south.
Over each of the windows was a pediment
or decoration. In front of the house was a
low stone wall with a light woeden paling
at the top, surrounding a lawn shaded by
tall locust trees. The house stood at the
south-west corner of Princess and Front
streets. The design of the building sug-
gested an ecclesiastical style of architecture
from which the name Abbey may have
sprung. It was also spoken of as the
Palace, but whether it was so called from
being the residence of the man who for
three years administered the Government
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or whether because it was the principal
house on the street, which was *hen Palace
street, is not clear. Mr. Russell was a de-
sc-ndant of the Bedferd Russells. The Irish
family to which he belonged was a trans-
planted branch of the Aston-Abbott’s sub-
divisionof the family.and a marriage connec-
tion had long existed between this branch ot
the great English family of Russells and the
Baldwius of the County of Cork. Russell
Hill, near Torouto, is named from Russeli
hill in Ireland which in turu is namecd from
the Irich Russell family. During the Revo-
lutionary war, President Peter Russell had
been Secretary to Sir Henry C.inton, Com-
mander-in-Chief of the British forces in
America, from 1778 to 1782.

His portrait, preserved in the Baldwin
family, shows a portly gentleman with a
face full of character not unlike that of
Thomas Jefferson. At a very early period
Mr. Russell became convinced that York
was no ephemeral settlement, but a hamlet
destined to become a great city. Impressed
with this belief he strove to lay the founda-
tion of a great landed estate and his at-
tempts in this direction b.ought down upon
him much censure and much ridicule. As
President he had peculiar facilities for the
selection and acquisition of Crown lands.
The duality necessary in the wording of
patents by the Administrator to himself
made him a veritable Pooh Bah, and the
people spoke of him as ‘‘the man who
would do well unto himsef,” and this ap-
pellation was not without good reason as the
following list of properties advert:sed by
Mr. Russell in the Goazette of 1803 to be sold,
gives ample evidence. The advertisement
reads :

*“To be sold, the front town lot, with an
excellent dwelling house and a kitchen re-
cently built thereon, in which Mr. John
Denison now lives, in the town of York,
with a very commodious water lot adjoin-
ing, and possession given to the purchascr
immediately ; the lots Nos. 5, 6 and 7 in the
second, and lots 6 and 7 in the third con-
ces:ion of West Flambo1o’ township, con-
taining 1,000 acres, on which there are some
very good mill seats; the lots 4 and 5, in
first concession of Kast Flamboro’, with
their broken fronts, containing accordir g to
the patent €00 acres more or less; the lots
1, 3 ard ¥ in the seco ‘d, and "ots 2 and 3 in
the third concession oi Beverley, containing
1,000 acres ; the lot 16in the s .cond and
third concession of the towuship of Yok,
containing 400 acres; the lots 32 and 33
with their broken ironts, in the first, and
lots 31 and 32in the second, concession of
Whitby, ccntaining 800 acres ; the lots 22
and 24 in the e.eventh, lot 23 in the

twelftn, and 24 in the thirteenth and
fourteenth concessions of Townsend, con-
taining 1,000 acres ; lots 12, 13 and 14 in
the firstand second concessions of Char-
lotteville, immediate'y behind the town
plot containing 1,200 acres ; the lots 16 and
17 in the first concession of Delaware town-
ship on the river Thames, containing 800
acres ; the lots 1, 3, 4, 5 and 7 in the tenth ;
1, 2, 4, 6 and 7 in the eleventh ; 3, 4, 5 and
7 in the twelfth concession of Dereham,
containing 3,000 acres, with mill seats
thereon, and the lots 22, 24, 25, 26 and 28
in the first ; 22, 23, 25, 27 and 28 in the
third, 22, 24, 25, 26 and 28 in the
eleventh, and 22, 24, 25, 26 and 28
in the twelfth concession of No: wich, con-
taining 600 acres, with mill seats thereon.
The terms are either cash or good bills of
exchange on London, Montreat or Quebec
for the whole of such purchase, in which
case a proportionably less price will be ex-
pected or the same for one moicty of each
purpose and bonds properly secured for
principal and interest until paid for the
other. The prices may be known by app.i-
cation to the proprietor at York, Peter
Russeil.” From this advertisement it will
be seen that the President proposed to sell
9,200 acres of and besides retaining pro-
perty in York. Mr. Russell’s plans to
create for himse.f a big fortune came to
.ittle, however. John Denison, whose name

appears in the advertisement as oc-
cupying one of Russell’s farms, had
been persuaded by that gentieman
to emigrate to Upper Canada, when

the President first installed him in Castle
Frank on the Don, subsequently at one of
his houses in York, and lastly on one of his
farms at Petersfield. In 1805 Mr. Denison
advertised to sell potatoes grown on Mr.
Russell’s faim at Petersfield for four shil-
lings a bushel in quaatities of not less than
ten busheis if delivered, or three shillings
on the farm, and two years later he repeats
the advertisement, specifyinrg the tubers as
blue nose potatoes. In 1803 Mr. Russell
advertised a reward of five guineas for the
thieves who stole his tui key hen and young
ones from this farm. There are some points
on which President Russell seems to have
been inconsistentr. For instance, complaint
having been made of depredations in the
Indian fishing places and burial grounds, he
issued the tollowing proclamation : *¢ Where-
as many heavy and gricveus complaints
have of late been made by the Mississaga
Indians of depredations commiited by some
of his Majesty’s subjects, and others upon
their fisheries and burial places, and of
other annoyances suffered ly them by un-
civil treatment in violation of the friendship
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existing between his Majesty and the Mis-
sissaga Indians, as well as in violation of
decency and good order: Be it known,
therefore, that if any complaint shall here-
after be made of injuries done to the fish-
eries, and to the burial places of the said
Indians or either of them, aund the persons
can be ascertained who misbehaved himself
or themselves in manner aforesaid, such
person or per:ons shall be procecded against
with the utmost severity, and a proper ex-
ample made of any herein offending. Peter
Russell, President, administering the
Government, Alexander Burns, Secrezary.”
This was dated December 14th, 1797.
The complaint as to disturbance of burial
grounds related to the ancient Indian burial
plot, known as the Sandhill, north of York
on Yonge street. Beiore the year 1813
the Indians had s lected another burial
ground and had removed there most of the
bones and relies deposited at the Sandhill.
The Sandhill is now completely obliterated.
On the other hand although in 1772 Lord
Mansfield had given his famous judgment in
the case of James Somerset, a slave tuken
over to England from Jamaica, saying :
““ Villeinage has ceased in Eugland and it
cannot be revived. The air ot England has
long been too pure for a slave and every
man is free who breathes it. Every man
who comes into England is entitled to the
protection of English law whatever oppres-
sion he may heretofore have suffered and
whatever may be the colour of his skin.”
And notwithstanding the fact that an Act
had been passed by the Provincial Legisla-
ture at Niagara in 1793, looking to the total
extirpation of slavery, by prohibiting the
importation of slaves, and ordering all chil-
dren born in slavery to be freed on reaching
the age of twenty-five, Peter Russell owned
and traded in slaves, despite his vigorous
protection of the Indians. In Iebruary,
1806, he inserted the following advertise-
ment in the Gazette and Oracle :—*“To be
sold, a black woman namned Peggy, aged 40
years, and a black boy, her son, named
Jupiter, aged about 15 years, both of them
the property of the subseriber. The woman
is a tolerable cook aud washerwoman, and
perfectly understands making soap and

candles. The boy is tali and strong
for his age, and has been em-
ployed in the country bnsiness, but

brought up principally as a house servant.
They are each of them servants for life. The
price of the woman is $150. For the boy
$200, payable in three years with interest
from the day of sale, to be secured by
bond. But one-fourth less will be taken for
ready money. Freter Russell.” Per-
haps the reason why Mr. Russell

desired to  sell  these slaves may
he found in the facc that a few years before
Peggy had run away. In the paper of
Scptember 3, 1803, Mr. Russell advertised
that his black servant Peguy not huving bis
permission to absent herself from his service
the public are cautioned from emp'oying or
harbouring her without her owner’s leave.
Whoever will do so, he adds, may ex-
pect to be treated as the law directs.
Within the memory of many men now
living, there used to be in York.
a pure negress called Amy Pompadour,
who Lad been legally presented by
Miss E izabeth Russell, the sister of Presi-
dent Russell to Mrs. Captain Denison. In
1801 Mr. Russell was a subscriber to the
fund for the improvement of Yonge street.
In 1803 he was one of the committee of sub-
scribers entrusted with the erection of St.
James’ church, and he was one of the pew-
holders in the church from its establishinent.
Peter street derives its name from Mr. Rus-
sell. In 1799 Mr. Russell retired from the
presidency of Upper Canada. Peter Hunter
having been  appointed, Lieutenant-
Governor.  Mr. Russell died at Russell
Abbey, Seprember 30, 1808. The Gazette
and Oracle of the following day thus an-
nounc'd his death: ¢“Departed this life
on Friday, the 80th ultimo, the Hon. Peter
Russell, Esquire, formerly President of the
Government of the Province, lave Re-
ceiver-Geeneral and member ot the KExecu-
tive an.l Legisiative Councils, a gentleman
who whilst living was honoured and sin-
cerely esteemed, and of whose regular and
amiable conduct the public will long retain
a favoured and grateful remembrance.” The
same journal of Octoter 8th, gives the fol-
lowing account of his funeral which took
place Oct. 4th :—*“The remains of the Hon.
Peter Russeil were interred on Wednesday
the 2%h instant, with the greatest decorum
andrespect. The obsequies of this accom-
plished gentleman were followed to the
grave by His Excellency Lientenant-Gover-
.or Gore, as chief mourn:r, with the princi-
pal gentlemen of the town and neignbour-
hood, and they were feelingly accompani.
el by all ranks, evincing a rever-
ential awe for the Divine dispensation-
An appropriate funeral sermon was preached
by the Rev. Okill Stuart. The Garrison,
commanded by Major Fuller, performed with
becoming dignity the military honours of
this respected veteran who was a captain in
the urmy on bhalipay.” This Major Fuller
was the father of the Rev. Thomas B.ock
Fualler, in 1873 Archdeacon of Niagara.
Mr. Russell’s entire estate p:.ssed at
his death into the hands of his maiden
sister, Miss Elizabeth Russell, a lady of
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great refinement, who survived her brother
many years and made Russell Abbey her
home until her death. At her decease she
willed the whole property to Dr. William
Warren Buldwin including the valuable
family plate embossed with the arms of the
Russells. Atter the death of Miss Russell,
the Abbey became the residence of
Bishop Macdonell, a Scotch Roman
Catholic  prelate. Dr.  Scadding,
from whom most of the informa-
tion contained in this article is obtained,
says that his Episcopal title was at first
derived from Rhesina in Partibus but after-
ward from Kingston, Ontario, where his
nome usually was. His civil duties, as a
member of the Legislative Council of Up-
per Canada reqluired his presence in York
during the Parliamentary sessions. In 1826,
Thomas Weld, of Lutworth Castie, Dorset-
shire, was consecrated as Bishop Mae-
donell’s coadjutor in England under the
title of Bishop of Amylee, but he aever
came to Canada. He had been a layman
and married up to the year of 1825, when
on the death of his wife, he entered the
church, in one year was made a bishcp and
afterward became the well-known cardinal.
It has been supposed by some that Bishop
Macdonell’s occupancy of President Russell’s
house gave it the name of the Abbey, but
this is an erroneous supposition for it was
so slyled long before his ecccupancy.
About forty years ago Dr. Bradley, an emi-
gration agent, lived in the Abbey. After he
vacated it, about thirty years ago, a negro
family named Truss, the male members of
which were shoemakers, lived and carried
on their business in the Pres'dent’s old
home. In those days Captain Strachan, the
son of Bishop Strachan, was ore of the best
dressed men about town. Speaker Truss, a
large pomgpous n- gro, stiove to emulate him
in the way of dre-s, and great amusement
was afforded by his attempts in cthis direc-
tion. No matter what kind of clothes the
captain might appear in one Sunday, the
next Sunday Speaker Truss was sure to
come out 1n some sort of an imitation of it.
Some years ago the old house was torn down
and all traces of it have now disappeared.

CHAPTER XLIIL
THE FIRST CATHOLIC SCHOOL.

A Sketch of Denis Heffernan, Ome of iis
¥Masters, and the Subsequent History of
the Building Until its Desiruction.

About the time of the Mackenzie rebellion
a humourous and clever Irishman by the
name of Denis Heffernan came to Torento.
He was a s.ight, dark-complexioned man
about five feet ten inches in height. His
fami y and connections were good, and he

himse f had been well educated, was an
accomplished scholar and one of the
best mathematicians of his day. Shortly
after coming to Canada he was one day
thrown from his horse and picked up for
dead. The fall injured him internally but,
although he did not die, he recovered only
after several ycars of illness, which drained
alike his strength and his purse. On par-
tially regaining his health he decided to
turn his accomplishments to account and
become a school master. Accordingly
he opened a private school in his
residence, which he owned. This was a
two-storey frame house on the south side of
Richmond street about o:e hundred feet
east of Church street. The house was a
common enough looking structure standing
on the street line, It was about twenty
feet front with a gable. The door wason
the east of the front and beside it was one
w'ndow. Up stairs was one windcw and
also a small one in the attic.
These were the only windows on the
street front. There were two rooms upstairs
and two on the ground floor, with a small
extension which served as a kitchen. It
was in the front room, up-stairs, that he
opened his school about 1839 or 1840. It
was a m:xed private school, and although
Mr. Heffernan was a Roman Catholic,among
his scholars were some Protestants. In 1841
Mr. Heffernan had about tweniy pupi's,
most of whom were boys. At that time the
Catholic church owned quite a large tract of
land at the corner of Jarvis, then Nelson,and
formerly New,and Richmond streets,extend-
ing westward along the south side of Rich-
mond street. It originally belonged to the
Church of England, being a gift from the
Crown, In 1841, through the energy and
hiberality of the Hon. John Elmsley, the
son of the second Chief Justice of Upper
Canada, on the lot now turned into a lawn
at the rear of the Lombard street fire hall,
was erected for a school house the frame
building shown in the iliustraticn, the side
of which was on Richmond street, the
gables fronting east and west. At the
south-east corner of Jarvis and Richmond
was a two-storey frame hotel, kcpt at first
by Richard Sullivan and afterward by
Thomas Quinn, a very clever man, whose
sister had married Mr, Sullivan. West of
the school-house, on the fire h:1l lot,
was the residence of the late Charlcs Dun-
levy, proprietor and editor of the Mirror
for muny years. This was a rough-cast
building, Mr. P. B. McLoughlin was its
first teacher. Mr. John Mulvey says that
he was the first Cathkolic boy that entered
the first Catholic school in Toronto, having
gone previously to the Central school.
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Later Mr. McLoughlin was appoin‘ed to the
mastership of the District schoo! (the fore-
runner of the Common school) at the corner
of Berkeley and Duke sireets, where the fire
hali now stands. It was at this school
under the tuition of Mr. McLoughlin that
the late Chief Justice, the Hon. Thomas
Moss, received a great part of his elemszn-
tary education and whos= distingnished
career at the Toronto University was a
source of pride to Mr. McLoughlin. Geo.
A. Barber, of cricket fame, was first school
superintendent. To the Hon. John Elmsley
the early Catholic youth of Toronto ow:d a
great debt of gratitude from his ceaseless
zeal for their welfare and advancement.
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arithmetie, grammar, spelling and geo-
graphy being all the branches taught.

Senator Frank Smith, Mr. Wi.liam Hender-
son and Mr. Hugh Miller, who were ac-
quaintances of Mc. Heffernan, remember
him as a slight man of average stature, gray
haired and somewhat bald headed. His

wife, a Protestant, who was very much
his  senior, was a pleasant, gray-
haired lady, who many a time saved

a boy from a severe whipping. Old pupils
say that at oune time Mrs. Heffernan assist-
ed her husband in teaching, she having
charge of the girls upstairs, while Mr. Hef-
fernan tauzht the boys downstairs; but
this arrangement was oniy for a short time.
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THE FIRST CATHOLIC

He was a father to them as well as mentor.
There are many yet living who remember
how proudly he marched at the head of his
Sunday school seholars in line from the
Richmond stret school house Swnday after
Sunday to old St. Paul’s for late mass,
there being no other Catholic church in the
city. Mr. Mulvey possesses now what he
value: as a treasure, a Bible received at his
hinds for attention at Sunday school in
1843. Mr. Heffernan was installed as
t®cher in the school-house in the fire
hall lot. He counld scarcely be called
a peodagogue, for he rather drove than
led his pupils through the intricacies
of rudim~ntary learning, reading, writing,

SCHOOL IN TORONTO.

In 1843 there were about forty -scholars in
the school, the larg"r proportion being boys

ranging in age from seven to six-
teen years. Among them were Mr. James
Herson, of St. Lawrence market ;

Mr. John H. Hasson, bookkeeper for Mr.
John Burns, the carriage manufacturer,
ex-Ald, Jobn Mulvey and Mr. James
Shannon. Mr. Heffernan’s only relative in
Canada was a niece, a pupil at the school,
who afterwards married William Murphy,
one of four brothers, three of whom were
under her uncle’s instruction. Mr. Murphy’s
father was & cooper by trade, as were two
of his sons. For » long time Mr. Murphy
senior, after him his son William, and later
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his son John, kept the tavern known as the
Coopers’ Arms, a two-storey frame building
at the north-west corner of Scott and Wel-
lington streets. Ten years ago the property
was sold to the Western Insurance Com-
pany for $10,000, and the old tavern was
torn down. Of the Murphy brothers, John,
Michael, William and Stephen, William
afterwards became councilman of Toronto,
Michael married a Miss Mulvey, a pupil of

the school. The school-house was furnished

in the plainest manner. At one end of the
boys’ room was a platform for the prineci-
pal's desk, and facng this were rows of
seats without backs, and long, flat, narrow
tablcs.  The hours were from nine o’clock to

noon, and from one to four. The terms of |

tuition wers from fifty cents to a dollar a
month. A few years late- Mr. Timothy
McCarthy succeeded Mr. Heffernan as
teacher of the Catholic school, a position
which he occupied from 1843 to 1847. In
1841 the national school system was intro-
duced in the school. Hon. John Elmsley
was then school trustee, and Hamilton Hun-
ter was superintendent of education. Mr.
McCarthy says that during his time as mas-
ter school was held up-stairs, except on
Sunday, when Mr. Elmsley and Mrs King,
the wife of Dr. John King, one of vhe pro-
minent physicians of the day, would come
and teach the children the catochism. Mr.
McCarthy was succeeded by Mr. Taft, and
be by Mir. O'Halloran. The first died in
London, England, where he taught school
after leaving Canada. The last died on
shipboard on his way to California. Mr.
MecCarthy, who was an intimate friend of
Mr. Heffernan, describes him as being very
harsh and severe ta his pupils, but a very
agrecable and good-natured man socially.
In 1851 Mr. McCarthy was appointed to a
position in the custom-house, whieh he held
until che first ot the year (1887). On leav-
ing the school Mr. Heffernan was appointed
mail clerk on the City of Toronto, one of the
first three mail boats runniny beeween this
city and Kingston, the Princess Royal and
the Sovereign being the other two Mr.
Andrew Carruthers, an old post-office official,
was clerk on the Sovereign, and Mr. McGil.
vrav on the Princess Royal. Capt Thomas
Dick, who built and owned the Queen's
Hotel, was one of the proprietors and cap-
tain of the City of Toronto. Mr. Heffernan
died «n August 7th, 1858, aged 59 years,
The school-house, which was afterward
roughcast, was for a time subsequently used
by the Sisters of Charity, and later by the
Christian Brothers. Some years ago the
property was sold by tue Catholic Church,
end part of it was purchased by the city,
when the building was torn down.

CHAPTER XLIII.
THE DIXON HOUSE.

Its Owner and First Occupant—Aiderman,
Churehman and Philanthropist.
Until about five years since there stood on
the corner of Jarvis and Gerrard streets a
large brick house consisting of two storeys
and an attic, with a turret on the easiern
corner. It was surrounded by a lovely garden,
and had in its rear a small orchard, a por-
i tion of which still remains. Here lived
from 1847 until his death in 1855 Alexander
Dixon, some time aldermsu of this city.
Mr. Dixon was born in Ireland and came
to Toronto about 1830, and for many years
carried on business as a saddler's iron-
| monger in the premises now occupied by F.
{ E. Dixon, at 70 King strect East. Mr.
! Dixon at first resided at his place of busi-
ness, but latterly removed to Jarvis street.
- He was most emphatically ‘a fine
old Irish gentleman.” He was an
Orangeman, yet he commanded and
obtained the respect of the Roman Catholics
The Church of England possessed no more
devoted adherent, yet he was ever ready to
recognize the self-devotion and earnestness
displayed by others who were not members
of his own communion. Mr. Dixon
combined with shrewd business habits
a  great love of books and
literature. He could quote Shakespeare,
Spencer, Scott or Burns alike readily .
To any genuine tals of sorrow or distress he
never turned a deaf ear. There are those
now residing in this city who can tell of his
kindness and unfailing friendship, at the
time such sympathy was sorely needed.
Chiefly owing to his exertions Trinity
church was erected in 1843
Mr. Dixon, at his death, left a widow and
large family. Of Mrs. Dixon, who died in
1877, nothing tut pleasant memories remain.
Of the sons, the elde-t, Alexander, is Arch-
deacon and Rector of Guelph. The second,
William, was, as Emigration Agent in Lon-
don, a counscientious servant of the Do-
minion ; he died in 1873, The third, John,
Was once prominent as a Freemason. Fred.-
erick, the youngest, was second in com-
mand at Ridgeway. Mr. Dixon’s surviving
daughters reside in Toronto,

CHAPTER LXIV.
LOGAN’S COTTAGE AND GARDEN.
The First Bouse Built on Church Street

Above Queen Street—Some Early Market
Gardens of the City.

Interesting chiefly as the first house
erected above Shuter street on Church street

is the little cottage which stood, until a few
vears ago, when it was torn down to make
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room for modern improvements, on the east
gide of the way one door above the corner
of Shuter street. About the time of the
Mackenzie rebellion, John Logan,a gardener
and floris®, who is reniembered by some of
the older residents of the town as a fall man
of pleasant manners, obtained possession of
this corner and built the small one and a
half storey cottage shown in the illustra-
tion, one door above the eorner. At the
corner Logan put up a small hot house,
and at the rear of this and the cottage
was his garden, where he cultivated
vegetables and flowers for the market. Ex-
tending {rom the cottage aronnd the garden
was a low picket fence, and within it a close
hedge, always kept neatly trimmed. Boys
making trips out into the woods be-
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few weeks ago this also was torn
down. About the same time that Mr.
Logan conducted his garden several

other market gardens were in operat on
in the city. Robert Mansfield culiivated a

garden on  Spadina avcnue, opposite
Knox  College. The garden  was
surrounded by a tall, circular
board  fence. In  connection  with

the garden he also conducted a beer saloon
in his cottage adjoining. and young men
were in the habit of walking out to his place
across the fieids on Sunday to drink beer
in the garden, which on that day was
furnished with tables and chairs. Mansfield
had two daughters, who married brothers,
Joseph and William Milligan, both

painters.  On the east side of Yonge

LOGAN’S COTTAGE AND GARDEN.

yond used to stop to look at
the pretty flowers growing in the
yard, and to admire the general air of
neatness and cosiness which prevailed
about the cottage and surrounding grounds.
Logan nsed to stay at home and attend to
the enltivation of the garden while his wife,
a small, handsome woman, drove the wag-
gon down to market where she sold the pro-
duce. Inits later years the cottage had
been unoccupied and falling into decay
presented a picturezque appearance with its
piazza in front all over-grown as was the
roof with moss. At a later date was erected
at the corner the one and a half storey
building shown in thé picture, From
about 1868 until half a dozen years ago
John Elliott occupied this as a saloon. A

street, a little north of what is now
Wellesley street, about a hundred yards
back in the fields, stool another little cot-
tage surrounded by gardens, known as
Frank’s gardens from their proprietor.
At the north-east corner of Sherbourne
street (formerly Caroline) and Front (form-
erly Palace street) stands to this day the
original house in which Mr. Jas. Leslie,
sr., lived when he commenced the nursery
business, whieh his family have so success-
fuliy carried on for years. Leslic’s garden
extended to the east and north
of the house and were quite extensive.
South of Bloor street on the east side of the
way stood the well-known Garden s’ Arms,
above and behind which were vegetable and
fruit gardens and orchard, the produce of
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which found its way to the city market.
Like Manefi:ld’s, this garden, styled Vaux-
hal Gardens, was a favourite r:sort for
youn: men. 'The Gardeners’ Arms, in a
state of dilapidation, is still standing (1893).

CHAPTER XLV.
HOME OF SECRETARY JARVIS.

Am 01d House with a Histery Which Stood
at the Soathe-east Corner of Duke and
Sherbourne Streets.

When the Independence of the United
States was established, among the United
Empire Loyalists vho came to Canada
and settled here were two first cousins—
William and Stephen Jarvis—descendants
of the same family which numbered among
its members Bishop Jarvis, of Connecti-
cut, and Dr. Samuel Farmer Jarvis,
the church historian. Both the cousins
were officers in incorporated colonial regi-
ments during the war of the Rxvolution.
Before Governor Simcoe arrived at Niagara
to assume the administration of the province
of Upper Canada, William Jarvis had been
appointed by the crown Provincial Sceretary
and Registrar. In a letter dated Pimlico,
March 28, 1792. addressed to his rela-
tive, Munson Jarvis, St. John, New
Brunswick, Mr. Jarvis writes: “I am
in possession of my sign manual from
his Majesty constitutiug me Secretary
and Registrar of the province of Upper
Canada, with power of appointing my
deputies and i1 every other respect a very
full warrant.” Secretary Jarvis was the
first Grand Master of Masons in Upper
Canada, and in the same letter, speaking
of his appointment to this office, he
says: ‘“1 am also very much flittered
to b2 enabled to inform yon that th>
Grand Lodge of England have within these
very few days appointed Prince Ed-
ward—afterwards Duke of Kent and
father of Queen Victoria—who is now in
Canada, Grand Master of Masons in Lower
Canada, and William Jarvis, Secretary
and Registrar of Upper Canada, Grand
Master of Ancient Masons in that
province. Bowever trivial it may app-ar
to you who are not a Mason, yet I assure
you that it is one of most honourable ap
pointments that they could have con‘erred.
The Dnke of Athol is the Grand Master
of Ancient Masons in England. Lord Dor-
chester—Governor General of the province
of Quebec before its division into Upper
and Lower Canada—with his private secre-
tary and the secretary of the province,
called on ns yesterday and found usin th-
utmost confusion with half a dozen porters
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in the house packing up. However, his
Lordship would come in and sat down in
a small room which was reserved from
the grneral bustlee He ther took Mr.
Pcters home with him to dine ; hence we
conclude a favourable omen in regard to
his consecration which we hopeiis not
far distant.” It was the intention
to establish an episcopal see in Upper
Canada to correspond with that in Lower
Canada, and this Mr. Poters was exp=cted
to become the first bishop of it. But the
see was not established at that time, nor
was the plan carvied into effect until 1839,
when the Rev., Dr. John Strachan was
appointed first bishop. Continuing his
letter, the Secretary writes : *¢ Mrs. Jarvis
leaves England in great spirits. I am
ordered my passage on board the transport
with the regiment, and to do duty with-
out pay for the passage only. This
letter gets to Halifax by favour of an
intimate friend of Mr. Peters, Governor
Wentworth, who goes out to take posses-
sion of his goverrm-nt. The ship that 1
am allotted to is th: Henneker, Captain
Winter, a transpert with the Queen’s
Rangers on board.” Entering at Niagara
on the duties of his new offize when
Governor Simcoe came to Toronto, Secretary
Jarvis accompanied him. His consin
Stephen also came here. As soon as York
was lard out the Secrctary selected the
park lot bounded on thz east by George
screet, and at the cormer of Duke and
Sherbourn: streets William Smith buiit
for him in 1794 or 1795 a finely finished
large house of hewn logs, clap-boarded on
the outside. The material for the house
was cut on the spot. The building, which
wag two stories ard a half in height, faced
on Sherbourne street. It was built directly
on the street lines, and the main entrance
was through the Sherbourn: street—then
called Caroline street—door, over which
there was an attempt at ornamentation.
Quite a long extension ran back along
Duke street, and there was an entrance to
the house from that street. Farther along
was a fence with a high peaked gate open.
ing from Duke street into the lot where
were built capacious barns, outhouses and
aroot house tor the S :cr.tary, who brought
with him from Ni.gara a number of horses,
cows, sheep and pigs. Abont the house
were planted fruit trees, amoug which
were many pear trees, for the pear
seems to have been an espccial favourite
with the early settlers. At the rear of
the housz was a roomy verandah. The
building was paiited white. At the time
of its erectin this house was probably
the largest building in the town of York.
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The large room at the corner on the
ground floor was converted into an office,
the living rooms of the family being at
the rear and up stairs. Up stairs above
the Secretary’s office was the large drawing
room where balls and parties were fre-
quently held. It was reached by a
handsome flight of wirding stairs from
the main hall. In one of the outbuildings
adjoining the house a man by the name
of Marshall, in the employ of the family,
cut his throat through disappointment in
love, he having aspired, it is said, to the
hand of a young Jady high above him in
social station, Secretary Jarvis was a
man of great note in his day and of
stiiking personal appearance, being over
six feet in stature, well proportioned,
with a fine face and head. No portrait
of him is known to exist in Canada, but
there is said to be one in the possession
of the fami'y in Engiand. His name is of
very frequent occurrence in the archives
of Upper Canada during the administra-
tion of Governors Simcoe, Hunter and
Gore. He was a pew-holder in St. James’
church from its commencement. In the
Gazette and Oracle of November 3, 1803,
his name may be found appended as Pro-
vincial Secretary to an order of Governor
Hunter appointing a day and place for
holding a weekly public market at York.
He was foreman of the jury which in
1800 tried and acquitted Major John
Small for killing Attorney-General John
White in a duel. Following the custom of
the time he was a s'aveholder, and in
the early part of March, 1811, he com-
plained to the court that a negro boy and
girl, his slaves, had stolen silver and gold
from a desk at his house and escaped
from their wmaster, and that they had
been aided and advised by one Coachly,
a free negro. The accused having been
caught, the court ordered that the boy,
namel Henry, but commonly known as
Prince, be committed to prison ; that the
girl be returned to her master, and
Coachly be discharged. Secretary Jarvis
presided at a meeting of the subscribers
for thc improvement of Yonge street on
Monday, March 9, 1801, and after the
meeting the committee went in a body
to view that part of the street which Mr.
Hale had in part opened, and after ascer-
taining the alteradons and iniprov ments
necessary to be made and providing for
the immediate building of a bridge over
the creek, between the s-cond and third
mile posts, they adjourned. On one
occasion Secretary Jarvis came very near
losing his place. It was during the admin-
istration of Governor Hunter, a man very

peremptory at times in his dismissals.
The Quakers from up Yonge strect sent a
delegation, he ded by Timothy Rogers and
Jacob Lundy, to the Governor ¢ mplain-
ing of the difficulty and delay they ex-
perienced in getting the patents for their
lands, whereupon Mr. Jarvis and several
other officers of the province were ordered
to appear the next day before the Gov-
ernor, together with the deputation of
Quakers.  Pointing to the Quakers,
the Governor exclaimed, ¢ These g-ntle-
men complain that they cannot get their
patents.” Each of the officia's tried to
exculpate himself, but it appeared that the
order for the patents was more than a year
old, and Mr. Jarvis was found to be the
one most to blame. The unfortunate Secre-
tary could only say thatthe pressure of
business in his office was so great that he
had been absolutely unable up to the
present moment to get these particular
patents ready. ‘¢ Sir,” was the Governor’s
reply, ‘‘if they are not forthcoming, every
one of them, and placed in the hands of
these gentlemen here in my presence at
noon on Thursday next, by George I'll
un-Jarvis you 1” It is not necessary to
remark that the Quakers returned with
their patents.  Secretary Jarvis died in
1818. His grandson, Col. Jarvis, was the
first military commandant in Manitoba.
Jarvis street was opened through the
Secretary’s park lot after his death by
bis son, Samuel Peters Jarvis, whose name
it bears. The opening of the street neces-
sitated the destruction of the residence of
S. P. Jarvis, a handsome structure of the
early brick era of York, which stood in he
line of the new thoroughfare. Part of 1he
offices attached to the house were turned
into a dwelling on the west side of Jarvis
street, and some years ago the gravel
drive to the door of the old house might
have been traced out by the acunte ob-
server. Throughout the house was fitted
with black walnut. This interior wood-
work was bought by Captain Carithew and
put into his house at Deer Park on Yonge
street. Samuel P. Jarvis was one of the
arties in a duel fought on the morning of
Suly 12, 1817, a short distance north of
Grosvenor street and a little way baek from
Yonge street. His opponent, John
Ridout, was killed. A few years after
the death of Secretary Jarvis his resi-
dence met the fate that so frequently
befalls the mansions of the great. The
property was cut up by his son. A
man by the name «f Lee took the houre.
He was an BEnglishman and conducted
an English chop house and biliiard room
in part of the building. He also put up
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a small addition on the Sherbourne
street side, Early in the twenties James
Padfield rented a portion of the building
from Lce and started a school. His first
scholar was Mr. John Smith, who now
lives over the Don ; the second pupil was
Nancy Bright and the third James Stafford.
After this pupils came to the school in
considerable numbers. When the school
was broken up in 1824 Isaac Columbus came
into possession of the house part of which
he converted into workshops of various
kinds, for he was a jack of all trades,
using the remainder as a residence,
Columbus, who was a native of France,
was one of the characters vf early York,

) !
g

T

3

in a small troup and post themselves at
the door through which they allowed
no one to pass until Columbus had com-
pleted their orders. As remarked, the
talents of Columbus were very versatile.
In the Jarvis house he opened a gun
shop, a jewel'ery shop, a blacksmith shop,
which on the Dauke street extensicn,
and for a time afterward was occupied
by Paul Bishop, and a factory for "the
manufacture of stove pipes, he having cb-
tained a contract for a quantity of stove
ppes. In these varied occupations he
employed quite a number of men, among
whom were James Bright and Panl

Bishop, both blacksmiths by trade and

HOUSES BUILT BY PAUL BISHOP ON THE SAME SITE.

peculiar in many respects, but good-
natured, good-hearted, charitable, and a
very clever workman. During the war
of 1812 he was employed as armourer to
the militia stationed ~at the Garrison,
near which he had a forge. Many of
the swords carried into battle by the
officers were manufactured by him, and
although perhaps not Damascus blades they
did excellent service. Before moving into
the Jarvis house he lived on the west
side of Sherbourne street, a little north
of Duke, and in both places he was still
patronized by the soldiers of the Gar.
rison, who, in order to get their work
finished e¢xpeditiously, would come down

both of whom married danghters of Mr.
Columbus. Mr, Bright and his wife are
still living at advanced ages on King
street, a short distance east of the Don.
The gun and jewellery shop was at the
corner of Duke and Sherhourne streets. The
stovepipe shop was further down on Sher-
bourne. Colursbus was equally at home
whether required to make a servce of
plate, pull a tooth, make and insert a
new set of teeth, jump the battered axe
of a woodsman, make skate blades, or the
irons of an ice boat, put in order a sur-
veyor’s theodolite, or replace an instru-
ment lost from a draughtman’s case. He
was the schoo boy’s friend, and théy uwsed
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o flock to him in great numbers to get
sheir little matters attended to. Dr. Scad-
ding once having left an article for
repairs, with instruction that it must be
made at a specified time, Columbus re-
torted that ¢ must” was only for the
King of France. He was an out-and-out
royalist, and refused to have auything to
do with the York Liberals who were then
beginning to agitate reform, on the ground
that the modera ideas of government
hindered the King from acting as a gooid
father to his people. The expression
“ first quality biue,” used by him to in-
dicate an extra quality for which an extra
pric: was to bs paid, passed into a sort
of proverb among the school boys of
the time who gr.w into the habit of
applying it to persons and things held
by them to be of a hich order of exe:l-
lence. The name Isaac Columbuy was
aintcd over the door of his workshop on
herbourn: street, and his dauchter Mrs.
Bright, says that Columbus is the proper
orthography of the name, although in some
early York papers it occasionally appears as
Imaac Collumbus. Aft r some vears spent
in the Jarvis street house, Mr. Columbus
fell into financial trouble ; his property
was taken from him ; his health !ailed,
and he went to live with his daughter
and son in-law, James Bright. Here in
the house which they now occupy east
of the Don he died at a very old age.
Mr. Columbusmoved into the Jarvishouse in
1824 and lefs it ab 2t1832, when it was taken
by Mr. James Kidd, the father of Mr.
John Kidd, who lived there until 1837,
when he built a one-storey and atic
dwelling across the way on the south-west
eorner of Jarvis and Sherbourne streets.
This building is still standing bnt elevated
to two stories and an attic. Mr. Kidd
died here in 1844. During the cholera
epidemic in Toronto it is said several per-
sens died of the dread disease in the
Jarvis house. . Either from this story or
from the tale of the suicide, the old man-
sion after a time acquired an uncanny repu-
tation and was commonly reported to
be haunted. During Mr. Kidd’s cccu-
pancy strange, unearthly noises were
heard at night in the big room formerly
used by Secretary Jarvis as an office, and
no ome could be persuaded to occupy it,
co it was left vacant On several occa-
sions in the dead of night Mr. Kidd
on one of vhese ghostly ontbreaks would
creep down to the deserted chamber,
lamp in one hand and pistol in the cther,
to wsolve the mystery if possible, but on
his app-oach the noises would cease and
wo trace of any visitor could be found.

Once a man by the name of Baxter,
recent'y arrived in Canada, came :0 the
house to spend the night. He, b.ing igno-
rant of the reputation of the house,
was assigned to the haunted room.
Several times during the night he was
heard tossing restlesstly on his bed.
The next morning he appeared at break-
fast pale and haggard, and dsclared | s
would never pass another night in that
room, In 1848 Punl Bishop, who had
acquired the property, tore down the
old house and crected on the ground
the two brick houses shown in the illus-
tration, and the ome-storey cottage a litile
further to the east. Of the two honses
built together, which are now standing,
James Peacock owns the corner one, a.d
William Goldring the one east of it.

CHAPTER XLVI,
THE SMITH HOMESTEADS.

TRe First Frame House in York and One of
the First Buildings on King Street—Tho
lonse Over the Don,

When Governor Simcoe in 1793 came
from Niagara to what is now Toronto in
quest of a site for the seat of his Govern-
ment, there came in his train an experienced
builder by the name of William Smith. He
remained here during the fall and

winter and assisted in laying out the
town which the Governor had chosen
for  his  capital. In  the spring
Mr. Smith went over to Niagara

and returned, bringing his family with him.
After the laying ont of the town plot he was
the first to draw a building lot. It was the
north-east corner of King and Sherbourne,
the latter being then named Caro.ine street,
after that Princess of Wales, afterwards so
unnappily famous as George the Fourth’s
Qu en Caroline. The same year Mr. Smith
put up a log cabin on his newly acquired
land for the temporary residence of his
family. The next year this was pulled
down and at the eastern end of the plot was
built a frame house, which is reported to be
the first frame house built in York, and
certainly was one of the very first houses
of any description on King street,
which by'the way was termed Duke stre t,
and the modern Duke street Duchess street
in the laying out of the town, in compliment
to the Duke of York, son of G:orge the
Third, and the Dnchess of York, eldest
daughter of the King of Piussia. Subse-
quently, by an agreement made between
William 8mith and his son William, jr.,
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who was but thirteen years o'd on his
arrival at York, and who was one of the
pupi's of Dr. Okill Stuart at his Hom~ Dis-
trict School, the young man acquired the
western portion of the lot and buiit a frame
addition to his father’s house, married and
settled down, and there in 1811 his first
child, Mr. John Smith, who now lives across
the Don, was born. Both the buildings
erected by the father and son are still stand-
ing, somewhat changed from the'r original
appearance. The houses were built of
wood cut on the premises and at the rear of
the houses there is to-day a stable the
wood of which is of the same varisty as the
trees growing in the vicinity. Mr. Smith,the
elder, built many of the ecarlier houses of
York and also the bridge over the Don on
what is now King street, but was then
theKingston road running between York and
Kingston. That these early loz and frame
houses have stood in such good condition
down to the present time is due mainly to
the excellence of their construction. Among
the men whom Governor Simcoe brought
with him to build ws embryo city were
timbermen from Nova Scotia and other
lower provines expert hewers and dove-
tailers of logs, and Englishmen skilied in
whipsawing and cutting joists and rafters.
The wood too was guod, consisting princi-
paily of oak and pine. Mr. John Smith
has some oak cut by his grandfather in
1794, that is in a state of perfect preserva-
tion, and out of which he is having picture
frames made. In 1802 William Smith, sr.,
was one of th= subscribers to the fund for
improving Yongestreet,and in 1815 his name
is appended together wih th.t of his
gson Wi'liam to the address of welcome pre-
sented by the citizens of York to Lieutenant
Governor Gore on his return from England,
S:ptember 27th, 1815. M». William Smith,
sr., lived in his King street house until 1819,
when he diea. His picture, in the pos-
gession of the family, shows a fine-featured
man with powd red hair and a quen:. His
face bears a striking resemblane: to that of
Lafayette. Thers also came to York
with Governor Simcoe in 1793 Mr. John
Scadding, father of the Rev. Dr Henry
Scadding, of this city, canon of Toronto
and author of ¢“Toronto of Old,” ¢ The
Four Decades of York, Upper Canada ” an:l
¢ The First Bishop of Toronto, a Review
and a study.” 1o 1798 Mr. Scadding ob-
taited a grant from the Government of the
whole of the lot No. 15 on the cast bank of
the Don, consisting of about 250 acres with
a broken front on the lake in th: first con-
cession, the southern division stretching
south to the lake, being known as the first
eonceesion, while that stretching north-

ward was termed the second concession.
Governor Simcoe was recalled the same
vear and Mr. Scadding returned to England
with him. Previous to his departure he put
Mr. George Flayter, the father of the present

Mr. John Playter, in charge of the
property, installing him in the log
house which had been built in the

east branch of the Don just south of the
Kingston road, and whaich may now be
seen at the Exhibition ground. In this
house Emanu-l Playter was born in 1798.
He died in 1869 About this log cabin an
orchard had already been set out, the trees
having been brought from the United States,
and as late as 1832 one of the trees of this
orchard, a sweet apple of excellent quality,
was still standing, In 1817 Mr. Scadding
returned to York and laid out his land on
the north side of the Kingston road
in building lots of one, two, three
and five acres. These lots were sold,
Georg: Playter buying the one just east
of the Don. William Smith, jr., bought all
of Mr. Scadding's land south of the road,
about fifty acres in 1819. In 1818 George
Playter built a frame house one and a half
stories high, and 18x32 feet in dimension on
his plot just north-eass of the present King
street bridge over the Don. On purchasing
Mrv, Scalding’s p-overty William Smith,
jr, started to build a tannery near the river
which was in operation in 1820. He then
bought George Playter’s newly built house
and moved itacross the road, a little way back
from it to h's own land, an easy task at that
time, agthe ground was level and theroadway
had not been cut down asit nowis. In
this house were lodged the employes of the
tannery, Mc. Smith preserving his residence
at the corner of King and Sherbourne sts.,
where all his family were born until 1832
when he decided to occupy the Dn house
as a residence. He had previously buily
an addition to it for the accommodation of
the tannery men and when the tamily took
possession of the house another addition of
18 x 13 feet was put on at the east side.
After the death of William Smith the pro
perty came into the hands of his son John
Smith, who made various additions to the
house from tim: to time until it assumed its
present proportions. The sitting room
now is th: original house built by
John Playt:r. 1n it stands a tall hall
clock, the case of which was m de by Jor-
dan Post. and which is probibly the first
clock case ever manufactured in York. In
the parlour at the east wing of the house
hang the family portraits. In 1879 Mr.
Swith had the old log cabin, built in 1794,
removed to the Exhibition grounds, where
it now stands. The illustration shows the
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Don homestead, with the tannery and the
log cabin in their original positions. The
land on which they s<and has been expro-
priated by che city for the purpose of
straightening and improving the Don river.
Mc. Smith built a new house on the east
side of the Don, where he died.

CHAP:.ER XLVIL
THE HOME DISTRICT SCHOOL.

The First Public Scheol in York and the
Home of the First Rector of St. James' —
Lol George Duggan’s House.

Early in the century, probably not later
than 1805, the Rev. Dr. Okill Stuart
built a modest frame house as a residence
for himself on the plot of ground owned by
him at the south-east corner of King and
George streets. At the south-east corner
of his house, and attached to it, he con-
structed a small low stone building, not
much bigger than a root-house. The stone
walls stood in their native rndeness, but
they were atterward covered with a coating
of clap-boards. In this primisive school
house the first public school of York was
established, and on the rolls of its pupils
one may read the names of boys who be-
came rich and celebrated men and of
girls who blossomed into the belles of the
growing capital. The school was called
tne Home District Schoo!, and it was
opened on the first of June, 1807, by the
Rev. Dr. Okill Stuart, who taught there
several years. Dr. Stuary had tuken up
his residence in York as early as 1803,
as recior of the Anglican congrega‘ion,
which, at that time, before the erection of
the first St. James’ church, held their
services in one of the government build-
ings. In March, 1799, there was a day
of general thanksgiving for the late victo-
ries of the British, and prayers were
read at 11.30 o’clock in the north
government building. Dr. Stuart bad not
arrived at this time, and prior to his ap-
pointmeni and afterward during his absence
Mr. William Cooper read the prayers.
This Mr. Cooper was the owner o Cooper’s
whart, a favourite landipg place near the
foot of Jarvis street. D.. Scadding relates
that a lannch took place av the ship-yard
adjoining Cooper’s wharf once on a Suaday.
All attempis to get the boat inte the water
the day before had been vain, and to

revent any accident which delay might

Kn'e occasioned she was got off the ways

on Sunday. As might be expected, Mr.

Cooper was one of the pew holders in St,

James’ church from its establishmen!, and

in 1802 was one of the subscribers to

the improvement of Yonge street. At the
beginning of 1803 Dr. Stuart had arrived
in Toronto, for the Oracle and Gazette of
January 22 of that year has the following
account of the proceedings of the sub-
scribers toward the fund for the erection
of the first St. James’ church :—¢ At a
meeting of the subscribers to a fund for
erecting a church in the town of York,
hoiden at the government buildings on
Saturday, the 8:th of January instant, the
Hon. Chief Justice Eimsley in the chair :
Resolved unanimously that each subscriber
shall pay the amount of his subscription
by three instaiments, the first being one
moijety in one month from this day ; the
second being a moiety of the residue in
two months, and the remainders in three
months ; that Mr. William Allan and Mr.
Duncan Cameron shall be treasurers and
shall receive the amount of said subscrip-
tions, and that they be jointly and severaliy
auswerable for all moneys paid into their
hands npon the receipt of either of them ;
that His Honour the Chief Justice, the
Honourable P. Russell, the Honourable
Captain McGill, the Rev. Mr. Stuart,
Dr. Macaulay, Mr. Chewett, and the two
treasurers be a committee of the subscribers,
with full power and authority to apply the
moneys arising from subscriptions to the
purpose contempiated : provided, neverthe-
less, that if any material difference of
opinion should arise among them resort
shall be had to a meeting of the sub-
scribers to decide; that the church be
built of stone, brick or fram:d timber
as the committee m.y judge most expe-
dient ; due regard being had ro the superior
advantages of a stone or brick building
if not counterbalanced by the additional
expense ; that eight hundred pounds of
lawful money be the extent upon which the
committee shall calzulate their plan, but
in the first instance they shall not ex-
pend beyond the sum of six hundred
pounds, if the amount of the sums sub-
scribed and paid into the hands of the
treusurers, together with the moneys which
may be allowed by the British Govern-
ment amount to so much, leaving so much
of the work as can most conveniently be
dispensed with to b» completed by the
remaining two hundred pounds ; provided,
however, that the said six hundred pounds
be laid out in such manner that Divine
worship can be performed with decency
in the church ; that the committee do
request the opinion of Mr. Beiczy re-
specting the probable expenses which will
avtend the undertaking, and respecting the
materials to be preferred, due regard being
had to the amount of the fund as aforesaid,
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and that after obtaining his opinion they do
advertise their readiness to receive proposals
conformable thereto. N. B The propriety
of receiving contributions in labour or mate-
rials is suggested to the committee. A. Mac-
donell, secretary to the meeting.” Dr.
Stuart preached the sermon at the funeral
of the Hon. Peter Russell, Wednesday,
Oct. 4, 1808. On the second attack
of the Americans on York one of the Unired
States officers, hospitably entertained by
the ladies of the town, was a brother-in-law
of Dr. Stuart, Brookes by name. Church
and school were closely a'lied in the early
days of York, and both are inseparable
from the history of the house at the south-
east corner of King and George streets.
Returning to the school, contemporary
records stow that the first names entered
on its books were those of John Ridout,
William A. Hamilton, Thomas G H milton,
George H. Detlor, George 5. Boul!ton,
Robert Stanton, William Stanton, Angus
McDonell, Alexander Hamilton, Wi son
Hamilton, Robert Ross, and Allan McNab.
Afterward there came to the school John
Moore, Charles Ruggles, Edward Hart-
ney, Charles Boulion, Alexander Chewett,
Donald McDonell. James Edward Small,
Charles Small, John Hayes, George and
William Jarvis, William Bowkett, Peter
McDonell, Philemon Squire:, James Me-
fntosh, Bernard, Henry and Marshall
Glennon, Richard Prooke, Daniel Brooke,
Charles Reade, William Robinson, Gil-
bert Hamilton, Henry Ernst, John Gray,
Robert Gray, William Cawthra, William
Smith, Harvey Woodruff, Robert Ander-
son, Benjam'n Anderson, James Givins,
‘Thomas Playter, William Pilkington, and
boys by the names of Belcour, Hammeil
and Marian, probibly sons of th: Freuch
bakers and confectioners of that day.
Among the girls’ names are many afterward
distinguish>d in the society of Upper
Canada. The Rev. Dr. John Strachan,
afterward first bishop of Toronto, sue-
ceeded Dr. Stuart as incumbent of St
James’ in 1813. The Home District
School came to an end, and in its place
Dr. Strachan establi-hed the District
Grammar School. Dr. Stuart, on leaving
York, became rector of St. George’s church,
Kingston, and Archdeacon of Kingston,
On his departure Colonel George Duggan
bought Dr. Stuart’s property. Co onel
Ducgan was an Irishman of strong pre-
judices. He camec to York at an early
date., Oddly enough, he had an insuperable
aversion to Dr. Stuart., That divine was
a tall, benevolent and handsome man,
but he had a peculiar delivery, and
whenever he ascended the pulpit Colonel

Duggan would invariably rise and walk
out of church with the greatest gravity.
This became such a regular psrformance
that it ceased to attract attention,
and the congregation came to regard it as
a part of the service. Colonel Duggan
gave and set out the row of Lombardy
poplars which once stood in front of
St. James’ church, and which may be
seen in old engravings of King street,
when it became necessary to remove these,
aud the vestry voted their destruction,
Colonel Duggan came vary near assault-
ing T. D. Harris, the church warden,
who was entrusted with the work of
superintending their removal. Another
instance of his strong prejud ces is
given in the story how he once kept a
Jury locked up all night by obatinately

standing out against the o'her eleven
members, They had their revenge, how-
ever, for they kept th: Colonel awake

the whole night, and so tortured him with

tricks and pranks that he was glad
to give in mnext morning when court
m:t. In 1815 Colonel Duggan was one

of the signers of an address welcoming
Lieutenant-Governor Franeis Gore back
to Upper Canada from England. In
1822 he was a subscriber to the fund
for the erection of two bridges over the
Don. He oncestood for the town against
Attorney-General Ro'inson, hut was de-
feated. After Mr. Duggan, Patrick Hughes
opened a dry-goods store in the building.
His stock was largely exposed on the out-
side during the day and during the evening
it was indoors. The old building shown in the
illustration has long since yielded to
the march of progress, and the boys
and girls who pored over their books
wicthin its walls are all dead, and the
mossy marbles rest upon Dr. Stuart and
Colonel Duggan. Still it is a memorial
of the first public school of this town and
of the first rector of St. James’s

Of those who were pupils and who have
also long since passed away may be men-
tioned : John Ridout, who in his very early
youth was a midshipman on one of the lake
gunboats in the war of 1812, and who met
his death in a lamentable manner before be
had completed his twenty-first year ; Angus
MecDonell, than whom no man in Toronto
was better known; the Smalls, whose
descendants are in Toronto at the present
time ; William Cawthra, who erected the
[arge stone house on the north-east: corner of
King and Bay str-ets, now occupied by the
Molsons Bank: Thomas Playter, whose
family is still in the city ; and Allan McNab,

of whom the stories told are legion.
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CHAPTER XLVIIL
THE FIRST METHODIST CHURGCH.

A Sketch of the Primitive Weslieyan Chapel
on King Street—Afterward Converted into
the Theaire Royal.

The year 1818 was noteworthy in the an-
nals of York as an era of extensive bnild-
ing operations. Numerous stores, private
residences and other buildings were erected,
several of which were of a more pre-
tentious style of architecture than those
previously existing in the capital. 1n
the summ r of this year was erected the
little church shown in the illustration.
It was the first place of public worship of
the Wesleyan Methodists in York. The
chapel was a little low common-place-look-
ing frame structure, originally forty ieet
square, but afterward enlarged to forty
by sixty feet. Its builder wus a Mr. Petch.
Lt stood a few feet back from what is now
the corner of King and Jordan streets,
but at the time of its erection Jordan street
had no existence. It was on the south
side of King sireet and stood north and
south. On the site of the chapel was after-
ward built Hay’s furniture establishment.
The little chapel had a solitary double
door-way op:ning toward King street.
Ou each side of the entrance was a window,
which, as compared with the size of the
building, were of considerable dimensions.
Three windows of similar size lighted
th: interior from each side. The in-
terior was fitted up with a high square
box-like pulpit at the end. Rude wooden
benehes were ranged along each side, leav-
iug a narrow passage down the middle
from the door to the pulpit. The entire
cost of the building was about §250, and
it is said that the congregation were three
years in raising this amount. This seems
strange to any ore contemplating the
wealth of the Methodist denomination in
Toronto to-day. From the little wooden
chapel at the corner of King and Jordan
streets the magnificent  Metr politan
church is a long step in less than half a
century. In the first Methodisv church
the custom prevaiied of separating the men
irom the women, the former sitting on
the right hand entering the building,
the latter on the left. This practice of
separating the sexes in places of public
worship came from the East, and is still
followed by the Jews in their synagogues.®
It also exists at the present day in
some of the Engli-h churches. Formerly,
among the ariicies of enquity sent from a
Diocesan to church-wardens, was the

question : ‘“ Do men and wom:n sit
together indifferently and promiscuously,
or as the fashion was of old do men sit
together on cne side of the church and
women upon the other?’ In English
churches the usage d.ffered from the pree-
tice of the Methodists in Toronto ; the
north of the church was the place of the
women and the south that of the men.
The same custom of separating the sexes
also obtained in the Greek church,
‘In 1688 Sir George Wkheler, in his
‘¢ Account of the Churches of the Primi-
tive Christians,” says that ‘‘this eustom
seems not only very decent, but now-a-days
siuce wickedness so much abounds highly
necessary, for the general mixture of men
and women in the Latin Cuurch is uoto-
riously scandalous and little less is their
sitting together in the same pews in our
London churches.” At the time of the
erection of the chapel this part of King
street was but sparsely built up, there
being no house on the south side between
the chapel and ch: corner of Bay street,
where stood the private residence of
Mr. Jordan Post, a well-known clock-
maker of that day, wiose name is com-
memorated in Jordan street. Mr. Post’s
shop was near the south-west corner of
King and Yonge streets. Between this
shop and the chapel the only building
was Shepherd’s blacksmith’s shop, which
stood about hali way between Yonge
street and the present site of Jordan street.
Opposite was a solitary two-storey house,
where a family by the name of Smith
carried on a bakery and confectionery
business. The end of this house abutting
on the street is shown in the illustra-
tion. On the western side of the chapel,
and at its rear, was an orchard extend-
ing southward to Wellington street,
beyond which trees and shrubs stretched
down to the water’s edge across the road
leading to the Garrison. The Wesleyan
chapel continued to be used as a place
of worship for fifteen years. In 1833 it
was converted for a time into th: ¢ Theatre
Royal.”

And in the same building where had re-
sounded the eloquence of the early Method-
ist ministers the playgoers of York lisiened
to the soliloquies of Hamlet, followed the
woes of Juliet, and sat aghast as the cupidity
of Shylock was skilfully placed before them.
To the first Methodist church and the
change afterwards made in it may be ap-
plied the Shakespearean quotation * We
know what we are, but we know not svhat
we may be.”

B
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CHAPTER XLIX.
PAUL BISHOP’S HOUSE AND SHOP.

An Early Smithy Where the First Cab Con-
structed in York Was Built—The Corner
of Duke and Sherbourne Streets.

Among the early settlers in York was
Panl Bishop, a French Canadian, who estab-
lished bimself in business here as blacksmith
and wheelwright. On the north-east corner
of Duke and Sherbourne streets, the latter
then Caroline, a little distance back from
the street, Bishop built a good-sized frame
blacksmith shop, fronting southward on
Duke street. It was clapboarded and had a
shingle roof. Through its wide open doors
the forge within might ever be seen glow-
ing, while the merry ring of the hammer on
the anvil scunded. About thirty feet from
the shop, at the east side of it, were some
trees, and at the rear of the shop, on the
west side, stood one tree.

For many years he was the principal
workman in his trade in the town, and in
1831 his shop was in its full vigor. All
about the yard were scatt red wheels and
broken vehicles brought for regairs. The
first cab bulit in York was comstructed in
his shop. Oan the opposite side of the street
just east of the house bnilt by Secretary
Jarvis at the south-east corner of Duke and
Sherbourne and then occupied by Isaac
Columbnus, a French gunsmith and jack of
all trades, Bishop built a sn¥all one storey
red brick cottage for a residence. The four
sides of the roof sloped down in equal
triangles from the peak. In front were two
witidows. The door was reached by a short
flight of side steps with a railing and a little
stoop such as is fr quently seen
in the older houses to-day. This cottage is
st#l standing in good repair.  Mr. Bishop
married one of the daughters of his neigh-
bour, Columbus, James Bright, a black-
amith, who with his wiie now lives over the
Donat an advanced age, married another
daunghter, and Henry Robinson, a gunsmith,
wedded the third and youngest daughter.
Bishop was a pleasant, well-liked man. He
spoke fairly good broken English. While
conducting business at his Duke street shop
he beught large quantities of iron from T.
D. Harris. At length reverses came and he
was obliged to transfer his shop and house
to other hands. T. D. Har:is, to whom he
was largely indebted for material, obtained
possession of the shop, which he
moved forward and converted into dwel-
lings, which are now standing. Bishop left
the city abont- 1846, immediately after his
failure in business, and went to Penetan-
guishene, where he died some years ago.

A year or two previous to 1848 T. D.
Harris, having come into possession of the
property owned by Paul Bishop, at the
north-east corner of Duke and Sherbourne
stre-ts, where he cariied on the black-
smithing business, Mr. Harris moved the
frame shop forward to the street line, en-
larged and re-modeled it, and after raising
it on stone foundations, about three feet
high, divided it into two dwelliugs, two
stories in height, which were stuccoed
brown, Flighte of steps gave en-
trance to the dvors, elevated by the stone
foundation. At the west end of the corner
wall Mr. Harris inserted in the foundation
a stone bearing the inscription T. D. H.,
1848, being his initials and the date of the
trarsformation of the shop into dwellings.
These buildings are still standing, although
beginning to show signs of age and decay.
Mr. Harris was in business at his store
on the south side of King street, be-
tween Frederick and George streets, on a
site recently occupied by O'Connor’s hotel,
and teen down to make room for two red
brick dwellings. The firm was Watkins &
Harris. In 1833 they moved to 68 King
street east. The shop was known as the
“Sign of the Anvil and Sledge.” Mr.
Harris then dissolved partnership and aboud
1850 moved to the brick building now occu-
pied by Geo. Keith, 124 King street east.
He was succeeded in the wholesale business
by Mr. W. R. Harris. In 1829 3r. Harris
had established a hardware business in the
ficst named King street shop, a little west
of the market, in connection with Joh:
Wakins, of Kingston. From an adver-
tisement of 1833 the stock of hard-
ware stores at that time may be learned.
It consisted of such substantial materials
as bending and unbending nails, as usual,
wrought nails and spikes of all sizes, ox
traces and cable chains, tin, donble and
single sheet iron, sheet brass and copper,
bar hoop, bolt and iron of all sizes, shear,
blister and cast steel, with an assortment of
such goods as cordage, oakum, tar pitch
and rosin and patent maechines for shelling
corn. Money being scarce, Mr. Harris
issued  scrip redcemable by himself
which passed current through the town.
These were of the denomination of 73d.,
1s. 3d. and 2= 6d. cy. They were about the
size of the present Dominion cuirency bills
and popularly known as shinplasters, thus
showing that that word much antedates the
civil war in the United States whereitis com-
monly supposed it had itsorigin. Mr.Harris
did a very extensive business for many
years. His store was supposed to be fire
proof. This beltef prevailed to such an ex-
tenit during the great five of 1849 in the store
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124 King street east that no effort was made
toremove the contents of the building. For
a long time it resisted the flames, but at
length feli a victim and everything was de-
stroyed.  After this disaster Mr. Harris
retired from business. In the year 1841
a great fire had raged in the western
part of the town destroying the western half
of the block bounded by K'ng, York, Pearl,
then Boulton and Bay streets. Mr. Harris
at the time of that conflagration was chief of
the fire brigade and had been for several
years, but immediately after the fire he
resigned his office, and Robert Beard was
appo'nted as his successor. It 18 related
that once Mr. Harris, who for twenty-five
years was churchwarden of St. James’, nar-
rowly escaped a dangerous personal encoun-
ter with George Duggan over the removal of
some Lombardy poplars which stood in
front of the church on the King street side.
The vestry had resolved that they should be
destroyed, and Mr. Harris carried out their
decision in the matter not without risk to
himsgelf. A humoureus incident once re-
sulted from the presentation by Mr. Harris
of a set of colours to the John Watkins, a
schooner commanded by Captain Thew ply-
ing between York and Niagara, the colours
being given by Mr. Harris in honour of his
old friend, whose name the boat bore. In
some way ithappened thatthese colours were
made of the particular pattern which ves-
sels in the Royal service are alone allowed
to carry. One day while the John Watxins
wag lying securely moored in the Kingston
harbour gaily flaunting her new colours
Captain Thew was astonished to find his
vessel board«d by a body of man-of-war’s-
men from a neighbouring British war ship,
who hauled down and seized the flags flying
from her masts as the exclurive insignia of
the Royal Navy. The flags were afterward
restored to Captain Thew on his explana-
tion of the case.  After the retirement f
Mr. Harris from business he was appointed
harbour master of Toronto, and oceupied
that position up to the time of his death.

CHAPTER L.
UPPER CANADA COLLEGE.

The RHistory of the Educational Institutlon
Established by Sir John Colborne with a
sketch eof its Founder and His Public
Serviees.

The circumstances attending the origin of
Upper Canada College and Royal Grammar
School, the original name of this educational
institution arethese: In the year 1798 agrant
of 549,000 acres of land from the public do-
main was made by the Crown in response to

a joint address of the Legislative (ouncil
and Assembly of Upper Canada which pray-

ed that His Majesty would be
pleased to direct his Government in the
province to  appropriate a cerbain

portion of the lands «f the Crown as a fund
for educational purposes, including the es-
tablishment and support of a respectable
Grammar school in each district thereof and
also a coilege or university for the instruc-
tion of youth in the different branches of
liberal knowledge. The province at that
time was divided into four districts, Of
the above mentioned lands 190,573 acres
were assigned by the Impeiial Government
to a general Board of E iucation of the
Province, established in 1823 for the sup-
port of Graramar and Common schools. fn
1826 there were three hundred and fifty
common schools, and eleven dist:ict or
Grammar schoo's in the province, the form-
er having an attendance of eight thousand
pupils and the iat er of about thice hun-
dred. The residue of the grant, which
was 358,427 acres, was regarded by the pro
vincial government as applicable to the sup
port of the contemplated uiiversity, and an
exchange was made by the Imperial Govern-
ment of Crown reserves of an equal quantity
of land with the view of securing the imme-
aiate establishment of the University. It is
to Sir Jonn Colborne, one of the greatest
governors of this province that Upper Cana-
da College largely owes its establishment.
In October 1828 his predecessor, Sir Pere-
grine Maitland, who was on the point of
leaving Upper Canada, having been appoint-
ed to the government of Nova Scotia,
paid York an invo'untary visit. He
was on his way to Niagara, journeying
from Quebec, through the Ridean Canal,
when a storm having arisen on the
lake, the royal yacht Bullfrog, Commodore
Barrie commanding, was forced to put in
York harbour. The same paper which
chronicled the departure of Sir Peregrine
Maitland announced that the ship Corinthi-
an had arrived in New York, and the Niazara
Gleaner says that on Monday, November
10th, ‘¢ His Excellency Sir John Culborne
paid a visit to the Fal s. His own carri ge,
drawn by four spirited horses, furnished by
Mr. Chrysler, carried his Excellency’s ady,
her sister, Miss Yonge, and five chi dren.
His Exccllency went on horseback, aceom-
pani-d by Captain Philipotts, of the Royal
Engineers. In the m:antime the steamer
Canada went to Lewiston, took in his Ex-
cellency’s luggage, and was ready to receive
his Excecllency and family at an early hour
on Tucsday morning.  On the departure of
the vessel a salute was fired trom Fort
George.,” The GQleaner adds that '*his
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Excellency was highly gratified with the
first view of the province and the friendly
reception he met with, also the good things
le partook of at the hotel, much of which
was the product of the province.” Sir John
Colborne was a distingui-hed military
officer. Dr. Scadding says rcgarding him :
““ We remember his first passing up the
central aisle of St. James’ church. He had
arrived early in an unostentatious way, and
on coming within the building he quietly in-
quired of the first person whem he saw
sitting in a seat mear the door which was
the Governor’s pew. The gentleman ad-
dressed happened to be Mr. Ber-
nard Tuarquand, whe quickily recogniz-
ing the inquirer, stood up and
extended his right arm and open hand in
the dlrection of the canopied pew, over
which was susp:nded the tablet bearing the
royal arms. Sir John and some of his family
afver him then passed on to the place indi-
cated. At school,” continues Dr Scadding,
“in an edition of Goldsmith, then in use,
the name of Major Colb:rre, in connection
with the account of Sir John Moore’s death
at Corunna, had already been obscrved, and
it was with us lads a matter of intense in-
terest vo learn that the new Governor was
the same person. The scene which was
epitemized iu the school-book is given

at greater length in Gleig’s
Lives of FEminent British Military
Commanders. The following are some par-

ticulars fromn Colonel Anderson’s narrative
in that work : —*‘I me$ the General,” Colo-
nel Anderson says, ‘on the evening of the
16th, bringing in a bianket and sashes, He
knew me immediately, though it wasalmost
dark, squeezed me by the kand and said
¢ Anderson, don’t leave me.” At intervals
he added ¢ Anderson, you know that I have
always wished to die in this way. I hope
the people of England will be satisfied. I
hope my country will do me justice. You
will see my friends as soon as you can. i'ell
them everything. 1 have made my will and
have remembered my servant. Colborne
bas my will and all my papers.’” Major
Colborne now carme into the room. He said
most kindly to him and then said to Mr.
Andersen, * Remember you go to — and
tell him it is my request, and that I expect
he will give Major Celborne a licutenant-
colonelcy.” He thanked the surgeons for
their trouble. He pressed my hand close
to his bedy and in a few minutes died
without a struggle. He had been séruck by
a cananon ball, The shot, we are told, had
completely crushed his shou!der, the arm
was hanging by a piece of skin, and the
ribs over the heart, besides being broken,
were literally stripped of flesh. Yet, the

narrator adds, he sat upon the field collect-
ed and unrepining as if no ball had struck

him, and as if he were placed
where he was for the  mere
purpose of reposing for a brief space
fecm the fatigue of hard riding. Sir John

Colborne himself afterwards, at Ciudad
Rodrigo, came within a hair’s breadth of a
similar fate. His right shounlder was shat-
tered by a cannon shot. The escape of the
right arm from amputation on the fiesld at
the hands of some prompt military surgeon
on that occasion was a marvel. The limb
was saved, thoagh greatly disabled. The
want of symmetry in Sir John Colborne’s
tall and graceful form permanently occa-
sioned by this injury was ccnspicuous to the
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eye. \We happened to be present in the
Council chamber at Quebec in 1838 at the
moment when this noble-locking soldier
literally vacated the vice-regal chair and
installed his successor, Lord Durham, in it
after administering to him the oaths.” The
exchange was not for the better in a scenie
point of view although the featu:es of Lord
Durham as his well known portrait shows,
were very fine, suggestive of the poet or
artist. Of late years a monument has been
erected on Mount Wise at Plymouth, in
honour of the illustrious military chiei and
pre-eminently excellent man whose memory
has just been recalled to us. It is a statue
of bronze by Adams, a little larger than
life, and the likeness is admirably pre-
served. When seen on horseback at parade
or reviews soldiers always averred that he
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greatiy resembled ¢ the Duke.” Dr. Henry,
in * Trifles from my Portiolin,” thus wrote
of him in 1833, ¢ When we first dined
at Government  House we were
struck by the strong resemblance he
bore to the Duke of Wellington
and there is also, Dr. Henry continues, ‘a
great similarity in mind and disposition as
well as in the lineaments of the face. In
one particular they harmonize perfectly,
namely, great simplicity of character and
an utter dislike to show ostentation.” On
the four sides of the granite pedestal of the
statue on Mount Wise are to be read the
following inscriptions : in front, ¢ John
Colborne, Biron Seaton, Borne MDCCLXX
VIII, Died MDCCCLXIIL,” on the right
side, ¢ Canada, Ionian Islands,” on the left
side ¢ Peninsula, Waterloo,” on the remain-
ing side : * In Memory of the Distinguished
Career and Stain.ess Character of Field Mar-
shal Lord Seaton, G C.B.,G.C.M.G.,G.C.H..
This Monument is erected by his Friends
and Comrades.” Accompanying the family
of Sir John Co:borne to their place in the
church at York was to be seen every Sun-
day for some time « shy-mannered, black-
eyed, Italian featured Mr. Jeuue, tutor to
the Governor’s sons, This was afterwards
the eminent Dr. Jeune, master of Pembroke
Coliege at Oxford, a great promoter of re-
form in that university and Bishop of Lin-
coln. Sir John himself was a man of
scholarly tastes, a great student of history
and a practical modern European iinguist.
Through a casual circum-tance it is said that
full praise was not publicly given at the time
to the regiment commanded by Sir John
Colborne, the 52nd, for the particular
service rendered by it at the battle
of Waterloo. By the independent direction
of their leader the 52nd made a sudden flank
movement at the crisis of the fight and
initiated the final discomfiture of which
the Guards got the sole praise. At the close
of the day when the Duke oi Weliington
was rapidly constructing bis despatch Col.
Colborne was inquired for by him and could
not for the moment be found. The in-
formation evidently desired was thus not to
be had and the document was completed and
sent off without a special mention of
the 52nd’s deed of ¢ derring do.” During
the life-time of the great Duke there wasmuch
reticence among the military authorities in
regard to the battle of Waierloo from the
fact that the Duke himself did
not encourage discussion on the sub-
jeet. All was well that had ended
well appeared to have been  his
doctrine. He once checked an incipient
dispute in regard to the great event of the
18th of June between two friends in his

presence by the command half-jocose, half-
earnest, ‘ You leave the battle of Waterloo
alone !” He gave £60 for a private letter
written by himself to a friend on the eve of
the battle, and was heard to say as lie threw
the document into the fire, *“ What a fool
was I when I wrote that !’ Since the death
of the Duke an officer of the 52nd, subse-
quently in holy orders, the Rev. William
Leeke has devoted two volumes "to the
history of the 52ud or Lord Seaton’s regi-
ment in which iss movements on the field of
Waterloo ave fully detailed. And Colonel
Chesney in his *“Waterloo Lectures, a Study
of the Campaign of 1815,” has set the great
battle in a new light and has demolished
several English and French traditions in
relation to it bringing out into great promin-
ence the services rendered by Blucher and
the Prussians. The Duke’s personal sensi-
tiveness to eriticism was shown on another
occasion. When Colonel Gurwood suddenly
died, he, through the police, took possession
of the Colonel’s papers and especially of a
manuseript of table talk and other area
designed for publication and which had it
not been on the instant ruthless'y desiroyea
would have been as interesting probably as
Boswell’s. On Lord Seaton’s departure from
Carada he was successively Lord High Com-
missioner of the Ionian Islands and Com-
mandcr-in-Chief in Ireland. He then retired
to his own estate in the west of England,
where he had a beautiful seat in the midst
of the calm, rural, inlacd scenery of Devon-
shire, not far from P.ympton, and on the
slope descending southward from the sum-
mit of Dartmoor. The name of the house is
Beechwood, from the num rous, clean, bold,
magnificent beech trees that adorn its
grounds, and give character to the neigh-
bourhood generally. In the adjoining vil-
lage of Sparkwell he erected a handsome
school house and chnrch. On his deczase at
Torquay in 1863 his remains were deposited
in the church at Newton Ferrers, the
ancient tamily burying place of the Yonges.
Mrs. Jam'eson’s words in her ¢ Winter
Stories and Summer Rambles,” express
briefly but truly the report which all that
remember him would give of this distin-
guished and ever memorable Governor of
Canada.

SirJohn Colborne shesays, incidentally in
the iutroduction to the wo:k just named,
whose mind appeared to me cast in the anti-
que mould of chivalrous honour and whom I
never heard mentioned in either Province
but with respect and veneration. Dr.
Henry in ¢ Trifles from my Portfolio,” once
before referred to uses similar language, ‘1
believe” he says ‘‘there never was asoldier of
more perfect moral character than Sir John
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Colborne, a Bayard without gasconade as
well as sans peur et sans reproche.” The
title *“ S aton” we may add was taken from
the name of an ‘* ancient seaport town of
Devon,the Morilunum of the Roman period.”
Before the arriva! of Sir John Colborne
at York educational affairs had received
a good deal of attention from the people of
the province and at the beginning of his ad-
ministration a great impetus was given to
the cause of learning by the estab.ishment
of a more advanced educational institution
than had hitherto existed here. 1t had
long been considered advisable to afford fa-
cilities to the youth of Upper Canada for
obtaining a more thorough e iuncation than
was to be had «t such institutions as the
Home District Grammar School which up to
the year 1829 was the most advanced educa-
tional institution in York. There wasa
good deal of discnssion on the subject; pub-
lic feeling was aroused and several peti-
tions were presented in the legislatore,
The outcom= of the discussion was that Up-
per Canada College was established by an
order of the Provincial Government. Fcom
its name and the circumstances attending
its foundation, Upp:r Canada College was
intended to meetv a provincial want in
higher education. In the spring of 1829 it
had been determined to proceed at once
with the erection of snitable baildings, and
in the Loyalist of May 2nd of that year
occurs the following advertisement :—
“ Minor College. Sealed tenders for erect-
ing a school-honse and four dweliing-houses
will be rcceived on the first Monday of June
next. Pians, elevations and sp:cifications
may be seen after the 12th inst. ou applica-
tion to the Hon. Geo. Markland, from
whom further information will be received.
Edivors throughout the province are re-
quested to insert this notice until the first
Monday in June, and forward their accounts
for the sum to the office of the Loyalist.” In
the Upper Canada Gazette of D:cember 17,
1829, this advertisement is printed :—
“Upper Canada College, established at
York. Visitor, the Lieutenant Governor
for the tim: being. This co.lege will open
after the approaching Christmas vacation,
on Monday, the 8th of January, 1830, under
the conduct of the masters appointed at
Oxford by the Vice-Chancellor and other
electors in Ju'y last. Principal, the Rev.

J Harris, D. D., late Fellow
of Ulare Hall, Cambridge. Classical Depart-
ment ; Vice-Principal, the Rev. T. Philips,
D.D., of Queen’s College, Cambridge ; First
Classical Master, the Rev. Chas. Mathews,
M A., of Pembroke Hall, Cambridge ;
Second Classical Master, the R=v. W, Boul-
on, B.A., of Queen’s College, Oxford ;

Mathematical Department, the Rev. Chas.
Dade, M.A., Fellow of Cain’s College, Cam-
bridge, and late Mathematical Master af
Eliz .beth College ; french, Mr. J. P. De La
Haye ; English, Writirg and Arithmetic,
Mr. G. A. Barber and Mr. J. Padfield ;
Drawing Master, Mr. Drury. Signed, G.
H. Markland, secretary to the Board cf
Education.” Sir John Colborne on his
arrival in Upper Canada was fresh from
the governorship of Guernsey, one of the
Channe! Islands. During his administra-
tion there he had revived a dccayed publio
school now known as Elizabeth College.
B:ing of opinion that the new country to
which he had been transferred was not 1ipe
for a unive-sity on the scale contemplated
in a royal charter which had been procured
he addressed himse'f to the establishment
of an institution which shonld meet the
university wants of the community. Be-
tween the school or ““minor college ” as it
was popularly ca'led, which resulted from
this decision of Sir John and the institution
which he had recencly been engaged in re-
viving, there exisis a very close connection
and some particulars in regard to the Chan-
nel school may not be ont of place in view
of its relation to the Canadian Institution.
Elizabeth Co'l-ge, Guernsay, was originally
called the ‘“ School of Queen Eiizabeth” as
having been founded under letters patent
trom that Sovereign in 1563 to be a *‘ Gram-
mar school, in which the youth of the Island
may be better instructed in good learning
and virtue.” The temple or church of the
suppressed Order of Grey Friars—Friars,
Miaors or Cordeliers—with its immediate
precincts, was assigned for its use, together
with eighty quarters of wheat rent accruing
from lands in different parts of the island,
which huad been given to the friars for d s-
pensations, masses and obits, By the
statutes of 1563 the school was divided into
six c'asces and books, and exercises were
»ppointed respectively for each, the scholars
to be admitted being required to read
periectly and to recite an approved cate-
chism of the Christian religion by heart. In
all the six classes the Latin and Greek lan-
gnages were the primary objects of instruc-
tion, but the sta utes permitved the master
at his discretion to add something of his own
and to concede somsthing for writing, sing-
ing, arithmetic and a littl - p'ay. For more
than two centuries the school proved of
little public utility. 1ln 1799 there was
put one pupil in the estabishment.
In 1816 there were no scholars, From
that date to 1824 the number fluctnated
from 15 to 29. In 1823 Sir John Col«
borne appointed a committee to iuvesti-
gate all ths circumstances connected with
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the school and to ascertain the best mode of
assuring its future permanent efficiency and
prosperity without perv.r:ing the intention
of the foundress. The result of this was a
new building figured at a cost of £14,754 2s
3d, the foundation  stone being
laid by Sir John in 1826.
On August 28th, 1829, the revived institu-
tion was publicly open d with one hundred
and twenty pupils. On that day, in the
absence of the Lieutenant-Governor, Sir
John Colborne, who was then in Canada,
General Ross, the bailiff and jarats
of the island, headed by a proces-
sion consisting of the Principal, Vice-Prin-
cipal and other masters and tutors of the
school, together with the scholars, repaired
to St. Peter’s church, when prayers were
read by the Dean, Dr. Durand, and the Te
Deum and other anthems were sung. They
then returned to the college, where. in the
spacious examination hall, a crowded as-
sembly was addressed by the bailiff and
president director, Daniel De Lisle Broek.
Colonel De Havilland. the Vice-President,
and the Rev. G. Proctor, B.D., the new
principal.on the antiquity,objects, apparent
prospects and future efficiency of the insti-
tution. Under the new system the work of
education was carried on by a principal,
vice-principal, a first and second classical
master, a mathematical master, a master
and assistant of the lower school, a commer-
cial master, two French masters and an
assistant, a master of drawing and survey-
ing, besides extra masters for the German,
Italian and Spanish languages, and for
music, dancing and fencing. The course of
instruction for the day scholars and those
on the foundation included divinity,history,
geography, Hebrew, Greek, Latin, French,
English mathematics, arithm tic and writ-
ing at a charge in the upper school
ot three pounds a quarter, and in
the lower or preparatory school of one
pound a quarter. Fcr drawing and survey-
ing fifteen shillings a quarter extra were
charged. The terms for private scholars
including all college ducs and subscriptions
for exhikitions and prizes of medals varied
fr.m £60 annually with the principal, of
£46 annually, with the first c assical
master. The exhibiiions in the revived
institution werc one of £30 a year for four
years founded by the Governor of Guernsey
in 1826 to thebest classical scholar a native of
the baiiiwick or son of a native,fourfor four
years of at least £20 per annum founded by
subscription in 1826 to the best scholars
severally in divinity, classics, mathematics
and modern languages, one for fonr years of
£20 per annum founded in 1827 by Admiral
Sir James Saumarez to the best theological

and classical scholar, one of
£20 per annum for four  years
from 1830 to the best classical scholar given
by Sir John Colborne in 1828, and two from
the lower to the upper school of six pounds
per annum for one year or more, founded by
the directors in 1829. Naturally the system
upon which the new Upper Canada College
was modelled was that which was then
adopted in most of the great public schoo's
in England. The classes were first opened
on the 8th of January, 1830, in the building
on Adelaide street, which had formerly been
ured as the Home District Grammar School.
Here it continued for more than a year. In
the summer of 1831 the rauge of buildings
represented in the first of the accompanying

sketches was completed, and the in-
stitution was removed to the site
which it has since occupied,

opposite Gove:nment House, what was
originally a very broken piece of ground
denominated Russell Square. In the mes-
sage of the Licutenant-Governor to the
Legisiative Assembly in 1831 it is stated
that from the original giant of land by the
Crown 66,000 acres had been set apart for
the support of Upper Canada College and
Royal Grammar School. The management
of Upper Canada College was from its
foundation in 1829 until March, 1833,
under tae con'rol of its own board
of directors and trustees, when by an
order of the Lieutenant-Governor it
was transferred to the couneil of King’s
College, and by the Act of 1837 was incor-
porated with and formed an appendage of
the University of King’s College, subject to
its jurisdiction, and it thus remained until
the first of January, 1850, when the University
Act of 1849 came into force, which, while
declaring that the College was an appendage
of the University, conferred upon it the
managemeut dy its own council, subject to
the authority of the head of the Universivy,
as to the disaillowance of any statute or
rule ; also with an Endowment Board. By
the Act «f 1853, Upper Canada College was
placed under the’control and management of
the Senate of the University, with power to
make statutes for the good governm:nt and
regulation of the college, and for the prin-
cipal and raasters and the fees and general
management of the business and affairs gen-
erally., Under this authoritya committeeap-
pointed by the Senate, consisting of five mem-
bers constitutes the Board of Management
of the coilege, which is entrusted with the
administration of its financial affairs, so far
as regards the disposition of its income, and
subject to the Lieutenant-Governor in Couun-
cil as to the capital and endowment. In
the constitution of this committee the Chan-
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¢ lior and Vice-Chaucellor are members ex-
officio, and three members are elected by
the Senate. The grounds and bnildings
cover an area of ten acres. During the
first five years of its existence the Coilege
was endowed with 268 acres of land, ex-
clusive of the block on which it is built, and
of another valuable block of iand in Toron-
to. It also received a grant from the Pro-
vineial Exchequer of £200 in 1830, £500 in
1831, and £1,000 per annum for several sub-
seqnent years. The establishment has ever
sinceits foundationenjoyed a highreputation
as a seat of learning, and the distingunished
success of its pupils at our universities and
in various walks of life has often been com-
mented upon. Many of the most prominent
men in the Dominion owe their early train-
ing to Upper Canada College.

The institution has now been in existence
for sixty years. Some years ago it began to
be apparent that its accommodation and ap-
pointments were inadequate to its rcqui e-
ments. Enlarged and improved accommo-
dation became an absolute necessity, if the
College was to meet the demands of the
counrtry, and to maintain its reputation and
efficiency unimpaired. Not only was ad-
ditional room needed for educational pur-
poses, but there was an imperative need of
additional boarding accommodation, and
also of additional t¢achers.

In the winter of 1876 7 a committee of the
Senate, consisting of the Hon. the Vice-
Chancellor, Chief Justice Moss, Colonel
Gzowski, Hon. Justice Morrison, and Judge
Boyd, was formed to consider the best
means of securing additional facilities, and
early in the spring this committee presented
its report. The report recommended the

‘carrying out of many improvements, the
cost of which was estimated not to exceed
$50,000. [n an exhaustive report addressed
by the Vice-Chancelior to the Honourable
the Provincial Secretary it was shown that
the income of the College might be inveasted
in a manner which, while perfectly safe,
would yet be much more productive, and
that the increase of revenue they acquired
would be quite sufficient to pay interest
or. the amount borrowed from capital or
raised by the way of loan without impair*
ing, and, indeed, with every prospect of im-
proving, the efficiency of the educational
department. [t wassuggested, too, with
the view of enlarging the character of the
College as a Provinci ] institution, and of
meeting the constantly increasing demand
for admission from pupils in the country,
that the masters’ rcsidences on the east side
of the College should be converted into
boarding-houses by the ereotion of a
mansard roof, and of an additional

building in the rear two stories high,
of which the ground floor could serve as a
dining-room and the first floor as apartments
for servants. A detached building in the
rear was also converted inte a sanatarinm,
to which pupils afflicted with severe illness
or contagious diseases might be at once re-
moved and placed under the special care of
the medical attendant, with such assistance
as might be deemed neccssary. The final
result of the committee’s action was the
erection of the additional buildings which
appear in the second of our illustrations.
They were completed and first occupied in
the month of April, 1877. The architect
was Mr. G. W. Lloyd, of Sandwich, whose
plans were drawn and executed under the
supervision of Mr. Kivas Tully, of the Pro-
v ncial Department of Public Works.

The original college building will be re-
membered by many residents of Toronto.
It was a building of ©plain red
brick, about eighty feet in depth by eighty-
two feet wide, two storeys in height, with
square, wile windows, withont any preten-
sions to architectural effect. The old build-
ing is still retained in its entirety, but in
front of it has been erected an imposing
addition eighty-five fect front by forcy-four
feet in d: pth, two storeys in height, with a
high French roof. The principal entrance
is in the centre of the front, giving access
to a hall fourteen feet wide, running the en-
tire depth of the united buildings. On
either side on the ground floor is a large
class-room forty-two feet by thirty-three
feet. Opening on to the centre hall is a slde
hall nineteen feet wide, forming a side en-
trance, and containing also the principal
stair-case, seven feet in width, giving access
to the first floor above., The wholc of the
first floor of the new addition is devoted to
the purpose of a chapel or general college
hall, and is a magnificent room, eighty-twe
feet long by forty-two feet in width, twenty-
eight fect high, finished in genuine colle-
giate style. The roof is Gothie, supported
by eight timber principals, with bold open-
work curved ribs springing from corbels in
the walls. The ceiling is divided by panels
by moulded ribs, with filling in of diagonal
boarding, and rich moulded cornice all round
—all finished to show the natural wood. The
hall is lighted on three sides by thirteen
large mullioned windows, and the remaining
side is devoted to the reception of the tablets
commemorating the scholastic triumphs of
many of Canada’s foremost men,both of past
and present days, and to excellent life-size
portraits of the founders of the College, and
of the various principals since its founda-
tion. A high,massive wainscotting of wood
runs around the room, and the oak floor is
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arranged in platforms of varying height
round the central floor space. The Jold
building has been re-modelled and re-fitted
throughout with new windows and floors
wnd every necessity of school life, and now
contains on the ground floor, six class rooms
varying insize from thirty-three by forty-two
to thirty-two by nineteen feet, besides
laboratory and senate room, and on the first
floor four class rooms, vwo thirty-eight by
thirty-two and two thirty-two by twenty-
eight feet, and also a library and reading-
rocm for senior pupils. The new roof of
the old building contains three large music
and drawing-rooms and space for various
other purposes. In the basement of the
new building is a large play room and the
furnaces for heating. The provision for
heating and ventilation is of the most effec-
tive and thorough character, hot air fur-
naces being employed and a system
of capacious main fresh air ducts
and ¢xhaust flues communicating with ex-
haust shafts, in which a draft is maintained
by carrying up in them the smoke pipes of
the furnaces ensure at ail times an ample
supply of pure air. The whole of the
drainage also was remodelled and put in
perfect condition. The exterior of the
building is designed in a modified Elizabe-
than style, and has a marked collegiate
character with considerable picturesque
effect in detail and general treatment. The
windows have arched heads with mullioned
and tiapsom frames, divided by vertical
piers in the brick work, with ornamental
horizontal bands of stone work and moulded
string courses. The angle piers are carried
up and finished with high pinnacles, which
serve a/so as chimneys and ventilating
shafts. The central projection is finished
with a gable with ornamental copings and
finials, and frontispiece marking the princi-
pal entrance, flanked with columns carrying
a richly moulded and carved pediment, with
the arms of the college above the doorway.
A steep pitched French roof, with rich
crestings crowning the whole, is broken up
by gables dorm:r wirdows and open work
parapets, and in the centre is a bell turret
of handsome design, terminated with vane
and flagstaff, rising to a total height of one
hundred feet. The exterior of the old build-
ing was also re-modelled in all its details,
and in character harmonizing with the new.
An entire new roof, similar bu$ somewhat
plainer in detail, was put cn.

The yearly prospectus, issued under the
authority of the college, gives full particu-
lars as to the course of instruction, disci-
oline and examinations. From this pro-
spectus it appears that the college can sc-
commodate three hundred pupils. Though

capable of containing so many, the number
in each class is strictly limited, in order
that the pupils may enjoy the combined ad-
vantages of a private and public school
edncation, and that, by the strict attention
being pa‘d to the peculiar disposition of
each pupil, he may be not only imbued with
the principles of a high-toned morality, but
led to exemplify these in daily life. This
desirable object is further secured by the
boys being under supervision ia the
play-ground. The college is divided into
six forms or classes, and the regular curri-
culum extends over six years’ course of
study ; though, by steady application and
hard study some boys are able to pass
through the six forms in five or even four
years. The full curriculum embraces an ex-
tended course in Latin, Greek, Mathematics,
French, German, Engiish Grammar, Litera-
ture and Ccmposition, History and Geo-
graphy, both aucient and modern, experi-
mental Ch:mistry, Physiology, Biblical
Knowledge, the usual Commercial Branches,
Drawing, Music, Gymnastics, Fencing and
Drill Exercises. Pupils may enter at any
time and at any period of the course, but
the best time to enter is at the commence-
ment of the session in Sep:ember, when the
clas:es are remodelled for the year. The
qualification for admission into the first or
lowest form is, that the intending pupil
possess a fair knowledge of English Read-
ing, Spelling, Writing, and the first four
rules of Arithmetic. Pupils ought to enter
the first torm about ten or eleven years of
age, though they may be received at an
earlier age if qualified. Applicants for ad-
mission to the higher forms are subjected,
if necessary, to an examination correspoud-
ing to the form for wkich their previous
general studies may have fitted them. Four
great examinations, oral and written, take
place during the collegiate session :—1st.
The Christmas examination, in modern lan-
guages and science, during the three days
preceding the Christmas holidays. 2nd. The
Spring examination, in classics and
mathematics, from the 1lst to the 4th
February. 3rd. The Grammar examina-
tion, on the two days preceding the Queen’s
Birthday. 4th. The Promotion ex-
amination, for one week or longer, to-
wards the end of June immediately preced-
ing the Midsummer holidays. Those papils
who fail at this promotion examination, in
any or all of the subjects, may, if i5 be de-
sired, be re-examined at the opening of the
College on September 1st. Five exhibitions
are competed for annually in subjects «f the
fourth form, and five in subjects of the fifth
form. Successful comp-titors are entitl-

ed to free tuition for one year.
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No one whose age will exceed 17 on the
30th June of the year in which the examin-
ation is held can compzte in the subj:cts of
the fourth form. The examinations are
entirely conducted by gentlemen wholly
nneonuectec with the college. A certificate
of good conduct, signed by the head master
of the school from which the candidate
comes, is in all cages requisite.

The principal prizes given at Upger Can-
ada College are the Governor-General’s
prize, the mathematical prize, the classical
ptiz> and the English prize. These are in
addition to the four exhibitions or scholar-
ships, which are also competed for each
year. Another prize is the J. Ross Robert-
son prize or prizes. These priz:s are eleven
in number, one in each class of the College,
and are therefore competed for by the en-
tire college. The priz:s consist of from one
hundred to a hundred and fifty volumes,
and one given for general proficiency in all
subjects except classics and foreign lan-
guages., The competition for th-se priz s is
very keen and creates the greatest rivalry
amongst the pupils. Within two years
Upper Canada College will be removed from
its present site to the new site selected for
it by the Minister of Education, in D:er
Park, at the head of Avenue road, on the
Baldwin estate, just outside of the northern
limits of the city of Toronto. This is the
highest land about Toronto. The reason
for this change is that the college has out-
grown its site. The ten acres about the
present college buildings have grown to be
very valuable proper y, estimated now to be
worth over three quarters of a million dollars.
The University, which has the control of
this land, will ground-rent it. The terms of
the agreement between the University and
the College are that the University 1s to
give the College thirty acres for its new
building, put up and cquip the edifice and
endow the College to the amount of $100,-
000. The University will thus obtain by
this arrangement from the property and the
endowmeunt upwards of $800,000, aft:r
eqnipping and endowing the new college at
Deer Park.

The new grounds are beautifully situated,
and portions are well wooded with oak and
maple, the ground rising gently towards the
north and standing well up over the sur-
rounding country, with a pleasant ontlook
in every direction. The buiiding is to be
placed on the highest elevation, and will
have a view over the city to Lake Ontario.
The property fronts on Clinton avenue,
which is to be block paved and increased to
one hundred foet wide and planted with
shade trees, and Avenue road, wh ch is to
be increased to a width of one hundred and

twenty-five feet and made a fine driveway
from the city, terminates at the centre of
the property, the new college facing this
street, The grounds will be tastefully laid
out with driveways and walks, etc., and
planted with shade trees, ample rcom being
reserved for recreation and exereise grounds,
cricket creases, ball grounds, lawn tennis
courts, etc. The plan of the new building,
which was designed by Mr. George F. Du-
rand, architect, of London, Ontario, is
ready, and fuly approved. One hundred
and thirty thousand dollars has been ap-
propriated toward the erection of the buil .-
ing. The work is to be completed by
August 1890,

The plan of the new college building is
arranged in the form of a hollow rectangu'ar
parallelogram, being 250 feet front by 165
feet deep ; the quadrangle in the centre is
160 feet by 100 feet ; here the boiler house
is located. The building is desigued to ac-
commodate from 250 to 300 hoarding
students, besides the requisite staff of mas-
ters and the necessary staff of servants re-
quired for household purposes. The front
building, which faces south, 13 250 feet long
by 45 fect wide, and the wings are 165 feet
long by 45 feet wide. The elevations are

designed in the modern Romanesque
style fre:ly treated, and while f{ree
from ornamental detail, a  pictur-

esque effect is obtained by the division of
the parts and grouping of the mass, the in-
ternal use of the building as for class rooms,
assembly hall, dormitories, residence, ete.,
being brought out and emphas’zzd by the
treatm-nt of the exterior. In the centre
portion of the main front, centring on Ave-
nue road, is the arched loggia entrance with
an impoging tower 20 feet rquare rising to a
height of 165 feet vo the finial, the open
arcade being 55 feet long and 16 feet wide.
This portion of the building projects 25 fect
from the adjoining curtains, and is 60 feet
high from the ground line to the cornice of
the roof. Over the main entrance is located
the Assembly Hall, to be used at the opsn-
ing and closing exercises, for lectures
and other entertainments, etc.; is empha-
sized externally by large, bold, circular head
windows extending through two storeys,
which have terra cotta enriched impost and
string courses. The tower forming the
centre of the group has a gable containing
the coat of arms of the college, which was
established in 1829. The upper portion of
the tower having view balconies and a
clock face i each front, 10 feec in diameter,
which can be seen for a radius of many
miles. The curtains flanking the c:ntral
vortion on each side are three stories and
basement, the walls being 46 feet from the
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ground to the roof cornice; the corner
pavilions, which project seven feet from the
curtains, ure four stories and basement,
with a height of 56 feet to the cornice, are
finished with steep piteh roofs, with dor-
mers, gables, etc. The east and west wings
are three storeys high, besides the base-
ment, the height to the cornic: being the
same as the front curtains.

The roofs are to be covered with slate
throughout (there being no deck or flat por-
tions), are of steep pitch, sub-divided by the
dormer windows, lighting the attic, the sky
line being varied by the use of gables and
the grouping of the chimneys, The ma-
terials to be used in the fronts are
red Credit Valley sandstone, in
random course rock face work, to
the height of the basement (-ix feet), and
red pressed brick above the plnth course,
with terra cotta panels and string courses,
the openings to be trimmed with rock face
red sandstone. The main entrance arcade
is to be built of sandstone to the height of
the first floor (25 feet), and is sparingly
carved and ornamented, the columns of the
arches being of polished red new Brunswick
granite. The college boys’ entrance to the
class-room corridor on the west side is given
its relative prominence and expression in the
desigu, by being finished with a tower sur-
mounted with a flag pole. The main entrance
has a large vestibule, and the hall iy fifteen
feet wide with an  encaustic tile
floor, the connecting corridors be-
ing twelve feet wide, leading to all portions
of  the building. To  the left
of the main entrance as yon enter is the
principal’s office wi:h vault and toilet-room,
and in the west wing are located the class
rooms, ten in number, three masters’ rooms
being provided, and a waiting-room for the
jaritor. To the right of the entranc: hall
is the board-room and library and reading-
room (53 feet by 24 feet), the south-east
corner being set apart for the principal’s
residence, containing twelve spacious rooms
with all modern conveniences. The east wing
on the ground floor contains the dining hall,
serving and store-rooms and pantries, and
the matron’s and housekeeper’s rooms, each
being provided with scparate entrances.
the kitchen being located in the bacement,
with convenient dumb-waiters, etc,, to the
upper floors. On the upper floors two hos-
pital wards are provided, with nursss’
rooms, ete., se that in case of sickness the
pupil can be completely isolated from the
rest of the college. The assembly hall, over
the main ent'ance, on the first floor, is 76
feet long by 50 feet wide, with a ceiling 25
feet high, which is finisned with moulded
beams and panels of wood, and will seat

over 600 people. The main staircases,
four in number, each eight feet wide in the
clear, are easy of access from any portion
of the building, and are enclosed between
brick walls as a preventive to the rapid
spreading of fire. The first and other floors
over contain 50 single and 100 double rooms
for the college boys; also the masters’
studies and hedrooms, which are placed so
as to command the various corridors on
each floor, and are disposed so as to give
each master the oversight and charge of
abont 30 boys.

In the basement, which is to be eight and
one-ha.f feet in clear, and standing six feet
out of the ground, is located the recreation
rooms, drill hall ana armory, with work-
shops, storerooms and janitor’s quarters.
The plumbing will be completed in the best
manner, with the most approved modern
sanitary appliances. The fixtures will all
be trapped, and being closely grouped, can
be thoroughly ventilated through indepen-
dent ventilation pipes. The class-rooms are
proportioned to the most liberal modern
sanitary requirements, each room having an
allowance of at least 300 cubic feet and 20
square fect of floor space to each occupant.
These rooms are lighted in aimost every
instance from the left side of the student
and the witdows, which are four feet from
the floor are equal in area to one-quarter of
the floor space ineach room ; the most
distant pupil will not be seated more than
18 feet from a window. The dormitories
have over 1,000 cubic feet allowed to each
pupil, and are well lighted, not more than
two pupils being allowed to each room.
The heating is to be by low pressure
gravity steam, supplied by two boilers of
wrought steel. ~ The class rooms are
heated by indirect radiators, with fresh air
supply ; these are placed under the win-
dows, the vitiated air being removed
through registers on the « pposite side of the
rooms leading into ducts connected wish
two large exhaust shafts, which are continu-
ally heated, and are over 80 fees high.

The fresh, heated air is to be supplied at
the rate of 200 cubic feet per minure to each
cccupant, at a velocity not exceeding five
feet per second. Prior to the establishment
of the University of Toronto in 1843, Upper
Canada College stood in the position of a
University to th: Province, and this is
shown by the branehes included in the
course of study such as Hebrew, the higher
mathematics, logic, metaphysics and as
much language and classics as are now re-
quired for a degree in arts. Siunce 1843
Upper Canada College has been simply a
preparatory school to the University and
ag such it will continue. The new College
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will be preferable to the old in many re-
spects, one of the chief of which is that it
will be out of the city. The boarding hou e
has always been filled. In the new build-
ing there will be increased boarding ac-
commodations, andkach boy will have his
own room to himself. There will als) be
work rooms for boys whosz tastes lead
them to mechanical employments. In 1885
there were 280 boys on the enrolment of
Upper Canada College. Now these are 370.

Principals of the College from its estab-
lishment are :—The Rev. J. H. Harris, D.
D., 1829-1838 ; the Rev. John McCanl, L.
L.D, 1838-1843; F. W. Barron, M.A,,
1843-1856 ; the hev W. Stennett, M.A.,
1856-1861 ; George R. R. Cockburn, M.A.,
1861-1881 ; J. M. Buchan, M.A., 1881-1885.
and the present principal, George Dickson,
M.A., from 1885, The visitor is his Honour
Sir Alexander Campbeil, K.C.M.G., Q C.,
Lieutenant Governor of Ontario. The Col-
lege Board cousists of the Houn. John Beverley
Robinson,Chairman, Larratt ¥illiam Smith,
D.C.L., the Hon, John Macdonald, the Hon.
Samuel C. Woud and William Barelay Me-
Murrich, M.A.

The Principal and First English Master
is George Dickson, M. A.; the Musters are:
First Classical Master, William Wedd, M.
A.; Second Classical Master, and Superin-
tendent of the Collece Boarding House,
John Martland, M.A.; First Mathematical
Master, and Study Master in College
Boarding House, George B. Sparling, M.
A.; Second Mathematical Master, Alex-
ander Charles MeKay, B. A.; French and
German Master, Charles Whetham, M. A.;
Science Master and Resident Assistant
Master in College Boarding House , Alex-
ander Young Scott, B. A., M. D., C. M.
The Assistant Masters sre : First Assistant
Classical Master, and Resident Assistant
Master 1n the Supplementary Boarding
House, William Jackson, B. A.; First
Assistant  English  Master and Com-
mercial Master, Andrew Stevenson, B, A.;
Junior Assistant Master, and Assistant
Master in the Supplemeatary Boarding
House, Henry Brock, Esq. ; First Assistant
Modern Lauguage Master, Joseph Black-
stock, B.A.; Second A sistant Classical
Master, and Resident Assistant Master in
College Boarding House, John Taylor
Fotheringham, B. A.; Second Assistant
Modern Language Master, Archibald Hope
Young, B.A. ; First Assistant Mathematical
Master, Thomas Henry Rogers, B.A.;
Drawing, Richard Baigent, Esq.; Music
Master, Theodore Mactens, Esq. ; Gymnas-
tic, Fencing and Duill, Sergeant Thomas
Parr ; Bursar, J. E. Berkeley Smith, Esq. ;
Physician, James Thorburn, M. D,

CHAPTER LL
THE POST OFFICES.

Sketch of the Eight Buildings Used as Post
Offices, With an Account of the Methods
of Transacting Business.

The first post office of York was a small
unpretentious log house situated on the east
side of Frederick street, a little south of
King street, on the site of the present News-
boys’ Home, No. 43, and opposite the house
which is still standing of the late I’Arcy
Boulton. The post office business in those
early days was not sufficiently large to
prevent Mr. William Allan, father of the
Hon. G. W. Allan, the first post-
master, from holding the post of
collector of customs and several other posi-
tions in addition at the same time, besides
carrying on a mercantile business. Letters
were few, postage was high and mails were
extremely irregular in the early part of the
century when stages and sailing vessels
furnished the only means of communication.
During the winter months . travel was diffi-
cult and York was almost wholly cut off
fromm communication with the rest of the
world. English mails were very inirequent,
and letters and papers mailed in the
old country in November were mnot
expected to reach the capital of Upper
Canada before the ensuing spring. The
difficulties of intercourse fostered and de-
veloped the art of letter writing, an art now
lost in this age of the railway. telegraph,
telephone and type writer. One business
man now sends and receives more letters
daily than the whole population of York
did annually in the days of its infancy. The
old log building, which was used as a post-
office up to 1827, has been long destroyed,
and but few can even remember it. The
artist’s sketch gives a good representation
of it.

On the retirement of Mr. Allan from the
postmastership Mr. J. S. Howard, father
of Mr. Allan Mclean Howard, was ap-
pointed in his stead in 1827. At rhis time
Mr. Howard was building a residence on
George street, and pending its completion
the postofice was moved from the log build-
ing on Frederick street, which belonged to
Mr. Allan, and established temporarily in a
small one-storsy house which stood on the
south side of Duke street, half way between
George and New streets, No. 5—the latter
subsequently Nelson and now Jarvis street—
on the site of the present Clyde hotel stables.
Mr. Howard alone, with little assistance at
this time, found small difficulty in conduet-
ing the whole business of the office.
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The accompanying illustration gives a good
view of the second post-office of York,
which was used as such until 1830.

Mr. Howard's new residence having been
finished about 1830, the post-office was
transferred toit. This was a two-storey
frame building of good size on the west side
of George street, a little way below Duke
street, directly in rear of the Nipissing hotel.
The building is still standing, and occapisd
as a dwelling, Ncs. 58 and 60. It was origi-
nally clapboarded, but now the outside is
roughcast. The post-office was in the
south end of the building, en-
trance to it being had through the smaller
of the two doors shown in the cut of the
house. The remaining part of the building
was occupied by Mr. Howard and his family
as a residence. The post office was located
here up to ahous 1836.

The box holders in 1831 were :—Govern-
mont office, Attorney-General, Surveyor-
General, Hon. James Baby, Hon. J. H.
Dunn, Colonel Coffia, Upper Canada Bank,
Seventy-ninth Regiment, Commissary De-
partment, Dr. Strachan,John Robinson, Mr,
Macaulay, fenry Boulton, Peter Robinson,
John Baldwin, J. Smith, George Millard,
Andrew Mercer, J. H. Markland, Christo-
pher Hagerman, Egerton Ryerson, James
Armstrong, Francis Collins, John Carey,
Robert Staunton, Simon Washburn, C.
Stowe, S. P. Jarvis, William Dummer
Powell, William Cawmpbell, John McGill,
George Crookshank, Mrs. Macauley, Dr.
Harris, Duncan Cameron, R, Room, T.
Wenham, Francis Billings, Dr. Widmer,
Board of Education, Uorporation, John
Ewart, Mr. Sherwood, Colonel Wells, In-
dian Department, Fngineering Department,
House of Assembly, Legislative Coutcil.
1823 the postage paid by newspapers was:—
Colonial Advocate, £67 16s 9d ; Ccurier,
£65 17s 1d ; Gazette, £19 11d ; Canadian
Freeman, £26 3s 1d ; Christian Guardian,
£254 78 ; Sapper and Miner, £7 11s 9d.

In 1835 there were the following addi-
tional box-holders : —Marshal S. Bidwell,

Christian Guardian, Mr.  Gilkison,
Clarke Gamble, i. D. Harris, A. B.
Hawke, Haggerty & Draper, Mr.
Jameson, W. B. Jarvis, Mr. Murray,

W. L. Mackenzie, Colonel O'Hara, Father
Q’Grady, Mr. Ross, Mr. Radenhurst, Ridout
family, Dr. Reolph. C. C. Small, Mr. Stin-
gon, Bernard Turquand. The number of
post offices in Canada in 1828 were 101.
The miles of e¢stablished road were 2 368,
the number of miles travelled by post per
week were 8,768. 1n 1831 the incroase was
as follows: — From 101 to 151, from
2,368 to 2,806,, from 8,768 to 13,213.
The gross revenue of the post office
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department in Upper Canada was as
foilows : — 1832, £15.344 103 4d ; 1833,

£17,943 : 1834, £18,910 63 6d. The box
rent in 1832 was £27 1s 3d; in 1833, £30;
and in 1834, £35 17s 6d. It was in 1831
that the first boxes were put in th: post
office by Mr. Howard for the accommoda-
tion of the public. During these years Mr,
Howard received he following commission
for keeping accounts with those transacting
business at the post office :—1832, £111 17s
1d ; 1833, £135 8s 104 ; 1834, £94 0s 24d.
The following is the contract made between
Jedediah Jackson and Jacob Cook, from
whom Cooksville is called, for carrying the
mails in 1831 :—
York, 9th April, 1831.

Mr. Jacob Cook.

Sir,—1 hereby make offer to take the
mail from Hamilton to Ancaster for the
coming year agreeable to the terms of your
contract, subject to such alterations as the
department may make for the better con-
veyance of the Sandwich mail route, for the
sum of twenty-five pounds currency, pay-
able quarterly, and that you may satisfy
Mr. Howard, the agent at this place, with
the arrangement, that I may dvaw the same
subject to the fines in case of neglect of per-
formance. Yours truly,

JEDEDIAH JACKSON.
In presence of David Botsford.

T accept of the above offer.

Jacob Cook, York, 9th April, 1833.
In presence of David Botsford.

Abour the year 1832 Mr. Howard built as
a private residence for himself a fine large
red brick building of thre: storics on the
north side of Duke street a little east of
George street and just east of the Bank
of Upper Canada. This building, No. 28,

Duke street, which is still standing
in a state of good preservation, is
shown in the illustration. About 1836

the post-officz was moved from th: George
street building and installed in the west
corner of the new mansion where it remained
until somewhere about 1838.  After ap-
pointment of Mr. Howard’s successor to the
postmastership Mr. Howard gave up the
building as a residence, and 1t was takeu by
Mr. Huson Murray, who lived there a
long tim>. On his vacating it Mr. T. D.
Harris occupied it as a residence.

The third post-master was Mr. Charles
Berczy. On the nortb side of Front street,
just west of Yonge street, where Me-
Master, Darling & Co.’s warehouse now is,
stood in off the street a two storey brick
building. Attached to it ran out nearly
to Yonge street a one storey frame
building, and in this Mr. Berczy established
the fifth post-offic-. The post-office build-
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ing stood on the site of the present
Bank of Montreal, No. 2 Front street
west. In front of it were posts and
chains. At this period the foot of Yonge
street was one of the most unsavory locali-
ties in town, being covered with
small shanties in which the lower
classes lived. Near by, on Yonge street,
was a tavern called the Post-officc Tavern.
It was kept by a man named Hall. Loung-
ing in front of this tavern was frequently to
be scen McDermott, who afterwards became
notorious as the murderer of Mr. Kinnear.
Where Davidson & Hay’s establishment now
is was a livery stable. Adjoining it wasa
row of frame buildings called Hunter’s Row
and above this rows of shanties. Hotels
were nuinerous. W here the Bank of British
North America stands was a tavern called
the Ship Tavern, a brick building dis-
tinguished by the sign of a ship. The name
of the proprietor was Murphy. He after-
wards built a large hotel on the north
side of Wellington street, directly east of
the Western Assurance building, known for
years as the Western hotel. Across the way
from the Ship Tavern was a hotel kept by

Mr. Morris Malone, a well-known man.
Postmaster Berczy lived in the brick
house to which the post-office was

attached. Previous to this it had been
the residence of Chief Justice Macaulay.
Early in the forties the post-office was re-
moved to Wellington street. The ground
wag bought in 1845 by the Bank of Montreal
and the first bank building was erected on
it. This was torn dowu a few years ago to
make way for the present splendid edifice
which adorns the site. In 1842 the post-
office staff consisted of the postnaster, three
clerks, one of whom was Mr. George H.
Wilson, and one letter carrier. During
the summer months the mails were con-
veyed by boat and in the winter by
stage. East and west there was but onz
mail daily to the principal points; to other
places the mail went once a week. There
was one English mail a month. The rates
of postage were as follows —Hamilton, 44d ;
Cobourg, 7d4; Kingston, 9d; Cornwall,
1111; Montreal, 13 14d ; Three Rivers, 1s
4d ; Quebec, 1ls 6d; Halifax, 2s 9d:
Prince Edward Island, 33 3d. No en-
velopes were used; the sheets of paper
on which the letters were written
being folded and sealed with wax or wafers.
Some Engli-h banking houses still cling to
this old method, among them Baring Bros.
and Coutts & Co., of London. There was
no such thing as postage stamps. Paid letters
were stamped with red ink, n-paid letters
awith black ink. Every letter mailed was
forwarded whether it was paid or not, 1n

the latter case payment being collected al
the other end of the route. This system
and also the rates of postage which had
been in vogue from the beginning continued
up to the introduction of postage stamps.
Acconots were kep:with the banks, mer-

chants and all reputable people,
the bills being sent in once a
month, There were single and double

rates of postage. A letter without anything
enclosed went for the single rate. If a
dollar bill was put in the postage was
doubled. If two bills were put in the post-
age was doubled again. Everyone was
asked whether his letter required single or
double postage, and as an extra measure of
precaution the clerks would pry the ends
open and look inside.

From early in the forties up to 1853, the
whole business of the Toronto post office was
transacted in a small low building on Wel-
lington street, situated on the present site of
the Imperial Bank corner, No. 34. This
building, which is shown in the accompany-
ing iliustration, was of brick. It stood on
the north side of Wellington street, west of
Leader lane. Its frontage was narrow but
it ran back a greater distance along the
lane. The delivery office was a room about
twenty by forty feet, and the distributing
room was an old cellar-kitchen about twenty
feet square. The staff up to 1850, consisted
of the postmaster, three clerks and
a letter carrier. The postmaster was
Mr. Charles Berczy, and the clerks were
John Armstrong, Christopher Walsh and
W. H. Pearson, who, in 1847, succeeded
Mr. George H. Wilson, now of the Bank of
Montreal. John McCloskey was letter-
carrier, and a charge of one copper was
made on each letter delivered by him. A3
this time and up to 1850, the Eunglish mais
were only delivered fortnightiy—by stage
from Halifax in winter, and parily by steam-
boat in summer, The rate of postage on
English letters was 1s 23d sterling, or 1s 4d,
Ha!ifax currency—about 27 cents; the
postage to Halifax was 2s 9d: Quebec,
1s 6d; Montreal, 1s 2d; Kingston, 9d ;
Windsor 104d, the lowest rite of postage tc
any point being 43d. In 1850 there were
only about four huadred boxes in the post-
office. Postage stamps were at this time
unknown, and the postage on paid letters
had to be paid in cash to the postmaster.
Respectable firms were allowed an account,
which was duly rendered each month and
paid on demand.

Up to 1852 the postoffice department was-
under the control of the Imperial Govern-
ment which was represented by Mr. Stay-
ner, but at this time almost simultaneously

with the introduction of the bonding system
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through the United States, the business was
transferred to the Canadian Government
and the mai's began to arrive once a week
via Boston and New York alternately.
The mails were conveyed in chargs of con-
ductors, of whom there were three, Messrs.
McNamee, Malone and McGillivray, two
taking the mails to the above posts re-
spectively and one extra tosupply in case of
need. The conductor taking the outgcing
mails waited at his post for those coming in
and this system continued for many years.
Mr. C. C. Taylor, of the Custom House,
from whose ¢ Toronto Called Back,” much
information has been obtained regarding
this post-office, narrates the following cir-
cumstances illustrating the economy of the
Government at that day. Xe, in company
with Mr. John Kay, Mr. Patrick Hughes,
and three others on their way from Eng-
land, accompanied the mails from Boston,
arriving at Suspension bridge on ;Saturday
night too late to connect with the
train tor Toronto. Bsing anxious to
get home they telegraphed for a
special train to meet them at Hamilton, the
charge to b2 forty dollars. On arriving at
Hamilton they found an ¢ngine and one car
ready, and then they took aboard Mr.
Malone with the English mails, hoping to
receive from the post-office authorities a
share of the cost of the special train. The
trip was madz within an hour, perhaps then
the fastest time on record. On the following
Monday one of the party waited on Post-
master General Michael Hamilton Foley,
stated the case and asked for a part of the
expense for carrying the mails, but his reply
was that the letters would have been in
quite time enough for the merchants by the
first regular train on Monday morning, and
sc the travellers had to pay the whole of
the bill,

When the present office o¢ the Receiver-
General, on the west side of Toronto street,
Nos. 10 and 12.was built in 1852, for a new
post-office,nonebutthe mostsanguine doubted
its capacity for allits requirements for many
years to come, but while it was stilla com-
paratively new building it was found to be
quite inadequate to the rapidly-growing
business of the city and a new and larger
structure was erected. The building is in
the Ionic style of architecture, from the
appropriate design of Messrs. Cumberland &
Storm. It has a frontage of 48 feet, with a
depth of 90 feet., The front is of cut stone.
The large public hall, with enriched oak
and plate-glass letter-box, had three com-
partments, mtersected by Doric columns,
with delivery windows and a separate en-
trance for ladies. The building, which cost
£3,500, reflected credit upon its architects,

and also upon the contractors, Messrs Met-
calf, Forbes & Wilson. On
the appointment of Mr.  Joseph
Lesslie as postmaster, the post-office
was removed from Wellington street to the
new building on Toronto street, the change
being made in January, 1853. Shortly after
this date postage stamps were introduced
and the whole postal system underwent a
change. The money order system came into
operation iu February, 1855, when the larg-
est sum for which an order was granted was
£10, the commission being 1s 8d. Early in
the following year the amount was extended
to £25 with a graduated scale of charge from
3d to 2s 6d. In the Wellington street
post-office there had been but one
hundred and fifteen boxes.  This number
was increased to one thousand in the To
ronto street office, and drawers which had
previously been unknown wer: introduced.
About a dozen clerks made up the staff.
There were two carriers—one for the east,
the other for the west end of the city, their
fee being a penny for every letter delivered.
No greater evideuce of the erowth and the
expanse of the commerce of Toronto can be
given than by a comparison of the first rude
Iog post-office and the imposing facade of
the present fine edifice on Adelaide street,
Nos, 38 to 42, at the head of Noronte
street. A more suitable location could not
bhave been chosen than that on which it
stands, surrounded as it is by buildings in
every way worthy of the neighbourhood and
in close proximity to the business portion of
the city. The building which is of brick,
faced with cut stone, elaborately ornament-
ed, was built from the design of Henry
Langley, architect. It covers: nearly the
width of Toronto street. It is three stories
high surmounted by a mansard roof and
extends through th ‘block to Lombard strest.
It was erected in 1873, Mr. Joseph Lesslie
being postmaster. The internal arrange-
ments are admirably adapted to the never
ceasing business transacted. A side door at
the western end of the building leads by a
staircase to the offices of the post-office in-
spector, his assistant and other officials. In
the Toronto street office the number of box-
holders was quite large, but by the exten-
sion of the delivery system they have been
reduced until the present number is less
than three hundred. There are six daily
deliveries 1n the business portion of the city,
four in the more thickly populated resi-
dence quarters, and two in the ourside divi-
sions, With the exception of Wednesday
and Sunday an English mail is made np
every day, all the mails going by way
of New York, but one weekly
which is sent by way of Quebec.
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EIGHTH AND PRESENT POST OFFICE.

At first in the present office postage ac-
counts were kept with the principal mer-
chants of the city as in the early days of
York, a charge of five per eent. being made
for keeping the books, but with the later in-
troductions of the prepaid system this has
been abandoned. A few years ago Mr.
Lesslie was succeeded in the postmastership
by Mr. Thomas C. Patteson. who holds the
office at the present time. 1In 1882 the
business of the post-office was transacted by
52 clerks and 55 letter carriers. The fol-
lowing statistics of that year may be of in-
terest ;—

Number of orders issued, 15,115; num-
ker ot orders paid, 56,072: amount of or-
ders issued, $253.839 65; amount of orders
paid, $1,205,218 83 ; amount deposited in
Savings Bank, $420,693 ; amount withdrawn
from Savings Bank, $310,359 82; sale of
postage stamps, $200,470 09 ; cash taken at
Savings Bank and money order branch,
$677 218 59 ; amount paid, $1,515,578 65;
number of registered letters forwarded,
282,133 ; number of registered letters de-
livered, 342,670; number of ordinary letters
de ivered, 3,135,363,

In 1885 thestaff consisted of the postmaster
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and assistant postmaster, five first-ciass,
twelve second-c'ass and forty-nine third-
class clerks. There were seventy-four let-
ter carriers, three caretakers, seven porters,
ninety-five street letter boxes and three
branch post-offices. The business transacted
this year was as follows :—Amount of orders
issued, $309,203 ; amount of money orders
paid, $1,356,163 ; number of orders paid,
80,086 ; amount of deposits in post.office
savings bank, $495,364 ; amount of postage
stamps sold, $228,751 ; number of letters
delivered by letter carriers exclusive of
box holders and general de'ivery 7,937,461,
number of letters posted, 11,288,680, num-
ber of post-cards posted 3,328,260. The
staff at the present time consists of the post-
master and his assistant, seventy-eight
¢'erks, eighty-four carriers and thirteen
porters.

According to the report of the Post-
master General there were delivered in
Toronto by carriers in the year 1887, 220,
598 letters and 58,945 newspapers, making
s total of 279,543. During the same time
there were issued 22,398 money orders to
the value of $346,486 02.

CHAPTER LIL
DR.W.W. BALDWIN’S RESIDENCES-

A Cerner of Historical Interest — Am Inci-
dent in William Lyon Mackenzie’'s Career
—Spadina Honse and Spadina Ayenue.
One of the most interesting buildings in

the early history of York is the little frame

structure shown in the illus.ration which
stood at the north-west corner of Front
and Frederick streets. Its first claim to
distinction is in connection with Dr. Wil iam

Warren Baldwin, whose career is a

part of the history of Upper Canada. Dr.

Baldwin was a medical graduate of the

University of Edinburgh. He began life as

a physician in Ireland. On coming to

Canada he commenced the study of law

and became a leading member of the bar.

On his arrival at York in the early part of

the century from the first Canadian home

of his father on Baldwin’s creek, in the
township of Ciarke, Dr. Baldwin en-
deavoured to tur: his educational acquire-
ments to advauntage by becoming a school
teacher. In 1802 he advertised in the

GQazette and Oraae as follows :

** Dr. Baldwin, understanding that some
of the gentlemen of this town have ex-
p " ssed some anxiety for the establishment
of a classical school, begs leave to inform
them and tle public that he intends on

a school in which he will instruct twelve
boys in writing, reading and classics and
arithmetic. The terms are for each boy
eight guineas per annum. to be paid quar-
terly or half-yearly ; one guinea entrance
and one cord of wood, to be supplied by
each of the boys on opening the school.
N. B.—Mr. Baldwin will meet his pupils
at Mr. Willcocks’ Louse on Duke street.
York, December 18, 1802.”

There is no record of Dr. Baldwin’s suc-
cess 1n this educational enterprise. The
Mr. Willcocks, at whose honse Dr. Bald-
win proposed to teach, was one of three men
by this name—all early and prominent resi-
dents of York. William Willcocks, the
one referred to, was father-in-law of Dr.
Baldwin, and in 1802 was Judge of the
Home District Court. He was one of the
pew-holders in St. Jamea’ church from its
earliest days, and was one of the sub-
scribers to the Yonge street improvement
in 1801. From him, Lake Willcocks, a lake
in the Qak Ridges has its name, he being
the early owner of the spot. Here, ata
later period, was Larchmere, an a]l)‘pella.tion

in part derived from the little lake within
view of the windowa of the house.
Larchmere was for some time the home of
William Willcocks Baldwin, the great
nephew of William Willcocks. The
{house was destroyed by fire previous to

1 1878. Mr. Willcocks was also the owner

of the park lot directly west of Spadina
avenue. This lot, or a part of it, was
afterwards owned by Mr. Billings, a well-
known commissariat officer, long stationed
at York. He built the house subsequently
known as Englefield, which later was the
house of Colonel Loring, who, at the time
of the taking of York in 1813, had his horse
killed under him. Colonel Loring died
here. Mr. Billings and Co'onel Loring
both had sons who died early. Colonel,
then Captain, Loring, was taken prisoner in
the battle of Lundy’s Lane, in July, 1814.
The treaty of peace was signed at Ghent,
December 24, 1814, soon after which time
Captiain Loring was released. The Mon-
treal Herald of February 4th, 1815, has this
announcement :

‘“ At Prescott on Thursday, January
26th, the lady «f Captain Loring, aide-de-
camp and private secretary to his Honour
Lient. Gen. Drummond, was safely de-
livered of a daughter. The happy father
had returned from a state of captivity
with the enemy but a few hours previous
to the joyful event.” Another member
of the Wilcocks family was a peculiar
character. His name was Charles. In
1818 he issued an advertisement in the

Monday, the first of January next, to op n

Upper Canada Gazette proposing to publish
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by sub:cription a history of his own life,
but it is extremely doubtful whether he
ever got enough subscribers to make the
work a success. This is the advertise-
ment ¢

‘ The subscriber proposes to publish by
subscription a Hisiory of his Life; the
subsciinticn to be one dollar to be paid by
each subscriber, one-half in advauce, 1he
other half on the delivery of the book,
the money to be paid to his egent, Mr,
Thomas Deary, who will give receipts and
deliver the books. Charles Willcocks, late
lieutenant City of Cork Militia. York,
March 17th, 1818.”

The sameCharles Willcocks once imagined
he had good grounds for challenging his
relative, Josepn Willeocks, to a duel.
Joseph did not appear, however, at the
hour appointed for the meeting., Charles
waited what he deemed a reasonab'e time,
and theu chipping off a small piece of bark
from a tree, he stationed himself at duel-
ling distance from the mark and fired his
pistol at it. As the ball buried itself in
the mark he cried out: *‘ Oh, Joe, Joe, if
yon had only been here.” Previous to
1807 tkis Joseph Willcocks, who was an
ultra-reformer, had been Sheriff of the
Home District, kut had lost his offiee by
giving a vote contraiy to the policy of the
Lieutenant-Governor. He was returned
as a member of parliament, and after hav-
ing been imprisoncd for a breach of privi-
lege he was re-e ected and again took the
lead of the reformed party. In 1807 he
began the publication of the Upper Canada
Guardian, an cpposition paper.  The
Guardian came to an end when the war of
1812 broke ocut. Its editor at first was
loyal and fought on the Canadian side,
but afterward deserted to the Americans,
taking with him some of the Cunadian
militia.. He fell in the ranks of the Ameri-
cans at the siege of Fort Erie. The Mon-
treal Herald of October 15:h, 1814, thus
publithes his death : ““It is officially an-
nounced by General R'pley that the traitor
Willcocks was killed in the sortie from Foit
Erie on the 4.h ult., greatly lamented by
his general ard the army.” Dr. Baldwin
did not remain long at the house of Mr.
Wiilcocks, for in 1804 he was the occupant
of the house at the north-west ccrrer of
Front and Frederick streets, and here, in
that year, his son Robert was born, who
was Attcrney-Gencral for Upper Canada
in 1842, Dr. Baldwin made this house his
home until the invasion «f York
by the Americans in 1813, after which he
with his family lived with Miss Elizabeth
Russell, at Russell Abbey, a house descr bed
in a previous paper. The circumstances

leading to this, which occuir.d at rthe
time of the invasion, are thus given by Dr.
Scadding in Toronto of Old, who quutes
from a manuscript narrative taken down
from the lips of the late venerable Mrs,
Breck 1ridge by herdaughter, Mrs. Murray :

““ The ladies settled <o go out to Baron
de Hoen’s farm. He was a good friend
of the Baldwin fami'y, whose real name
was Von Horn, und he had come out about
the same time as Mr. St. George and
had been in the British army. ?e had
at this time a farm about four miles up
Yonge street and on a lot called No. 1,
Yonge street wes then a corduroy road
immediately after leaving King street, and
passing through a dense forest. Miss Rus-
sell, sister of the late President Russell,
loaded her phaeton with all sorts ¢f neces-
saries, so that the whole party had to
walk. My poor old grandfaiher, Mr. Bald-
win—the father of Mrs. Preckenridge—
Ly long persuasion at length consented to
give up fighting and accompany the ladies.
Aunt Baldwin—the wife of Dr. W. W,
Baldwin—and her four sons, Major Ful-

ler, who was an invalid under Dr.
Baldwin’s care, Miss Russell, Miss
Willcocke — one of the family

above mentioned—and the whole caval-
cade sallied forth; the youngest boy, St.
George, a mere baby, my mother, Mrs,
Breckenridge, carried on her back nearly
the whole way. When they had reached
about haif way out they heard a most
fright'ul concussion, #nd all gat down on
logs and stimps fr ghtened terribly. They
learned afterwards that this terrific sound
was cccasioned by the blowing up of the
magazine of York garricon, when five
hundred Americans were killed, and at
which time my urcle, Dr. Baldwin, was
dres:ing a soldier’s wounds ; he was con-
scious of a strange scnsation; it was too
great to be called a sound, and he found a
shower of stones falling all around him,
but he was quite unhurt. The family at
leng'h reached Baron de Hoen'’s log house,
con:isting of two rocms, one al ove and ons
below. After three days Miss Russell and
my mother walzed into town just in time
to prevent Miss Russell’s house frcm Feing
ransacked by the soldiers. All row re-
turned to their homes and occupations, ex-
cept Dr. Baldwin, who coniinued dressing
wounds and acting as surgeon until the ar-
rival of Dr. Hackett, the surgeon of the
8th regiment. Dr. Baldwin said it was
most touching to see the joy of the poor
wounded fellows when told that their own
doctor was coming back to them. My
mother, Mre, Breckenridge, saw the poor
8th Grenadiers come into town on the
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Saturday and in church on Sunday, with
the handsome Captain MeNeil at their
head, and the next day they were cut to
pieces to a man. My father, Mr. Brecken-
ridge, was a student at law with Dr.
Baldwin, who had been practising law after
giving up medicine as & profession, and
had been in his office about three months
when he went off like all the rest to the
battle of York, The Baldwin family all
lived with Miss Russell after this, as she
did* not like being left alone. When
the Americans made their second attack,
about a month after the first, the gentle-
men all concealed themselves, fearing to be
taken prisoners like those at Niagara. The
ladies received the American officers.
Some of them were very agreeable men
and were entertained hospitably ; two of
them were at Miss Russgell’s; one of them
was Mr. Brookes, brother-in-law of Arch-
deacon Stuart, then of York, afterwards
of Kingston. General Sheaffe had gone off
some time before, taking every surgeon
with him. On this account Dr. Baldwin
wag forced out of humanity to work at his
old profession again and take care of the
wounded. The name of Baron De Hoen
is sometimes spelled De Hayne and de
Haine. His farm, where the refugees fled
for safety on the American invasion, was
offered for sale in the Gazette of March
25th, 1820, the advertisement describing it
thus : ¢ That well kpown farm No. 1, west
side of Yonge street, belonging to Capta'n
de Hoen, about four or five mil-s from York,
210 acres. The Jand is of excellent quality ;
well wooded, with about forty acres
cleared ; a never-failing spring of exeellent
water, barn and farm house. Applica-
tion to be made to the subscriber at
York, W. W, Baldwin.” The name of Dr.
Baldwin occurs in the list of pew-holders
in St. James’ church from its commence-
ment. [n a series of burlesque nominations
of officers for Upper Canada, made in 1827
by the friends of the officials of the day,
Dr. Baldwin is put down as Chief Justice
and Surgeon-General to the militia forces.
This conjunction of offices was suggested
by the two professions which he had prac-
tised. It wasadded in the buriesque that
he be granted ‘‘one million acres of
land for past services, he and his family
having been most shamefully treated in
having grants of lands withheld from them
heretofore.” This refers to the extensive
properties which Dr. Baldwin became owner
of as the legatee of Miss Elizabeth Russell,
who had inherited her brother’s vast estate.
Thereis a resemblance in the careers of
Dr. Baldwin and Dr. Rolph, both early
and notable settlers. Dr. Ro ph began

life as a physician in Gloucestershire. On
arriving in Canada he adopted law as a
profession, and after acquiring a high stand-
ing at the bar he returned to his original
pursuit in which also he gained s splendid
reputation. Dr. Rolph became a member
of the Hincks ministry from 1851 to 1854,
and Dr. Baldwin was called six months
before his death, while his son was
Attorney-General, to the Legislative Coun-
¢il of Upper Canada. Dr. Baldwin was
one of the counsel for the defence in the
c-lebrated trial in 1818 of a number of
prisoners brought down from the Red
River settlement on charges of high treason,
murder, robbery and conspiracy, pre-
terred against them by Lord Selkirk, the
founder of the sett ement, Dr. Seadding
thus relates a court-room scene in which
Dr. Baldwin played a part :

‘“ On the 12th of January, 1813, as a duly
empannelled jury were 1etiring to their
room to consider of their verdiet a re-
malk was addressed to one of their
number, namely, Sammel Jackson, by a
certain Simeon Morton, who had heen a
witness for the defenc: ; the remark as the
record notes was in these words : ¢ Mind
your eye ! to which the said Jackson re-
plied, “Never fear ' The crier of the
court, John Bazell duly made affidavit of
tbis illieit transaiction. Accordingly, on
the appearance in court of the jury for
the purpose of rendering their verdict, Mr.
Baldwin, attorney for the prosecution,
moved that Jackson be taken into custody,
and the judge gave order ¢ that Samuel
Jackson do immediately enter into recogni-
zances, himself in £50, and two sureties in
£25 each, for his appearance on the Satur-
day following, at the office of the Clerk of
the Peace, which,’ as the record somewhat
inelegantly adds, ¢ he done.” He duly ap-
peared on the Saturday indicated and plead-
ing ignorance, was discharged.” At a fancy
dress ball, given at Frank’s hotel in 1827, Dr.
Baldwin appeared as a Roman Senator, and
his two sons, William and St. George, as the
Dioscuri. On the death of Peter Russell
his property passed into the hands of his
sister, Miss Elizabeth Russell, who be-
queathed it to Dr. Baldwin. Russell Hill,
which had its name from President Russell,
was long the residence of Admiral Augustus
Baldwin, and in one of th: brauches of the
Baldwin family Russell is continued as a
baptismal name. The modest little frame
house at the corner of Front and Frederick
streets has other claims to rotice than the
fact of its being the residence of Dr,
Baldwin, It was one of the places where
the foundation w: s laid of the great wealth
of the Cawthra family and was occupied
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by Mr. J. Cawthra, senior, after Dr. Bald-
win had given it up as a place of reai-
dence.

Another claim to distinction which this
house possesses ir its connection with the
early career at York of William Lyon Mac-
kenzie. In 1824 Mr. Mackenzis established
at Niagara a newspaper, afterward widely
koown as the Colonial Advocate. Mr, Mac-
kenzie had kept a drug storein York several
years before this time, but had removed to
Dundas, whence he again moved to Niagara
on the establishment of his paper. After
is<uing the journal for about six months at
Ni gara he moved it to York in November
of 1824. By his relentless exposure of the
abuses which prevuiled at th: time Mr,
Mackenzie aronsed the animosity of the
controlling faction of the government,
and how bitter was the fizht may bz in-
ferred from this incident.

When the remains of General Brock were
re-int rred at Queenston Heights in Sep-
temb r, 1824, a bottle filled with coins and
newspapers was placed by some one in a
fissure of the roc’, and was thus entombed
with the remains of th> dead hero. Not
long afierwards it became known that among
the papers contained in the b)ttle was a
copy of Mr, Mackenzle’s Advocate. No
sooner did intel igence of this circumstance
eome to the ears of the authorities than
they had th> fou:ndation torn up and the
obnoxious newspaper removed from the
bstle, in order, says a writer, that the
ghost of the immortal warrior might not be
disturbed by its presence and the structure
its 1f rendered insecure.

At the time of the removal of the Advo-
cate from Niagara to York the hustile feel-
ing of the factions was at its heizht. When
Parliam=nt met January 11, 1825, it became
evident that the stinging editorials of Mr.
Mackenzie had worked a change in public
opinion, and that the Family Compact was
in the minority. Some of the younger
members of this faiction, which had hith rto
been supreme in the province, were filled
with hatred against tiie man who had so
bitterly denounced the abuses of the day
and so violently attacked their fathers,
uncles and relations. S:venteen months
later a party of these young men proceeded
to Mr. Mackenzie’s printing office and set
about the demolition of the establishment.
This incident took place in the house form-
erly occupied by De. Baldwin, and it is
a form of the Journals of the Hous : were thus
described by Mr. Mackenzie’s biographer :

*¢ O e fine summer evening, to wi%: the
8th of June, 1826, a genteel mob composed
of persons closely alli d with the ruling fac-

tion walked into the office of the Colonial
Advocate at York, and in accordance with
a p econcerted p'an set about the destruc-
tion of types and press. Three pges of th>
paper in typz on the composing stones were
broken up and the face of th: letters bat-
tered. Some of the typ: was then thrown
into the bay to which the printing office
was contiguous. Some of it was scattered
on the floor of th: offi ¢, more of it in the
yard and in the adjacent garden of Mr.
George Munro. The composing stone was
thrown on the floor. A new cast-iron pat nt
lever press was broken. This scene took
place in broad daylight, and it was said
that one or two magistrates who c¢ould not
help witnessing it mever made th: least
attempt to put a stop to the cutrage. The
valiant typ: destroyers who chose for the
execution of their enterprise a day when
Mr. Mackenzie was absent from th: place
were most of them closely connected with
the official party then in a hopeless minority
in the Legislature, and had rccenily been
exasperated by a succession of defeats.
Mr. Baby, Inspcetor-General, was repre-
s nted on the occasion by two sons, Charles
and Raymond, students at law. Mr. Hen:y
Sherwood, son of M:.. Justice Sierwood,
gave his personal assistauce. Mr. Lyons,
confilential szcretary to Lieutenant-Gover-
por Muitland, was there to perform his
part. To save appearances Sir Peregrine
Maitland found it necessary to dismiss
Lyons from his confidential situation, but
he soon afterwards rewarded him with the
more lucrative position of registrar of the
Niagara district. Mr. Samuel Peters Jarvis,
:on-in-law of the late Chiet Justice of the
Court of Queen's Bench, performed his
part, and found his reward in the appoint-
m-nt to an Indian Commissionership.
Charles Richardson, student at iaw in the
office of the Attorney-General and commis-
sioner for taking affi lavits, showed his zeal
for the cause of h s official friends, and re-
ceived in requital th : office of the Clerk of
the Peace for the Niagara district. James
King, another clerk of assze and student
at law in Solic'tor-General Boulton’s office,
did not hesitate to give his active assi:t-
ance. Mr. Charles Heyward, son of Colonel
Heyward, Auditor-General of land patents
and clerk of th: peace, and Peter Mac-
dougall, a merchant and ship owner in
York and an intimate friend of Inspector-
icneral Baby, completed the list of eight
against whon the evidence was sufficiently
strong fr conviction.” Mr. Mackenzi:

bronght an action for damages against
the rioters, and recovered a verd ct
of £625. A subscription was set on foot

by some of the friends of the defendants,
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and in this way a great part of the amount
wasg raised.

It is related that as Mr. Baby handed his
son Raymond the amount whichk he was to
pay, as his share of the damages awarded,
he remarked : ¢ There | go and make one
great fool of yourself again !”

The house at the north-west corner of
Front and Frederick streets was destroyed
by fire many years ago. We have seen
that Dr. Baldwin lived here up to the time
of the American invasion, after which he
made his home at Russell Abbey. On
the death of Miss Russell he became the
owner of her property, which augmented
in no slight degree his previous posses-
sions.

Soon after falling heir to this large eatate
Dr. Baldwin laid out Spadina avenue on a

rand scale. Spadina is devived from an

ndian word meaning a sudden rise of land.
0. Spadina hill, at the head of the street of
that name, nearly three miles from the
water’s edge, Dr. Baldwin built Spadina
House. This was burned down in 1835 and
the next year the present Spadina House,
shown i the accompanying illustration,
was built. This was for a time the resi-
dence of Dv. Baldwin and afterwards of his
son, the Hon. Robert Baldwin, the first in-
heritor of the newly established patrimony.
It is to Dr. Baldwin’s liberality that this
part of Toronto owes the magnificent width
of 160 feet of Spadina avenue through its
mile and a half of length and the expansion
of Queen street to the width of 90 feet.
Queen street here was the southern bound-
ary of the park lot inherited by br. Bald-
win, which was known in Peter Russell’s
tim= as Petersfield.

Dr. Scadding saye that Dr. Baldwin, ‘s
libera! im his political views he nevertheless
was influenced by the feudal feeling which
was 3 second nature with most persons
in the British Islands some years ago. His

purpose was to establish a family
in Canada  whose head was to
be maintained in apulence by

the proceeds of an entailed estate. Thsre
was to be forever a Baldwin of Spadina. It
is singnlar that the first inheritor of the
newly established patrimony should have
been the statesman whose lot it was to
carry thromgh the Legislature of Canada
the abolition of the rights of p:imogeniture,
The son grasped more readily than the
father what the genius of the North
American  continent will endure and
what it will nos.” The farm yard of
the Spadina homestead is at the north-
west of the house. Running from the
northwest corner of the farm yard to the
creek at the bottam of the ravine. which

has been variously kuown as Davenport,
Spadina and Roseda'e creek is a path about
one eighth of a mile long. This was origin-
ally a goose walk. Miss Willcocks was very
fond of poultry, and to gratify her Dr.
Baldwin had this path cut through the
woods and enclosed with a fence cf split
rails, and every day in pleasant weather
Miss Willcocks would drive her ducks and
geese down the walk to the stream. At a
later period the walk became a favourite
strolling place for the family and visitors at
the house on account of the picture: que scen-
ery. To-day it is one of the must charming
bits of natural scenery about Toronto. On
either side it is bordered witk bushes and
arched above with tall native forest trees.
Shortly after the building of Spadina
house, Dr. Baldwin built a little cottage of
logs, heavily thatched, along the path about
half way down the hill. This was a tiny
affair, not more than ten feet long and six
feet wide. It was fitted with seats and a
table, and was a favourite resting place for
those wandering along the goose walk,
which by this time had been dignified by
the name of the Glen walk. In this cottage
was kept a book, still in possession of the
Baldwin family, and visitors of poetic in-
clination were invited to write verses in it.
The cottage was burned down about the
year 1850, but the poetry inspired in it re-
mains,

The verses in the Glen cottage book date
from 1820 to 1827. Among the versifiers
are Admiral Baldwin, Judge Robert B.
Sullivan, Miss Anna M. Baldwin, Mas.
Sullivan, Dr. William W. Baldwin, Hon.
Robert Baldwin, R. R. Baldwin and Henry
Bahdwin, of Belleville ; Dr. Henry Sullivan,
Miss M. A. Phillips, John J. Morgan, of
New York, and Georgs We'l:. Stephen
Gwynn, an old gervant in the family and
one of the survivors of the crew of the
American ship Patriot, which was lost on
the Atlantic, November 24, 1806, wrote ‘a
metrical acconnt of the wreck. The follow.
ing verses takem from the book, were writ-
ten by Admiral Baldwin on the changmg of
the goose walk into the Glen walk :—

THE GANDER’'S COMPLAINT.
I believe the good folks of Spadina are mad;
1f not mad their good sense strangely
wanders
To change into fairy land this piece of
ground

That was given to us geese and ganders.
Must we tamely submit, must we give up

our rights

Without trying te break up this faction ?
Can’t we threaten a flight, turn rebels out-

right,

Or consult Dr. B. ’bout an action ?
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Then up stepp’d a grey headed gander and
sai
*“ Good friends, there is one way I’ll
show it,
To keep cur estate and s-cure us our breaa
"Tis for every goose to turn poet.”

Dr. Baldwin lived for a time on the west
side of Yonge street just above King. In
Walton’s directory for 1833-34 the occu-
pants of No 23 Yonge street are ‘“Ba'dwin,
Doctor W, Warren, Baldwin Robert, Esq.,
Attorney’s Office and Dr. Ba dwin’s Surro-
gate Office round the corner on King street
1954.”

The next door neighbour of the Baldwins
at this time was Francis Hiucks, their ten-
ant and friend who kept a wholesale ware-
bouse at No. 21 Yonce street. The subse-
quent career of Mr. Hincks, afterwards so
widely known as Sir Francis Hincks, has
become a part of the general history of the
country.

At the north east corner of Front and Bay
strects there was built about he beginning
of the present century one of the earliest
examples in these parts of an English-look-
ing rustic cottage, with verandah anrd slop-
ing lawn, To the norih of it once stood a
fine thorn trce, a relic of the woods that
once ornamented this 1 ca'ity. This
property, described in 1803 as a front town
lot with an excellent dwelling-house and a
kitchen recently built th reon, with a very
convenient water lot adjoining, was
owned at this time by Mr. Peter Russeli
and was occupied by Mr. John Denison.
Mr. Russell advertised it for sile, but evi-
dently he did not sell it, for it subsequently
along with other properries of Mr. Russell,
fell into the hands of Dr. Ba'dwin. Major
Hillier, of the 74th regim nt, aide-de-cump
and military secretary to Sir Peregrine
Maitland, occupied the cottuge for a time
during his administration. In 1822 Mujor
Hillier was one of the subscribers to a fuud
for erccting two bridges over the Don.

O: the site of this ornamental cottage
Dr. Bildwin erected the s bstantial bri k
mansion for a town residence where he died
in 1844. The building, a pictute of which
is given, subsequently became a mi'itary
hospital, then the head office of the Tor nro
an . Nipissing railrcad, and but re ently
was di:mnntled and on its site large ware-
honses will be erected.

_——

12
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CHAPTER LIIIL
ALEXANDER WOOD’S HOUSE.

The Store and Dwelling of a Bcotch Bache-
Ior Who Made His Home at York for
Many Years—First Sidewalk in Town.
Among the first settlers of York was Mr.

Wood, a Scotchman from Stonehaven, near

Aberdeen, who at first agsociat:d himself in

business with William Allan, then one of

the most prominent men of the town, and
later s parating himself from Mr. Allan,
carried on an independent business at the
north-west corner of King and Frederick
strcets. Mr. Wood died about the begin-

n ng of the century, and his brother Alex-

ander Wocd came over from Scosiand to

take charge of his estate, he having been
succes~ful in his mercantile career at York

Mr. Alexander Wood was a bachelor, and

seeing an opportunity to make more money

he coutirued the business left by his brother
in the same spot, until some time after the
war of 1812. Like his brother. Mr. Wood
was successful in his commercial operations
here, an1 acquired considerable property in
the northern part of the town. The streets
running eastward from Yonge street above

Cariton street, pass across land formerly

owned by Mr. Wood, and their names

Wood and Al xander were given in his

honour. Shortly after the war Mr. Wood

retired from active life, but continued to
reside in the building in which he had car-
ried on business. It is said that the first
sidewalk laid on the muddy foo p ths of

York was put down before Mr Wood’s

store. Mr. Wood was one of the pew-

holders in St. James’ church from its com-
mencement. In 1801 he was one of the sub-
scribers to the improveme t of Yonge - treet,

that improvement being the building of a

bridge over the creek, and ravine between

the second and third mile posts, and also
was appointed one of the committee to over-
see the work, one mnember of which was to
inspect the work in person daily. The other
members of this commiitee were Dr. James

Macaulay, William Al'an, John Cameron,

Simon McNab and William Weekes, the

last of whom was killed in a duel foight at

N agara in 1808. Mr. Alexander Wood was

the secreta'y of tie Loyal and Patriotic

Society of 1812. In th- taking of Yotk in

1813 Andrew Borlan:il w.s captured, ree iv-

g inthe struggle six gun shot wounds, irom

which he never recovered. Mr. D’Accy

Boulv n presented a pe:ition to the society

in favour of Mr, Boriand, who had bcen his

clerk, and at a meeting of the members of
the committee held June 11, 1813, the Rev.
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Dr. Strachan, chairman, Alexander Wood,
secretary, William Chewett, William Allan
and John Small being present, the minutes
state that, ¢ the petitton of D’Arcy Boul-
ton, Es=q., a memb r of the society in favour
of Andiew Borland, was taken into eonside-
ration, and the sum of sixty dollars was
voted to him on account of Ris patriosic and
eminent services at D:troit, Queenston and
York, at which latter place he was n:ost
severely wounded.” The order to pay the
money was signed by Alexander Wood.
Borland afterwards had a pension of twenty
pounds a year. Mr. Wood returned to
Scotland where he had estates known as
Woodcut and Woodburnden, near Aber-
deen. He died intestate, and it was a long
time before the rightful heir to the estates
in Scotland and Canada was found. Dr.
Scadding gives the following interesting
personal reminiscences of Mr. Wood and his
house. He says}: “The windows of the
part of the house that had been the store
were always seen with the shutters closed.
Mr. Wood was a bachelor, and it was no
uncosy sight towards the close of tae short-
ening autumnal days before the remaining
front shutters of the house were drawn in
for the evening to catch a glimps: in pass-
ing of the interior of his comfortable quar-
ters lighted up by the blazing logs on the
hearth, the table standing duly spread close
by, and the soli‘ary himself ruminating in
his chair before the fire waiting for candles
and dinner to he brought in. On sunny
mornicgs in winter he was often to be seen
pacing the sidewalk in front of his premises
for exercise, arrayed in a long blue over-
coat with his right hand thrust for warmth |
mto the cuff of his left sleeve, and his left
hand into that of his right.” The house
which Mr, Wood occupied as store and re-
sidence has been repaired several times.
Recently it was partly burned, but
it was patched up and  fres.
coed anew, and is now to external appear-
ances as good as ever. About the time Mr.
Wood retired from business, retail prices in
York ruled as given by James Strachan, a
brother of Bishop Strachan, who .paid th:
town a visit in 1819. The retail prices are
as follows, payable in Halifax currency :—
Green Tea, per lb., 58 ; Souchong, per 1b.,
7s 64 ; Hyson, per lb., 8s 9d; Loaf Sugar*
per 1lb, 1s 3d; Muscovado Sugar,
per lb.,, 11d ; Maple Sugar, per b,
73d ; Oatmeal, per 1b.,, 9d; Barley,
per lb, 9d; Rice, per 1b., 7id;
Candles, perlb., 1s 6d ; Soap, per b, 114 ;
Coffee, per 1b., 29 2d ; Chocolate, per 1lb.,
2s 9d ; Pepper, par lb., 1s 104d ; Allspice,
per lb., 23 6d ; Cheese, Eng., per lb,, 1s

1s per 1b.; Pork, p°r barrel, £5 10s;
Flour, per barrel, £1 10s ; Salt, per barrel,
£1 ; Spirits, per gal., 7s 6d ; Reduced Rum,
per gal., 5s3; Brandy, per gal., 123 6d;
Hollands Gin, per gal., 10s; Treacle, per
gal.,, 6s 3d ; Alum, per lb,, 11d; Copp-ras,
per 1b., 6d ; Tobacco, all kinds, per ib., 1s
6d ; Sole leather, parlb., 1s 61 ; Cow hides,
per side, 12s 64 ; Cow hides, per side, £1;
Calf skins, per skin, 10s 5d ; Calf skins, per
skin, 17s 6d ; Nails, all sizes, per ib., 11d;
Window gias:, per 100 ft.,, £4 ; Window
glass per 100 ft., £4 10s; Putty, per M.,
9d ; Iron, Swedish, per cwt., £2 108 ; Iron,
1English, per cwt., £2 ; Crawley steel, per
b ., 1s 3d; Blistered seel, per lb., 1s 1d;
Iron pots und pans, per lb., 61; Plough-
share moulds, per lb., 6d; Shovels and
spades, each, 53 ; Men’s shoes, per pair,
7s 6d; Men’s shoes, per pair 15s ; Women's
shoes, per pair, 53 ; Women’s shoes, per
pair 123 64; Flanunels, per yard, 1s 1034 to
3s 9d; Cloths, p-r yard, 6s 6d—£2 5s;
Indian cottons, per pilece, £1—£1 8§s;
Printed cottons, per yard, ls—2s ; Check
eottons, per yard, ls 104d—2: 6d ; Stripsed
cotton, per yard, s 103d--2s 64; Irish
Linens, per yard, 2s—7s 6d ; Russia sheet-
ing, per yard, 2s 61—3s:; Blankets, per
pair, £1—£1 16s.

CHAPTER LIV.
A YONGE STREET CORNER.

The Corner of Yonge and Gould Streets—
Erected About the Time of the Incorpora-
tion of the City.

About the time that the town developed
into a city John Wesley, a King street
seedsman, purchased a plot of ground
at the south-east corner of Yonge
and Gould streets,and erected on it the two-
storey brick building shown in the illus-
tration. The deed to the property was from
the McCutcheon estate. Here Mr. Wesley
kept & seed store for several years. At the
time of the erection of the building Mr.
William Reyaolds conducted a bakery at
the north-east corner of Francis and King
streets. In the fire of several years later he

was burned out, and in the same
year he urchased Mr. Wesley’s
property. ut it was not until

1842 that he moved his business there.
At this time on the north-east corner of
Yonge and Gould strests was a small build-
ing put up about the same time as Mr.
Wesley’s by a man named Lioness. On the
occupation of the south-east corner by
Mr. Reynolds an addition was put
to it running back on Gould street
by Mr. Baxter, on: of the prominent build-

103d ; Cheese, Am., per lb., 10d; Butter,

ers of that day and the father of Ald. John
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Baxter. Here Mr. Reynolds carried on the
bakery business for about 30 years when he
surrend red it to his son Frank, who re-
mained there until he took another place on
Queen stre:t. Since that tim: there has
In the
was only
Victoria

being
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CORNER YONGE AND GOULD STREETS.

a wood known as McCutcheon’s bush. Peter
McCutcheon inherited the bulk of Colonel
John Mc@Gil’s p:operty, and by authority
of an Act of Parliament assumed the name
of McGill, under which he became well
known through Upper Canada as the Hon,
Peter McGill. The two brick buildings
south of and adjoining the corner once looked
ag though they might have been transported
from some early Dutch settlement in New
York State. They were erected in 1848 by

Mr. Revno'ds, William and Joseph Stearns
and John Brown being the builders. After-
wards they were rented for various purposes
until pulled down in 1889.

CHAPTER LV.
JOHN SLEIGH’S HOUSE.

A Residence on Duke Street in What Was
Once the Most Aristocratic Section of the
City of Toronto.

In the year 1835, John Sleigh, a lutcher,
buiit the two stor:y rough-cast house shown
in this i'luctration on the north side of
Duke street, in what was at one time
one of the most fashionable residence
quarters of the town. To the eastward
of it stood the mansion built by Sir Witliam
Campbe!l and adjoining it on the west was
the fine residence of Mr. James 8. Howard.
Mr. Wm. Campbel!, for years the Clerk of
Assize in this city, occupied this house for
years. Mr. Campbell was a son of Sir Wm.
Cempbell. M. &’m. Campbell, son oi the
occupant of the Sleigh house, is now Clerk
of the Crown at Chatham, Ont.
Further on was the stately building of the
Bank of Upper Canada which had been re-
moved from its original location at the cor-
ner of King and Frederick strcets
This building is now a Roman Catholic
institution. Opposite Mr. Sle'gh’s house
on the south side of Duke street were also
handsome houses. In one of them lived
Cuptain Truscott, one of the financiers of
that day, who afterwards moved to Buffalo.
In another William Prcudfooi, the head of
the Bank of Upper Canada lived. At a later
date Mr. Proudfoot built Kearsny House, on
the site of Frank’s nursery garden, one of
the early gardens of York, which occupied
a plot of ground mnear the Sand-
hill on Yonge street. Of this later
residence Dr. Scadding says: “Kearsny
House, Mr. Proudtoor’s, the grounds of
which cecupy the site of Frank’s nursery
garden, is a comp:ratively modein erection,
dating from about 1845, an architectural
object regarded with no kindly glance by
the final holders of :hares in the Bank of
Upper Canada, an institution which in the
infancy of the country had a mission and
fuifilled it, but which grievously be-
trayed those of the accond generation
who, relying on its traditionary sterling
repute continued to trust it.” With Kears-
ny Hous: too is ussociated the recollection
not only of the president so long identified
with the Bank of Upper Canada, but of the
financier, Mr. Cassells, who as a kind of
deus ex machina engaged at an annual
salary of ten thousand dollars was ex-
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pected to retrieve the fortunes of the in’
stitution, but in vain, although for a series
of years after being pronounced mori-
bund it continued to yield a handsome
addition to the income of a numbler of
persons. Mr. Alexander Maurray, subse.
quently of Yorkviile and a merchant of the
oldeua time of York, occupied the residence
which preceded Kearsny House on the
Frank prop:rty. Mr. Sleich iived in vhis
Duke street residence several years, during
which he conducted the butcher business in
Toronto. He afterward moved to Yorkville.
The Duke street house is still standing

CHAPTER LVL
FREELAND'S SOAP FACTORY.

One of the Early Mannfacturing Establish-
ments of York—Some Interesting lucl-
dents Connected with its History.

The following sketch will at once be re-
cognized by all of our older citizens as a
familiar friend. They will also remember
it with pleasure as an institution which
contributed largely to their comfort by
helping to throw light upon the dark days
of this city’s early history.

The originator, builder and presiding
geunius of the establishment, was the late
Mr. Peter Freeland of Glasgow, Scot-
land. In the year 1819, Mr. Freeland emi-
grated to America, crossing the Atlantic
in the first passenger ship run by 1he Allan
line of steamships. Arriviog in New York
he very soon travelled north to Montreal,
where he and his brother, Mr. William
Freeland carried on the soap and candle
business until the year 1830, when he sold
out and came to Toronto, then called York,
whare he erected a large and well-appointed
manu acturing establishment.

Our engraving is copied rom the orig-
ina', now in the possession of Mr. Robert
Freeland of this city, and drawn by kim
over forty years ago.

The land, and land covered by water,
upon which the building was erected, was
purchased the west half from Judge
Sherwood in 1832, and the east half in 1836,
from Peter McDougall. The factory was
frame and stood on the wharf at the foot of
Yonge street on the east side. The water
lot extended from Scott to Yonge
street, and from the top of the
bank to the windmill ‘ine, and owing
to the fact that a'most the whole
property was land covered with water, the
soap works had to be built on cribs sunk
with stone. The dimensions of the building
were ninety feet by forty, and three storeys
high, having large double doors in each end.
Some of the iron soap-kettles, and scctions

of kettles, were imported from Scotland, as
at that early date there were no facilities
for makiug them in Canada. The balance
of the machinery or plant was made in
Canada, ¢xcepting the candle moulds,
which had to be imported from the
United States, The iwo large sheds
shown in the foreground of our sketch, that
is the long one to the right, and that in the
centre, were used for storing wood ashes,
lime and ice. From the ashes the potash
alkali for converting the tallow, grease,
rosin, &ec., into soap, was extract-
ed. The lime was used for causticis-
ing the above - named alkali by mixing
it in certain proportions with the ashes pre-
vious to leaching with water. The ice was
used in waim weather for the purpose of
hardening the candles in the moulds, so
that they might be more easily extracted.
The large shed to the left was a storehouse,
where rendered tallow in barreis was
stored, the supply being drawn from Cana-
da, the United States, and Russia. O her
raw materials were used in large quantities,
such as palm oil from the west coast of
Africa, and rosin, principally from the
Carolinas.

The buildings shown in the rear of our
sketch are the warehouses on the Yonge
street wharf, which were built in 1841 on crib
work, sunk with stones in twelve, or

more, feet of water. Very few of the
original  stockholders of the Yonge
street wharf are mnow alive. Many

once well known names were included in
the list, which is as fo lows:

T. D. Harris, hardware merchant ;
Peter Freeland, soap manufacturer;
W. D. Taylor, soap manufacturer;
W. Ross, merchanty Alex. Ogilvie, mer-
chant; G. B. Dickson, merchant; H. J.
Boulton, Esq.; Andrew Mercer, Esq.; W. A.
Baldwin, Esq.; Alex. Rennie, baker; Geo.
Douglas, gentieman ; John Somerville, gen-
tleman ; Franklin Jackes, gentleman ; Geo.
Lawrence, of Brockville, merchant; D vid
Paterson, merchant; Chas. Berezy, E:.q.;
Thos.Carfrae, Esq.; John Eastwood, station-
er ; Thos. Clarke, hatter ; Joseph Rogers,
hatter ; Geo. Bostwick, wheel-wright; J.
M. Strange, auctioneer; Thos. Thomp :on,
shoemaker; James Leslie, stationer ; Thos.
Rigney, merchant; H. M. Sutherland, gro.
cer ; Chas. Thompson, gentleman ; Richard

Tinning, wharfinger; John McMurrich,
merchant;  Geo. Moore, merchant ;
Edwin Bell, chandler ; Samuel
Shaw, cutler ; George Bilton,

tailor ; Richard Laurie, gentleman ; Stan-
bus Daniel, innkeeper ; John Robertson,

merchant ; John Ritchie, builder; J. C.
Gibson, merchant ; Ed. McE!derry, James



. LANDMARKS OF TORONTO.

183

St. Clair, Richmond Hill, merchant; Geo.
B. Willard, ironmonger ; Wm. Flock, mer-
chant ; Walter Rose, gent eman ; Robert
Beard, John Bell, E:q., Wm. Ketchum,
Esq.; James Charles, merchant; Geo.
Denholm, merchant; John C. Bett-
ridge, merchant; John Armstrong, mer-
chant ; Jesse Ketchum, tanner ; John East-
wood, merchant ; John Eigie. innkeeper;
Jeremiah Iredale, tinsmith; John Gibscen,
plasterer ; Catherine Drummond, widow ;
Robt. Walker, tailor ; Thos. Dick, gentle-
man; Wm. Townsley, brickmaker ; Wm,
M. Westmacott, merchant ; Peter Paterson,
jr., merchant ; Alex. McGregor, innkeeper;
Alex. Murray, merchant ; Wm. March, shoe-
maker ; Archiba'd Laurie, merchant (Mont-
real) ; Richard Brewer, bockbinder ; Peter
Brown, carpenter. The water frontage was
leased by Peter Freeland to trustees tor the
shareholders. The trustecs were Roberc Bald-
win and Peter Paterson. The wharf was built
by Richard Tinning and the capital put in
by the company was £3,112 10s. The whole
of the stock was subsequently acquired by
Peter Freeland and the lease caancelled, and
the property now belongs to the Freeland
eatate.

The bay was full of wild ducks in the
early days, and were so plentiful around
the wharf that Mr. Freeland used to shoot
them from the factory door or windows.
Mr. Richard Tinning was one day walk-
ing along the shore, when some ducks flew
up from the water. He fired at them with-
out looking where the shot was going, and
it crashed into the windows of the factory.
Mr. Freeland ran out, with a number of
men, to repel the invaders.  In the factory
was a tame muskrat that used to dine on
fish caught by the men. The fishermen dried
their nets alongside of the factory, and one
day the muskratgotintothenetand was being
hauled in. He swam around inside of the
wooden floats t'ying to make his escape;
finding that he could not dive under them,
he suddenly sprang over and thus made his
escape.

The Indians used to catch large quanti-
ties of muskrats on the Island, and would
land their canoes and cargoes of muskrats’
skins on the beach, which was very wide at
this point. ;

During the war of 1837 labour was so
scarce that Mr. Freeland could not get men
enough to cut the soap into bars. e then
ran the goap into boxes, and sold it in omne
solid mass, as the boxes formed it into
shape.

Afger work was done the men employed
in the factory would sit around the kitchen
flre moulding bullets.

Mr Freeland lived in rooms fitted up in the

factoryat the time, and coming home late one
cold winter night, he found a soldier lying
on the snow, under the influence of liquor.
He sent some men who were working late
to bring him in. They wrapped him
in buffalo skins, and left him in the factery.
After a while he awoke, found himself in
the darkness, and creeping about came to
one of the large soap kettles, about twelve
feet deep. Seeing the window on the other
side, he thought it was a barrier to his
further progreas, and trying to get over it,
or around it, he fell into the kettle, which
was empty. The servants, aroused
by the noise he made, came upon the
scene with lights, but thought he was safer
in than outside of the kettle, 80 he stayed
there until morning, when Mr. Freeland put
in a ladder aund fished him out. Then he
stole along the shore, trying to avoid obser-
vation, and thus reached the Garrison.

The neighbours used to keep a hole open in
the ice,during the winter, for the purpose of
procuring water. One day Chief Justice
Hagerman’s cow ecame to take a drink a$
the hole, and fell in, and could not get out.
Mr. Freelaud’s workmen came to the res-
cue, and got her out, brought her into the
factory, and when she was warmed turned
herout. One of the men followed to see
where she would go, and she made her way
directly to Chief Justice Hagerman’s
yard.

The ruins of Dr. King’s o!d building were
opposite the factory. On occasions of pub-
lic rejoicing, it was customary to roast an gox
whole in the cellar of the building. On tse
occasion of the Queen’s coronation, & large
ox was roasted in the cellar of this house,
and was taken down to the Market square
by Mr. James Brown, on a sleigh drawn by
four hor:es, where a great festival and din-
ner was given to the peop'e.

Mr. Freeland’s tallow used to be brought
in schooners from Rochester. A schooner
thus loaded was once caught in a terrible
storm off the Island, and the sailors threw
the cargo of tallow into the lake. At the
same time there was a considerable amount
of salt on board, which might much better
have been thrown overboard, instead of the
more valuable tallow, the salt being in the
hold and the tallow on deck. For weeks they
were fishing up this tallow along the shore of
the lake. Many tricks were practised by these
Yankee tallow merchacts, as for instance,
on opening one of the barrels a large stone
was fcund imbedded in it, weighing about
one hundred pounds, which Mr. Freeland
had paid for as tallow,

On Sunday torenoon a number of boys
were sailing around the factory on planks.
One of the bovs fell into the water. and was
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in danger of being drowned.  He had sunk
two feet below the surface of the water,and
all hop= of saving him was gone, when sud-
denly an old workman, by the name of John
Lawrence, ran from the cabin in which he
lived, partially dressed, jumped iato the
water, swam out to and snatched the bhoy
by the hair, and deposited him among the
spectators on the bank, then walk-
ed off to his dwe ling, asking no thanks.

Lord Elginlandedatthe Yonge street wharf
when he first visitei Toronto. Thousands
of citizens thronged the approanh to see
him land. The windows of the factory
were invariably lightel up with candles on
publio occasions, such as the Queen’s birth-
day or coronation,

uring the winter the steamer Chief Jus-
tice Robinson landed her passengersat the
Queen’s wharf, and one spring ths ice was
cut all the way up to Yonge street wharf,
in order to get in a steamer with a cargo
of spring goods.

The American steamers used to arrive on
Sunday morning, and crowds of people went
down to “see them land. The wharf was a
popular promenade for the pecp'e an hour
or two be‘ore church time, to watch the
boats come in.

Que of the early schooners that brought
tallow to the factory was the Peacock, Capt.
Vollar. Oa oue occasion the boat was
froz'n in at Charlotte harbour. Mr. Free-
land went over and offered a reward to any
one who could cut her out. Many tried,
but none could effect it. At last the tal.ow
had to be brought on sleighs around the
head of the lake to Toronto.

On one occasion Mr. Freeland went to the
States to purchse tallow, and after secur-
ing a large quantity at a tallow-rendering
establichment, he went bick to his hotel,
Coming down after dark to see the
place he saw the fires all going, and
thought it looked rather dangerous, so
he said to them, “‘I don’t like the look of
this place, roll my barrels out into this
field.” Accordingly five hundred barrels
were rol'ed out, and he paid for tle ex-
pense. Next morning he saw the whole
place in ruing, and his tallow over in the
field safe. The Yankecs complimzntzd him
upon his caution.

Urquhart was one of the early lessees of
the wharf. After him came Wm. M.
Gorrie, then Upton & Co., then Woolley,
H 1l & Taurston, and then the Milloys.

During the trouble of 1837, Mr. John
Robertson, wholesale merchant of Yonge
street, was one of the men on guard at th-
City Hall. Tnue next morning he cam= up
to his «ffice on some business, and met Wm.
M. Gorrie, who spok : to him about the re-

ballion, ustering some disloyal sentiments,
upon which Mr. Robertson pulled his
bayonet out of its scabbard, and threatened
1o run him through if he made use of that
expression again. This warning had the
desired effect.

The engineer who built the whari was
named Roy. The next whari east of this
was cal ed Browne’s wharf. Close to this un
the east was Ewart’s. The city map of 1842
shows seven wharves — the Queen’s,
at the foot of Bathurst street ; th: Commis-
sariat wharf, at the foot of John
street, which has long since disap-
peared ; Tinning’s wharf, at the foot of
York street, where it still stands; the
Yonge street wharf, Freeland’s : Brown’s,

east of Scott street; next Ewart’s,
and Jastly Maitland’s wharf, at the
foot of Church street. By this map

the entire northern part of the city appears
to b: fields and bush. No building of any
conscquence appears north of Queen, then
Lot street, with the exception of a few
houses on Yonge street.

Mr. Freeland, alonz with other property
owners, had a dispate with the city as to
the northern boundary of the lots. Ex-
perts were employed ‘o dig into the ground
to find the original bank. Bishop Sirachan
used to walk up that way from the church
to his palace. For years a relic around the
factory was a bombshe , supposed to have
been used in the war of 1812 or the rebellion
of 1837,

For years an old schooner remained high
snd dry on the lot alongside of the fac-
tory, and was a playground for the
boys, swinging from its pendant ropes and
halyards. A large schooner was built above
the Greenbush Tavern on Yonge street. It
was brought down Yonge street, night after
night, and day atter day, for about a fort-
nicht. It was Jaunched at Yonge street
wharf,

In the early days there was a magnificent
row of oak trees at the top of the bank,
west of Yonge street. A son of Mr.
Joseph Rogers, hatter, shot a racoon up
in the branc ies. There was an old hickory
tree on the bank, near the factory, one half
of which, it i3 said, bore hickory nuts and
the other half haws.

A managerie once visited the town, and
during the day the elephants were brought
down to the bay. They buried themaslves
in the water all but the tips of their trunks,
and were with great difficulty brought out
again.

Samuel Sherwood, formerly Chief of Po-
lice and City Registrar, once saved the life
of a little coloured bey who fell off the
wharf into the bay. Gorrie saved another
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boy by jumping into the water with a rope
arcund his waist.

The Cherokee was an Knglish war steamer
which visited the harbour. The commander
put up a target on the island and practised
ball-shooting. Under the treaty with the
United States ouly one war ship was al-
lowed on the lakes. An old woman on the
island was frightened almost to death
by the shots wh zziug around her cottage.

Mr. Freeland had an ice cellar dug out
of the bank on Front street, opposite the
American Hotel.

The two boys named Dean on summer
nights would bring out their drums and
bang away for an hour or two every Friday
evening on the edge of the hill.

‘The deeds of the property only gave the
fronsage to the water edge, 8o that the fac-
tory had to be built on cribs, sunk in the
water. Some of these foundations were
discovered when the G. W. R. built their
station on the site.

When the Freeland boys wanted to fish
they had not far to go ; they just put their
poles out of the windows and managed it
that way.

The Grand Trunk Railway cars used to
run on the edge «f the bank on the south
side of Front street before the building of
the Esp'ana e, atd in the lower right hand
corner cf our sketch may be seen what was
intended to represent the railway tracks.

In the early years of the history of To-
ronto many once famous steamers, whose
names are unfamiliar to the present genera-
tion, brought their cargoes of valuable
freight to the dock and warehouses shown
in our sketch. On one occasion a schooner
laden with wood was wrecked (in a storm,
and was driven ashore at the foot
of the bank, a few feet south of the
street line of the row of brick buiidings now
on the corner of Front and Yonge streets.

So careful was Mr, Freeland that, not-
withstanding the inflammable material kept
in the building, no fire ever occurred. He
was the last man in the building to see that
everything was safe, He was a consistent
Reformer, and took an active interest in po-
litical and religious matters. He was a dea-
con in the Congregational church, of which
eause in this city he was one of the origina-
tors, and was for many years treasurer of
the Bible Society.

Mr. TFreeland died in 1861. He left
two sons, William and Robert. Mr. Wm.
Freeland is & barrister, now residing on Bay
street, Toronto, and Mr. Robert Free-
land is co-mopolitan, his business taking
him to most of the large cities of America.
He is an inventor of soap-making ma-
chinery.

CHAPTER LVIL
THE SHAKESPEARE HOTEL.

A Hostelry Formerly Much Patronized by

Actors —Th

a CenlllryeAgol?—lyATélreeg;tlrel“ill:. B 1

Half a century ago there stood where
the present Shakespeare hotel now stands,
at the north-east corner ot York and King
streets, a medium-sized frame building,
two stories in height and painted white.
It had a gable fronting on York street, and
the entrance was on that street. This
building was erected about 1831 and in itJ.
Robnette Garside kept a mechanics’ board-
ing house. In 1835 J. Jamieson kept a
boarding house here, In 1843 James Mir-
field, an Englishman, kept a hotel here. It
was called the Shakespeare hotel. A
sketch of the house may be geen iu J. G.

Howard's view of Chewett’s buildings
in the City Hall. On August 21, 1843,
a great fire ravaged this part of

the town, and the western half of the
block bounded by King, Pearl, (then Boul-
ton,) York and Bay streets, consisting
mostly of frame houses, was almost totally
destroyed. The fire occurred in the day
time. In those days the facilities for
giving the alarm and for extinguishing
fire were lamentably inadequate, The
only engines were little gonse-neck hand
machines, so called from the pump part of
engine projecting above the deck. The
pipe came up through shis with & tarn
at the top to which the hose was at-
tached. Each engine was manned with
gixteen men, eight on each side at the
brakes or side bars by which the pump-
ing was done. TRese engines threw only
a five-eighth or three-quarter inch stream
about 140 feet. The British Colonist gives
the following account of the fire :—* A
dreadful fire broke out yesterday forenoon,
about halt-past ten o’clock, on King street
west, within a short distance from Stone’s
hotel. on the opposite side of the s'reer. At
a rough guess from thirty to foity houses
are said to be destroyed, the neighbourhood
being a very crowded cne. The fire is said
to have broken out in the rear of Baker's
tavern, the Prince Alfred. At 11:30it was
at its great height, extending along King
street and back to Broad laue, covering
nearly one hundred square yards, and the
heat by this time was so intense on King
street that many of the roofs of the build-
ings opposite began to take fire. o

Among the tenants were Messrs. March,
Byman, Baker, Titson, Brown, Wright,
Cleggett, Warris (coloured man), Mrs.
Roberts (Joiners’ Arms), and Mr. Connell
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.« . . Ifanything on such an occasion
is deserving of censure it is the mischievous
zeal of friends, who, without being known
or connected in any way with the fire de-
partment, display their anxiety in pitching
out furniture and gutting people’s houses in
spite of every remonstrance that can be
urged. Mr. M rfield was much annoyed by
a set of this description. One fellow in his
anxiety to make himself useful was carrying
away a cloik to some place of safety no
doubt. Another had commenced to bundle
everythiag into the street, and it was only
by very rough measures that the house was
freed tiomp them. The rear of the
Shakespeare hotel was burned. Immediate-
ly after this fire T. D. Harris. a prominen
hardware merchant of the city, who was chi- f
of the fire brigade, resigned his position.
Curiously enough, nine years later Mr.
Harris suffered great loss by a conflagration
which totally destroyed his store and stock.
Old residents will recollect the hanging of
Stephen Turn y for the murder of Wm.
MecPhillips at Markham in 1844. Turney
boarded at the Shakespeare hotel with
his wife at the time. Turney was arresied a
few d.ysafter the murder by J. B. Townsend,
who at one time was a soldier and after-
wards a policeman. Both Townsend and
Turney had served in the same regiment.
He went out to Markham to locate the
murderer, and when returning to Toronto
met Turney and arrested him. The Hon.
Frank Smith was a fellow cle.k with Mec-
Phillips and both were in the employ of
Francis Logan, who hal a large store in
Toronto and a store in many of the adjoin
ing villages. There was no theatre in town
then, so to accommodate the p:ople of
Toronto a small frame thecatre was built at
the rear of the hotel to the east with its
entrance by a lane from Kig street, and
nearly a hundred feet in off the street.
This plac: of amuscment seated about
three hundred. There were no galleries
but tiers of elevated scats rose above
one another at the rear of the pit
Notwithstanding the limited tacilities some
very good plays were presented here.
Old residents remember with particular
satisfaction the acting of the Thornes ia
comedy, e-pecially Mrs. Thorne's rendition
of the part of Lady Gay Spanker in
‘“‘London Assurance.” Tragedies were also
parformed at times. On account of its
proximity to the theatre. the Shikespeare
hotel became a popular stopping place for
the actors and as such it is principally
.noted. The theatre continued op:n until
John Ritchey built th: Lycenm a little
south of King street, the entrance to it
being through the arch-way mnext to what

is now No. 99 King street west. Mr.
Ritchey, who was a builder, also put up
the block of brick buildings known as
Ritchey’s Terrace, on the north side of
Adelaide stre:t, west of Sheppard, on the
land where his large carpenter shop form-
erly stood. Soon afterward the King
and York street theatre was torn down.
The hotel was conducted for mauny years
by Mr. Miifield until his death. His
widow carr ed on the hotel afterwards, and
subsequently married Capt. John Kerr, one
of the most popular men on the lakes.
Capt. Kerr was the mate of the steamer
Eclips:, which for so many years ran on
Lake Ontaio. The captain was a fine
portiy gentleman, stood over six feet in
height and was large in proportion. He
was lited by all who knew him. Soon
after his death Mrs. Kerr gave up business
and went out of the ¢ity. Daring Captain
Kerr's time he was the owner of a very fine
Newfoundland dog, that kept watch at the
honse and followed his master as he wou'd
wend his way to the Market. The dog had
around his deck a brown collar with a brass
plate attached to it, and on the plate was
engraved ¢ Whose dog are you?’ “Iam
John Kerr’s dog.” Miss Fanny Mirfield,
the only daughter of Mrs. Mirfield, married
Mr. Robert Wilson, who for years had the
hotel out at the juuction of the Dundas and
Lambton roads, opposite the Peacock.
After that hotel was pulled down by the
Credit Valley Railway, Mr. Wi son went to
Brampton, where he now successfully car-
ries on the same business.

CHAPTER LVIIL
DR. GRANT POWELL'S HOUSE.

A Richmond Street Dwelling, Onee the
Residence of a Prominent Figure in the
War of 1812—Incidents of the War.

Among the early residents of York was

Dr. Grant Powell, the third son of William

Dummer Powell, who is described as a

kandsome reproduction on a large seale of

his father, the Chief Justice. Dr. Powell

was born in Norwich, England, May 24,

1779. After receiving a liberal and medical

eaucation in the land of his birth he mi.

grated to the United States about the

beginning of the century and settled at

Stillwater, N. Y., where he began the

practice of his profession. Here, in 1805,

he married Miss Bleecker, of the well-

known Knickerbocker family of that name.

Dr. Powell practised medicine in Stillwater

until 181}, when tvhe prospect of war be-

tween the United States and Great Britaim
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led him to give up his p-actice and move to
Canada., He settled in Montreal at first,
and practised a short time there ; then be
came to York about the heginning of 1812.

We learn from a letter written by Sir
Isaac Brock to Sir George Provost that
during the war Dr. Grant Powell had the
confidence of the ecivil and military com-
manders.

In a letter addressed to Colonel Baynes
from New York, July 23, 1812, General
Sir Isaac Brock writes: ‘I wish very
much something might be done for Mr.
Grant Powell. He was regularly brought
up in England as a surgeon. I intended
to have propesed to Sir George to ap-
point him permanent surgeon to the
marine department, but I now seriously
think the situation would not answer.
His abilities [ should think might be
more fully employed now that so many
troops have been called out.” Subse-
quently Dr. Powell was appointed surgeon,
having charge of all hospital arrangements
on the Niagara frontier.

Mr. T. G. Ridout made a memorandum
May 5, 1813, in which Dr. Poweli’s name
appears. This is the memorandum :

*“Ileft York on Sunday the second in-
stant, at noon, at which time the Ameri-
can fleet, consisting of the Madison, Oneida,
and ten schconers with the Gloucester
were ying at anchor about ten miles from
the Garrison, wind-bound by a south.east
wind. All their troops were embarked the
evening before, excepting a small party
who burned the large block house, gov-
ernment house and officers’ quarteras.
At nine in the morning a naval officer
came down to town and collected tea
men out of the taverns where they had
been all night, The commissariat maga-
zines were shipped the preceding days
and great quantities of the provisions given
to our country pecple who brought their
waggons down to assist the Am.ricans to
transport the public stores found at Mr.
Elmsiey’s house and at Boulton’s barn.
The lower block-house and government
buildings were burned on Saturdsy. Major
Giving’ and Dr. Powell’s houses were en-
tirely plundered by the «nemy and some
persons from the Humber. Jackson and
his two sons and Sudden, the butcher, had
been riding through the country order-
ing the militia to come in and be put
on their paroles, which caunsed great num-
bers to obey voluntarily and through
fear, Duncan Cameron, Esq., delivered
all the monies in the Receiver-General’s
hands to the amount, as I understand, of
£2,500, over to Captain Elliot, of the
Alnerican navy, the enemy having threat-

ened to burn the town if it was not given
up. On Friday the 30.h the Chief Jus-
tice, Judge Powell, my father, Dr.
Strachan and D. Cameron called upon
General Dearborn, requesting he would
allow the magistrates to retain their au-
thority over our own people. Accordingly
he issued a general order, saying it was
not his intention to deprive the magis-
tracy of its civil fanctions; that they
shou'd be supported, and if any of the
United States troops committed any depre-
dation a strict scrutiny into it should
follow. The gaol was given up to the
sheriff, but no prisoners. The public pro-
vincial papers were found out, but or-
dered to be protected, so that nothing was
destroyed, excepting the bocks, papers,
records and furniture of the Upper and
Lower Houses of Assembly. It was s id
they had destroycd our leiters and :aken
away the cannon. The barracks were not
burnt. The American officers said their
force on the 27th was three thou-and
land force and one thousand seamen and
mariners, and that their loss was five
hundred killed and wounded. T. G. Ridout,
Kingston, May 5, 1813.” During the war
Dr. Grant Powell bore an important re-
lation to the Governor-General, and per-
haps the condition of affairs in York after
the second attack of the Ameri:ans in
July, 1813, cannot be better described
than by quoting the communication made
by Dr. Grant Powell and Dr. Strachan
to the Governor-General on August 2, 1813,
wh ch was as follows :

““ We beg leave to state, for the info ma-
tion of his Excellency the Governor Gen-
eral, that about eieven o’clock on Satur-
day morning the enemy’s fleet of twelve
sail were seen standing for the harbour.
Almost all 1he gentlemen of the town hav-
ing retired, we proceeded to the Garrison
ahout 2 oclock and watched until 3
o’clock, when the Pyter, the Madison and
Ouneida came to anchor in the offing, and
the schooners continued to pass up the
harbour with their sweeps, the wind hay-
ing become 'ight, then coming to abreast
of the town, the remainder rear the
Ga-rison. Abour 4 o’clock several boats
full of trcops la ded at the Gariison,
and we, learing a white flag, desired
the first offi e we met to conduct us to
Commedore Ghanncey. We mentioned to
the Commodore that the inhabitants of
York, consisting chicfly ¢f women and
children, were alarmed at the approach of
the fleet, and that we had come to know
his intention r:specting the town ; that

if it were to be pillaged or destroyed we
might take such measures as were. still
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in our power for their removal and pro- | three schooners which had anchored

tection. We added that the town was
totally defenceless, the militia being still
on parole, and that the gentlemen had
left it having heard that the principal in-
habitants of Niagara had been carried
away captive, a severity unusual in war.
Commodore Chauncey replied that it was
far from his intention to molest the iu-
habitants of York in person or property ;
he was sorry that any of the gentle-
men had thought it necessary to retire,
and that he did not know of any person
taken from Niagara of the description
mentioned. Colonel Scott, the commandant
of the troops, said that a few persons
had certainly heen taken away. The Com-
modore told us that his coming to York
at present was a sort of retaliation for
the visits our fleet made on the other
side of the lake and to possess himself
of the public stores and destroy the fortifi-
cations, but that he would burn no houses.
He mentioned something of Sodus, and the
necess ty of retaliation should such measure
bs  taken in  future. He like-
wise expressed much regret at the destruc-
tion of our public library, April 27th, in.
forming us that he had made strict search
through his fleet for the books ; many of
them had been found whici he would
send back by the first flag of truce. He
then asked what public stores were here,
a question which we could not answer. In
parting both the Commodore and Colonel
Scott pledged their honour that our
persons and property shou'd be respected,
and that even the town should not be en-
tered by the troops, much less by any
gentleman there. As we were quieting the
minds of the inhabitants the troops took
possession of the town, opened the jail,
liberated the prisoners, taking three soldiers,
confined for felony, with them ;
visited the hospitals and paraded the few
men that could not be removed. They
then entered the stores of Mr. Allan
and Mr. St. George, and secured' the con-
tents, consisting chiefly of flour. Observ-
ing this we went to Col. Scott and in-
formed him that he was taking property.
He replied that a great deal of officers’
luggage had been found in Mr. Allan’s store,
and that all the private property was to be
respected. Provisions of all kinds were
lawful prizes, because they were the sub-
sistence of armies; that if it prevailed
in the contest the British Gov.rnment
would make up the loss, and if they
were successful their Government would
most willingly reimburse the sufferers.
He concluded by declaring that he would
seize all provisions he could find. The

they |

abreast of the town towed out between 11
and 12 o’clock on Saturday night, and we
supposed that the fleet would have sailed
immediately, but having been informed by
some traitor that valuab e stores had been
sent up the Don, the schooners came up
the harbour yesterday morning. ‘The troops
were again landed, and three armed
boats went up the Don in search of the
stores, We have since learned that
through the meritorious exertions of a
few young men, two of the name of
Playter, everything was conveyed away
before the enemy reached the place. Two
or three boats containing trifling articles
which had been hidden in the marsh were
discovered and taken, but in the main the
enemy were disappointed. As soon as
the armed boats returned the troops
went on board, and by sunset both soldiers
and sailors had evacuated the town. Ihe
barracks, the wood-yard, and the store-
houses on Gibraltar Point were then set
on fire, and this morning at daylight the
enemy’s fleet sailed. The troops which
were landed acted as marines and ap-
pear to be all they had on board, not more
certainly than 240 men. The fleet con-
sists of fourteen armed vessels. Ours is
left at Sackett’'s Harbour. It is but
justice to Commodore Chauncey and Colonel
Scott to state that their men while on shore
behaved well, and no private house was en-
tered or destroyed.” Atthe close of the war
Dr. Powell resumed the practice of bis
profession at York.  Some years later he
was appointed Clerk of the Assembly and
Judge of the Home Distriet Court, and
on the death of the Clerk of the Legislative
Council, in 1828, he was also given
this position. All these places he held up to
the time of his death in 1838, aged 59 years.

At the time of receiving these appoint
ments D:. Powell trausferred his medical
practice to Dr, Widmer, but he remained ex-
aminer of the Medical Board up tohis death.

Dr. Powell had the direction of the
building of the old hospital which stood
at the north-west corner of King and
John streets. The hospital was a spacious,
unadorned matter-of-fact two-storey struc-
ture of red brick, one hundred and
seven feet long and sixty-six feet wide.
It had by the direction of Dr. Grant
Powell the peculiarity of standing with
its sides precisely east and west and north
and south. At a subsequent period it
had the appearance of having been jerked
around bodily, the streets in the neigh-
bourhood not having been laid out with
the same precise regard to the cardinal
point., The building exhibited recessed
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galleries on the north and south sides
and a flattish-hipped roof. The interior
was convenient'y designed.

When the Honses of Parliament ag the
cast end of the city were destroyed by
fire in 1824, the Legislature assembled
tor several sessions in the hospital building.

In th> fever wards here, duiing the ter-
rible season of 1847, frightfu scene: of
suffering and death were witnessed among
the newiy-arrived emizrants. Hero it was
in ministering to them in their distress
so many were stiuck down—som: all but
1atally, others wholly s»—amongst the lat-
ter several leading medical men and Bishop
Power, the Roman Catholic prelate,

Dr. Grant Pow:ll was one of the guosts
at the fancy dressball given at Frank’s Hotel
in 1827, on which occagion he assumed
the character of Dr. Pangloss. His
name also occurs frequently in old docu-
ments relating to the early history of York.

During De. Powell’s early residence in
York he iived for & time in the north wing
of the old parliament buildings. He then
occupied the two-storey frame house, with
a rather large lot about it at the south-
west corner of Duke and George str:ets.
These houses were at a later
date moved over to Alice street. ‘Lhe
house directly south of it was afterward
built by Mr. J. S. Howard and used by him
as a residence an1 as the post office

In 1826 Dr. Powell bought from Mr.
Capels, a builder, the one storey white
cottage, standing at what now s

No. 146 Richmond street, on the north
side, east of Simeoe street, adjoining the
house of the late John Harper. The
hou-e stood a few feet back from the
street. 1n the front was a porech. About
five feet in tront of the porch and eight
feet in front of the main building was a
fence, At the time of its purchase in
1826 the house consisted simply of the
ceutral part. The wings at the east and
west and the kitchen extension at the rear
were afterwa-d added. On the south
side of Richmoud street, opposite the house,
Dr. Powell owned an acre of land, which
was laid out in an orchard and girden.
At the east and west side of the house
were fruit trees. Dr. Powell died in this
Richmond street house in 1838, [h: build-
ing was destroyed by fire in Scptember,
1849. Dr. G ant P .well’s house was one of
the houses Mackenzie decided should be
spared as Dr. Powcll was a friend of his,
Thne house was o'd and quaint. Mrs.
Scymour, Dr. Powell’s daughter, now lives
in Ottawa, well remembers the war of 1812,
when all the ladies of the town were s
sembled in MeGill’s cottage where the

13

Metropolitan Church now stands, She was
a girl at the time. She was sent ou: to pile
chips under the large kettl:s in the yard on
which food was b.ing cocked for the loyal
troops, ani she was told to look over the
fence at a flig pole down at Church street,
and if sh»> saw the Ameriean flag there the
town had been taken, if the British the

Amcricans were besaten. Dr. Pow-
ell left two sons and five
daughters. His eldest son, Willium Dum-

mer Powell, at his d:ath was Judge of
the Counties of Wellington, Waterlos and
Gray. The surviving son 1s Mr. Grant
Powell, Under S:cretary of Stat, who
lives at Ottawa. Three daughters survive,
one of whom is the wife of Mr. John Ridout,
Reg strar of the County of York.

At the upper end of William stre-t on the
Caer-Howell reserve as it was called was
situated the old family graveyard of
th: Powells. Tha reserve extended back
to the College avenn:. The western hali of
it was given to the city by Chief Justice
William Dummer Powe'l. Three sides of
the lot were surrounded by a brick wal
eight or nine feet high. 7The eastern wal
b:tween the plot and the avenue was of
stone and a little higher than the other
sides. The entrance was from the wes:
where two iron zates were placed. The
vault itself was about twelve feet square,
the entrance to it also b ing from the west
through heavy iron or iron shod doors. It
was four or five feet above the ground and
about six feet below the surface. In it
were the remains of the Chief Justice and
his wife, Anne, Dr. Grant Powell his son,
Margaret, Dr. Powell’s daughter, who died
in 1841, and Avgusta Jarvis, daughter of
the late S, P. Jarvis. These were the only
ones buried in the vault. OQurside in th:
midd!te of the enclosure were buried Charles
Seymour in 1843, the father of Mr. Grant
Seymour, of Ottawa, and at the foot of his
grave Bertie Stuart’s eldest sister Mary.
Tha Stuarts were cousins of the Seymours.
On either side the bodies of two infant
children of the late Dr. Gwynne. Half
way between the vau't and the south wall
of th: enclosure was planted a slab mn mem-
ory of four children ot the Chief Justice,
rhree of whom were drowned : Thomas at
Kingston, Jeremiah, who was supposed to
have fallon into the hands of pirutes ou his
return from Spain early in the century,
and Anne who was lost in the wreck of the
Albion in 1822. The fourth, *Villiam, died
and was buried at Thorold. In later years
the slab had snnk so de ply in the ground
that it conld not be distinguished. In the
enclosuxe were two large trees, one a huge
o'd elm just alongside the vau't and the
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other at the south-west corner with its
branches hanging over William street.
There was also some low shrubbery growing
about. In September, 1863, the remains of
Cbarles Seymour were removed to St
James’ Cemetery, his son Mr. Grant Sey-
mour superintending the exhumation and in
that or the next year all the other bodies
were re-interred in the same churchyard.

CHAPTER LIX.
THE SCADDING HOMESTEAD.

The O1d Farm House of Mr. John Scadding
and the Home of Dr. Henry Scadding on
Trinity Square.

Somewhere about the year 1856, the Cor-
poration of the City of Toronto purchased
one hundred and three acres of what used
to b> known us the Scadding Farm, just be-
yond the limits of the city, on the east side
of the River Don, tor the two-fold purpose of
sccuring a site tor a new prison for the
county and city, and establishing in connec-
tion therewith an Industrial Farm. Both
ideas were carried into eff ct ; and this ulti-
mately, but only recently, brought about
the complete demolition of the old home
stead represented in our engraving. It
was a well-known obj.ct and was situated a
little to the north-west of the present exten
sive prison buildings. The Scadding Farm
consisted originaliy of the whoie of lot num-
ber fifteen, broken front, extending from
the water’s edge of the bay northward to
the first concession line, t.¢., the present
Danforth avenue or Bloor street produced
east across the Don, bounded throughout
its whole length on the east by what is now
styled Broadviewavenue, butformerlyknown
as th: Mill road, and on its western side
by the windings of the River Don. The
first patentee from the Crown of this lot
was Mr. John Scadding, an emigrant from
Devonshire, formerly of Luppit in that

county, where he and his forebrars had
owned a property named Windsor. In
fulfilment of ‘‘settlement duties” he

put up a log house and barn of mo-
derate dimensions, in the first instance
at the south end of his lot by the side of
the highway leading to Kingston ; which
buildings are duly shown on the early sur-
veys of this quarter ; and so notable was
this improvement as a landmark by the
wayside that the bridge leading into York
over the river close by, was long popu’arly
known as “Scadding’s Bridge,” an expression
that occurs for several years in the printed
accounts of the annual township meetings ;
and in the orders issued by the authoritjes
for the assembling of militia companies in
case of an emergency, ‘‘Scadding’s Bridge”

is named as an alarm  station.
or place of  rendezvous. At ¢
later period Mr S:adding, having disposed
of his improvements and a few acres a: this
point, ‘erected more commodious buildings,
a farm house, large barn and acommodation
for horses and cattle, all of carefully hewr
logs, some distance to the north of the site
first selected, which are the buildings after-
wards pulled down in the Industrial Farm
grounds.

Lot No. 15, broken front, wasa rough
piece ot land to tackle for the purpose of
bringing it into anything like a condition
of cultivation. It consisted of a long
line of steep hills, the eastern boundary
of the Don valley, densely covered
with  very heavy  timber  chiefly
white pine ; and flats verging into marsh
towards the south, but to the north, also
supplied with a forest vegetation, elms of
great height and girth, bass-wood, butter-
nut, walnut, wild crab-apples, wild cherry,
wild grape, wild currant and gooseberry
and prickly ash. For the lover of the
picturesque, the admirer of distant lake
views and near river scenes, the lot was a
most attractive one. Anyone fond of sport-
ing could find continual employment for the
gun, the rod, the spear, the trap, the river
abounding with salmon at the proper sea-
song, and a number of other good fish at all
times, rock-bass, perch, pike, eels; while
the lands bordering on the stream were
alive ,with genuine game, grouse, quail,
woodcock, snipe, plover, sandpiper and
wild duck of various denominations, and
pigeons innumerable at the proper seasons;
along with numerams fur-producing ani-
mals, the mink, the fox, the muskrat, the
marmot, squirrels in great variety, black,
red, striped and flying, to say nothing of an
occasional deer, bear and wolf. Snakes too
of many beautiful fornis were numerons,
with turtles (the snapping and other) frogs
in variety, including the tree frog, lizards
and crayfish. Most lovely wild flowers were
scatter.d about everywhere, For the en-
thusiast in almost every branch of natural
history, it was a paradise. But for the simple
agr.culturalist—bound to make a subsist-
ence out of the artificial products of the
soil, the obstacles in all directions were
most formidable. The first patentee
of lot fifteen however, did all that was
possible to be done during his short
career in Canids,and with the scant capital
at his command. Around the homestead
fields of grain, of wheat, rye, barley, cats
and maize were seen ; and orchards contain-
ing a great variety of the finest kinds of
apple and other fruits, including the p-ach
and Siberian crab. The Eaglish filbert was
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successfully cultivated, and rhubarb, com-
monly called the pie-plant, was probably
for the first time introduced in these parts ;
asparagus beds and celery trenches were
laid out ; hemp was grown, and melons of
all kinds and esculent gourds, great and
small. 1n the flower garden bloomed most
of the ordinary English flowers, especially
roses of several species; and the then
novelties of the laburnum, syringa and
periwinkie. The flats were converted into
meadows, where sheep were to be seen,
and all the usual domestic animals; and in

on the 1st March, 1824, by injuries received
from the falling of a tree. In oursketch of the
old homestead taken some years after the
sad event just mentioned, the most in.
teresting portion perhaps is the little
lean-to seen attached to the end of the main
building, on the right. This lean-to was a
relic of CUaatle Frank, having been con-
structed of plank, flooring, scantling and
other material rescued from that famous
building when going to decay and brought
down in rafts from its site, on the preci-
pitous bank of the Don a little high up

convenient nooks here and there, stacks ot
hay. At one time a portion of the flats be-
came & hop garden. A bold attempt was
made, too, to improve the marsh lands in a
sanitary point of view by cutting channels.
In the course of the excavations connected
with the straightening of the Don, then
going on, the cribwork of a log causeway
across the marsh below the homestead was
brought to light, a contrivance of the first
owner of the property. The life of this
gentleman, who was a veritable pioneer
of civilization, was brought to a sudden ¢nd

became the owner
by purchase, of the adjoining Castle
Frank lot, in the year 1821,) The
lean-to in question, put togzether out of the
debris of Castle Frank, was added expressly
for the accommodation of the youngest son
of the original patentee of lot No. 15, the
still surviving Rev. Dr. Scadding, a sketch
of whose present residence, No. 10 Trinity
Square, we also give. At an ear.y age the
subsequent historiographer of York and
primitive Toronto began on a small scale to

lot number fifteen
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develop the literary ard archeological
tastes, which have since characteriz>d him ;
‘nd here within the rarrow limits of a
very rustic study, commenced what has
been a labor of love te the eminent divine,
schoolmaster and historian, resulting in the
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aucommon accumuwation of licerary and
Eastorical bric-a-brac which renders, at the
present moment No. 10 Tr nity Square an
objuet of syme curiosity. In the elevated
mansud of this house, whencz most of the
spires, towers, domes, factory-shafts, flag-
stafls and other couspicuous objects of the
eity, and a stretch of Lake Ontario
down to Sca:borough heights, caa
all readily be viewed, the col.ections
and recollections embodied in the well-
known work, ¢ Toronio of Od,” were
brought into form and committed to the
writt n page; while the storeys below,
from the basement upward, teem with book-
eases and books, many of the latter rare and
curious, being specimens of early typography
or the work of famous printers, volumes of
autograph documents, ¢ibinets of coirs and
m dals, Greck, Roman, French and Eng-

lish, portfolios of iocal views and portraits,
paintings, fine engravings, bronzes and
busts,

, s 3

CHAPTER LX.
MACKENZIE'S YORK ST. HOME.

The House Wherc William Lyon Mackenzie
Edited “The Constitution "—Dr. Hornby,
the Hero of Hornby Hall.

01 the west side of York street, which is
now No. 184, halfway between Quecen and
Richmnond, separated from the pavem:nt by
a few foet of yard and a low fence, and
partly shaded by a couple of not over-
hea!thy-looking trees, stands a modest two-
storey red rick house. During the
stormiest period of a peculiarly stormy
car: er, that irrepressible patri t, William
Lyon Mackenzie, mnade this dwelling hs
home and workshop. Here were his p p s,
p:on and ink, here he thousht out aud wrote
down those burning words th.t set all
Canada aflamz ; here hec planned that ill-
advised and ill-fate:l rebellion, and here he
left his family when he fl:d with a price on
his head.

The house was erccted in 1830 by Major
Andrew Patton, formerly of the 45th regi-
ment, barrack master of York Garrison, ana
he lived in it till 1835. Major Patton,
father of the collector, the late Hon. James
Patton, was born in 1771, near St. Andrew’s,
Fifeshire, Scotland, and saw active service
in different countries, with the 6th, 10th,
92nd, and 45th regiments. In 1798, when
captain of the 92ud, or Gordon Highlanders,
and A.D.C. to the Marqu's of Huntley, be
took part in putting down the Irvish re-
beliion. In 1799 he serv-d under Sir Ralph
Abercrombie and the Duke of York in
Holland, and was in the battles of the
Helder, Bergen and Alkmaar. In 1801 was
again under Sir Ralph Abercrombie in
Egyvot, and at the battles of Maudorn and
Alexandria, when the French were driven
out of Egypt. 1a 1807 was at the attack
on Copenhagen, under Welli igton, then S.r
Arthur Wellesley. In 1809 was with Sir
John Moore at Corunna. Coming to Can-
ada, Major Patton scttled on a firm near
Adolphustown, on the Bay of Quinte. Next
removed to Prescott, on being appointed
Barrack-Master at Fort Wellington, as well
as Rogistrar of the couuty of Grenville, and
afterwards was promoted to York. He died
in Toronto Augns: 15th, 1838, in his 68:h
year. In 1835 Mackenzie leased the house,
and lived th:re until 1837, when he offered
the lease for sale. The advertisement ap-
peared in the Constitution of Wednesday,
11th January, 1837, and read as foliows :—
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ANDS AND PROPERTY FOR SALE,
etc.

A large, commodious and well-finished brick
dwelling-house, with garden, stable, etc.
TO LET.

To be leased for ore, two or three years, the
House, Garden, and Premises on York and
Hospital Streets, close to Lot Street, opposite
the Lawyers’ Hall, and possession givea im-
mediately. Substantial and well finished, with
two stories above ground, and an undergronnd
story, Cellars, Cellar-Kitchen, excellent Drains,
&c, It was erected a few years ago by Major
Patton, now of Prescott, for himself and family;
he is the Proprietor. On_the Ground Floor
there are a Dining Room, Parlour or Library,
with a Sitting-Room and Five Bedrooms up-
stairs.

The Garden s spacious, in good order, and
filled with currants, raspberries, gooseberries,

rapes, and choice fruit trees. There is a stable

or two horses, a woodshed, and a_yard. Also
a well of the purest water to be found in To-
ronto.

The situation is very high and healthy, ad-
Jjoining the Macadsmized and paved streets,
extremely well suited for a family residence:
within a few minutes’ walk of the Public Of-
fices, Churches, Wharves, Marker, and Courts
of Justice ; the rent is reasonable. Mr Mac-
kenzie, 173 King Street, will shew the premiscs.

December 12th, 1836.

Here, then, early in 1836, Mr. Mackenzie
came with his family and effects, renting
the house, a comparatively new one, having
been occupied recently but a little time by
its owner, from Dr. Hornby. 1In 1835 it
was the only brick buildirg on the :qnave,
at each corner of which stood a pop ar tree,
‘and there were but two or three others on
the same street. The front, which looks
now as then,is well shown in the artist’s iilus-
tration. It was on the 4th of July, 1836, a
significant date, ags Charles Lindssly, Mr.
Mackenz e’s biographer, observes, that the
first number of the Constitution was pub-
tished. Already French-Canadians had
held insurgent meerings.  Several thou.
sand men bhad armed themselves to fight
if necessary against what they c'aim-
ed to be the coercive measures of the Im-
perial Government, and events seemed
hurrying on with resistless tread. A litile
rear room behind the dining-room, entered
by steps leading up from the backyard, had
been converted into an ffice and sunctum,
In this apartment the fearless editor pre-
pared those inflammatory articles, one of
which appeared in the issue of the paper
on July 5 h, 1837, when he asks, ¢ Will
Canadians dec’are their independence and
shounlder their muskets ?’ and supplements
the question by an sffirmative appeal. This
is folicw d;in the Constitution of August
2nd, by the publication of a virtual de-
claration of independence. Then meetings

of insurrectionists are held, two hundred in
all, it is said ; :ome attended with corflicts
of the opposing factions. The everts of
vhe succ eding monuths belong to the
history of the rebellion. At length the
open outbre:k, so long exp:cted, occurs.
The intrcpid editor has thus far becn a
corqueror with the pen ; he is now about te
essay his style with the sword. Some oue
hus said that the result of every butte
hangs on a mistake. There certainly was s
mixcalculation in the plans of the insur-
gents. Cuaptain Anderson and Colonel
Moodie are shot on the «vening of Monday,
December 3rd, then in hot chase of ore
another, the fighting of Tuesd:y nicht, the
panic of Wednesday, Thursday’s defeat of
the insurgents, and the flight of Mr. Mae-
kenz'e with a reward of £1,000 offered for
his cap'ure. After much wandering, many
narrow escapes, and considersble hardship,
the patriotic leader reaches Amc:rican scil
Meanwhile the distressed ladics and chil(ren
of Mr. Mackenzie’s family expeiience
wietched days and nights of doubt and mis-
giving, first tremblirg for the tate of hus-
band, father and son; second, fearing for
the safety of the important letters and do-
cuments pertaining to the rebellion that
were in the hcu e; thirdly, in a state of
continual apprehension by reason of the oft-
repeated visits of the authorities. As soon
as the news of an actual outbreak reached
the Government officials the York street
house was put under the strictest surveil
lance. A guard was stationed at the door,
and patrols paced up and down before it.
Every ten or fifteen minutes soldiers walk
in and make the most thorough < earch from
cellar to garret ; they look n der the beds,
thrust their swords throuch th.m, peer and
pry into every nook and cranny of
the bulding, mor is 1his attention
intermitted by night.  Although the
only inmates now are women and children
half a dozen civilians are domiciled in the
dining room at evening to watch there until
morning. Ostensib'y they are sent for the
protection of the occupants, who, however,
decline to r¢ceive them in that guise and
denource them as spies.  This is continued
until Mrs. Mackenzie’s grandmother, an old
lady of 81 years, appe-als to their manly in-
stincte, asking if they are not ashamed te
force them:elves into the residence of de-
fenceless women, and at this they go away.
Some of these men still live in Toronto. Mr,
Mackenzie’s papers hungin files from the
ceiling in his bedroom at the south side of
the house and in bis office at the rear. Sing.
ularly enough, although the plumes of the
officers, at times touched them, they were
never noticed, and the only ones :eized
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THE MACKRNZIE AND HORNBY HOUSES

were a few found bidden within the curtains
of an old fashioned bed. Immunity from
the frequent vi-its of the soldiery was al-
lowed to the inmates for the first time dur-
ing church service on the Sunday morning
following the outbreal. Seizing the oppor-
tuni'y the ladies kindled fires in four wood
box stoyes and burned every letter and
document in the house. Seraps of charred
paper were sailing upward from the chim-
ieys as the people came pouring out of their
places of worship ; soldiers returning to re

sume search saw them and rushed in, but
they were too late ; everything had been
destroyed. It frequently happened that pris-
oners arrested after the rebellion was quelled
were marched by the house, bound two by
two with stout ropes, and they invariab'y lift-
ed their hats as they passed. The family
remained in the lounse abcut a fortnight
after the events narrated, Mrs. Mackerzie
joining her husband, December 29th, at
Navy Island After :he rcbellion it was
taken by the government, first used by Col.
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Hill, and then by Bagot. Mrs. Patton sold
this large house to Dr. Hornby, a well
known medical man of the day. The cot-
tage south of the large house was built by
Mrs. Patton in 1840. She lived in it until
1842, and then went to Prescott. It was
then rented to Mr. Hooper, thedruggist,who
afterwards bought it.

During Dr. Hornby’s time the house was
the scene of varied experiences. Some re-
lentless debtors pursued the dector with
writs and suit 53, and obtained judgment in
due course. To make a seizure was another
matter, and for weeks the doctor kept the
bailiffs at bay, Every door and window
was bolted and locked, and for six or
eight weeks the siege was kept up. The
doctor would occasionally slip out of the
house when the bailiffs were out of sight,
and wander over to Crispin’s tavern on the
north-east corner of Richmond and York
streets, and here he would find his bailiff
friends, who had constituted Crispin’s into
& gort of a guard house. He would chatand
smoke with them and enjoy their jokes, and
on one occasion Mr, Beird, who was a bailiff,
said : “ Doctor, this siege reminds me of
that of Acre.” ¢ Indeed,” said the doctor,
‘ which one ? for you know there were two,
one they got in, but one they didn’t.” With
this sally the doctor sailed ont and awaited
an opportunity to return to his castle unseen
by the bailiffs. Punch in Canada, a humor-
ous pcriodical, published in the Capreol
building, on the north-west corner of Yonge
and Melinda, in Toronto, had the following
verses on the subject :—

THE BALLAD OF HORNBY HALL.

0O, bailiff, buttoned to the nose,
And booted to the knee,

Aunswer true what I ask of you,
But tell no fibs to me.

The ladder hoisted from the wall,
The flag at half-m st high,

What bodes your sigual ? Tell me all,
The wherefore and the why.

The flag, old gent, at half-mast high,
And the ladder from the wall,

Ave signs of money that’s cwing by
The lord of Ho nby Hall.

The little bills came thronging in,
Like bees about a hive,

Until the bowers of Hornbee
With bees wuz all alive.

Then rose the lord of Hornbee,
And fled from his castle halls ;

He mizzled, and left yon brave ladye
Alone for to keep the walls,

So we wuz ordered blockade to make
B fore the castle gates,

No rest, nor sleep, but watch to keep,
Me and my bully mates.

0, cold the rain beats on my hat,
The wind goes whistling by ;

But harder, O, harder to stand than that
Is the flash of yon ladye’s eye.

And from the battlements, nightand day,
Horrid she slangs at we ;

Bill Barlow’s hair is gone quite grey,
From the language she used to he.

And this is the way, old gent, old gent,
The wherefore and the why,

From hour to hour we watch that tower,
My bully mates and L.

The poor folks suffer for the rich,
The great ones crush the small,
A story old, and often told,
The lay of Hornby Hall.

[This Landmark has been re-published, as
in its original publication several impor!ant
details had been omitted. The story of the
house as re-written is from the pen of the
late Hon. James Patton, and was written &
few days before his death. It is rather a
coincidence that late in the afternoon of the
Thursday prior to his death Mr. Patton was
conversing in his office with a Zelegram re-
porter on the subject of the old landmarks.
The reporter observed that it was important
to ges all information about these land-
marks, as the old inhabitants were paesing
away rapidly. ¢ Yes, indeed,” said the col-
lector. ¢ There 1s no knowing how soon we
may all go.” Twenty-four hours later within
a few feet of where he sat, the kind-hearted
old gentleman had gone to his long home. ]

CHAPTER LXL
DOCTOR WIDMER’'S HOUSES.
.he Residences Erected in the Eastern

Part of the Town by One of the Most
Eminent Surgeons of York.

Up to a very recent period there stood
>n King street, nearly opposite Ontario

street, and directly west of Small’s
house, a large frame ‘wo-stor'y house
painted white. It was a plain square house

standing flush with the street, without any
porch, stoop or ornamentation. On the
ground floor were two windows on each
<ide of the front door. On the floor above
were five windows. This was the house of
Dr. Christopher Widmer one of the most
eminent physicians and surgeons of York.
He lived here for many years and then built
on the lower part of his lot, now about
174 TFront swreet east, a large double
gibled red brick house of two stories,
with a large two storied wing at the west
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side. The house which has since been | a rookery at the north-ea:t corner of Sher-

ainted white, is now standing about | bourne and Front streets is an old sign, in-
fifty feet back from Front  street. | dicating the street. The word Front has
On'the south and east side is a verandah | been fastened over a let on of the original
with a green roof. The house and grounds | sign but the letters “ce” are still plainly vis-
are handsomely shaded with horse chestnut | ible. Before Dr. Widmer’s settlement in
trees. At the west of the grounds 1upsa | York Le had been a staff cavalry surgeon
narrow pas:age-w:y just wide enough for a | on active service during the Peninsula cam-
tingle vehic'e, known as Widmer’s lane. It | paigns. Although at this time Dr. Wid.
must have been a very desirable place of | mer was an elderly man, his small, well-
residence before the big brick factory was ) built form was erect and soldierly. His
erected opposite, shut!ing off the view of } dres: was scrupulously exact. His hand-
the bay and filling the air with the whirl of | some face wore a rather sad expression but
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ﬁymg wheels and the clash of machmery lighted up at the greeting of friends. A%
Now the house s neg ected and shabby | heart the doctor was a kind o!d man, but
gentecl. The frame dwelling on King street | he had been brought up among soldiers in
in which the doctor formerly lived has | the license of the camp, and his manner at
been torn down to make way for a big | times was brusque to rudeness, but he was
brewery. During its lifetime of less than a | very friendly with those who knew him
century Front street has rececived three | well. He was a splendid horseman and
christenings. It was original'y named | his accomplished wife was one of the most
ng strect in honour of the reigning sover- | graccful questriennes sver seen in York.

eign George the Chird. Then it was sty'ed Dr Widmer's face bore a striking
Palace street, no doubt te indicate the fact | resemblance to the pictures of Harvey,
that it led direct'y to the Parliament | the discoverer of the circulation of the
buildings which in 1810 were called Govern- | blood.  There is a portrait of him in
ment House, Tacked beneath the eaves of | the Toronto General Hospital. In 1828 Dr.
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Widmer finding h's practice too large for
his personal attention at his advanced nge
entered into a partnership with Dr. Dienl
which is thus announced in the Loyalist of
Nov. 15 of that ycar: ¢ Doctor Widmer
finding his professional engagements much
extended of late and occisionally too
arduous for oneperson has beea induced to
enter into partnership with Dr. Diehl a re-
sp ctable pracritioner, late of Montreal,
It is exp cted that their united exertions
will prevent in future any disappointment
to Dr. Widmer's friends both in iown and
country. Dr. Diehl’s residence is at pr. sent
at Mr. Hayes' boarding Lonse, York.” De.
Dienl died at Toronto, March 5, 1868. The
boarding house alluded to was on the
north-west corner of King and Ontario
street, nearly opposite Dr. Widmer’s
house. It was kept by John Hayes, a man
of considerable prominence in York and
was noticeable as being in session time, like
Jordan's hotel, the abode of many members
of parliament. Dr. Widmer pursued his
profession with inexhaustible zeal and his
surgery was the scene of many a delicate,
critical and successful operation. The
doctor lived to a good old age preserving
his alert bearing to the last. One of his
daughters became Mrs. George Hawke.
The other daughter became Mrs. Clarke,
wife of the late Capt, Clarke, well-known
as an officer of the 100th Regiment and also
of the Royal Canadian Rifles.

CHAPTER LXIL
JOHN FARR'S BREWERY.

An Early Establishment on Quneen Street
for the Manufacture of Beer—Gore Vale
and Gore Vale Brook.

On the south side of Queen street, a I1ittle
west of Bellwoods avenue, in the valley of
the Garrison creek, which at this point was
callel Gore Vale brook, was built a few

years pricr to 1820 by John Farr
a brewery. It was a long, low-
lying, dingy - looking building of hewn
logs. On the side toward the street

arailed gangway led from the road toa
deor in its upper storey. Conspicuous on
the hill above the valley on the western side
was the house, also of hewn logs but cased
over with clap boards by Mr. Farr, the pio-
prietor of the brewery, a North of England
man in aspect as we l as in staidness and
shrewdness of chiracter, His spare form
and slightly crippled gait were everywhere
tamiliarly recognized. Greatly respected
he survived untl a few years ago.
Mr. Farr conducted the brewing business
st the Queen street brewery until 25 or 35
years ago, when he retired and the business

was transferred to John Wallis, at one time
member for West Toronto in the Dominion
Parliament. Mr. Wallis carried on the
business for years and then sold an interest
to the late John Cornell, who in turn con-
ducted it up to the time of his
death, when it wns vacated. Tte
brewery which originally was of wood was
rebuilt of brick at a later period. Duiing
the past year it was torn down and a brick
block erected on the site. Iu the early days
drinking was a more common habit than
now, and old brewers say that the beer was
better than that of the present time. There
was no duty to pay. Barley was cheaper,
being worth from thirty to forty cents a
bushel,and as a result the brewets put more
malt in the beer. The wholesale price at
the breweries was a shillinga gallon. Ihe
retail price was two pence a glass. Mr.
Farr’s chief assisrant in the old brewing bore
the name of Bow-beer. Dr. Scaddirg says

that at Canterbury many years ago,
when the abbey of St. Augustiie
there, now a famous missionary col.
lege, was a brewery, on the beau-

tiful turreted gatew:y, wherein were the
coolers, the inscription Beer-Brewer was
consp caous, the name of the brewer in oc-
cupation of the grand monastic ruin being
Beer, a common name sometimes given as
Bere, but which in reality is Bear. The
stream, which 2t this point is crossed by
Queen stre: t,is the one tga.t atterwards flowed
below the eastcrnmost bastion of the old
fort. A poition of the ground between Farr’s
brewery and the Garrison was once desig-
nated by the local government «nd set apart
as a site for a museum and institute of
natural history and vphilosophy, with
botanical and zoological gardens attach«d.
The project originated by Dr. Duunlop, Dr.
Rees and Mr. Fothergill, and patronized by
cuccessive lieutenant-governors, was pro-
bably too bold in its conception and roo
advanced to be justly appreciated and
earnestly taken up by a sufficient
number of the pubtic fell to the ground.
The Canadian Institute is 1he kind of asso-
ciation which was designed by Drs. Dunlop
and Rees and Mr. Fothergill, but lacking
the revenne which the rent of a few building
lots in a flourishing city would supply. The
stream flowing through the ravine gave the
water power nececssary for grinding. All
about the locality were th'ck woods, At an
early period the whole d's'rict was known
as Gore Vale. Gore was in honour of the
governor of that name. Vaile denoted

the ravine which indeuted a
portion of the land through which
meandered the pleas:int little stream.

Across from Farr’s brewery, on the north
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s:de of Quuen street, are the buildings and
grounds of Trinity College. On the steep
mound which overhung the Gore Vale
brook on its eastern :ide, just where it is
crossed by Queen street, was at an early
period a block house, commanding the
western approach to York. On the old
plans this military work is shown as also a
path lea ing to it across the common from
the Garrison, probably trodden oft-n by the
relief party of the guard that would be
~tationed there in anxious times.

CHAPTER LXIIL
COLBORNE LODGE, HIGH PARK.

The House of John George Howard, the
Giver of a Beautiful Pleasure Ground in
the City—A Sketch of His Life,

At the extreme western end of the city
on a wooded eminence surrounded by the
most picturesque scenery in the neighbous-
hood of Toronto, commanding a magnificent
view of the Humber, stands an unprecten-
tious stuccoed house. This is the house of
Mr. John George Howard, who in his pre-
sentation of High Park to the city, has
given the most munificent gift ever made by
a private individunal to the public in Upper
Canada. A cucving driveway and a
rnst'c path 'ead np to the house from
the road which skiits the shore of the bay.
On the first approach the visitor is con-
fronted with specimens of Mr. Howard’s
skill in carving. About the railings of the
verandah cling in natural attitudes the
forms of huge serpents and dragons, carved
from great branches of trees and painted in
imitation of living monsters, with glittering
eyes and fiery mouths, The casual noctur-
nal visitor might easily be frightened at
these apparitions, so lifelike are their undu-
lating folds. But within the house there is
a cheery welcome from Mr. Howard, who,
alttough one of the oldest residents of
Torento, is still active and cheerful,
Before giving a further description of the
house and its snrroundings it will not be
ont of place to give a sketchf the personal
history of 1his great benefactor of the city.
Mr. Howard is a scion of one of the most
illust. ions families in the Un ted Kingdom,
being a descendant from Lord William
Howard of Naworth Cast'e in the County
ot Cumberland, the “Belt d Will” of Sir
Walter Scott’s well-known poem. John
Howard, the ycungest grandson of Lord
William, was the direct ancestor of John
G. Howard. Being dissatizfiel with the
arrangement of his father’s property he left
Co: Ly Cast'e and went to the Flemish town

of Tournay, where he ingratiated himseli
with the king, who gave h'm for a eoat of
arms a doub’'e headed raven with the motto,
Mens Conscia Recti. Mr. Howard was born
on the 27th of July, 1803, at a village
twenty-one miles north of London, England.
When he was nine years old he was sent to
a hoarcing-school in the town of Hertford,
where he remained until he had completed
his fourteenth year. At fitteen he was sent
tosea a8 & b y before the mast, that posi-
tion havirg b-en secured for him through
Messrs. Taylor, Mosely & Hatchett, a pro-
mincnt firm of Hamburg traders, whose
chi-f p'ace of business was in Crutched
Friars, London. He followed the sea for

two years, when he was compelled to
abandon a nautical life in consequence
of perpetual sea sickness, a milady to which
he has ever since been subject whenever he
has had occasion te make a voyageacross the
deep. Harving learncd navigation, practical
geometry and marine surveying, he turned
his attention to laad surveying, engineering
and architecture, a knowledge of which he
had acquired first in the office of an uncle
* who was a contractor living at Kennington
Cross and afterwards in the coffice of Mr.
John Grayson, architeet of Banner sireet,
St. Luke’s, London. On leaving Mr.
Grayson he went on a tour through
the County of Kent. Being provided
with a letter of introduction to Council'er
Scudamore, of Maidstone, ne made the per-
sonal acquaintance of that gentleman, who
gave him a letter to the archbishop in
charge of the re-building of Leea’s Castle. a
stately structure abont five miles from
Maidstone, on the Ashford road. He was
emp'oyed by the lattcr geitleman in connee-
tion with the castle, but soon threw up his
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situation, being very much annoyed by the
workmen, who called him *‘the little Cock-
ney.” He, however, obtainel emp oyment
in the office of the- Cutbu- hes,
a well-known firm of contracting
architects in Maidstone, where he
remained for some tim:. In 1824 he re-
turned to London and entercd the offica of
Wm. Ford, architect, of Mark Linne, Lond :n,
and Colborne street, Bow road. In thefollow-
iug year Mr. Ford married Mr. Howard’s sis-
ter Sarah. Sovon afterwards Mr. Ford took
M:. S muel Paterson, architect, R. A., into
partnership, and the firm built several villas
und 'r the latter’s superintendence.  On the
7¢h of May, 1827, Mr, Howard marricd
Mi s Jemima Frances Meikle, a young lady
in her twenty-fifth year. Though the coup e
were not b'essed by offsp:ing their miriiag:
turned out & singularly happy ome. Tue
union endured for more than ha'f a century,
when it was severed by the death of Mus.
Howard. In the autumn of 1827 Mr. How-
ard was sent to Pentridge in Derbyshire, to
tuke Mr. Paterson’s place on the Cromford
uUanal, near Matlock. He subsequently re-
sumed his p ac2 in Mr. Ford’s office, where
he transact=d business on his own account.
This arrangement continued until the year
1831, when, owing to the dfstress of the
times and the sparsity of building operations
in the neighbou hood of London, he began
o castabout in hismindfor amore profi:ab'e
field of labour. Becoming impressed by the
glowing accountsgiven by a Mr. Cattermole,
an agent for the Canada Company, iu the
spring of 1832 he resolved to emigrate from
Eng'and to Canada. He missed the vessel
in which his passage had been engag d, buc
on the 26th of June, accompanied by his
wif:, he sailed from London for Gravesend
in a steamer belonging to Captain Wallis,
After getting the luggage on board the ship
Emp:ror Al xander, Captain Boig com-
mander, which lay at anchor opposite Til-
bury Fort, Mr. Howard and his wife went
ashore, and on their return to the beach
found that the ship had sailed away with-
out them. Mr. Howard engaged a boat and
some men, and after a hard chase the ship
was caught. This waa the first of a series
of misfortunes which befel Mr. Howard
on th> trip. An account of these is con-
densed from a journal of the voyage kept by
Mr. Howard. A day or two later while Mr.
Howard was shooting with his rifls the
boom jibed and striking him would have
cirried him overboard had not the captain
seized him by the legs as he was going over
the rail. Ou the same evening % saw a
large meteor fall into the sea about 300
yards ahead of the vessel. Two days after-
ward Mr. Howard and his wife went ashore

at Ryde, Isle of Wight, anl were again left
by th= ship which th y had great difficulty
in overtaking with a sail boat. Notwith-
standing these experiences Mr. Howard and
a party went out shooting and fishing in the
morning,afew dayslaterahundred milesfrom
land and tost the ship, and did notfinditagain
uatil night. The next day another pirty
went out in a small boat, and getting out of
sight, were not found uatil eighteen hours
afterward, having been drifting about on
the ocean all night, unable to sce the lights
hung out at the masthed or the bl ze of the
tar barrels set on fire, or hear the booming
of the ¢ nnon which were fired throughout
h- night for their guidance. Meanwhile a
child had died and a child had been born on
board the ship. Nothing else of an un-
u-ual character occurred until the ship
was about a moath ou’, when at five
o’clock one morning all were awakened
by a terrible thumping on the deck and
cries of ‘‘dre. A mutiny had arisen. The
captain rushed upon deck in his shirt, ran
to the fore chains, seiz:d the ring leader,
dragged him aft, and rope ended him, The
mucineers rushed to the rescue of the man
and knocked th= captain down. They said
they were Englishmen and would stick
together, and swore they would shoot him,
for they did not want him, as they could
work the ship thomselves. One was about
to deal the prostrate captain a heavy blow
when the mate seiz'd him and the captain
regained his feet. By vigorous measures the
mutiny was quelled, and two hours later
quiet was re-tored. Of this Mr. Howard
says, My wife and myself were both un-
well. T kept my pistols and guns loaded
by the bedside as we expected to hear the
ruffians come down the cabin st ps, for a
sct of greater blackguaids never sailed out
of England.” That evening a storm arose
and the four top-callant and royal masts
were carried away. On Mr. Howard’s
birthday a wreck was pissed. Within the
next fow days the captuin and a passenger
fe 1 overboard,but both were rescued. After
arriving in the Guli of St. Lawrence there
was another exciting incident one night
which Mr. Howard tells as follows in
his journal :—‘¢ About 10 o’clock I heard
an unusual noise upon deck, the captain at
the highest pitch of kis voice catling to the
sailors to brace up the foreyard, and rcpeat-
ing the order at least a dozen times, as if his
orders, from some ¢ use or other, cou'd no*
be attonded to. Mur. Hill, the mate, who
was with me in my firgt trip in the boat,
came to my cabin and told me to get up and
go upon deck, as there was no doubt but
the ship would be lost, for the cuptain and
the other mates were drunk, and the ship
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was driving fast upon the rocks. I dressed
myself as quickly as possible and went upon
deck. Judge of my feelings when the first
object that met my view wag the shore, with
tremendous rocks running out into the sea,
and the breakers dashing over them
in a frightiul manner. Horror was depicted
on almost every countenance, women clasp-
ing their children in their arms and their
husbands running about the deck like mad-
men. It was a beautiful moonlight night, and
inturning my head Isaw thecarpentersitting
on the bulwarks with his axe ready to cut
the anohor stop if 1t should be necessary.
We had three good boats, but they wou.d
have been crowded and swampzd, for there
were one hundred and sixty-two persons on
board, and a great many of them very bad
eharacters,” From this predicament, how-
ever, the ship was saved by a change in the
wind, which. blowing from the land, drove
the vessel away from the rocks and into the
open  water, On  Sunday evening,
August 26th, the ship being off
quarantine, opposite Grosse Isle—the cholera
was raging at the time—a lam:ntable oc-
currence took place, which Mr. Howard
thus relates :—¢“ The passengers of the
Minerva anchored near us had performed
garantine and were returning on board,

hen they came alongside their vessel
the ropes of the davits became en-
tangled with the maste of the boat and
swamped her. From the deck of our ship
we could see upwards of twenty persons
struggling in the water, only nine of whom
were saved. The agony we felt at not being
able to render assistance,a!l our boats being
on shore, was extreme. One of our boats
returning from shore went to their assist-
ance and succeeded in picking up four who
were taken to the island. One of them, a
fine young woman, was in a state
of suspended animation. She was quite
black in the face when taken from the
water, but rubbing her body with brandy
restored her, and by the following morning
she was quite recovered. An old man and
bis wife were two of the others who were
saved by the crew of our boat, They were
completely soaked, and they wept bitterly
for the loss of their little b oy, who found a
grave in the ocean. The other was a little

fellow about four years old, brother to the.

young woman already named, whose lively
countenance beamed thankfulness while
carried about in the arms of the brave sailor
who saved him, The young woman was
called upon to lament the loss of a sister,
who sank to rise no more.” A chiid having
died just before reaching Quebee, a
party from the ship of which M,
Howard was one,went ashore with the body
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to bury it and were directed to the cholera
burial ground. Mr. Howard says : *““When
there we were obliged to wait for several
hours for a priest. There were no fewer
than seven or eight waggons with rough deal
coffing waiting in tke hot sun for the same
priest. The coffins were nailed together ‘of
unseasoned inch boa. ds, the lids had shrunk
in and warped so that you could get your
hand in, and the stench from them was
dreadful. Still we remained until the child
was buried.” On the 14th of Septem-
ber, 1832 Mr. and Mrs, Howard arrived
at York, having been cleven weeks
and three days from London.  His
first experience in York is thus told
by Mr. Howard : ‘“Going up Church street
from the landing plac', I was very much
astonished to see in a huckster’s window a
very handsome carving knife and fork for
sale, which I had made my brother-in-law a
present of before he left England. Going
into the shop, judge my surprise to find my
wife’s sister, whom I believed to be in
Goderich. She looked half s:arved. Shs
had lost one child and the other was in a
wretched state.” Mr. Howard had a letter
of intioduction which he presented the next
spring to the Houa, Peter Robinson. A few
days afterward some of his drawings were
submitted to Sir John Colborne, who pro

cured for him the appointment of draw-
ing master at Upper Canada Col-
lege at a salary of £100 per an-
num. This was the foundation of Mr.
Howard’s fortune. Several men immdiately
gave him orders for buildings, among whom
were Dr. Widmer and James G. Chewett.
Dr. Stuart, Lord Bishop of Quebec, calling
to pay his respects to Mrs. Howard, found
her busy washing in the kitchen. She took
her hands out of the wash tub, and the
Bishop shaking hands with her, remarked
that her small hands had never been used to
that kind of work, and if the ladies when
they came to Canada would unbend as she
had done and perform such work whenever
it was necessary Canada would have a better
name. The next year Mr. Howard was ap-
pointed the first city surveyor by Wil-
liam Lyon Mackenzie, the first Mayor ot
Toronto, and the same year he put down
the first 11 foot plank sidewalks on King
street. From this time en for many years
Mr. Howard was one of the leading men of
Torontn, and in his professional capacity as
architeet and surveyor he made many sur-
veys and built many buildings, some of the
principal of which are surveys of the har-
bour, the construction of sewers and vari-
ous public works as city engineer, the pro-
vincial lunatic asylum, tue plan of S8t
James’ cemetery, the Wellington street
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post office, many churches and public build-
iags iu various parts of the Dominion and a
great number of business houses and private

residences in  this city. O: c¢ne
of Mr. Howard’s achicvemcnts in th:
hasty erection of a spire on !St.
Paul’s church, Yorkville, in 1841, Dr.

Scadding, in Toronto of Od, says:—
‘“ While crossiug the First concession line,
now in our northward journey, the mom-
ent comes back to us when on glancing along
she vista to the eastward, formed by the
oad in that direction, we first noticed a
Jhureh spire on the right hand or southern
side. We had passed thaé way e day or two
before, and we were sure no such object
was to be seen there then, and yet unmis-
takably now there rose up before the eye
a rather graceful tower and sp're of consid-
erable altitude, complete from base to apex,
and coloured white. The fact was, Mv. J.
G. Howard, & well-known local architect,

had ingeniously constructed a tower
of wood in a  horizontal, or
ncarly horizontal  position, in the

ground c’ose by somewhat as a ship builder
puts together th: mast of some vast ammi-
ral, and then after attending to the external
finish of at least the higker portion of it
even to a counting of lime wash, had in the
space of a few hours by means of convenient
machinery raired it on end and secured it
prman ntly in a vertical position. We
gather some further particu’ars from a con-
temporary account. The Yorkville spire
was raised on the 4th of August 1841. It
was 85 feet high, composed of four entire
trees or pleces of timber, each of that length
bound together pyramidica'ly, tapering from
ten feet base to one foot at top, and made to
reccive a turned ball and weather-cock.
The base was sunk in the ground until the
apex was raised ten feet from the
ground and about thirty feet of the upper
part of the spire was completed, coloured
and painted before the raising. The op:r-
ation of raising commenced about two
o’clock p. m., and about eight in the even.
ing the spire and vane were seen erect and
appeared to those unacquainted with what
was going on to have risen amongst the
trees as if by magic. The work was per-
formed by Mr. Jo%m Richey, the traming
by Mr. Wetherell and the raising was super-
intended by Mr. Joseph Hill. The plan
adopted was this : Thre: gin-poles, as they

are callel, were erected in the form
of a triangle. Each of them was
well  braced and tackles were rove
at their tops; the tackles were

hooked to strong straps about fifty feet up
the spire with nine mer to each tackle anil
four men to steady the eud with following

poles. It was raised in about four hours
from the ¢ mmencement of the straining of
the tackles and had a very beautiful ap-
pearance while ri-ing. The whole operation
we have been told, was conducted as nearly
as prssible in silence, the architect himself
regulating by signs the action of the groups
at the gin-poles, being himself governed by
the plumb line suspended in a high frame
before him. Perhaps Foatana’s exploit of
setting on end the obelisk in front of St

Peter’s in Rome suggested the pos-
sibility ot causing a tower and spire
to bz suddenly seen rising above the

roof of the Yorkville St. Paul’s. On a
humble scale we have Fontana’s arrange-
ment reproduced, while in the men at the
gin-poles working in obedience to signs we
have the old Egyptians over again—a very
small detachme.t of them indeed—as seen
in the old sculptureon the banks of the Nile.
The original St Paul’s before it acquired in
this singular manner the dignified appurten-
ance of a steeple, was a long, low barn-like
wooden building. Mr. Howard otherwise
improved it, enlarging it by the addition of
an aisle on the west side. When some
twenty years later, in 1861, the new stone
church was erectad, the old wood-
en structuze was removed bodily to
the west side of Yonge street, together
with the tower, curtailed however of it
spire. We have been inform:d that the
four fine stems, each eighty-five feet long
which formed the interior frame of the
tower and spire of 1841 w:re a present from
Mr. Allan of Moss Park, and that the R v.
Charles Matthews occasionally officiating
in St. Paul’s, gave ove hundired pounds in
cash towards the expense of the ornamental
addivion now made to the edifice.” In 1836
Mr. Howard bought a piec: of land con-
tiining 165 acres on the east bank of the
Humber to which he gave the name of
High Park. On the western side of this the
sam= year h- built a residence there
which he nam>d Colborne Lodge, in honour
of Sir John Colborne, who had been his first
benefactor and friend in York and had
given him the post of drawing master i1
Upper Carada College which he filled for
twenty-three years. Onthe23 d of December
1837, Mr. Howard moved from Chewett’s
building on King street where he had lived
to his n>w residence, Colborne Lodge, High
Park. On the morning of the s:cond day
afterwards, Christmas, Mr. Howard shot a
deer and some quailat the rear part of High
Park. On Thursday the 7th of D:cember
betore moving from King street Mr. Howard
led the right wing of the scouting
party up Yonge street to attack the

insurrectionists who had congregated at
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Montgomery’s tavern. The party consisted
of the following men, appointed by Colonel
Samuel P. Jarvis :—Lieut. John G. How-
ard, Thomas Douglas Har ington, Govern-
ment clerk, Robert Kelly, Government
clerk, William Davis, high constable,G :orge
William Allan, law student, and six others.
The party took Walker Smith prisoner.
Sir Francis Bond Head, the Lieutenant-
Governor, gave him his liberty, and he was
afterward made Sheriff of Simcoe County.
The rifle which Mr. Howard carried on
this expedition he still possesses and shows
with pride. The drawing room of Colborne
Lodge is fill-d with pictures, the post of
honovr being occupied by portraits of Mr.
and Mrs. Howard, painted in 1848 by
Thomas H. Stevenson. At the rear of th-
house isa picture gallery which contains 127
pictures painted by Mr. Howard, which
have been donated to the city by him. A
few years ago Mr. Howard gave to the
Public Library of Toronto a library of 222
volumes, some of them being rare and
costly. From 1855 for four years Mr.
Howard sat on the bench with Chief Justices
Robinson, McLean and Richards. In 1883
he mayor and members of the corporation
visited Mr. Howard on his 80th birthday
and presented him with an illuminated
address. In the same year the
Marquis of Lorne conferred upon him the
dignity of a Royal Canadian Academician.
In November, 1888, Mr. Howard presented
Upper Canada College with all his survey-
ing instruments. In 1876 the corporation
of the city conferred upon him the title of
Forest Ranger, since which times he has
made great improvements in High Park,
forming roads, making drains, surveying
the land, laying out the boundaries of the
park, and clearing away the underbrush.
Ameong the curious objects possessed by Mr.

Howard, are two very old car-
riages, both of historical interest.
One of these is a large chariot

brought to Toronto about twenty-two years
ago by Major Tulloch. It was built in Lon-
don for Captain Trollope for the purpose of
conveying his wife, Mrs. Trollope, from
lace to place in England to give her
ghakespearean readings.. Its cost was 800
guineas. The runping gear of the other
and smaller carriage was given bv King
George the Fourth to Sir Peregrine Maitland
on his leaving England for Canada about
the year 1822, Sir Peregrine was recalled in
1828 and gave the carriage to Sir William
Campbell, Athisdeathitwas sold by auctior,
acd the late Chi f Justice Draper bonght
it. He afterward sold it to his groom,
who wused it as a cab for several
years, when it was again sold by auction

and purchased by Mr. Howard for $40. He
had a new body and steps put to it. Both
of these carriages will come into the posses-
sion of the city by Mr. Howard’s will.
North-west of Colborne Lodge, and but a
short distance from the house, at the sum-
mit of a very picturesque ravine, with fine
old oaks surroundiug it, is the Howard tomb
und monumeni. It isapproached by a path
bordered by French weeping willows and
fringed with triplicate rows of daffodils,

jonquils and  roses. This plot ol
ground, consisting of one.eighth of an
acre, is consecrated and reserved as the

burial place of Mr. and Mrs. Howard for.
ever. The tomb itself is within an inner
enclosure. It was erected in 1875. The
lot in which is situated the tomb is enclosed
on the north side by a portion of the old
iron railing which surrounded St. Paul’s
Cathedral, London, England, designed and
erected by Sir Christopher Wren in 1714.
The tomb, of which we give a view, was
erected by Mr. Howard in memory of his
wife and in readiness for himself.

The cairn is constructed with granite
boulders. Mrs, Howard was a Scotch lady,
which accounts for the cairn. Mr. Howard
himself ** is a Masonic Templar—therefore
the double pedestal, terminating with the
Maltese cross.” The cost of erecting the
tomb, inciuding vault snd iron railing,
amounted to $3,120. The granite boulders
are all badded in Portland cement against a
brick shafc in the centre, which supports
the marble pedestal. This weighs over ten
tons, and came from the Rutland quarries,
Vermont, U S. Engraved on a brass
plate, and fixed round one of the gate-
posts of the old iron railing, is the follow-
ing inscription :—¢* Sacred to the memory of
John George Howard and Jemima Frances,
his wife. John George, born 2jth July,
1803 ; Jemima Frances, born 18th August,
1802, died 1st September, 1877. Aged 75
vears.” On a brass plate fixed round the
other ircn gate-post s—

¢ St. Paul's Cathedral for 160 years I did en-
close,
Oh ! stranger, look with reverence ;

Man ! man ! unstable man!
It was thou who caused the severance.”

Nov. 18th, 1875. J.G. H

The vicissitudes of the railing are
curious. After its removal from St
Paul's it was pnrchased by Mr Robert
Mountcastle, Waverley Place. St.
John’s Wood, London, of Mr. J. B.
Hogarth, iron merchant, London, and

shipped by him in good condition, on board
the steamship Delta, for Toronto, on the
14th of October, 1874, Th> Delta went on
shore about five miles below Cape Chat
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L 'ght, on the 8th of November. A portion
of the railing was recovered from the wreck,
and sent to Montreal by the salvage men in
the spring of 1875, in a very mutilated state,
but was brought from Montreal by Mr.
Howard, 17th of August, in that year, and
arrived in Toronto on the 21st of the same
month. It was repaired by Messrs. William
Hamilton & Son, at the St. Lawrence
Foundry, Toronto, and finally fixed on the
stone curb, where it now stands, on the
18th of Novemb:r, 1875.

On the north side of the cairn isa marble
tablet with this inscription: ¢ Sacred to the
Memory of John George Howard and Jemi-
ma Frances his wife, Jem'ma Frances born
18th August, 1802, died 1st September,
1877, aged 75 years and 14 days; John
George, born 27th July, 1803, died y
aged ——" Skirting the euclosure of
the monument runs a romantic path,
uam-=d the Lovers’ walk, which leads to the
old Indian trail, still distinctly to be made
out, which runs to Lake Simcoe. In the
low land farther east is Grenadiers’ Pond, a
small sheet of water, one of the ancient
outlets of the -waters of the Humber.
A tradition exists that the name Grenadier’s
Pond is connected with the disastrous be-
wilderment of a party of regular troops sent
to oppose the landing of the Americans dur-
ing the war of 1812. It is asserted that a
number of the soldiers were drowned in the
lagoon on this occasion. At the same time
it is also asserted that the name (irenadiers’
Pond was familiar previonsly. The noble
demesne now kuown as High Park consisting
of a wide stretch of varied surface com-
posed of brooks, pond, hill and dale, land-
scape and forest is the most beautiful
section of country lying around Toronto and
eminently adapted by its natural advant-
uges to the purnose of a public park. For
this magmificent play-ground the city has
Mr. Howard to thank. 1t consists at pre-
sent of 310 acres, to which 45 acres will be
added. In 1873 Mr. Howard conveyed 120
acres to the corporation of the City of To-
ronto by gift as a public park for ever. The
remaining 45 acres of Mr. Howard’s estate
is in the hands of his trustees, Dr. Larratt,
William Smithand Samuel G. Wood, by whom
it will be transferred to the city with Col-
borne Lodge. The remaining 190 acres
contained in the park was purchased from
the estate of the late Perciva! Ridout by
Mr. Howard, acting for the city. Mr.
Howard died in 1890, and was buried with
Masonic honors side by side with his wife
in High Park.

CHAPTER LXIV.
TWO OLD BREWERIES.

The Weli-known Malting Establishments
of Joseph Bloor and John Severn at the
Ravine in Yorkviile.

Until 1830 or thereabouts Joseph Bloor
kept an inn near the market place of York,
conveniently situated for the accommoda-
tion of the agricultural public. This inn
which was called the Farmers’ Arms, was
situated on the north-west corner of the
lane leading northward from the north-west
corner of Market Square and King street.
The lane was formerly known as Stuart’s
Lane from the Rev. George Okill Stuart,
once owner of property there. It was
afterwards called Francic Lane, and is now
known as Francis street. That section of
the city, in Mr. Bloor’s time, was known as
the Devil’s Half Acre. On retiring with a
competency from the proprietorship of the
Farmers’ Arms, Mr. Bloor moved to York-
ville about 1830 and established a brewery
in the ravine north of tne first concession
road. This brewery was a low, red brick
building one hundred feet long
and fifty or sixty feet wide. It
stood at the bottom of the ravine, on the
south side of tthe creek, a little
to the east of the present iron bridge
at the head of Huntley street. It
was in operation in 1835, and probably
for four or five years previous to that date.
The stream which was larger then than now
was dammed up at this point to give water
power for grinding. A big pond several
scres in extent was thus made and in the
spring the water would back up nearly to
Yonge street. The brewery was reached by
a roadway running down thc¢ ravine from
Bioor street at the head of Huntley street.
Picturesque as the spotis even now it was
still more so at that time when the woods
were thicker and nature in her prim:val
beauty. At the top of the hill on thenorth-
ern side stood the cottage of Charles Jarvis,
from which steps led down the steep

declivity. There was an  entrance
to the brewery at the = south
side and also on the east
side. About  this time all the

sand used in Toronto for building purposes
was drawn from the Island. Mr. Bloor
kept a team of horses for carting, and in
attempting to cross from the Island on the
ice with a load of sand, the team broke
through and was drowned. Mr. Bloor
kept the brewery but a few years. In con-
junction with Sheriff Jarvis he entered
into a  successful land  speculation,
projecting and laying out the village of
Yorkville, which narrowly escaped being
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called Bloorville. That name was proposed
as also was Rosedale after the sheriff’s home-
stead, and likewise Cumberland, from
t1e native county of some of the sur-
rounding residents, Dr. Scaddiog suggests
that Bloor, the name of a spot in Stafiod-
shire, famous for a great engagement in the
wars between the houses of Lancashire and
York would have been a happy appellation.
Yorkville was at last selected, & name which
preserved that discarded in 1834 for To-
ronto. Mr. Bloor accumulated a large
amount of property on the first concession
road, stretching along the northern side
from its eastern end as far west as Gwyune
street and back to the creek in the ravine.
Re subsequently sold this property. The
first concession road was afterward known
as St. Paul’s road and Sydenham road.
That Mr. Bloot’s name should finaliy have
become permanently attached !to it in Bloor
street is a fact which may be compared
with the case of Pim'ico, the well known
weet end quarter o. London. Pimlico has

its name from Benjamin Pimlico tor
many years the popular landlord
of a  hotel in the neighbour-
hood. Mr. Bloor was a quiet, pleasant

Englishman, widely esteemed and respected.
About forty years ago he b.came identified
with the Bleor street Methodist church, to
which he gave largely during his life and by
legacy. Up to his death, which occurred
about twenty years ago, he lived in a cot-
tage on the south side of Bloor street, at
the heaa of Gwynne street. This cottage,
which is still standing, although much en-
larg:d and improved, is soon to be torn
down. Of Mr. B.oor’s five children all but
one are dead. The brewery, after being
given up by its original occupant, was con-
ducted for a time by Mr. John Rose.

The British Colonist of October 3lat,
1843, has the following advertisement of
Mr. Rose in regard to this brewery which
was then called Castle Frank Brewery :—

 The subscriber begs respectfully to
acquaint the inhabitants of Toronto, and
this vieinity, that he has purchased the
above brewery from th: original proprietor
Joseph Bloor, Esquire, and from his com-
petent knowledge of the business, and a
determination to make a first rate article, he
hopes to merit a share of public patronage.
All orders left for Castle Frank Brewery at
the ahop of R. Cathcart, 147 King street,
will be thankfully received and promptly
atteuded to.

¢ Jomx Rosg.”
¢ Castle Frank Brewery,

October 31st, 1843.”

About thirty yearsago the brewing business
was discontinued there, and the east of the

building was tenantsd by an old Irishman
and after him by an old negro named Cas-
sidy. It was torn down about twenty yeara
ago. Mr. Robert C. Givins gives the follow-
ing interesting reminiscences about the old
brewery.

‘“ The old brewery,” said Robert C.
Givins, formerly Bob Givins of Toronto,
now a resident of Chicago, Illinois, to a
Telegram reporter, who was sent to
that city especially to interview him.
‘““The oid brewery, in the ravine, north
of Bloor street ? Why, true enough,”
said he, ¢ that rakes up memories of sunny
days. Why, [ had a'most forgotten it.
Sit down,—you have struck a line of remi.
niszence I ought never to forget as I believe
I carry scars on me yet from accidents at
the old brewery."”

‘¢ Accidents,”
¢ What kind ?” -

¢“Oh, you sece,” continued Mr. Givins,
smiling, ‘“‘the time I recall was during that
great epoch in the sporting world of the two
continents, the Heenan and Sayer’s prize
fight, which occurred in KEngland, if I re-
mamber right in 1860, and I think that fight
created more interest in the minds of the
Toronto boys at the time than the history of
England ever did. We had a 24 fout ring
staked out to the ola brewery, and every
Saturday afternoon we ‘met’ to do honour
to the ‘manly art’as we called it. Our
parents used to wonder how we got
so many black eyes and swollen
ears paying ‘cricket’ or ¢shinney,’
never suspecting  the true cause.
Now do you believe it, when I pick up a

aper and read the report of a prize fight,
gog fight, chicken dispute or any other hor-
rible enterprise, my mind reverts to the oid
brewery in the valley. Boys will be boys,
and while I doubt the efficacy of this kind
of early education as a foundation for true
Christian character, the Heenan and Sayers
fight was the tovic of conversation among
the boys, and these prominent gentlemen
had many imitators in a amall way. Io the
winter time when we rode down the o'd
brewery hill on sleds, this building served
as a meeting place and shelter from
the cold blasts that whistled down the
vailley. I remember one dark night
one of the boys ¢ stumped’ a party of us to
go through the old sluice, which at one time
fed the wheel with water from the pond.
The brewery when in operation was run by
water power. This sluice was as dark as
night cou'd make it. A superstition existed
among many in the village that this old
building was haunted, and notwithatanding
our frequent visits there in the day time,
there was not a boy in the neighbourheod

queried the reporter.
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who could be hired at any price to go through
it at night,and I haveno doubt many believed
that it was actually haunted, because I re-
member a story in circulation at the time
that one night an old watchman had oc-
casion to go down there after an escaped
burglar, claiming that as he entered the old
building from the west door near where the
big vats were, he saw four ghosts playing
whist on the top of one of the vate, He did
not wait to catch the burglar, who either
escaped or was annihilated by the ghostly
occupants of the old building. Well the
boys were ‘s umped’ to go down and
crawl through the sluice one night, and one
asked, ¢Cou ¢ John C. Heenan or Tomn
Sayers be stumped ¥ ¢ No,” answered
one boy in the crowd, ¢they are afraid of
nothing.’ ¢ Well then if they would not
be stumped, we should not be ’ shouted two
or three, becoming brave at the mention of
the heroes of the day, so we followed 1he
nervy youth who originated this hazardons
proposition. It was the blackest nigh:
he could have selected ; thunder clouds
hung over the pond, and an occasional flash
indicated an approaching storm, and added
no little terror to the occasion. To many of
us this day seemed our last. Whew !—
going through the old brewery at night.
Our hearts beat a lively tattoo againat our
vests ; but Heenan would have gone, so
wounld Sayers. We egroped our way down
the hill, and after stumbling about over the
rough ground and through shrubbery we
finaily got to the entrance of the old sluice.
It was 200 feet through into the big water-
wheel, which was located at one end of the
brewery. The gate of the sluice had long
been closed, and no water passed through it
from the pond, so we had a dry creep ; the
passage way was large enough for us to go
two abreast, but was very low ; we had to
creep on our hands and knees, and I doubt
if the prisoners who escaped from Libby
Prison through the tunnel, of whose perilous
trip you have probably read, experienced a
more breathless journey than we did. We
got along, however, all right until we came
to the big wheel, and after we all climbed
through we stood ercct inside the wheel

to  get a rest before we ex-
plored other portions of the
brewery. In the corner of the room where

the wheel was located we thought we saw
what first appeared to be a ray of light
peeping through a crack in the wall. ~ We
all looked intently upon the coruer where we
saw two big bright eyes glaring at us like
two coals of fire. We were paraiyzed for a
minute, not one of us mustering up courage
enough vo speak. A% last the leader
whispered ¢ Let’s get,” which we did, and

the way we scrambled out through that
sluice to the entrance and got up the hill
can never be properly expressed. Upon
reaching Bloor street we walked hand in
hand home. ‘Do you think Heenan oz
Sayers would have stayed ' said one of the
boys. ¢Not much,’ said another. ¢ You
can just bet they would have vamoosed il
they had seen those terrible eyes.”

By the way, speaking of Bob Givins, he
was invited to speak at the grand celebra-
tion of the opening of the new bridge across
the Missouri river at Omaha, upon which
occasion 30,000 citizens of Omaha and Coun-
cil Bluffs were present. This honour was
also conferred upon the governors of Iowa
and Nebraska and several United States
senators. Robt. C. Givins always says
something good when he gets on the pla‘form,
and on this occasion he made a particularly
witty and telliing speech. Just after passing
the Davenport road on the eastside of
Yonge street, is the Lrewery and malting
house of John Scvern, who settled in York-
ville and built the brewery in 1835. Sev-
eral years previous to this he had followed
his trade of blacksmith in York, and on
going to Yorkville he built a smithy and
worked in it for a short time. The brewery,
which is of brick and stone, was originally
built by the father of John Baxter, but was
extended from time to time by Mr, Severn
until now the building bears but a slighs
resemblance to the structure of half a cen-
tury ago. The brewery, which in its pres-
ent condition, is several times larger than
Bloor’s establishment ever was, overlooks
the ravine. Fitteen years ago there was a pic-
turesque irrcgularity about the outlines of
Mr. Severn’s brewery, the projecting gal-
leries round the domestic portion of the
building i ndicating that the adjacent scen-
ery was not unappreciated. Mr. Severn con-
ducted the brewery up to the time of his
death, half-a-dozen years ago, after which it
was managed by his son, George, for a time,
but is now unused. Mr. Severn left a large
property, which he disposed of by will. An
expensive litigation arose over a contest of

this  will. The matter was set-
tled recently, but not until §25,
000 had been spent in tke courts,

Like Mr. Bloor, Mr. Severn was an Eng-
lishman, and like him he gave his name to a
street, Severn street having been 'aid ous
near his brewery. Mr. Ssvern was one of
the five first councillors or aldermen of
Yorkville at the time of its incorporation in
1853, and this fact is embodied in the eoat
of arms on the town hall, Of this building
which stands on thc west side of Yonge
street, but a short distance below Severn’s
brewery, Dr. Scadding says: ‘‘The singular
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Hotel de Ville which in modern times dis-
tinguishes Yorkville has a Flemish look. It
might have strayed hither from Ghent.
Nevertheless, as seen from numerous points
of view, it cannot be characterized as pic-
turesque or in harmony with its surround-
ings. The shield of arms sculptured in
stone and set in the wall above the circular
window in the front gable presents the fol-
lowing charges arranged quarterly :—A
beer barrel with an S I elow, a brick mould
with an A below, an anvil with a W below,
and a jack plane with a D below. In the
centre in a shield of pretence is a sheep’s
head with an H below. These symbols
commaemorate the first five councillors, or
aldermen, of Yorkville at the time of its in-
corporation in 1853, and their trades or
callings, the initials being those respectively
of the surnames of Mr. John Severn, Mr.
Thomas Atkinson, Mr. James Wallis, Mr.
James Dobson, and Mr. Peter Hntty. Over
the whole as a crest i the Canadian beaver.”
Along the ravine which has just been men-

the shop. He belonged to the 13th Hus-
sars. The house was then divided into three.
Mr. Faulkner occupied the corner as a shoe
store, L. D. Campbell the centre as a news
store, and Mr. Macdonald, the dyer, the
west shop George Faulkner had a news
store afterwards in Campbell’s place. Faulk-
ner, however, sold out to A. S. Irving, who
had leased the corner shop from Mr. Faulk-
ner, sr. L. D. Campbell came from Elmira,
N.Y., and was the first newadealer who
started business in Toronto. It is worth
noting that part of his stock of papers were
all coutained on a long shelf in the south-
east corner of the little shop, and on a small
counter eght feet long on the west side.
L. D. Campbell was a smart, pleasing
American, good-natured, and an entertain-
ing talker. Campbell was succeeded by
Erastus Wiman, who later on moved into
P. C. Allan’s present stand, the firm being
McDougall & Wiman. Wiman sold out to
Warne & Hall. The two east shops were,
about 1860, thrown into one for Mr. Irving,

tioned in connection with the breweries w.re | who remained there with Macdonald till
the earliest public ice houses in the vicinity | the buildings were bought by Jacques &
of Toronto. They were rude slab buildings | Hay, who erected a warehouse. This, in
thickly thatched over with pine branches. ! time, was torn down to make way for the
Spring water ice gathered from the neigh- | new Bank of Commerce building, which oe-
bouring ponds was he e stored by Mr. ! cupies this site, and that of the old Globe

Richards, an enterprising African, fifty
years ago.

CHAPTER LXV,
THE OLD GLOBE CORNER,

The 8ite of the First News Depot in Toronto
—The 01d Globe Office and First Methodist
Church.

At the corner on the south-west where
Jordan street runs at a right angle to King
street, some forty years since or more was
the Irving store, originally occupied by
William Osborne, a land agent. The bouse
was divided into two places of business.
Osborne had two daughters who carried on
a millinery business, while he was engaged
a8 a land and commission agent. The land
business was carried on at the corner store,
and the millinery business was carried on in
» amaller shop to the west. After Osborne

sold out, the corner was occupied by Mrs. | world. Erastus Wiman was a reporter.

Cook, a confectioner, a popular place for
lunch early in the fifties.
warde moved to Yonge street, to the site of
the present Aquatic saloon, south of Spar-
row lane. The small shop to the west was
rented to Sheik, a tobacconist. 1t wasa
great lounging place for the officers of the
troops stationed here. One day one of them
was arrested for having ridden his horse into

Mrs. Cook after- !

ofhice to the west.
| Prior to the purchase by Mr. Dallas, for
! quite a number of years part of the building
was occupied by the agency of the Commer-
cial Bank, of which John Ross was manager.
Mr. Dallas, who had carried on a wooden
ware business, transferred the property in
1850 to George Brown, of the Globe, and a
; portion of it was occupied by that journal as
! a printing office. A flight of steps led up
| through three heavy stone arched entrances
into a lobby about eight feet broad, from
" which the stores and offices opened. About
| twenty years ago the front of the building
was remodelled and given the appearance
| shown in the second picture The Globe
occupied the westerly side ot the buildinz as
a business office, its pressroom being in a
! building at the rear. At one time a part of
| the building was occupied by the Farmery’
i Bank, which sul'sequently closed its doors.
The staff of the Globe then included many
men who have since made their mark in the
C.
| W. Bunting was foreman of the composing
room. Chas. J. Harcourt, now of Birming-
ham, England, and the late Wm. Edwards,
of Washingion, were on the staff, while the
composing room was on the second floor
and on the third floor were the editorial
rooms.
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CHAPTER LXVL
THE FARMERS’ STOREHOUSE CO.

An Old-fashioned Business—Its Aim and
End—its Members and its Rules.

An institution that did good service
to the community some sixty years ago
is worth at any rate a passing notice.
It is not possible to do better than let the
records of the Farmers’ Storehouse Company
tell theirownstory. The Canadian Freeman, of
April 17th, 1828, contains this advertise-
ment :—

‘“ A general meeting of the Farmers’

Storehouse Company will be held on the i

22nd of March next, at 10 o’clock a.m., at
John Montgomery’s tavern,
street, ‘ The Bird in Hand.’
are hereby also intormed that the storehouse
is properly repaired for the accommodation
of storage, and that every possible attention
shall be paid to those who store produce
therein, JouN GorssMAN, Clerk. “*

The following extracts are taken from the
minute book of the company, beginning in
1824,

Upper Canada—Home district, 7th Feb-
ruary, 1824,

The farmers of the home district, taking
into consideration the benefit that the pub-
lic might derive by the formation and
establishment of a general farmers’ store
upon a consistent plan, resolve as fol-
lows :—

1. That a suitable and convenient store-
house be buils in the Town of York.

2. That buziness be commenced therein
upon a capital that may be raised by sub-
scribers for shares in a company ; the value
of which shares shall be two pounds ten
shillings currency each. Every subscriber
zhall be considered a co-partner and sharer
o the profit and loss in proportion to the
number of shares he pays into the joint
stock, being at liberty to take any num! er of
shares not exceeding twenty.

3. A committee or board of directors shall
be appointed annually by vote of all the
subscribers, consisting of five or more of
the subscribers, who shall be vested with
the whole direction and management of the
business for the company, and authorized to
build such a atorehouse as may be deemed
necessary for the concern, and at the proper
time to employ a fit aud proper person for a
storekeeper or clerk. !

4, The person who shall be employed as a
storekeeper or clerk shall procure sufficient
security or bonds to the committee or board
of directora for the value of the property in-
trusted to him for a just and faithful trans-
action of the business.

on Yonge !
The farmers ,

5. His duty shall be to receive all produce
into the store and give proper receipts for
the same and at proper times to take the
produce to Montreal and dispose of it to
the best advantage ; to appoint an agent, er
agents, at that place, and other places where
it may be found necessary for the company ;
to purchase goods for the company (as near
as may be) to suit the different demands of
the subscribers, and also that the said clerk
on his return from Montreal or any other
place with goods purchased for the company
shall, before opening and exposing them for
sale, lay before the committee or board of
directors a fair and correct statement
of all sales and purchates made
by him for the concern, detailing all the ex-
penses attending the same, for their inspec-
tion, in order to prevent any fraud or
speculation on his part  Alse that the
said clerk shall once in every six months
make out and present to the said committee,
who shall meet for that purpose (a majority
of them being authorized in case all shall not
be present), a full and correct state-
ment of all goods issued out of the store,
sold, bartered or anywise disposed ot ; also
the stock on hand with all other fair accounts
of profit or loss belonging to the concern
during the then last six months for the in-
formation and satisfaction of all the stock-
holders.

6. When the goods are received and exposed
for sale each subscriber or co-partner shall
have liberty tojtake the goods or cash out of
the said store, to the amount of subscription
paid into the concern, but shall stand a debtor
to the company and be considered bound
to pay either in cash or produce, delivered
into the store sufficient and in time, that the
net proceeds thereof shall equal the amount
taken out in order to purchase more goods
for the next season.

7. The storekeeper or clerk shall be
authorized to sell goods to any person, either
stockholders or;not, at small profits (regu-
lated by the board or committee at their
half-yearly meetings), for cash or in ex-
change for produce.

8. Every subscriber to these articles shall
pay into the hands of the committee or
board of directors £2 10s. currency on every
share they shall subscribe on or before the

for the purpose of paying ths ex-
pense of building the said store-house, and

' the remainder of their several subscriptions,
| either in cash or produce fitting for a foreign

market, delivered in the store, equal to she
amount on or before the first day of———,

; and the company agrees to meet at Mont-

gomery’s tavern on Yonge atreet, on the
rst day of May next, for the purpose of
choosing the committes or board of directors



LANDMARKS OF TORONTO.

219

for carrying the plan into execution aecord-
ing to the foregoing resolutions. and make
further arrangements thereunto.

Ninth and lastly. We, the subsoribers,
hereby promise and agree, and by these pre-
sents bind themselves each one of
us to the committee or board of di-
rectors in behalf of the company, to pay
into their hands the amount of the several
shares annexed to our names, at the time
and in the manner and form agreeable to the
foregoing articles

‘I hen comes a long list of shareholders
among whom are those familiar names--
John Montgom:ry, of York, Jo'b and Aaron
Silverthorne (two thorough Tories of the
most ancient type), the inevitable Thomsons,
of Secarborough, Eli Playter and William
Howland, besides hosts of others.

At a meeting held in January, 1825, these
resolutions were passed :—

1. That Ely Playter be called to the chair.

2. That Ely Playter, Abraham Stoufer,
Joseph Pearson, Silas Fletcher, Joseph
Shephard, Jacob Wintersteen, James Farr,
George Playter ana George W. Port, be
appointed a committee or board of directors
for the purpose of carrying the conceru of
the Farmers’ Stor: into effect, agreeable to
the third article of the resolutions agreed
upon and subscribed to by the farmers of
the home district on the 7th day of February
last.

3. That the said above-named com-
mittee or koard of directors do meet in
York, at Howard’s inn, on — day of next
month.

Yorx, June, 1824.—The committe met at

Howard’s Inn, pursuant to  agres-
ment, and after some inquiry at the
Surveyor-General’'s  office and else-

where respecting a water lot to build
upon, it was agreed that Ely and Geo.
Playter should be appointed o petition the
Governor-in-Council and endeavor to obtain
a grant for a water lot for the purpose,
and that until the event was known no
further proceeding would be taken. The
members of the committee present were :—

ELY PLATER,

JoSEPE PEARSON,

SirAs FLETCHER,

JacoB WINTERSTEEN,

JOSEPR SHEPHARD,

GEORGE PLAYTER.

In consequence of his Excellency the
Lieat.-Governor’s abssnce from York [ did
not obtain an answer to our petition until
day of Decembar, after which I wrote
to the committee to meet at Fair’s Inn in
York or the 4th day of January, 1825.

ELy PraTER.

York, 4th Jan., 1825.

Ely Playter, Abraham Stouffer, Jacob
Wintersteen and James Farr met at Fair's
Inn and waited until late in the afternoon.
No others of the committee coming, and
they not being a majority, agreed to meet
again at Montgomery’s tavern on Youge
street the 15th instant, and that notice be
given to those of the committee who were
not present.

HomE DisTricT, YONGE STREET,
15th January, 1825.

At a meeting of the committee for regulat-
ing the business of the Farmers’ store the
following resolutions were adopted :—

1. That each one of the said committee
shall publish a notice and ovherwise of each
one of the several subscribers to the said
store of $§3 on each store. 2. That a store-
house be built in the town of York on the
lot heretofore referred to—100 feet long, 20
feet wide, with 20 foot posts, made with
good, sound and sufficient material and
proper workmanship. Signed by Ely Play-
ter and four othera.

CHAPTER LXVIIL
THE JENNINGS CHURCH.

The Organization of the United Presby-
terlan Congregation in Toronto—The 0ld
Charch oem the Corner of Bay and Rich-
mond.

Just fifty-one years ago, seven members
and twenty-one adnerents of the United
Secession Church of Scotland, me$ in a
carpenter’s shop on Newgate street, now
Adelaide street, and talked over the forma-
tion of a congregation and the building of
a church for worship. The Rev. John
Jennings, who came to Canada in 1838,
was inducted pastor on 9th July, 1839.
The congregation met at first in the March,
or Stanley street Baptist chapel, up to 1840,
when they rented the Methodis: Episcopal
chapel, which stood on Richmond street,
the pr sent site of Richmond Hall, and in
1841 they purchased the building. In 1848
it was too small for the congregation, and a
new church was erected on the corner of
Richmond and Bay streets, as given in the
sketch. It was in the perpendicular Eng-
lish Gothic style of architacturs, of white
brick and cut stone dressings, having a
square towsr as the west end, with octa-
gonal termination and rich pinnacles, erected
from the desizns and under the superinten-
dence of William Thomas, architect. It
had aceommodation for 900 persons, and
cost about £3,000. The builders and con-
tractors were Metcalfe, Forbes & Co. Early
in the sixties a great storm occurred in Te-
ronto, and one of the stone pinnacles at the
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south-east corner of the church was blown
down and fell through the roof. The stone
in its flight downward detached a piece of
wood with a nail in it, which also fell, the
nail piercing a Testament in one of the
gallory pews and, punctured the book
through to the text: Mark vii, 25, ¢ And
the winds blew and beat upon that bouse ;
and it fell not ; for it was founded upon a
rock.”

The building has since been torn down to
make room for the fine edifice of the Col-
lege of Physicians and Surgeons o Ontario.

Dr. Jennings resigned the pastorate in
1874, and died two years afterwards, deeply
regretted. His family still live in Toronto

on St. Joseph street. One of his sons,
Mr. Bernard Jennings, is assistant-manager
of the Imperial Bank, Toronto, Mr.
William Jennings is one of the chief
engineers of the Canadian Pacific Ral-
way, and Mr. Robert Jennings is
manager of the Bank of Commerce
at Paris, Ontario. One of his daughters is
married to Mr, Creelman, the well known
solicitor. The name of Jennings is to this
day a househoid word in the Presbyterian
homes of Ontario, and many of the old
families have preserved the name of John
Jeunings in the boys of the present gemer-
ation.
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CHAPTER LXVIIL
AN EARLY BAY SHORE VIEW.

The Old Fish Market—Steamboat, After-
wards City Hotel and Cofiin Building
Where Stage Passengers Were Booked.
One of the best known inns at York pre-

vious to 1830 was the Steamboat Hotel

on Front street east. It was a two-
storey  building, remarkable for the
spirifed delineation of a steam pscket
of vast dimensions extending the whole
length of the building just over the wupper
verandah of the hotel. Its propristor for
many years was a well known citizen named
Ulick Howard. [n 1828, Mr. Howard, in
an advertisement, couched in the following
terms, offered to let. hi§ hotel. ‘¢ Steam-
boat hotel, York, U. C. The proprietor of
this elegant establishment,now unrivalled in
this part of the country, being desirous of
retiring from public business on account of
ill-heaith in his family, will let tha same
for a term of years, to be agreed on, either
with or without the furniture. The estab-
lishment is now too well known to require
comment. N.B.—Securi:y will be required
for the payment of the rent and the tulfil-
ment of the contract in every respect.

Apply to the subscriber on the premises.

U. Howarp. York, October 8th, 1828.”

Soon after this Mr. Howard rented the ho-

tel, and the new landlord took down the

sign of the steamboat and re-named the inn
the City Hotel. What this elegant estab-
lishment was in those days may be learned
from the autobiography of Mr. John Galt,

Commissioner of the Canada Company and

founder of Gue'ph. He visited York in

1824 and again in 1827. On these occasions

he sropped at Frank’s Hotel, which chen

enjoyed the reputation of being the best hotel
in the town. In 1827 he thus writes : The
reader is probably acquainted with the man-
ner of living in American hotels, but with-
out experience he can have no right notion
of what in these days is the condition of the
best tavern in York, which he de:cribesasa
mean two storey building, conducted with
little regard to the comfort of its patrons.

Comparing York and Dover, England, in

another place Mr, Galt says: “ Every

body who has been at Dover knows that it
is one of the vilest haunts on the face of the
earth except Little York in UpperCanada.”

On the beach below the Steamnoat Hotel, or

as it is in the accompanying illustration the

City Hotel, was ata later period a market

for the sale of fish. Bartlett has sketched

this in his ** Canadian Scenery,” and it is
from his picture that the view given is ob-
tsined. In this foreground are groups of
conventional fishwives and squaws. At

about this same or a little later period than
this sketch, there was a sort of cribbing
along the front to prevent the water wash.
ing the shore. 'The land did not at
that time extend out into the bay
as far as at  present as may
be seen at a glance. At the water’s edge
stood a one-storey frame building, very
much like a diminutive barn. Within this
pwere two rows of tables or stalls, on which
the fish were displayed. To this place aRk
the fishermen of the town were in the habit
of coming dai'y with their catches. The
fish of the lake, such as trout, whitefich,
pike, pickerel, perch, and sunfish were
much plentier and cheaper then than now.
Twenty-five cents was the highest price
ever demanded for the finest salmon trout.
Fresh salt  water  fish however
was an unknewn luxury to the inhabitants
of the town at this time. In these days
there were no fish stores about town as now.
Occasionally a fisherman’s wife would peddle
fish about from house to house, but this was
not of frequent occurrence and it was cus-
tomary for the heads even of the wealthiest
and wost aristocratic families to do their
own marketing and carry their purchas s
home themselves. South of where St.
Lawrence hall now stands and between
that and the fish market was a poultry
yard. The old fish market at the water’s
edge was discontinued about 1854 or a httle
later. A little farther west, close by the
Ontario House, one of the early hotels of
the town, Market street from the west
entered Front street at an acute angle. In
the gore between the two streets a building
sprang up, which in conforming to its site,
assumed on one side the shape of
a coffin. This building of brick three
stories high. painted yellow, is still stand-
ing in its original location at the junction of
Wellington, Front and Church streets, It
is shown in the illustration. The foot of
this building, which was always known and
is to this day as the Coflin building, was the
office where travellers booked themselves
for various parts in the stages, that from
time to time started from York. In the
early days Isaac Buchanan & Co. occupied
the main part of the buiiding, and after-
wards Miller & Foulds. Subsequently it was
cut up into offices and is used by such now.
In those days of stage coaches travel was a
far different thing from what it now is.
Mrs. Jameson, in her journal at Toronto,
writes in 1836 :—‘‘ It is now seven weeks
since the date of the last letters from my
dear, far-distant home. The Archdeacon
told me by way of comfort that when he
came to settle in this country there was

only one mail post from England in the
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sourse of a whole year, and it was called,
as if in mockery, vae Express.” The Quebec
Gazette of 1792 advertises this express as
follows: — *“ A mail for the Upper
countries , comprehending Niagara and De-
troit,will be closed at this office on Monday,
the 30th inst, at 4 o’clock in the evening to
ba forwarded from Montreal by the annual
winter express, on Thursday the 3rd of Feb.
next.” In 1816 it took four days to reach
Niagara from York. An advertisement in
1816 announces that “on the 20th Septem-
ver next, a stage will commence running
between York and Niagara : it will leave
York every Monday and arrive at Niagara
on Thursday, and leave Queens-
town every Xriday. The baggage
is to be considered at the risk ol the owner
and the fare to be paid in advance.” In 1824
the mails were conveyed the same distance
via. Ancaster in three days. In the same
year Postmaster William Allan advertises
that the mails are made up at York on the
afternoon of Monday and Thursday and
must be delivered at Niagara on the
Wednesday apd Saturday following and
within the same period in returning.
William Weller in 1835 was the proprietor
of a line of stages between Toronto and
Hamilton, known as the Telegraph Line.
He advertised to take passengers through
by daylight on the Jake road during the
winter season.

CHAPTER LXIX.
THE M'GILL SQUARE.

The Site of the Metropolitan and its

Original Owner—Something About O
the O0ld Inhabitants, < o

Johx'x McGill is a name familiar to all
Canadians. He came to Canada with the
Q}l}gf:}’s_ B:ngers in 1790, and was adjutant
of that regim-nt in 1797,and commissioner of

stores for Upper Canada in the same
year. Mr. MecGill was an active citi-
zon  of the old town of York.

So late as 1833, Walton in his ¢ York Com-
mercial Direetory, Street Guide and Regis-
ter,” when naming the residents on Lot
street, as he still designates Queen street,
makes a note in arriving at two park lots to
the westward of the spot where we have
been pausing, to the effect that ‘¢ here this
street is intercepted by the grounds of Capt.
McGill, S. P. Jarvis, Esq., and Hon. g\’
Allan, past here itis open to the Roman
Catholic church, and intended to be carried
through to the Don bridge.”

Mr. McGill was first owner of the park lot
on Queen street. Situated in fields at the
southern extremity of a stretch of forest,
the comfortable and pleasantly-sitnated

residence erccted by him, for many years
seemed o place of abode quite remote from
the town. It was still to be seen in 1870
in the heart of Mc@ill square, sod was long
occupied by Mr. MoCutcheon, » brother of
the inheritor of the bulk of Mr. McGill's
property, who, in accordance with his
uncle’s will, and by authority of an Act of
parliament assumed the name of McGill,
and became subsequently well known
throughout Canada as the Hon. Peter
Mc@Gill.

From Mrs. Seymour, of Oitawa, a daugh-
ter of Dr. Powell, we have a lot of interest-
ing facts. Mrs. Seymour has a distinet
recollection of all that occurred in York, at
the time of the war.

There was a detachment of a few com-
panies of the 8th Regt. stationed at the
time in York, who were established as a
support of the York Battalion of incorpora-
ted militia. On the evening of Sa‘urday,
the 25th of April, 1812, a party had assem-
bled at McGill cottage, hearing that the
American fleet had arrived near the har-
bour. It was then arranged that at all
hazards the recorés and public documents
of the province should be preserved, ac-
cordingly a haughty official was entrosted
with them under directions to take them to
Kingston. He took his orders, (and his
leave) departing straightway on foot by the
old Kingston road.

Meanwhile the Americons had secured a
landing and advanced on the old fort.
Mrs. Seymour, then Miss Powell, and the
other ladies, gathered in McGill Cottage,
were busily employed in cooking bread and

| other rations for the comfort of the troops,

when an explosion was heard, which proved
to be the blowing up of the magazine.
This, of course, was the signal for the cap-
ture of the garrison, and in a few minutes
the inmates of McGill Cottage saw that
they were prisoners in their own native
town, by the sudden app:arance of the
Stars and  Stripes in  place  of
the Union Jack. After this two
or three Americans were despatched to
McGill Cottage for the purpose of protecting
the ladies from any insults that might be
offered to them from the camp followers’
that are always found in the wake of an
army.

Prior to all this, a flag had been prepared
by the ladies of Torcnto, and presented to
the regiment of incorporated militia. In
their desire not to let the flag pass out of
their possession they requested Mrs. Me-
Gill to take charge of it, on the capitulation
of the town, This provoked a reply from
one ot the ladies to the effect that it was
odd that n flag, which was presented by
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the women of York to their defenders should
be brought back—back by one of these self-
same defenders and entrusted to the donors
for safe keeping

Mrs. Seymour states that the conduct of
the Amaericans, officers and men, was beyond
all praise, they emulating each other in their
desire to render their unpleasant duties as
little disagreeable as they possibly could to
those who were in fact their prisoners,
making them really more than guests.

(The 1ounder of McGill College in Mon-
treal was of a different family. The late
Capt. James McGill Strachan derived his
name from the marriage connection of his
father with the latter.)

In the Gazette and Oracle of November
13th, 1803, we observe Mr. McGill, of York,
advertising as ‘‘agent for purchases” for
pork and beef to be supplied to the troops
stationed ‘‘at Kingston, York, Fort George,
Fort Chipp:wa,Fort Erie and Amherstburg.”
In 1818 he is Receiver-General, and Audi-
tor-General of land patents, He had form-
erly been an officer in the Quzen’s Rangers,
and his name frequently occurs in
‘“8imcoe’s History” of the operations
of that corps during the war of
the American Revolution. From that
work we learn that, in 1799, he, with
the commander himself of the corps, then
Lieut.-Col. Simcoe, fell into the hands of
the revo utionary authorities and was treat-
ed with great harshness in the common jail
of Burlington, New Jersey ; and when a
plan was devised for the Colonel’s escape,
Mr. McGill volunteered, in order to further
its success, to personate his commanding
officer in bed and to take the consequences,
while the latter was to make his way out.
The whole project was frustrated by the
breaking of a 1alse key in the lock of a door
which would have udmitted the confined
soldiers to a room where °‘ carbines and
ammunition ” were stored away. Leut..
Col. Simeoe, it is added, in the history just
named, afterwards offered Mr. McGill an
annuity, or vo make him Quarter master of
Cavalry ; the latter, we are told, he ac-
cepted of, as his grandfather had been an
officer in King William’s army ; and ‘“ no
man,” Col. Simcoe himself notes, ‘¢ ever
executed the office with greater integrity,
courage and conduct.” The southern portion
of Mr. McGill’s park lot has, in the course
of modern events, come to be assigned to re-
ligious nses. McGiil square, wh'ch eontained
the old homestead and its surroundings and
which was at one period intended, as its
name indicates, to be an opeu public square,
was secured in 1870 by the Wesleyan
Methodist body and made the site of its
principal place of worsbip and of various

establishments connected therewith. Im.
mediately north, on the same property, the
Roman Catholics had previous y built their
principal place of worship and numerous
appurtenances, attracted possibly to the
spot by the expectation that Me.
Gill  square would  continue for-
ever an open ornamental piece of ground.
A little farther north a cross street, leading
from Yonge street eastward, bears the name
of McGill. An intervening cross-street pre-
serves the name of Mr. Crookshank, who
was Mr. McGill’s brother-in-law.

About 1802 it is reported that ‘“at a
meeting of the subscribers to a fund for
erecting a church in the Town of York,”
Capt. McGill is one of a committee of sub-
seribers to raise funds. Capt. McGill was a
pew-holder in St. James’ church in 1818.
In the Qazette of March 14th, 1801, we find
reported a meeting of subscribers to the
opening of Yonge street. A list of the sub-
scriptions is given in dollars : ** Hon. J. Mc-
Gill, $16 7 We find that John McGill was
Recorder pro tem of an Encampment of
Knights Templar who met in Kingston in
1800, and in an MS. of November 2nd,
1800, we find John McGill and Alexander
McNab, botb of the Queen’s Rangers, en-
tered as members of this Masonic organiza-
tion.

In an account for printing, the Govern-
ment of Upper Canada to John Bennett,
Government printer, dated 24th June, 1805,
we find the account £63.5s.9d. marked :—
*“ Examined. Signed, Jou~N McGmr, In-
spector-Genl P. P. Acci=. A true copy.
JoHN McGirr, Inspector-Gen’l P.P. Accts.”

In the number for May 30th, 1793, of the
Upper Canada GQazelte or Amer.can Oracle,
we hve ten guineas reward offered for the
recovery of a government grindstone :—
““ Ten guineas reward is offered to any per-
son that will make discovery and prosecute
to conviction, the thief or thieves that have
stolen a grindstone from the King’s wharf
at Navy Hall, between the 30th of April
and the 6th instant. John MecGill, Com.
of Stores, etc., etc., for the province of
Uppe’r Canada. Queenstown, 16th May,
1793.”
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CHAPTER LXX.
THOMAS MERCER JONES VILLA.

The House Oecupied by Him at the Corner
of Front and York streets and Afterwards
by Captain Strachan.

Near the north-west corner of Front and
York streets, surrounded by grounds of
considerable extent, stands a brick villa
adorned with verandahs and more irregular
and picturesque in outline chan most of
the buildings of York, for although not
one of the earliest houses srill it was

into the occupation of Captain James McGill

trachan. He was the son of Bishop
Strachan, and was named after his unncle
James Strachan, a bookseller of Aberdeen,
and Mr. McGill, the founder of McGill col-
lege at Montreal, into whose family Dr.
Strachan married. From 1816 to 1819
James McGill Strachan was one of the
pupils at his father’s Home District Gram-
mar school. Hemarried a daughter of Chief
Justice Robinson, and the house of Mr. Jones
being adjacent vo his rather’s was a con-
venient p.ace of abode for him. He occu-

built the yea:: before the town of * York
became the village of Toronto. It was de-
signed or built in 1833 by John G. Howard
for 'Chomas Mercer Jones. A tall brick
wall surrounded the grounds at the street
line completely shutting them from the
sight of passers-by. This wall was similar
to the adjoining wall in front of Bishop
Serachan’s house which probably suggested
the idea to the builder. Mr. Jones lived

here for a time, and then the property passed

pied it as a residence until about 1860, when
it was bought by John Skae, better knowa
a8 Johnny Skae, at one time a California

millionaire. He paid about $20,000 for the
property. His mother and sisters lived
here until 1887, when the property was
sold to David Walker for £75,000.
It extends three hundred feet onYork st. by
two hundred feet on Front street. A bloek
of stores is now being erected in front of the
old villa whieb is soon to be torn down, and
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with the erection of the modern places of
business will disappear some of the fine tree-
which have ornameated the residences in
that part of the town.

CHAPTER LXXIL
MONTGOMERY’'S HOTEL.

The Scene of the Beginning and the End
of the Mackenzie Rebeiifon in Toronto—
Accounts of Eye Witnesses.

A clapboard house with a lean to behind,
standing in prosaic loneliness in an uneven
stretch of garden ground, streaked by rugged
fences with a few stalwart relics of the thick
forest that was the last redoubt of the fight-
ing patriot who gave Montgomery farm its
place in history. This is all that marks the
ground. In the squat cottages on the
side road the black lettered sign ‘¢ lots for
sale on easy terms,” across Yonge street
or the red brick villas further north in the
land that was once within the fences of the
historic farm,there is nothing to waken the
memories that ought to cling to the camp
ground of Mackenzie’s men. A two-storey
and mansard brick hotel occupies the site of
the country tavern in which former gen-
erals and colonels plotted the overthrow of
the Family Compact. And on Yonge street
and near the hitching post in frout of the
hotel the Loyalist Colonel Moodie was shot
dead on the Monday night of the rebellion
week, as he tried 10 ride through
the patriots’ line, To thefield close vo that
side of the read that runs west from Yong:
street two or three hundred yards south of
Eglinton the outposts were driven before
the Loyalist musketeers, who marched up
from the city thirty-one years ago. Shel-
tered by the trees that then lifted their bare
branches above the spot pictured by our
artist, the half-armed, badly generalled,
but  courageous rebels  stood out
against  the  enemy. But  natural
courage and pikes were a poor defence
against the bullets and grape shot that the
Loyalists were pouring into the woods. For
a few minutes the patriots held their ground.
The fire from the flint locks of the well
armed enemies grew hotter. The Loyalists
closed in on the besieged rebels. The dread
of being surrounded startled the men who
were fighting hopelessly amoug the trees.
They wavered as the enemy prested in, and
their ranks broke in the twos and threes of
straggling fugitives who hurried away from
the scene of defeat  as the flames from the
tavern fired by the Loyalists in celebration
of their victory, gowed in the smoke

cloud that darkened the clear air
of that chilly December afternoon. The
leaders of the 'forces that met in battle are
gone, Even their memories are dead to all
but the student or vhe yearly thinning gronp
of Reform and Loyalist pioneers, who either
treasure the memory of Mackenzie and his
colonels or gloss with a touch of kindly
forgetfulness the seeming frailties that do
not endear ¢he names of Mackenz’e, Lount
and Matthews to the old settlers who fought
with the conquerors of 1837. Butinthe white
house ona hillsidenear Hogg’s Hollow the pic-
ture of the patriot chief hangs high upon the

wall, Here lives Mr. Anderson, who at the
time of the rebellion was working
as a watchmaker in a Dbuild-

ing on the north-east corner of Yonge
and,Richmond streets. The city was small
then, the tollgate used to bar the road in
front of the Indian clock then, and land,
‘“ Why,” said Mr. Anderson,” I foolishly
missed a chance of buying two acres on
Yonge stre-t, near Elm, for $300. My father
was a Tory, but I was a pretiy lively young
man, and used to run with the Reformers
who took up with Mackenzie as soon as he
came to the city. My brother John and I
sided with him and attended at the printing
office when Dr. Rolph and all the Reformers
of the city met. Any one who wanted to
see the country happy had to be a Reformer
in those days. Why, you couldn’c collect a
cent of debt from any of the Family Com-
pact crowd if they didn’t want to pay you.
You could sue and get judgment all right,
but you had to pay your own costs, for ne
matter how good the man was, if he be.-
longed to any of the Family Compact houses
the judgment would come back from the
sheriff’s officer marked nwlla bona. All
along we expected to straighten things out
at the polls until Sir Francis and his crowd
swamped us at the election in the summer
ot 1837. Why, his men distribut:d tickets
giving titles to farms on the lake shore road
and in the bush that no one ever
knew were farms. Thete were no
such farms, but with these tickets in
their hands the hired men would go to the
polls and swear that they got four doliars a
year out of farms that they did not own nor
no one else ever did own.  But tnese ticket
holders swore enough votes through®o beat
us Reformers who had property in the
country, and after that we saw that there
was nothing before us but a fight, e met
oftener in Mackenzie’s office. Lount,
Matthews and other Reformers used to
come in, and we were all arming for the re-
bellion. The rebels were to meet over
my store on the Monday before the
ficht at Montgomery’s, but there was a girl
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hanged in front of the jail on Toreato street
that day and there was such a crowd in
town ¢hat the arrangement fell through. I
knew that the rebels were out at Mont-

omery’s, for { think my brother John, who
Eept a dry goods store on Yonge street, went
out to join on Monday night. But bright
and early Tuesday morning I started. I
left my wife, as she remembers, at our place
and took my double-barrelled gun and
walked along up Yonge street. Up near
Jonathan Scott’s corner, McGill street, I
met Sheriff Jarvis coming down. Good
morning, Anderson, said th: sheriff, looking
closely at the gun I was carrying, Good
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THOMAS ANDERSON.

morning, sheriff, I answered ; it's a nice
day. Ipassed on. He did not try to ar-
rest me, although he knew where I was
going. Ihad a gun. He had no arms, and
I would have fought. I think, before I
could have been kept from going out to
join the rebels. When I got out to Mont-
gomery’s two or three hundred rebels

were there. This was on Tuesday,
and all that day the Reformers
from the township were coming in.

Some rode in, some marched and a good
many of the farmers were driven in by their
young sons, who took the waggons back
again. That night we marched down as far

as McGill street and thea fell back, whea
we could have chased Sheriff Jarvis’ men
right into the city. Things would have
been different if we had had a leader.
Poor Mackenzie meant well, and
was brave enough, but he was ae
soldier. If old Colonel Van Egmoad
had been there that night all the Englisk
in Toronto—aud there were not muny just
then—could not have kept the city from ax
But he wasn’t there, and we missed our
chance. After we got back to Montgomery’s
I was on guard part of the night. Wednes-
day morning we marched down to Bloeer
street, and after we got back Mackenzie
and Lount went off with eighty or a hundres
men. They were away stopping the Hamil-
ton stage, and in the evening they brought
the mail bags which they took to the
tavern, where Mackenzie opened them.

I was not very well acquainted
with Lount or Matthews. Lount was a
member of parliament and they were

colonels while 1 was a young private. But
they were both fiie men. Lount was am
axemaker up near Holland Landing. Aa
axe was a big thing in the bush in those
days, and if a man had not money Lount
used to make him an axe and trust him for
the pay. In that way he started many a
poor fellow. He made axes for the Indians
up there, and some of them came down te
Toronto to see if they could not save him,
but of course it was al: no use, poor fellowa.
After I left Montgomery’s Isaw them ne
more in li‘e or death until years later whem
David Gibson and 1 dug up their
bodies from the old Potters’ field, near
Bloor strect. © When they were firat buried
it was ticklish times for Reformers. David
stepped quietly into the field and droppeda
marble in Lount’s grave, so that it might be
told from Matthews’. Willtam Lyon Mac-
kepzie came up just as we were lifting the
bodies into the wagegon, and the three of us
rode in the waggon to the Necropolis, where
we buried these murdered men, for I call it
murder, in one grave,

Thomas Sheppard, an old pioneer,
ws a rebel, as were all the
family. Mr.Sheppard says:—The Sheppards
in the old days were known all over the
country as Reformers and my brother Mike
and I busied ourselves election time work-
ing for Mackenzie. M. thought we could
break the Family Compact by sending the
right sort of men tc parliament. but the
last election before the rebellion they
drowned us with crooked votes. After that
Mackenszie used to tell us we would have te

shoulder muskets to get our rights. The
leaders met quite often in Toronte
that summer after the election, and
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in the eariy fall the word was passed
tor us to commence drilling. Mike and I
then lived at the mill back of Lansing, up
Yonge street. We would take our muskets
and join the other Reformers who were
drilled by an old soldier who worked I
think in Mackenzie’s printing office. We
drilled at Uncle Jake Fisher's farm in
Vaughan. Mackenzie used to ride out from
the city and watch the old solcier put the
farmers through their facings. All the men
from our neighbourhood carried muskets,
but Mackenzie had only a brace of pocket
pistols. Altogether we must have drilled
at Uncle Jake’s four or five times before we
were called out. I knew the day set
for the muster at Montgomery’s. The
Monday night before the fight I was
sittivg by the fire at mother’s getting ready
t0 join the rebels on Tuesday when we heard
a knock at the door. My mother hurried
aerouss the floor to npen it and there stood
Samul Louunt with fifty Reformers from up
Lloydtown way. They had marched thirty
miles down from the street and were tired
and cold and hunery. Poor mother couldn’t
do enough for them when she saw who they
were. They crowded around the fire, and
after getting all they could eat Lount order-
ed them to fall in and away they marched
down to Montgomery’s. Next day I said
good-bye to my wife and the folks at home
and went down to join the boys. There
were seven or eight hundred of them at the
tavern, [ suppose; fine fellows, too, men
who had families and faims to fight for.
Some farmers drove in from up country,
with their boys. They were brave enough,
and if they’d all had muskets they would
have beaten the Tories I believe. Lount
and other blacksmiths who were Reformers
made alot of pikes, but these were no
weapons for real fighting. But that Tues-
day night we made a start. Mackenzie or-
dered us to march down Yonge sireet, and
away we went. He led us. 1 was
in the front rank, along with Thomas
Anderson and his brother John. We step-
ped gently along until we were coming out
of the woods at Jonathan Scott’s corners.
All at once some Torics who were in the
brick house then with Sheriff Jaivis, fired
on us ; don’t know but they fired another
volley before they ran. They took the
back track quick enough, and if our fellows
bad only been steady we would have taken
the city that might. I don’t knew what
started our men running, but most of them
made off up Yonge street as fast as the
other fellows did down to the town. For a
while some of us at the front stood our
ground, and I was firing away among the
last of them. But after three or four

minutes of this work, I said to myself,
here a handful <f us can’t go down
and capture Toronto so we took after the
rebels who were making for Montegomery’s
again. Next day Sir Francis semt out
Baldwin and Rolph with a flag of truce, bus
nothing came of it. Early Thursday morn-
ing, the day of the fight at Montgomery’s,
Col. Peter Matthews took acoupleolhundred
of the best shots and started away to attack

e

THOMAS SHEPPARD.

the Tories who were guarding the Don
bridge. John Anderson, my brother Mike
and I were with Matthews’ men, It was
while we were away that the Tories came up
to the farm. If we had been there with our
musket things might have been different but
when all the men who had gooa weapons
were away with Matthews the men uader
Lount had no chance to stand ag:inst the
muskets and cannon brought against them.
Matthews led us arvound the Don bridge,
when we came on the Tories. We fired a
volley and th:y scattered and didn’t wait
for more. Then he marched us four miles
down the Kingston road to a tavern,
where we had snpper at her Mejesty’s
expense. The man gave us what we
wanted and eharged it to the GGovernment,
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I suppose. By this time we had heard
about the ending of the fight at Mont-
gomery’s and knew that all was over with
the rebellion. I stayed guard at the tavern
while the others were in at their supper and
in an hour my turn came. Then I hada
chauce to speak to Matthews. Let’s make
for the Rouge, said I to him. We can seize a
stone-hooker there and get ¢’ear across the
lake to the States. He didn’t like the idea

and lost his life by thinking we had a better
chance to get off by straggling in couples
than by making a break all together for the
the tavern

Rouge. We stayed in at

ston, whose sons wused to live in
Yorkville, quickly raised a crowd of armed
Tories, surrounded the house and fired in
at the windows until Matthews gave him-
self up. Johnston took him down %o To-
ronto and got his blood mousy., Sunday
afternoon we were overtaken. We went
into Silverthorne’s, out near the Humber,
for dinner. This Silverthorne was a Re-
former, although the rest of his folks were
Tories, While we were eating
our dinner Mr. Siiverthorne ran in
from the door and told wus that

some men on horseback were coming up

\ ) .‘ :\(\L\& A

,,“ ‘ “¢A,¥.‘;€‘ —
e
R

TRt ;
ooty
e s
i,

s 4

12 a

e
_—

o A .‘u"\'A #

-/ \! AN\ n 1

=\
A s —
“al '///"7\’/
b o e
A4 \
E,‘L_,:_.Bf" \‘5 A
\\‘\ﬁ\

97 =

s

e 70, P I/ ’
Iy ot =
R A e
e
LA f g

SN e T

SCENE OF THE PATRIOT DEFEAT.

that Thursday night, and Friday morn-
ing we said good-bye to each
other and took the track through the
wood. John Anderson, Mike and I kept fo-
gether. That night we slept at the house of
a friend east of Yonge street. Saturday noon
we put into John Milne’s house. We had
driveu there. It was at this house
tha: poor Matthews was captured. He and
some more rebels tried to dodge in at the
baek door. But a neighbour named John-
ston spied th'm and sent his little girl over
on an errand to see who was in the house,
The girl went back and told that
there were strangers at Milne’s: John-

to the house. We started up from the table
and footed it away through the woods.
Just as we were nearing the river we heard
a horseman behind us. It was a Tory neigh-
bour of the Silverthornes. He told us that
we had not a ghost of a chance to get away,
and that the governor wuld perdon us if
we gave ourselves up. We took the chances
and went off with him. He drove us into
Toronto and we were lodged in the old par-
liament buildings. We were members
of parliament until near Christm s, and
then they carted us off to the jail. We were
put into a cell in the south-west ocorner.
tooking out from my window one day [
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looked my last on poor Samuel Lount.
They were bringing him into the gaol that
he never left until they led him out to the
gallows, He was strongly guarded, loaded
down with shackles, and looked a hea t-
broken man., We were never brought to
trial at all. They did better for John An-
derson and old John Montgomery. They
gave them what they called a trial and

sentenced them both to the gallows, John
Anderson took his sentence quietly,
but they say that old John
Montgomery  turned on the chief

justice and the lawyers who were against
him and said :—‘ Yon think you can send
me to the gallows, Lut I tell you that when
you’re all frizzling with the devil, I'll be
keeping tavern on Yonge strcet.” And
sure enough he came back and kept tavern
at the old spot. We were all kept in the
jail on Toronto strect until June the 8th,
when they packed us off to Kingston on the
steamboat. John Meontgomery and Johmn
Anderson were pardoned and they were in
the crowd that marched in chains down to
the Yonge street wharf. We thought it was
Van Dieman’s land sure  The mothers and
wives of the rebels crowded around to see
the last of us as they thought. I tell you it
was a hard parting with the old folks, who
stood there on the wharf looking after the
steamer until we were out of sight. At
Kingston we were marched to Fortv Henry,
where we were supposed to stay until her
Majesty was ready to give us a free pas-age
to Van Dieman’s land. There were with
us John Anderson, John Montgomery,
Wilson Reed, of Sharon, Mr. Kennedy,
Thomas Tracy, John Stewart, Lzonard
Watson, John G. Parker of Hamilton,
Mr. Stockdale, Giibert Morden, Mr.
Brophy, Mr. Marr, my brother Mike and
I. We were not well sctt'ed before the
colonel in charge of the fort eyed us all
over. Now, prisoners, said he, I'll not al-
low you even to drive a nail in the wall or
deface this room in any way. 1 couldn’t
help thinking how well we minded him

when we dug our way ous through
the wall. We were not long in prison
kefore we commenced to think about

getting out. One day we were talking of
it, and Gilbsrt Morden asked who would
try to loosen the stones. I will, I said, and
with a little hard work managed to loosen a
stons six inches square. We put it back in
its place and told the bailiff that we wanted
lime to sweeten the air of the cell. He
brought in the lime,and we made the mortar
that plastered up the crack so that he
couldn’t see it: Then we heard that Lord
Durham was coming through, and we drew
up a pecition asking him to set us free. A

few days before the 29th of July he walked
through our «cell and told us that
he had forwarded our petition. That didn’t
satisfy us much, and when we hecard that we
were going to bs shipped to Van Dieman’s
land pretty soon we thought we were not
likely to get much good out of his Lordship’s
forwarding our petition. We met thas Sun-
day morning and decided to bolt. Some of
us worked on all day trying to make the
hole in the wall bigger. I was in that
crowd, and the others tore her Majesty’s
bedding into strips for rope ladders. At~
midnight we were all ready. KFach man had
a number and waited his turn to crawi
through the hole in the wall. John G.Parker
was the first to go. Then one after another
we mad: our way to the yard. It was as
bright as noonday outside. Parker looked
up at the sky and whisp:red—I wonderisit
going to rain. Not a drop, I answered and
just at that moment a burst of thunder
started us. Five minutes after it was as
dark as pitch and the rain was coming down
in sheets. But for that we would never
have passed the sentry who was on the wall.
Old John Montgomery slip}ln)ed into the pit
in front of the cannons. Parker who was
with him kept right in but John
Anderson, Mike and I lifted him
out. He couldn’t wa'k, but was just able to
limp along. Jehn wuas a heavy weight, and
we had an awful time in helping him to
scramble over the wall. But at last we
landed him on the other side and steered
our way along to the woeds. Then we
waited for sunrise. When it was daylight
the provisions we brought with us from the
fort were divided. After breakfast we began
to get ready to make our tracks, each man
for himself. It was hard work tfor the
poor rebels who had been together tor so
many weeks to say good-bye. Just as we
were going one of the men spoke up for hav-
ing a short prayer m-eting, and down in the
wet grass we all knelt while Parker, Wat-
son and Brophy prayed that the Lord would
lead ns safe across the St. Lawrence. Then
we said good-bye to each otier and arranged
to meet at Watertown. Poor John Mont-
gomery cried like a child as we said good-
bye to him. ““It's all right boys,” said he,
‘“ yow’ll get safe off, but I, with this lane
leg, I’ll never see the States ; they’ll catch
me sure.”” But John was one of the first
to get across. Every man but Parker and
Watson dodg-d the Tories. We then wan-
dered through the woods, travelling in the
darkness and sleeping in the light for eight
days. We had nothing to eat but a couple
of pounds of salt pork and the beans and
potatoes we could steal from the farmers all

this time. Qe dark night we strack out
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from the woodsnear Brockvilleand borrowed
a boat and rowed across the river. The peo-
ple there used us grandly when they found
that we were rebels. They boarded us free
and drove us to Watertown, were we met
all the boys from Fort Hen1y exceps Parker
and Wilson who were captured. Together
we all went to Lewiston, where we had a
good time, Mother and my wife crossed
over to see us, and it was then I first saw
my child, born while I was in prison. After
the folks left for home most of ns went
westward, Mike and I chopped cordwood
for three years until two good Tories, old
Gen, Thorne and  Joel Harrison,
took round a  petition for the
Sheppard boys and we were pairdoned.
Thomas Anderson escaped from Toronto a
few days aft:r the fight at Montgomery’s
farm, and made his way to Alabama, where
he lived for a couple of years, when he re-
turned.

Of Mr. Montgomery and the inn
Dr. Scadding says :—The great conspicu-
ous way-side inn usually called Mont-
gomery’s was at the time of its destruction
by the Government forces in 1837 in the
occupation of a landlord named Lingfoot,
The honse of Montgomery, from whom the
inn took its name, he having been a former
occupant, was on a farm owned by
himseif, beautifully situated o rising gronnd
to the left, suhsequently the property and
place of abode of Mr. James Leslie. Mr.
Montgomery had oncea hotel in York
named ‘‘The Bird in Hand,” on Yonge
street, a little to the north of Elliott’s. We
have this inn nam=d in an advertisement
to be seen in the Canadian Freeman of
April 17, 1828, having reference to the
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